

WSR 13-01-030
RULES OF COURT
STATE SUPREME COURT

[December 6, 2012]

IN THE MATTER OF THE ADOPTION OF ) ORDER
THE AMENDMENTS TO ER 804-HEARSAY ) NO. 25700-A-
EXCEPTIONS: DECLARANT UNAVAIL- ) 1010
ABLE, ER 901-REQUIREMENT OF )
AUTHENTICATION OR IDENTIFICATION )
AND CR 34-PRODUCING DOCUMENTS, )
ELECTRONICALLY STORED INFORMA- )
TION, AND THINGS OR ENTRY UPON )
LAND FOR INSPECTION AND OTHER )
PURPOSES; APR TITLE, APR 1-9; APPEN- )
DIX APR 12, REGULATION 14; APR 13, )
APR 15, APR 15 PROCEDURAL RULES 6, )
9, 13, APR 17; APR 18; APR 20, APR 20.1, )
APR 20.2, APR 20.3, APR 20.4, APR 20.5, )
APR 21, APR 22, APR 23, APR 24, APR 24.1, )
APR 24.2, APR 24.3, APR 24.4, APR 24.5, )
APR 25, APR 25.1, APR 25.2, APR 25.3, APR )
25.4, APR 25.5, AND APR 25.6; RPC 5.5- )
UNAUTHORIZED PRACTICE OF LAW; )
MULTIJURISDICTIONAL PRACTICE OF )
LAW AND LPORPC 1.12A-SAFEGUARD- )
ING PROPERTY; NEW SET OF RULES FOR )
ENFORCEMENT OF LAWYER CONDUCT )
(ELC) AND RPC 5.8-MISCONDUCT )
INVOLVING DISBARRED, SUSPENDED, )
RESIGNED, AND INACTIVE LAWYERS; )
AMENDMENT TO GR 12.1-WASHINGTON )
STATE BAR ASSOCIATION: PURPOSES )

The Washington State Bar Association having recommended the adoption of the proposed amendments to ER 804-Hearsay Exceptions: Declarant Unavailable, ER 901-Requirement of Authentication or Identification and CR 34-Producing Documents, Electronically Stored Information, and Things or Entry Upon Land for Inspection and Other Purposes; APR Title, APR 1-9, Appendix APR 12, Regulation 14, APR 13, APR 15, APR 15 Procedural Rules 6, 9, 13, APR 17, APR 18, APR 20, APR 20.1, APR 20.2, APR 20.3, APR 20.4, APR 20.5, APR 21, APR 22, APR 23, APR 24, APR 24.1, APR 24.2, APR 24.3, APR 24.4, APR 24.5, APR 25, APR 25.1, APR 25.2, APR 25.3, APR 25.4, APR 25.5 and APR 25.6. RPC 5.5-Unauthorized Practice of Law; Multi-jurisdictional Practice of Law and LPORPC 1.12A-Safeguarding Property; New Set of Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct (ELC) and RPC 5.8-Misconduct Involving Disbarred, Suspended, Resigned, and Inactive Lawyers; Amendment to GR 12.1-Washington State Bar Association: Purposes, and the Court having approved the proposed amendments for publication;

Now, therefore, it is hereby ORDERED:

(a) That pursuant to the provisions of GR 9(g), the proposed amendments as shown below are to be published for comment in the Washington Reports, Washington Register, Washington State Bar Association and Administrative Office of the Court's websites in January 2013.

(b) The purpose statement as required by GR 9(e), is published solely for the information of the Bench, Bar and other interested parties.

(c) Comments are to be submitted to the Clerk of the Supreme Court by either U.S. Mail or Internet E-Mail by no later than April 30, 2013. Comments may be sent to the following addresses: P.O. Box 40929, Olympia, Washington 98504-0929, or Denise.Foster@courts.wa.gov. Comments submitted by e-mail message must be limited to 1500 words.

DATED at Olympia, Washington this 6th day of December, 2012.

For the Court

Madsen, C.J.
CHIEF JUSTICE

GR 9 COVER SHEET

Suggested Amendment
SUPERIOR COURT EVIDENCE RULES
ER 804 - Hearsay Exceptions: Declarant Unavailable

(Codifying hearsay exception when witness is unavailable due to a party's wrongdoing)

Submitted by the Board of Governors of the Washington State Bar Association

Purpose: In the federal courts, a defendant who causes the nonappearance of a witness at trial (either by killing or intimidating the witness) waives both the hearsay rule and the Sixth Amendment right to confrontation with respect to that witness. As a result, a federal prosecutor is then able to call other witnesses to recount out-of-court statements by the witness who did not appear. Washington State jurisprudence holds that a criminal defendant waives the Sixth amendment right to confrontation by killing a prosecution witness, but Washington has not adopted the language of the Federal Rules of Evidence to clarify that a defendant also waives the hearsay rule. See State v. Mason, 160 Wn.2d 910 (2007); Giles v. California, 128 S. Ct. 2678 (2008). As a result, in Washington, there is an anomalous situation where a defendant is barred from asserting the right to confrontation, and yet may object to the same statements on the basis of the hearsay rule. Codification of the rule on forfeiture by wrongdoing in Washington State would allow the membership the benefit of federal jurisprudence.

Federal Evidence Rule 804 (b)(6) creates a hearsay exception for statements offered against a party that has engaged or acquiesced in wrongdoing that was intended to, and did, procure the unavailability of the declarant as a witness. Effective December 2011, the federal rule will be revised to state as follows: "[a] statement offered against a party that wrongfully caused—or acquiesced in wrongfully causing—the declarant's unavailability as a witness, and did so intending that result."

Different jurisdictions have adopted different formulations of the federal rule. The suggested rule would adopt a formulation of the hearsay exception adopted in the State of New Jersey: "A statement offered against a party that has engaged directly or indirectly in wrongdoing that was intended to, and

did, procure the unavailability of the declarant as a witness." Suggested ER 804 (b)(6) is an adaptation of the federal hearsay rule that clarifies the circumstances giving rise to a waiver. The suggested rule does not incorporate the language of "acquiescence" in that the proponent may not rely on assertions that a party "acquiesced" in conduct that procured the unavailability of a witness. Furthermore, the suggested rule is a hearsay rule and is not designed to alter

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical errors in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### SUGGESTED AMENDMENT

#### SUPERIOR COURT RULES OF EVIDENCE (ER)

#### RULE 804 - HEARSAY EXCEPTIONS: DECLARANT UNAVAILABLE

##### (a) Definition of unavailability. [Unchanged]

(b) **Hearsay exceptions.** The following are not excluded by the hearsay rule if the declarant is unavailable as a witness:

[1 - 5 unchanged]

(6) Forfeiture by wrongdoing. A statement offered against a party that has engaged directly or indirectly in wrongdoing that was intended to, and did, procure the unavailability of the declarant as a witness.

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### GR 9 COVER SHEET

#### Suggested Amendment

#### SUPERIOR COURT EVIDENCE RULES

#### ER 901 - Requirement of Authentication or Identification

(Clarifying procedures for establishing authenticity of e-mail at trial)

#### Submitted by the Board of Governors of the Washington State Bar Association

**A. Purpose:** One of the most debated questions among judges is the method by which e-mail should be authenticated at trial. ER 901(a) sets forth the general test of authenticity: The proponent of an item must produce evidence sufficient to support a finding that the item is what its proponent claims it to be. The threshold for authenticity is satisfied as long as there is enough evidence for a reasonable juror to find that the item is genuine (or in the case of illustrative evidence, that it fairly and accurately depicts what it is claimed to illustrate). ER 901(b) presently identifies nine examples of how items may be authenticated by way of illustration. The most common techniques are those identified in ER 901 (b)(4) (e.g. authentication through the item's distinctive characteristics). However, ER 901 does not directly address authentication of electronic communications.

The rule could be interpreted as meaning that the same rules apply to e-mail that apply to authentication of any other document. If so, then the authentication of e-mail is fairly simple. The witnesses who received the e-mail would testify that they recognize it, that they received it on the specified date, and that they know who sent it because of either the heading or because the e-mail is part of a string of communications. The context and subject matter discussed within the e-mail might also provide evidence sufficient to establish authenticity where the content is of a nature that only a particular sender would know.

The suggested amendment to ER 901 would introduce an illustration to clarify the requirements for authenticating an e-mail at trial. The suggested rule requires that a person with knowledge that the e-mail was created by a particular sender, the e-mail was sent from address associated with that sender, and the distinctive characteristics of the e-mail taken in conjunction with the circumstances are sufficient to support a finding (by a reasonable jury) that the e-mail is what the proponent claims.

#### SUGGESTED AMENDMENT

#### SUPERIOR COURT RULES OF EVIDENCE (ER)

#### RULE 901 - REQUIREMENT OF AUTHENTICATION OR IDENTIFICATION

(a) **General Provision.** The requirement of authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims.

(b) **Illustrations.** By way of illustration only, and not by way of limitation, the following are examples of authentication or identification conforming with the requirements of this Rule:

(1) *Testimony of Witness with Knowledge.* Testimony that a matter is what it is claimed to be.

(2) *Nonexpert Opinion on Handwriting.* Nonexpert opinion as to the genuineness of handwriting, based upon familiarity not acquired for purposes of the litigation.

(3) *Comparison by Court or Expert Witness.* Comparison by the court or by expert witnesses with specimens which have been authenticated.

(4) *Distinctive Characteristics and the Like.* Appearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics, taken in conjunction with circumstances.

(5) *Voice Identification.* Identification of a voice, whether heard first hand or through mechanical or electronic transmission or recording, by opinion based upon hearing the voice at any time under circumstances connecting it with the alleged speaker.

(6) *Telephone Conversations.* Telephone conversations, by evidence that a call was made to the number assigned at the time by the telephone company to a particular person or business, if (i) in the case of a person, circumstances, including self-identification, show the person answering to be the one called, or (ii) in the case of a business, the call was made to a place of business and the conversation related to business reasonably transacted over the telephone.

(7) *Public Records or Reports.* [Reserved. See RCWA 5.44 and CR 44.]

(8) *Ancient Documents or Data Compilation.* Evidence that a document or data compilation, in any form, (i) is in such condition as to create no suspicion concerning its authenticity (ii) was in a place where it, if authentic, would likely be, and (iii) has been in existence 20 years or more at the time it is offered.

(9) *Process or System.* Evidence describing a process or system used to produce a result and showing that the process or system produces an accurate result.

(10) *Electronic Mail (E-mail).* Testimony by a person with knowledge that (i) the e-mail was authored or created by the particular sender or the sender's agent; (ii) the e-mail was sent from an e-mail address associated with the particular sender or the sender's agent; and (iii) the appearance, contents, substance, internal patterns, or other distinctive characteristics of the e-mail, taken in conjunction with the circumstances, are sufficient to support a finding that the e-mail in question is what the proponent claims.

~~(10)~~ (11) *Methods Provided By Statute or Rule.* Any method of authentication or identification provided by statute or court rule.

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### GR 9 COVER SHEET

#### Suggested New Rule

#### SUPERIOR COURT CIVIL RULES (CR)

#### **Rule 34: ~~Production of Documents, Electronically Stored Information, and Things~~ and or Entry Upon Onto Land for Inspection and Other Purposes**

#### **Submitted by the Board of Governors of the Washington State Bar Association**

This suggested amendment addresses the particular challenges posed by the discovery of electronically stored information ("ESI").

#### **Background.**

Since the 2006 changes to various Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the WSBA's Court Rules and Procedures Committee has considered whether Washington should consider similar amendments and, if so, the contours of the amendments to suggest. This effort involved the study of not only the federal amendments and their related Advisory Committee Notes, but also a sampling of detailed information and testimony from the federal amendment process, such secondary materials as the National Conference of Commissioners on Uniform State Laws' "Uniform Rules Relating to The Discovery of Electronically-Stored Information," and information relating to what other states were doing regarding what is often called "e-discovery," including other states' proposals for rule amendments.

The Committee actively solicited the input of a number of stakeholder groups, including the Washington State Association for Justice (formerly the Washington State Trial Lawyers Association), Washington Defense Trial Lawyers, Washington State Association of Municipal Attorneys,

Washington Association of Prosecuting Attorneys, WSBA Litigation Section, Superior Court Judges' Association, and various non-profit organizations within the Access to Justice community. The Committee benefitted from the input of representatives of those groups and from others, including the International Association of Defense Counsel and the Center for Constitutional Litigation.

Building on that foundation, in 2009, the WSBA Court Rules and Procedures Committee suggested amendments to CR 26, 33, 34, 37 and 45 to conform, where appropriate, to the 2006 federal ESI amendments. By conforming where possible to the federal rules, the WSBA Court Rules and Procedures Committee believed parties and courts in Washington would be able to refer to and rely on federal authority and scholarship in dealing with e-discovery issues.

At the September 2009 meeting, the Board of Governors declined to recommend the proposed changes to CR 26, 33, 34, 37 and 45. The Board of Governors asked the WSBA Court Rules and Procedures Committee to join with the ATJ to develop new proposals addressing ESI. Over the past two years, the WSBA Court Rules and Procedures ESI Subcommittee and the ATJ Technology Committee have worked together on CR 34. The resulting proposal has been informally vetted to several SCJA members, who have each agreed that these changes are needed to clarify the proper process for producing ESI and to reduce unnecessary motions practice. ~~and~~ The ATJ Board has also vetted and approved this proposal, and ATJ and the WSBA jointly recommend this version of CR 34 as a necessary and useful procedural aid to the courts and the parties whenever discovery of ESI is at issue.

#### **Purpose of this Suggested Amendment**

This suggested amendment would introduce the phrase "electronically stored information" into CR 34 to acknowledge that ESI of all types is discoverable. This suggested amendment would also enhance readability by borrowing the organization and headings employed in the federal rules.

Substantively, this suggested amendment would address the format in which ESI is to be produced. The amended rule would permit the requesting party to designate the form or forms in which it wants ESI produced. The amended rule would not require the requesting party to choose a form of production, however, because a party may not have a preference or may not know what form the producing party uses to maintain its ESI. The amended rule also would provide a framework for resolving disputes over the form of production, in the event that the producing party objects to the requested format. If a request does not specify a form of production, or if the producing party objects to the requested form, the producing party must notify the requesting party of the form in which it intends to produce the ESI - with the option of producing either: (1) in a form in which the information is ordinarily maintained; or (2) in a reasonably usable form. If the court must resolve a dispute regarding the form of production, it will use options (1) and (2) as the standard to guide its decision.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical errors in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

## SUGGESTED AMENDMENT

## CIVIL RULES (CR)

**RULE 34. ~~PRODUCTION OF DOCUMENTS, ELECTRONICALLY STORED INFORMATION, AND THINGS AND OR ENTRY UPON ONTO LAND FOR INSPECTION AND OTHER PURPOSES~~**

**(a) Scope.** Any party may serve on any other party a request within the scope of Rule 26(b):

(1) to produce and permit the requesting party making the request, or the party's representative someone acting on his behalf, to inspect, and copy, test, photograph, record, measure, or sample the following items in the responding party's possession, custody, or control: any designated documents, electronically stored information, or things- (including writings, drawings, graphs, charts, photographs, ~~phonorecords~~ sound recordings, images, and other data or data compilations -stored in any medium from which information can be obtained, ~~translated either directly or, if necessary, after translation or conversion by the respondent through detection devices~~ responding party into a reasonably usable form); or to inspect and copy, test, or sample any ~~tangible~~ things which constitute or contain matters within the scope of rule 26(b) and which are in the possession, custody or control of the responding party upon whom the request is served; or

(2) to permit entry ~~upon~~ onto designated land or other property ~~in the possession~~ possessed or controlled by the responding party, so that the requesting party may of the party upon whom the request is served for the purpose of inspection, and measuring, surveying, photographing, testing, or sampling the property or any designated object, process or operation on it thereon, within the scope of rule 26(b).

**(b) Procedure.**

(1) Service. The request may, without leave of court, be served upon the plaintiff after the summons and a copy of the complaint are served upon the defendant, or the complaint is filed, whichever shall first occur, and upon any other party with or after service of the summons and complaint upon that party.

(2) Contents of the Request. The request;

(A) shall set forth the items to be ~~inspected~~ produced either by individual item or by category, and describe each item and category with reasonable particularity;

(B) ~~The request~~ shall specify a reasonable time, place and manner of making the ~~inspection~~ production and performing the related acts;

(C) may specify the form or forms in which electronically stored information is to be produced.

(3) Responses and Objections.

(A) Time to Respond. The responding party upon whom the request is served shall serve a written response within 30 days after the service of the request, except that a defendant may serve a response within 40 days after service of the summons and complaint upon that defendant. The parties may stipulate or the court may allow a shorter or longer time.

(B) Responding to Each Item. For each item or category, the response must either state that inspection and related activities will be permitted as requested or state a specific objection to the request, including the reasons.

(C) Objections. An objection to part of a request must specify the part and permit inspection of the rest.

(D) Responding to a Request for Electronically Stored Information. The response may state an objection to a requested form for producing electronically stored information. If the responding party objects to a form or forms—or if no form was specified in the request—the responding party must state the form or forms it intends to use.

The response shall state, with respect to each item or category, that inspection and related activities will be permitted as requested, unless the request is objected to, in which event the reasons for objections shall be stated. If objection is made to part of an item or category, the part shall be specified and inspection permitted of the remaining parts. The party submitting the request may move for an order under rule 37(a) with respect to any objection to or other failure to respond to the request or any part thereof, or any failure to permit inspection as requested.

(E) Failure to Make Discovery. For any failure to make discovery under this rule, the requesting party may move for an order as provided under rule 37.

(F) Producing the Documents or Electronically Stored Information. Unless otherwise stipulated or ordered by the court:

(i) A party who produces things, electronically stored information, or documents for inspection shall produce them as they are kept in the usual course of business or shall organize and label them to correspond with the categories in the request;

(ii) If a request does not specify a form for producing electronically stored information, a party must produce it in a form or forms in which it is ordinarily maintained or in a reasonably usable form or forms; and

(iii) ~~Unless otherwise stipulated or ordered by the court, for good cause shown, a party need not produce the same electronically stored information in more than one form.~~

**(c) Persons Not Parties.** This rule does not preclude an independent action or a subpoena issued pursuant to rule 45 against a person not a party for production of documents and things and permission to enter upon land.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical errors in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

## GR 9 COVER SHEET

## Suggested Amendments

## ADMISSION TO PRACTICE RULES (APR)

(clarifying and simplifying admission to the practice of law in Washington and administration of authorized activities of the Washington State Bar Association)

## Submitted by the Board of Governors of the Washington State Bar Association

**Purpose:**

The primary purpose for the suggested amendments to the Admission to Practice Rules (APR) is to develop an updated system of admissions to the practice of law that addresses significant changes occurring both nationwide and globally in the areas of admissions, limited or special licens-

ing to practice, and other topics addressed in the APR. The suggested amendments would: (1) acknowledge increased mobility of lawyers and applicants; (2) increase diversity in WSBA membership as the practice of law becomes more cross-jurisdictional within the United States and across international borders; (3) protect the public by ensuring that admittees and licensees are competent, of good moral character, and fit to practice; (4) maintain confidentiality of applicant information to encourage full and complete disclosure of information that might affect determinations regarding applicants' competency, moral character, and fitness to practice; (5) create a simplified and consistent approach to the admission to the practice of law in Washington; (6) promote access to justice; (7) insure consistency between the WSBA Bylaws and the APRs; and (8) maintain the integrity and professionalism of lawyers in Washington state. These purposes are discussed below.

The suggested amendments were developed by the Admission to Practice Rules Task Force, which was composed of members of the WSBA representing a variety of different interests - solo/small firm, large firm, government, and legal aid practitioners; the three Washington law schools; a former judge; a new lawyer; and a law student (who had to resign due to the demands of law school and other commitments). These members initially brought very different viewpoints and opinions to the topics discussed, and the discussions were wide-ranging and spirited, with consideration given to each viewpoint.

The Task Force reviewed current rules and studied proposals and trend occurring both nationwide and worldwide. The Task Force also invited stakeholders, interested speakers, and individuals affected by the APR to present to the Task Force on their topics of interest and concern, and received recommendation and reports from other WSBA or Supreme Court Boards and WSBA staff responsible for various programs under the APR. The Chair made presentations to the Board of Governors at three separate meetings in public session, with comments made and received by all in attendance at those meetings. Additionally, the WSBA published notice on its website regarding the suggested amendments, sent an email to all WSBA members regarding the Task Force's initial July report and recommendations to the Board of Governors requesting feedback, and considered all of the comments received and made some changes based on this feedback.<sup>1</sup>

All told, the Chair estimates that the Task Force spent over 500 hours working on this project. In the final analysis, the Task Force was able to make decisions on almost every suggested amendment by consensus, with a formal vote being required on only a couple of issues out of all of the suggested amendments.

The suggested amendments acknowledge and allow for the mobility of the profession and provide for a diverse membership as globalization and cross-jurisdictional practice increasingly influence the practice of law.<sup>2</sup> This is accomplished in several ways under the suggested amendments:

- Suggested **APR 3(b)** would broaden the qualifications for general admission to include foreign attorneys or graduates from foreign law schools who earn a specialized LL.M. degree in the practice of law from an ABA approved

law school. Graduates from non-ABA approved law schools in the United States who earn the same type of specialized LL.M. degree in the practice of law from an ABA approved law school also qualify for admission by exam. In addition, the suggested amendments maintain the common law jurisdiction exception to the LL.M. requirement, but remove the requirement that admission in the other jurisdiction be by examination. After exploring this issue, the Task Force determined that many, if not most, foreign countries - including England, whose common law system was the foundational basis of the U.S. jurisprudence system - do not administer bar examinations for the purpose of determining qualification for admission to practice law. The suggested provisions allow lawyers and law school graduates from around the country and all countries from around the world the opportunity for admission to practice law in Washington without discriminating against those that are not common law jurisdictions. Likewise, Washington State, which is heavily engaged in international trade and business, receives the benefit of talented and diverse lawyers from across the globe.

- Suggested **APR 3(c)** would replace reciprocity under current APR 18 with admission by motion. The new admission by motion rule permits lawyers admitted in another U.S. jurisdiction to seek admission without taking the bar exam in Washington if they have at least three years of active practice experience within the previous five years. This suggestion specifically acknowledges that lawyers are increasingly more mobile and that the practice of law frequently crosses state lines, and that lawyers need to be able to move to or practice in other U.S. jurisdictions without the burden and expense of another bar exam. As U.S. jurisdictions increasingly use multiple parts of multi-state exams and move toward the Uniform Bar Exam, which Washington has adopted, requiring lawyers to take a bar exam in each state becomes redundant and unnecessary.

Additionally, this timeline is important for providing "wrap-around" rules governing when and how lawyers can obtain admission in Washington. In the first three years after taking the Uniform Bar Exam in another state, a lawyer from another state would be able to obtain admission in Washington based on a UBE score that meets Washington's requirements, just like any examinee who has recently passed the bar exam, and regardless of whether the lawyer has active practice experience. From three years on, a lawyer from another state would be able to obtain admission based on admission in that other state, good standing, and three years of active practice within the previous five years. So there would be no period of time when there is no rule that governs the admission of lawyers from other states.

- Suggested **APR 8(b)** (the *pro hac vice* rule) would allow lawyers who are admitted in other U.S. jurisdictions but live or work in Washington to qualify to practice on a limited basis. This will remove barriers currently presented to lawyers who live in Washington but are licensed and maintain practices in our bordering states.

- Suggested **APR 8(f)** would allow in-house counsel to seek admission as house counsel and work for Washington companies on a long term basis, whether they are licensed in foreign jurisdictions or other U.S. jurisdictions. The suggested amendment also would remove the requirement that a

foreign-licensed lawyer be admitted by exam in the foreign jurisdiction, which has presented significant issues for many foreign-licensed lawyers seeking in-house counsel licensing in Washington. The suggested amendment to **RPC 5.5(d)** would allow house counsel to temporarily practice for their employer while seeking and waiting for admission under **APR 8(f)**, or **APR 3 (b)** or **(c)**. This change benefits the many multi-national corporations that are headquartered and do business in Washington.

The suggested amendments to the Admission to Practice Rules would continue to protect the public and maintain the confidentiality of personal applicant information. Protecting the public is accomplished by the suggested amendments in several ways.

- First, a specific LL.M. degree for the practice of law, from an ABA accredited law school, would be required for individuals with foreign law degrees and for graduates from a non-ABA accredited law school under suggested **APR 3(b)**. The LL.M. degree must be earned at an ABA accredited law school and meet minimum requirements. The required elements of the LL.M. degree would insure instruction on basic principles of United States law, history, legal analysis, and practice. Thus, these applicants would have 3 major steps to complete before admission to insure minimum competency to practice law: completion of their first degree in law, an LL.M. degree, and the Uniform Bar Exam.

- Second, the requirement for admission by motion for lawyers admitted in another U.S. jurisdiction under proposed **APR 3(c)** would require at least three years of practice out of the last five years prior to application. This standard was recently adopted by the American Bar Association in the ABA Model Rule for Admission by Motion. See Supporting Material #5. The practice requirement insures that lawyers coming into Washington are experienced and current in the law.

- Third, all applicants, either by exam or by motion, would be required to take and pass the Washington Law Component, which is being developed to accompany use of the Uniform Bar Exam. This online test will be based on study materials available online that educate the applicant about areas of law that are unique to Washington or are substantially different from the general law tested on the Uniform Bar Exam. This would insure that all lawyers entering practice in Washington are familiar with Washington specific law, something that currently does not happen with those admitted by reciprocity under **APR 18**. **All** applicant also would be required to pass a character and fitness review and take the **APR 5(b)** four hour preadmission course.

- Fourth, the provisions in **APR 8(f)** for house counsel admission would restrict practice to providing advice to the corporate client only, as is the case currently. (One exception to this rule is that house counsel would also be permitted to represent pro bono clients, consistent with the current provisions of **RPC 5.5(e)**.) Individuals admitted as house counsel under **APR 8(f)** would not be permitted to appear in court. Because the client is the employer corporation there is little, if any, risk to the public.

- Fifth, all lawyers who are requesting reinstatement to active membership would be subject to character and fitness reviews under proposed amendments to **APR 20-24**.

- Sixth, amendments to the Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection (LFCP) rules under **APR 15**, would insure restitution to the fund and require claims against lawyers on inactive disability status to be paid to injured clients. In addition, lawyers admitted *pro hac vice* under **APR 8(b)** would be required to pay the LFCP assessment.

- Seventh, amendments to **APR 17** would protect the public by insuring that lawyers who are not current with licensing requirements are suspended from the practice of law.

- Eighth, **APR 9**, Licensed Legal Interns, would be completely reorganized and contain additional provisions to protect the public. These would include enhanced requirements for the good moral character of the intern, enhanced qualifications for the supervising lawyer, and specifically enumerated additional obligations of the supervising lawyer regarding supervision of, and responsibility to, the intern.

- Finally, several confidentiality provisions are proposed that would better protect the personal information of those applying for admission to the practice of law, which would help to ensure full and accurate disclosures by applicants in the admission process. In particular, proposed **APR 1(d)** would provide broad confidentiality to all applications related to the admission process. In addition, there would be enhanced provisions relating to claims against the Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection (**APR 15, Rule 13**), character and fitness provisions in **APR 22 and 24.3**, and the **APR 6** Law Clerk Program.

Another purpose of this review and amendment process was to simplify and make consistent the application and admission process.

- The suggested amendments to **APR 3(b)**, would require applicants who do not obtain a J.D. from an ABA accredited law school or complete the **APR 6** Law Clerk Program to earn the LL.M. degree for the practice of law. This would be consistent with the requirements for foreign licensed lawyers. (The one exception, a carryover from current **APR 3**, would permit lawyers from a common law jurisdiction with three years of practice to take the exam without having to first obtain an LL.M.)

- The suggested amendments to **APR 3(c)** for admission by motion would significantly simplify and standardize the process for admission of lawyers from other US jurisdictions, compared to the current rule that imposes different requirements depending on the jurisdiction in which the incoming lawyer is licensed. In addition, the three-out-of-the-last-five-years standard for the practice requirement is the same for the common law jurisdiction exception in **APR 3(b)** and is consistent with the ABA recommended requirement. Although there would continue to be several limited admissions or licenses available, fewer people would need to take advantage of those because of the simplification of admission by motion.

Access to justice is another important purpose of the APRs. The APRs currently contain several provisions that promote access to justice. The suggested amendments would maintain most existing provisions, while enhancing some of those provisions. Under **APR 8(c)**, Indigent Representation, the suggested amendment would permit those who have applied for admission by motion to seek this limited admis-

sion (for the purpose of representing indigent clients) while waiting to complete the admissions process.

A final purpose of the amendments is to insure consistency with the WSBA Bylaws. In particular, **APR 17**, relating to administrative suspensions, would specifically enumerate the reasons and procedures for administrative suspensions, which have been contained in the WSBA Bylaws for some time. In addition, including members in the character and fitness rules (**APR 20-24**) is also something that currently exists in the WSBA Bylaws.

Taken as a whole, the suggested amendments to the APR and the purposes for the amendments maintain the integrity and professionalism of lawyers in Washington. These amendments were developed and presented as a package, and many of the suggested amendments rely on other suggested amendments within this package to be effective and workable. This package works together to provide and accommodate diversity, mobility, consistency, access to justice, and protection of the public, while moving the legal profession in Washington forward within a quickly changing and dynamic landscape for the legal profession.

<sup>1</sup> 59 comments were received from a total of 66 people, and 35 of those people commented on a proposal for a mandatory malpractice insurance, which has been withdrawn from the package. Many people who commented made comments about more than one rule. On the attached chart of comments received, such comments were divided up so that pieces of the comments were grouped with other comments about a particular rule or set of rules. This makes it appear as though more comments were received than is actually the case, but made it easier for the Task Force to consider the comments received.

<sup>2</sup> Note, however, that the Board of Governors recently adopted admission requirements in connection with the transition to the Uniform Bar Exam that will require all lawyers seeking admission or licensing in Washington to take the Washington Law Component, an online education and testing exercise that will ensure that all admittees to the practice of law in Washington have some familiarity with aspects of Washington law that are unique or uncommon - something that is not currently required of many hundreds of lawyers who get admitted to practice in Washington currently without taking the Washington Bar exam.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### SUGGESTED AMENDMENTS TO ADMISSION TO PRACTICE RULES

##### TITLE

ADMISSION ~~TO~~ AND PRACTICE RULES (APR)

**RULE 1. IN GENERAL; SUPREME COURT; PREREQUISITES TO THE PRACTICE OF LAW; COMMUNICATIONS TO THE ASSOCIATION; CONFIDENTIALITY**

**(a) Supreme Court.** The Supreme Court of Washington has the exclusive responsibility and the inherent power to establish the qualifications for admission to practice law, and to admit persons to practice law in this state. Any person carrying out the functions set forth in these rules is acting under the authority and at the direction of the Supreme Court.

**(b) Prerequisites to the Practice of Law.** Except as may be otherwise provided in these rules, a person shall not appear as an attorney or counsel in any of the courts of the State of Washington, or practice law in this state, unless that person has passed the Washington State bar examination, has complied with the other requirements of these rules, and is an active member of the Washington State Bar Association

(referred to in these rules as the Bar Association). A person shall be admitted to the practice of law and become an active member of the Bar Association only by order of the Supreme Court.

**(c) Communications to the Association.** Communications to the Association, the Board of Governors, the Board of Bar Examiners, the Character and Fitness Board, the Law Clerk Board, mediators, mediation staff, or any other individual person, board, committee or other entity acting under authority of these rules, are absolutely privileged, and no lawsuit may be predicated thereon.

##### **(d) Confidentiality.**

(1) Unless expressly authorized by the Supreme Court or by the applicant, all application records, including related investigation files, documents and proceedings, for the admission or limited admission to practice law and to the law clerk program are confidential and shall be privileged against disclosure, except as necessary to conduct an investigation, hearing, and appeal or review pursuant to these rules.

(2) Unless expressly authorized by the Supreme Court, all examination questions, scoring keys and other examination data used by the Association to administer the bar examination and other qualifying examinations for admission or licensing are not subject to public disclosure.

(3) Unless expressly authorized by the Supreme Court, the following records of the Board of Bar Examiners, Mandatory Continuing Legal Education Board, Limited Practice Board, Limited License Legal Technician Board, Law Clerk Board, Character and Fitness Board, and the Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection Board shall not be disclosed:

(i) Preliminary drafts, notes, recommendations, and intra-Board memorandums in which opinions are expressed or policies formulated or recommended;

(ii) Records that are relevant to a controversy to which the Board is a party but which records would not be available to another party under the rules of pretrial discovery for causes pending in the superior courts.

(4) Motions for the limited admission to practice law under APR 8(b) are not confidential and may be disclosed pursuant to a proper request.

#### RULE 2. BOARD OF GOVERNORS

**(a) Powers.** In addition to any other power or authority in other rules, the Board of Governors of the Bar Association (referred to in these rules as the Board of Governors) shall have the power and authority to:

(1) Appoint a Board of Bar Examiners from among the active members of the Bar Association for the purposes of assisting the Board of Governors in conducting the bar examination;

(2) Appoint a Law Clerk Board from among the active members of the Bar Association for the purposes of assisting the Board of Governors in supervising the Law Clerk Program;

(3) Appoint a Character and Fitness Board pursuant to rule 20;

(4) Approve or deny applications for permission to take the bar examination, to enroll in the law clerk program, to be admitted to practice ~~pursuant to rule 18~~ by motion, or to

engage in the limited practice of law under pertinent provisions of rules 8, 9, and 14;

(5) Investigate all aspects of an applicant's qualifications to take the bar examination, to be admitted to the practice of law, to engage in the limited practice of law under pertinent provisions of rules 8, 9, and 14, or to enroll in the law clerk program;

(6) Recommend to the Supreme Court the admission or rejection of each applicant who has passed the bar examination, who is applying to be admitted to practice ~~pursuant to rule 18~~ by motion, or who is applying to engage in the limited practice of law under pertinent provisions of rules 8, 9, and 14;

(7) Approve law schools for the purposes of these rules and maintain a list of such approved law schools on file with the Clerk of the Supreme Court;

(8) Prescribe, with the approval of the Supreme Court, the amount of any fees required by these rules;

(9) Prescribe the form and content of any application, certificate, or other document referred to in these rules; and

(10) Perform any other functions and take any other actions provided for in these rules, or as may be delegated by the Supreme Court, or as may be necessary and proper to carry out its duties.

**(b) Written Request.** Any request to the Board of Governors for action on any subject under these rules shall be in writing and shall be properly filed. For the purpose of these rules, filing shall occur at the headquarters office of the Bar Association.

**RULE 3. APPLICANTS TO TAKE THE BAR EXAMINATION FOR ADMISSION TO PRACTICE LAW**

**(a) Prerequisite for Admission.** Every person desiring to be admitted to the Bar of the State of Washington must be of good moral character, possess the requisite fitness to practice law, and must qualify for and pass a bar examination except as provided for in these rules.

**(b) Qualification for Bar Examination.** To qualify to sit for the bar examination, a person must present satisfactory proof of either:

(i) graduation from a law school approved by the Board of Governors; or

(ii) completion of the law clerk program prescribed by these rules; or

(iii) graduation from a United States law school not approved by the Board of Governors together with the completion of an LL.M. degree for the practice of law as defined by these rules; or

(iv) graduation from a university or law school outside the United States with a degree in law together with the completion of an LL.M. degree for the practice of law as defined by these rules; or

~~(iii)~~ admission to the practice of law ~~by examination~~, together with current good standing, in ~~any state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia~~ or any jurisdiction where the common law of England is the basis of its jurisprudence, and active legal experience for at least 3 of the 5 years immediately preceding the filing of the application.

"Active legal experience" ~~shall~~ means experience either in the active practice of law, or as a teacher at an approved law school, or as a judge of a court of general or appellate

jurisdiction, or any combination thereof, in a state or territory of the United States or in the District of Columbia or in any jurisdiction where the common law of England is the basis of its jurisprudence.

"LL.M. degree for the practice of law" means an LL.M. program at a law school approved by the Board of Governors that consists of a minimum of 18,200 minutes of total instruction to include at least 12,000 minutes of instruction on principles of domestic United States law, which must include:

(i) a minimum of 2080 minutes in United States Constitutional Law, including principles of separation of powers and federalism;

(ii) a minimum of 2080 minutes in the civil procedure of state and federal courts in the United States;

(iii) a minimum of 1400 minutes in the history, goals, structure, values, rules and responsibilities of the United States legal profession and its members; and

(iv) a minimum of 1400 minutes in legal analysis and reasoning, legal research, problem solving, and oral and written communication.

**(c) Admission by Motion.** Lawyers admitted to practice law in other states or territories of the United States or the District of Columbia are not required to sit for the bar examination if they:

(i) file a certificate from that jurisdiction certifying the lawyer's admission to practice, and the date thereof, and current good standing or the equivalent; and

(ii) present satisfactory proof of active legal experience for at least 3 of the 5 years immediately preceding the filing of the application.

**(ed) Exceptions.** The Board of Governors may, in its discretion, withhold approval of an application or permission to sit for the bar examination for an otherwise qualified ~~person to sit for the bar examination~~ applicant, until completion of an inquiry into the applicant's character and fitness, if the applicant (i) has ever been convicted of a "serious crime" as defined in ELC 7.1 (a)(2), or (ii) has ever been disbarred or is presently suspended from the practice of law for disciplinary reasons in any jurisdiction, or (iii) has previously been denied admission to the Bar in this or any other jurisdiction for reasons other than failure to pass a bar examination. The Board of Governors may also withhold approval of an application or permission to sit for the bar examination where for any other reason there are serious and substantial questions regarding the present moral character or fitness of the applicant. The Board of Governors may refer such matters to the Character and Fitness Board for investigation and hearing pursuant to these rules.

**(de) Forms; Fees; Filing.** Every applicant ~~to take the bar examination for admission~~ shall:

(1) Execute and file an application, in the form and manner and within the time limits that may be prescribed by the Board of Governors;

(2) Pay upon the filing of the application such fees as may be set by the Board of Governors with the approval of the Supreme Court; and

(3) Furnish whatever additional information or proof may be required in the course of investigating the applicant.

**(e) Disclosure of Records** Unless expressly authorized ~~by the Supreme Court or by the bar applicant, bar application~~



forms and related records, documents, and proceedings shall not be disclosed, except as necessary to conduct an investigation and hearing pursuant to rule 7.

**RULE 4. BAR EXAMINATIONS; ~~CERTIFICATION NOTIFICATION~~ OF RESULTS**

**(a) Bar Examination.** The examination for admission to the bar shall be conducted by and under the direction of the Board of Governors with the assistance of the Board of Bar Examiners. The bar examination shall be held in February and in July of each year, or at such other times as the Board of Governors may designate, commencing at the times and in the locations selected by the Board of Governors.

**(b) ~~Certification Notification of Results; Notice.~~** As soon as practicable after the completion of the bar examination, the ~~Board of Bar Examiners shall certify to the Board of Governors the grades of all applicants who have taken the bar examination.~~ The Board of Governors shall cause each applicant to be notified of the results of the bar examination. The Board of Governors may disclose the results to the applicant's law school and the National Conference of Bar Examiners. No other information will be divulged to persons other than the applicants concerning the applicants who failed the bar examination.

**(c) Repeating Bar Examination.** Any applicant failing a bar examination may apply to take another bar examination.

**RULE 5. RECOMMENDATION FOR ADMISSION; ORDER ADMITTING TO PRACTICE; PAYMENT OF MEMBERSHIP FEE; OATH OF ATTORNEY; RESIDENT AGENT**

**(a) Recommendation for Admission.** The Board of Governors shall recommend to the Supreme Court the admission or rejection of each applicant who has passed the bar examination or been approved for admission by motion, and who has complied with the preadmission ~~education~~ requirements set forth in this rule. A recommendation for admission shall be based upon the Board of Governors determination, after investigation, that the applicant appears to be of good moral character and in all respects qualified to engage in the practice of law. All recommendations of the Board of Governors shall be accompanied by the applicant's application for ~~examination~~ admission and any other documents deemed pertinent by the Board of Governors or requested by the Supreme Court. The recommendation and all accompanying documents and papers shall be kept by the Clerk of the Supreme Court in a separate file which shall not be a public record.

**(b) ~~Preadmission Education~~ Requirements.** Before an applicant who has passed the bar examination, or who qualifies for admission without passing the bar examination, may be admitted, the applicant must:

- (1) take and pass the Washington Law Component;
- (2) complete a minimum of 4 hours education in a curriculum and under circumstances approved by the Board of Governors; ~~These courses will be offered at no cost to the applicant.~~
- (3) pay to the Bar Association the annual license fee and any assessments for the current year;
- (4) file any and all licensing forms required of active members;
- (5) take the Oath of Attorney; and

(6) designate a resident agent if required to do so by section (f).

For applicants who take and pass the bar examination, the preadmission requirements must be completed within 40 months from the date of the administration of the bar examination in which the score was earned. For applicants who apply by motion, the preadmission requirements must be completed within one year from the date of filing the application, except for good cause shown.

**(~~dc~~) Oath of Attorney.** The Oath of Attorney must be taken before an elected or appointed judge ~~elected or appointed to an elected position,~~ excluding judges pro tempore, sitting in open court, in the state of Washington. In the event a successful applicant is outside the state of Washington and the Chief Justice is satisfied that it is impossible or impractical for the applicant to take the oath before an elected or appointed judge ~~elected or appointed to an elected position~~ in this state, the Chief Justice may, upon proper application setting forth all the circumstances, designate a person authorized by law to administer oaths, before whom the applicant may appear and take said oath.

**(ed) Contents of Oath.** The oath which all applicants shall take is as follows:

OATH OF ATTORNEY

State of Washington, County of \_\_\_\_\_ ss.

I, \_\_\_\_\_, do solemnly declare:

1. I am fully subject to the laws of the State of Washington and the laws of the United States and will abide by the same.
2. I will support the constitution of the State of Washington and the constitution of the United States.
3. I will abide by the Rules of Professional Conduct approved by the Supreme Court of the State of Washington.
4. I will maintain the respect due to the courts of justice and judicial officers.
5. I will not counsel, or maintain any suit, or proceeding, which shall appear to me to be unjust, or any defense except as I believe to be honestly debatable under the law, unless it is in defense of a person charged with a public offense. I will employ for the purpose of maintaining the causes confided to me only those means consistent with truth and honor. I will never seek to mislead the judge or jury by any artifice or false statement.
6. I will maintain the confidence and preserve inviolate the secrets of my client, and will accept no compensation in connection with the business of my client unless this compensation is from or with the knowledge and approval of the client or with the approval of the court.
7. I will abstain from all offensive personalities, and advance no fact prejudicial to the honor or reputation of a party or witness unless required by the justice of the cause with which I am charged.
8. I will never reject, from any consideration personal to myself, the cause of the defenseless or oppressed, or delay unjustly the cause of any person.

\_\_\_\_\_  
(signature)

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO before me this \_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 20 \_\_\_\_.

\_\_\_\_\_  
Judge

**(eg) Order Admitting to Practice.** After examining the recommendation and accompanying papers transmitted by the Board of Governors, the Supreme Court may enter such order in each case as it deems advisable. For those applicants it deems qualified, the Supreme Court shall enter an order admitting them to the practice of law, ~~conditioned upon such applicants:~~

~~(1) Taking and filing with the Clerk of the Supreme Court the Oath of Attorney within 1 year from the date the bar examination results are made public, except for good cause shown; and~~

~~(2) Paying to the Bar Association its membership fee for the current year; and~~

~~(3) Designating a resident agent if required to do so by section (e).~~

**(f) Nonresident Lawyers; Resident Agent.** There shall be no requirement that an applicant or a member of the Bar Association be a resident or a bona fide resident in the state of Washington. Every active member, except a judicial member, of the Bar Association who does not live or maintain an office in the state of Washington shall file with the Bar Association the name and address of an agent within this state for the purpose of receiving service of process or of any other document required or permitted by statute or court rule to be served or delivered to a resident lawyer. Service or delivery to such agent shall be deemed service upon or delivery to the lawyer.

#### RULE 6. LAW CLERK PROGRAM

**(a) Purpose.** The Law Clerk Program provides access to legal education guided by a qualified tutor using an apprenticeship model that includes theoretical, experiential, and clinical components. Successful completion of the Law Clerk Program provides a way to meet the education requirement to apply for the Washington State bar exam; it is not a special admission or limited license to practice law.

**(b) (a) Applicants. Application.** Every applicant for enrollment in the law clerk program shall:

(1) Be of good moral character and fitness;

(2) Present satisfactory proof of having been granted a bachelor's degree by a college or university with approved accreditation other than a bachelor of laws, by a college or university offering such a degree on the basis of a four-year course of study; if the degree was earned in a non-US jurisdiction, the applicant shall provide supporting documentation as to its equivalency;

(3) Obtain regular, full-time employment in the State of Washington as a law clerk with (i) a judge of a court of general, limited, or appellate jurisdiction, or (ii) a lawyer or firm of lawyers licensed to practice in this state and actively engaged in the practice of law; Be engaged in regular, full-time employment in Washington State for an average of 32 hours per week with the primary tutor or primary tutor's employer in a (i) law office, (ii) legal department or (iii) a court of general, limited, or appellate jurisdiction in Washington State. The employment must include tasks and duties

which contribute to the practical aspects of engaging in the practice of law;

(4) Submit, on forms provided by the Bar Association (i) an application for admission to the law clerk enrollment in the program, (ii) the tutor's statement required by section (b)(3) of this rule application, and, (iii) the application fee;

(5) Appear for an interview, provide any additional information or proof, and cooperate in any investigation, as may be deemed relevant by the Board of Governors; and

(6) Pay such fees as may be set by the Board of Governors with the approval of the Supreme Court.

(6) If applicable, present a petition for Advanced Standing based on law school courses completed or courses completed in this program during a previous enrollment. The Board of Governors may grant Advanced Standing to an applicant approved for enrollment for courses deemed recently and successfully passed and equivalent to courses in the program.

(7) Where the Board of Governors is satisfied that a primary tutor has arranged a relationship with the applicant's full-time employer consistent with the purposes of the Program, the requirement that the primary tutor, or the primary tutor's employer, be the law clerk's employer may be waived.

**(c) Tutors.** A lawyer or judge may act as tutor for only one law clerk at a time. To be eligible to act as a tutor in the law clerk program, a lawyer or judge shall:

(1) Act as a tutor for only one law clerk at a time;

~~(1) (2)~~ (2) Be an active member in good standing of the Bar Association, or be a judicial member who is currently elected or appointed to an elected position, who has not received a disciplinary sanction in the last 5 years, provided that if there is discipline pending or a disciplinary sanction has been imposed upon the lawyer or judge within the 5 years immediately preceding approval of member more than 5 years preceding the law clerk's application for enrollment, the Board of Governors shall have the discretion to accept or reject the member as tutor;

~~(2) (3)~~ (3) Have been actively and continuously engaged active legal experience in the practice of law or have held the required judicial position for at least 10 of the last 12 years immediately preceding the filing of the law clerk's application for enrollment; this The 10 years of practice must include at least 2 years in Washington state and may be a combination of active practice and judicial experience but may not include periods of suspension for any reason;

~~(3) (4)~~ (4) Provide a tutor's statement certifying to the law clerk's employment and to the tutor's eligibility, and agreeing to instruct and examine the law clerk in the curriculum prescribed by the Law Clerk Board with the approval of the Board of Governors. Certify to the applicant's employment as required above and to the tutor's eligibility, and to agree to instruct and examine the applicant as prescribed under this rule; and

(5) Act as a tutor only upon the approval of the Board of Governors which may be withheld or withdrawn for any reason.

**(c) Length of Study.** A law clerk, whose application for enrollment has been accepted by the Board of Governors, shall study for 4 calendar years. Each calendar year shall consist of 12 months, with a minimum of 120 hours of study

each month, including the time spent in performing the duties of a law clerk. The tutor shall give personal supervision to the law clerk averaging at least 3 hours each week. "Personal supervision" is defined as time actually spent with the law clerk for the exposition and discussion of the law, the recitation of cases, and the critical analysis of the law clerk's written assignments.

**(d) Enrollment.** When an application for enrollment has been approved by the Board of Governors, an enrolled law clerk shall:

(1) Pay an annual fee as set by the Board of Governors.

(2) Meet the minimum monthly requirements of an average of 32 hours per week of employment with the tutor which may include in-office study time and must include an average of 3 hours per week for the tutor's personal supervision of the law clerk. "Personal supervision" is defined as time actually spent with the law clerk for the exposition and discussion of the law, the recitation of cases, and the critical analysis of the law clerk's written assignments.

(3) Complete the prescribed course of study which shall be the equivalent of four years of study. Each year of study shall consist of 6 courses completed in 12 months. Months of leave, failed courses, and months in which the enrollee does not meet the minimum number of hours of work and study may not be counted toward the completion of a course and may extend the length of a year of study. Advanced Standing granted may reduce the months of program study. The course of study must be completed within 6 years from the initial date of enrollment.

(4) Abide by APR 6 and the Law Clerk Program Regulations approved by the Board of Governors which provide the course of study, program requirements and other guidelines to successfully complete the program.

~~(d)~~ **(e) Course of Study.** The subjects to be studied, the sequence in which they are to be studied, and any other matters pertaining thereto requirement to successfully complete the program shall be prescribed by the Law Clerk Board with the approval of the Board of Governors in the Law Clerk Program Regulations. Progress toward completion of the program shall be evaluated by submission of exams, certificates, reports and evaluations as follows:

~~(e)~~ **(e) Examinations.** All law clerks shall:

(1) Each month, complete a written examination prepared, administered, and graded by the tutor. The examination shall be answered without research, assistance, or reference to source materials during the examination;

(2) Annually, or at such other intervals as may be established by the Law Clerk Board, appear with the tutor before the Law Clerk Board for an oral evaluation of the law clerk's progress.

**(f) Certificates.** In addition to the tutor's statement required by section (b)(3) of this rule, the tutor shall submit, on forms provided by the Bar Association:

(1) A monthly certificate, accompanying the written examination, stating the number of hours the law clerk studied each week, the number of hours spent by the tutor in personal supervision each week, that the written examination was administered as required, and that, in the opinion of the tutor, the law clerk is progressing satisfactorily; and

(2) At the conclusion of the law clerk's course of study, a certificate stating that the law clerk has completed the prescribed length and course of study, and, in the tutor's opinion, is qualified to take the bar examination and is competent to practice law.

**(1) Exams.** At the end of each month, the law clerk shall complete a written examination prepared, administered, and graded by the tutor. The examination shall be answered without research, assistance, or reference to source materials during the examination. The exam shall be graded pass/fail.

**(2) Certificates.** The tutor shall submit the exam, including the grade given for the examination and comments to the law clerk, and a monthly certificate, stating law clerk's hours engaged in employment, study and the tutor's personal supervision within 10 business days following the month of study. If an exam is not given, the monthly certificate shall be submitted stating the reason.

**(3) Book Reports.** The law clerk shall submit three book reports for the Jurisprudence course requirement corresponding to each year of study.

**(4) Evaluations.** Annually, or at other intervals deemed necessary, participate with the tutor in an evaluation of the law clerk's progress.

**(f) Completion of the program.** A law clerk shall be deemed to have successfully completed the program when:

(1) All required courses have been completed and passed as certified each month by the tutor, and all book reports have been submitted;

(2) The tutor has certified that the law clerk, in the tutor's opinion, is qualified to take the bar examination and is competent to practice law; and

(3) The Board has certified that all program requirements are completed.

**(g) Termination.** The Board of Governors may direct a law clerk to change tutors if approval of a tutor is withdrawn, and The Board of Governors may terminate the enrollment of law clerks or remove tutors from the program. The Law Clerk Board may recommend to the Board of Governors that the enrollment of the a law clerk's enrollment in the program be terminated for:

(1) Failure to complete the prescribed length and course of study within 6 years from the date the law clerk's application for admission was accepted of enrollment;

(2) Failure of the tutor to submit the monthly examinations and certificates at the end of each month in which they are due;

(3) Failure to comply with any of the requirements of the law clerk program; and

(4) Any other grounds deemed pertinent by the Law Clerk Board.

~~(h) Advanced Standing.~~ The Board of Governors may grant advanced standing to an enrolled law clerk who has attended either an approved or a non approved law school.

~~(i) (h) Effective Date.~~ The rRevision of this rule shall not apply retroactively. to any law clerk whose enrollment has been approved and accepted by the Board of Governors prior to the effective date of this revision. Each law clerk may complete the course of study under the version of the rule in effect on the date the application for enrollment to the law clerk program was accepted. A law clerk may complete

the program under the version of the rule in effect at the start of enrollment.

**(i) Confidentiality.** Unless expressly authorized by the Supreme Court, the program applicant, or by a current or former law clerk, enrollment and related records, documents, and proceedings are confidential and shall be privileged against disclosure, except that the fact of successful completion of the program shall be subject to disclosure.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical errors in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### **RULE 7. INVESTIGATIONS; DUTY OF APPLICANT**

**(a) Investigations.** The Board of Governors may refer any application for permission to take the bar examination, to be admitted to the practice of law or to be admitted to the limited practice of law under pertinent provisions of rules 8, 9, and 9 14, or to enroll in the law clerk program to state bar counsel or to the Character and Fitness Board for investigation pursuant to these rules.

**(b) Duty of Applicant.** It shall be the duty of every applicant to cooperate with any investigation required by the Board of Governors, by promptly furnishing written or oral explanations, documents, releases, authorizations, or anything else reasonably required by the investigator. Failure to appear as directed or to furnish additional proof or answers as required or to cooperate fully shall be sufficient reason for the Board of Governors to reject or to recommend the rejection of an application.

**(c) Subpoenas:** The chairperson of the Character and Fitness Board or Bar Counsel may issue subpoenas to compel attendance of an applicant or witness, or the production of books, documents, or other evidence, at a deposition or hearing. Subpoenas shall be served in the same manner as in civil cases in the superior court.

#### **RULE 8. ~~SPECIAL LIMITED~~ ADMISSIONS**

**(a) In General.** Lawyers admitted to the practice of law in any state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia or in any foreign jurisdiction, who do not meet the requirements of rule 1(b) or 3(c), may engage in the limited practice of law in this state as provided in this rule.

**(b) Exception for Particular Action or Proceeding.** A member in good standing of, and permitted to practice law in, the Bar of any other state or territory of the United States or of the District of Columbia, ~~who is a resident of and maintains a practice in such other state, territory, or District,~~ or a lawyer who is providing legal services for no fee through a qualified legal services provider pursuant to ~~RPC 5.5(e)~~ rule 8(f), may appear as a lawyer in any action or proceeding only (i) with the permission of the court or tribunal in which the action or proceeding is pending, and (ii) in association with an active member of the Washington State Bar Association, who shall be the lawyer of record therein, responsible for the conduct thereof, and present at proceedings unless excused by the court or tribunal.

(1) An application to appear as such a lawyer shall be made by written motion to the court or tribunal before whom the action or proceeding is pending, in a form approved by the Board of Governors, which shall include certification by

the lawyer seeking admission under this rule and the associated Washington lawyer that the requirements of this rule have been ~~compiled~~ complied with, and shall include an indication on which date the fee and assessment required in part (2) ~~was were~~ paid, or indicating that the fee and assessment ~~was were~~ waived pursuant to part (2). The motion shall be heard by the court or tribunal after such notice to the Washington State Bar Association as is required in part (2) below, together with the required fee and assessment, unless waived pursuant to part (2), and to adverse parties as the court or tribunal shall direct. Payment of the required fee and assessment shall only be necessary upon a lawyer's first application to any court or tribunal in the same case. The court or tribunal shall enter an order granting or refusing the motion, and, if the motion is refused, the court or tribunal shall state its reasons.

(2) The lawyer making the motion shall submit a copy of the motion to the Washington State Bar Association; accompanied by, (i), a nonrefundable fee in each case in an amount set by the Board of Governors with the approval of the Supreme Court, and (ii), the Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection assessment as required of active members under these rules. Payment of the fee and assessment shall only be necessary upon a lawyer's first motion to any court or tribunal in the same case. The associated Washington counsel shall be jointly responsible for payment of the fee and assessment. The fee and assessment shall be waived for a lawyer providing legal services for no fee through a qualified legal services provider pursuant to ~~RPC 5.5(e)~~ rule 8(f). The Washington State Bar Association shall maintain a public record of all motions for admission pursuant to this rule.

(3) No member of the Bar Association shall lend his or her name for the purpose of, or in any way assist in, avoiding the effect of this rule.

**(c) Exception for Indigent Representation.** A member in good standing of the Bar of another state or territory of the United States or of the District of Columbia, who is eligible to ~~take the bar examination~~ apply for admission under rule 3 in this state, while rendering service in either a bar association or governmentally sponsored legal services organization or in a public defender's office or similar program providing legal services to indigents and only in that capacity, may, upon application and approval, practice law and appear as a lawyer before the courts of this state in any matter, litigation, or administrative proceeding, subject to the following conditions and limitations:

(1) Application to practice under this rule shall be made to the Board of Governors, and the applicant shall be subject to the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct and to the Rules of Professional Conduct.

(2) In any such matter, litigation, or administrative proceeding, the applicant shall be associated with an active member of the Bar Association, who shall be the lawyer of record and responsible for the conduct of the matter, litigation, or administrative proceeding.

(3) The applicant shall either apply for and take the first available bar examination ~~which is given more than 90 days after the date of the applicant's admission to practice under this rule, or, already have filed an application for admission by motion or Uniform Bar Exam transfer.~~

(4) The applicant's right to practice under this rule (i) may be terminated by the Supreme Court at any time with or without cause, or (ii) shall be terminated automatically for failure to take or pass the required bar examination, or (iii) shall be terminated for failure to become an active member of the Bar Association within 60 days of the date the bar examination results are made public, or (iv) shall be terminated automatically upon denial of the application for admission, or (iv) in any event, shall be terminated within 1 year from the original date of the applicant's admission to practice law in this state under this rule.

**(d) Exception for Educational Purposes.** A lawyer who is enrolled and in good standing as a postgraduate student or as a faculty member in a program of an approved law school in this state, involving clinical work in the courts or in the practice of law, may apply to the Board of Governors for admission to the limited practice of law by paying an investigation fee and by presenting satisfactory proof of (i) admission to the practice of law and current good standing in any state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia, and (ii) ~~compliance with the requirements of rule 3(b)(i), and (iii)~~ good moral character.

(1) Upon approval of the application by the Board of Governors, the applicant shall take the Oath of Attorney, and the Board of Governors shall transmit its recommendation to the Supreme Court which shall enter an order admitting the applicant to the limited practice of law under this section.

(2) The practice of an applicant admitted under this section shall be (i) limited to the period of time the applicant actively participates in the program, (ii) limited to the clinical work of the particular course of study in which the applicant is enrolled or teaching, (iii) free of charge for the services so rendered, and (iv) subject to the Rules of Professional Conduct and the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct.

(3) An applicant admitted under this section shall be deemed an active member of the Bar Association only for the purpose of serving as a supervising lawyer under rule 9, and for no other purpose.

(4) When the applicant ceases actively to participate in the program, the law school dean shall immediately notify the Bar Association and the Clerk of the Supreme Court so that the applicant's right to practice may be terminated of record.

(5) The right to practice under this rule shall terminate three years from the date of admission under this rule.

**(e) Exception for Emeritus Pro Bono Membership.** A lawyer admitted to the practice of law in a state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia, including Washington State, may apply to the Board of Governors for a limited license to practice law as an emeritus pro bono member in this state when the lawyer is otherwise fully retired from the practice of law. An emeritus pro bono member shall provide legal services in Washington State for a qualified legal services provider as defined in part (2) below. The lawyer shall apply by (i) filing an application in the form and manner that may be prescribed by the Board of Governors; (ii) presenting satisfactory proof of admission by examination to the practice of law and current good standing in any state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia, provided that if a disciplinary sanction has been imposed upon the lawyer within 15 years immediately preceding the

filing of the application for emeritus status, the Board of Governors shall have the discretion to accept or reject the application; (iii) presenting satisfactory proof of active legal experience as defined in APR 3(b) for at least 5 of the 10 years immediately preceding the filing of the application for lawyers admitted in Washington and for at least 10 of the 15 years immediately preceding the filing of the application for lawyers only admitted to practice in jurisdictions other than Washington; (iv) filing certification from a qualified legal services provider as defined in part (2) below that the applicant's practice of law will comply with the terms of this rule; (v) paying such fee as may be set by the Board of Governors with approval of the Supreme Court; (vi) complying with training requirements as may be prescribed by the Board of Governors; and (vii) furnishing whatever additional information or proof that may be required in the course of investigating the applicant.

(1) Upon approval of the application by the Board of Governors, the lawyer shall take the Oath of Attorney, pay the current year's annual membership fee in the amount required of inactive members, and the Board of Governors shall transmit its recommendation to the Supreme Court which may enter an order admitting the lawyer to the limited practice of law under this section. Emeritus pro bono status membership shall be for one year subject to annual renewal as provided by the Board of Governors.

(2) The practice of a lawyer admitted under this section shall be limited to providing legal service for no fee through a qualified legal services provider; or serving as an unpaid governing or advisory board member or trustee of or providing legal counsel or service for no fee to a qualified legal services provider. A qualified legal services provider is a not for profit legal services organization in Washington state whose primary purpose is to provide legal services to low income clients. The prohibition against compensation for emeritus pro bono members shall not prevent a qualified legal services provider from reimbursing an emeritus pro bono member for actual expenses incurred while rendering legal services under this rule. A qualified legal services provider shall be entitled to receive all court awarded attorney's fees for any representation rendered by the emeritus pro bono member.

(3) A lawyer admitted under this section shall pay to the Washington State Bar Association an annual license fee in the amount required of inactive members.

(4) The practice of a lawyer admitted under this section shall be subject to the Rules of Professional Conduct, the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct, and to all other laws and rules governing lawyers admitted to the bar of this state. Jurisdiction shall continue whether or not the lawyer retains the limited license and irrespective of the residence of the lawyer.

(5) Emeritus pro bono members shall be exempt from compliance with rule 11 concerning Continuing Legal Education. However, prior to engaging in practice as an emeritus pro bono member, the lawyer must complete a training course or courses as approved by the Board of Governors.

(6) An emeritus pro bono member shall promptly report to the Washington State Bar Association a change in membership status in a state or territory of the United States or District of Columbia where the applicant has been admitted

to the practice of law or the commencement of any formal disciplinary proceeding in any jurisdiction where the lawyer has been admitted to the practice of law.

(7) The limited license granted under this section shall be automatically terminated when the lawyer's practice fails to comply with part (2) above, the lawyer fails to comply with the terms of this rule, or on suspension or disbarment in a state or territory of the United States or District of Columbia where the applicant has been admitted to the practice of law. If the lawyer whose limited license is terminated was previously admitted to practice in Washington, the lawyer shall be transferred to inactive membership status upon termination.

**(f) Exception for Foreign House Counsel.** A lawyer admitted to the practice of law in ~~a any jurisdiction other than a United States jurisdiction~~ may apply to the Board of Governors for a limited license to practice law as in-house counsel in this state when the lawyer is employed in Washington as a lawyer exclusively for a profit or not for profit corporation, including its subsidiaries and affiliates, association, or other business entity, that is not a government entity, and whose lawful business consists of activities other than the practice of law or the provision of legal services. The lawyer shall apply by:

(i) filing an application in the form and manner that may be prescribed by the Board of Governors;

(ii) presenting satisfactory proof ~~or of~~ (I) admission ~~by examination~~ to the practice of law and current good standing in ~~a any jurisdiction other than a United States jurisdiction~~ and (II) good moral character and fitness to practice;

(iii) filing an affidavit from an officer, director, or general counsel of the applicant's employer in this state attesting to the fact the applicant is employed as a lawyer for the employer, including its subsidiaries and affiliates, and the nature of the employment conforms to the requirements of this rule;

(iv) paying the application fees required of ~~foreign~~ lawyer applicants for admission under APR 3;

(v) furnishing whatever additional information or proof that may be required in the course of ~~investigation~~ investigating the applicant.

(1) Upon approval of the application by the Board of Governors, the lawyer shall take the Oath of Attorney, pay the current year's annual membership fee and the Board of Governors shall transmit its recommendation to the Supreme Court which may enter an order admitting the lawyer to the limited practice of law under this section.

(2) The practice of a lawyer admitted under this section shall be limited to practice exclusively for the employer, including its subsidiaries and affiliates, furnishing the affidavit required by the rule and shall not include (i) appearing before a court or tribunal as a person admitted to practice law in this state, and (ii) offering legal services or advice to the public; or (iii) holding oneself out to be so engaged or authorized.

(3) All business cards and employer letterhead used by a lawyer admitted under this section shall state clearly that the lawyer is admitted to practice in Washington as in-house counsel.

(4) A lawyer admitted under this section shall pay to the Washington State Bar Association an annual license fee in

the maximum amount required of active members and the Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection assessment.

(5) The practice of a lawyer admitted under this section shall be subject to the Rules of Professional Conduct, the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct, and to all other laws and rules governing lawyers admitted to the active practice of law in this state. Jurisdiction shall continue whether or not the lawyer retains the limited license and irrespective of the residence of the lawyer.

(6) The lawyer shall promptly report to the Washington State Bar Association a change in employment, a change in membership status in any jurisdiction where the applicant has been admitted to the practice of law or the commencement of any formal disciplinary proceeding in any jurisdiction where the applicant has been admitted to the practice of law.

(7) The limited license granted under this section shall be automatically terminated when employment by the employer furnishing the affidavit required by this rule is terminated, the lawyer has been admitted to the practice of law pursuant to any other provision of the APR, the lawyer fails to comply with the terms of this rule, the lawyer fails to maintain current good standing in at least one other jurisdiction where the lawyer has been admitted to the practice of law, or on suspension or disbarment for discipline in any jurisdiction where the lawyer has been admitted to the practice of law. If a lawyer's employment is terminated but the lawyer, within three months from the last day of employment is employed by an employer filing the affidavit required by (iii), the license shall be reinstated.

(8) A lawyer admitted in another United States jurisdiction and authorized to provide legal services under this Rule may provide legal services in this jurisdiction for no fee through a qualified legal services provider, as that term is defined in APR 8 (e)(2). If such services involve representation before a court or tribunal, the lawyer shall seek admission under APR 8(b) and any fees for such admission shall be waived. The prohibition against compensation in this paragraph shall not prevent a qualified legal services provider from reimbursing a lawyer authorized to practice under this rule for actual expenses incurred while rendering legal services under this pro bono exception. In addition, a qualified legal services provider shall be entitled to receive all court awarded attorney's fees for pro bono representation rendered by the lawyer.

**(g) Exception for Military Lawyers.**  
[no change]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### **RULE 9. LICENSED LEGAL INTERNS**

~~(a) Admission to Limited Practice.~~ Qualified law students, enrolled law clerks, and graduates of approved law schools may be admitted to the status of legal intern and be granted a limited license to engage in the practice of law only as provided in this rule. To qualify, an applicant must:

~~(1) Be a student duly enrolled and in good academic standing at an approved law school with legal studies completed amounting to not less than two-thirds of a prescribed 3-year course of study or five-eighths of a prescribed 4-year~~

course of study, and have the written approval of the applicant's law school dean or a person designated by such dean; or

(2) Be an enrolled law clerk in compliance with the provisions of rule 6 with not less than five eighths of the prescribed 4-year course of study completed, and have the written approval of the tutor; or

(3) Make the application before the expiration of 9 months following graduation from an approved law school, and submit satisfactory evidence thereof for the Bar Association; and

(4) Pay such fees as may be set by the Board of Governors with the approval of the Supreme Court; and

(5) Certify in writing under oath that the applicant has read, is familiar with, and will abide by, the Rules of Professional Conduct and this rule.

**(b) Procedure.** The applicant shall submit an application, for which no fee shall be required, on a form provided by the Bar Association, setting forth the applicant's qualifications.

(1) The application shall give the name of, and shall be signed by, the supervising lawyer who, in doing so, shall assume the responsibilities of supervising lawyer set forth in this rule if the applicant is granted a limited license as a legal intern. The supervising lawyer shall be relieved of such responsibilities upon the termination of the limited license or at an earlier time if the supervising lawyer or the applicant gives written notice to the Bar Association and the Supreme Court requesting that the supervising lawyer be so relieved. In the latter event another active member of the Bar Association may be substituted as such supervising lawyer by giving written notice of such substitution, signed by the applicant and by such other active member, to the Bar Association and the Supreme Court.

(2) Upon receipt of the application, it shall be examined and evaluated by the Board of Governors which shall endorse thereon its approval or disapproval and forward the same to the Supreme Court.

(3) The Supreme Court shall issue or refuse the issuance of a limited license of a legal intern. The Supreme Court's decision shall be forwarded to the Bar Association, and the applicant shall be informed of the Supreme Court's decision.

**(c) Scope of Practice.** A legal intern shall be authorized to engage in the limited practice of law, in civil and criminal matters, only as authorized by the provisions of this rule. A legal intern shall be subject to the Rules of Professional Conduct and the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct as adopted by the Supreme Court and to all other laws and rules governing lawyers admitted to the Bar of this state, and shall be personally responsible for all services performed as an intern. Upon recommendation of the Disciplinary Board, a legal intern may be precluded from sitting for the bar examination or from being admitted as a member of the Bar Association within the discretion of the Board of Governors. Any such intern barred from the bar examination or from recommendation for admission by the Board of Governors shall have the usual rights of appeal to the Supreme Court.

(1) A judge may exclude a legal intern from active participation in a case filed with the court in the interest of orderly administration of justice or for the protection of a lit-

igant or witness, and shall thereupon grant a continuance to secure the attendance of the supervising lawyer.

(2) No legal intern may receive payment from a client for the intern's services. However, nothing contained herein shall prevent a legal intern from being paid for services by the intern's employer or to prevent the employer from making such charges for the service of the legal intern as may otherwise be proper. A legal intern and the intern's supervising lawyer or a lawyer from the same office shall, before the intern undertakes to perform any services for a client, inform the client of the legal intern's status.

(3) A legal intern may advise or negotiate on behalf of a person referred to the intern by the supervising lawyer. A legal intern may prepare necessary pleadings, motions, briefs or other documents. It is not necessary in such instances for the supervising lawyer to be present.

(4) A legal intern may participate in superior court and Court of Appeals proceedings, including depositions, provided the supervising lawyer or another lawyer from the same office is present. Ex parte and agreed orders may be presented to the court by a legal intern without the presence of the supervising lawyer or another lawyer from the same office. An intern may represent the State in juvenile court in misdemeanor and gross misdemeanor cases without in-court supervision after a reasonable period of in-court supervision, which shall not be less than one trial.

(5) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (e)(6), in courts of limited jurisdiction, a legal intern, only after participating with the supervising lawyer in at least one nonjury case, may try nonjury cases in such courts without the presence of a supervising lawyer and, only after participating with the supervising lawyer in at least one jury case, may try jury cases in such courts without the presence of a supervising lawyer.

(6) Either the supervising lawyer or a lawyer from the same office shall be present in the representation of a defendant in all preliminary criminal hearings.

**(d) Supervising Lawyer.** The supervising lawyer shall be an active member of the Bar Association in good standing, provided that if a disciplinary sanction has been imposed upon the lawyer within the 5 years immediately preceding approval of the application, the Board of Governors shall have the discretion to accept or reject the lawyer as a supervising lawyer. The supervising lawyer shall have been actively engaged in the practice of law in the State of Washington or elsewhere for at least 3 years at the time the application is filed.

(1) The supervising lawyer or another lawyer from the same office shall direct, supervise and review all of the work of the legal intern and both shall assume personal professional responsibility for any work undertaken by the legal intern while under the lawyer's supervision. All pleadings, motions, briefs, and other documents prepared by the legal intern shall be reviewed by the supervising lawyer or a lawyer from the same office as the supervising lawyer. When a legal intern signs any correspondence or legal documents, the intern's signature shall be followed by the title "legal intern" and, if the document is prepared for presentation to a court or for filing with the clerk thereof, the document shall also be signed by the supervising lawyer or lawyer from the same

office as the supervising lawyer. In any proceeding in which a legal intern appears before the court, the legal intern must advise the court of the intern's status and the name of the intern's supervising lawyer.

(2) Supervision shall not require that the supervising lawyer be present in the room while the legal intern is advising or negotiating on behalf of a person referred to the intern by the supervising lawyer, or while the legal intern is preparing the necessary pleadings, motions, briefs, or other documents.

(3) As a general rule, no supervising lawyer shall have supervision over more than 1 legal intern at any one time. However, in the case of (i) recognized institutions of legal aid, legal assistance, public defender and similar programs furnishing legal assistance to indigents, or legal departments of a state, county or municipality, the supervising lawyer may have supervision over 2 legal interns at one time, or (ii) a clinical course offered by an approved law school where such course has been approved by its dean and is directed by a member of its faculty, and conducted within institutions or legal departments described in (i) or the law school, each full-time clinical supervising lawyer may have supervision over 10 legal interns at one time provided a supervising lawyer attends all adversarial proceedings conducted by the legal interns.

(4) A lawyer currently acting as a supervising lawyer may be terminated as a supervising lawyer at the discretion of the Board of Governors. When an intern's supervisor is so terminated, the intern shall cease performing any services under this rule and shall cease holding himself or herself out as a legal intern until written notice of a substitute supervising lawyer, signed by the intern and by the new and qualified supervising lawyer, is given to the Bar Association and to the Supreme Court.

(5) The failure of a supervising lawyer, or lawyer acting as a supervising lawyer, to provide adequate supervision or to comply with the duties set forth in this rule shall be grounds for disciplinary action pursuant to the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct.

(6) For purposes of the attorney-client privilege, an intern shall be considered a subordinate of the lawyer providing supervision for the intern.

(7) For purposes of the provisions of this rule which permit a lawyer from the same office as the supervising lawyer to sign documents or be present with a legal intern during court appearances, the lawyer so acting must be one who meets all of the qualifications for becoming a supervising lawyer under this rule.

**(e) Term of Limited License.** A limited license as a legal intern shall be valid, unless revoked, for a period of not more than 24 consecutive months, provided that a person shall not serve as a legal intern more than 12 months after graduation from law school.

(1) The approval given to a law student by the law school dean or the dean's designee or to a law clerk by the tutor may be withdrawn at any time by mailing notice to that effect to the Clerk of the Supreme Court and to the Bar Association, and shall be withdrawn if the student ceases to be duly enrolled as a student prior to graduation or ceases to be in

good academic standing or if the law clerk ceases to comply with rule 6.

(2) A limited license is granted at the sufferance of the Supreme Court and may be revoked at any time upon the court's own motion, or upon the motion of the Board of Governors, in either case with or without cause.

(3) An intern shall immediately cease performing any services under this rule and shall cease holding himself or herself out as a legal intern (i) upon termination for any reason of the intern's limited license under this rule; or (ii) upon the resignation of the intern's supervising lawyer; or (iii) upon the suspension or termination by the Board of Governors of the supervising lawyer's status as supervising lawyer; or (iv) upon the withdrawal of approval of the intern pursuant to this rule.

**(a) Purpose.** Supervised professional practice plays an important role in the development of competent lawyers and expands the capacity of the Bar to provide quality legal services while protecting the interests of clients and the justice system. This rule authorizes supervised professional practice by qualified law students, enrolled law clerks, and recent graduates of approved law schools when they are licensed pursuant to this rule to engage in the limited practice of law as "Licensed Legal Interns". The license granted pursuant to this rule is a limited license, based in part on recognition of the role practice experience plays in developing the competence of aspiring lawyers and in part on the fact that the Licensed Legal Intern will be supervised by an experienced lawyer. Persons granted such a limited license and their supervising lawyers must comply with the obligations and limitations set forth in these rules.

**(b) Eligibility.** To be eligible to apply to be a Licensed Legal Intern, an applicant must have arranged to be supervised by a qualifying lawyer and:

(1) Be a student duly enrolled and in good academic standing at an approved law school who has:

(A) successfully completed not less than two-thirds of a prescribed 3-year course of study or five-eighths of a prescribed 4-year course of study, and

(B) obtained the written approval of the law school's dean or a person designated by such dean and a certification by the dean or designee that the applicant has met the educational requirements; or

(2) Be an enrolled law clerk who:

(A) is certified by WSBA staff to be in compliance with the provisions of APR 6 and to have successfully completed not less than five-eighths of the prescribed 4-year course of study; and

(B) has the written approval of the primary tutor; or

(3) Be a graduate of an approved law school who has not been admitted to the practice of law in any state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia, provided that the application is made within nine months of graduation.

**(c) Qualifications to Be a Supervising Lawyer.** Except in the sections regarding the application for issuance of a limited license pursuant to this rule, references in this rule to "supervising lawyer" include both the supervising lawyer named in the application materials and on the Licensed Legal Intern identification card, and any other lawyer from the supervising lawyer's office who meets the qualifications of a



supervising lawyer and who performs the duties of a supervising lawyer. A supervising lawyer must be either:

(1) a lawyer currently licensed pursuant to APR 8(d) Exception for Educational Purposes; or

(2) an active member in good standing of the Washington State Bar Association, who has been actively engaged in the practice of law in the State of Washington or in any state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia for at least the 3 years immediately preceding the date of the application, who has not been disbarred or subject to a disciplinary suspension in any jurisdiction within the previous 10 years and does not have a disciplinary proceeding pending or imminent, and who has not received a disciplinary sanction of any kind within the previous three years.

**(d) Application.** The applicant must submit an application on a form provided by the Bar Association and signed by both the applicant and the supervising lawyer.

(1) The applicant and the supervising lawyer must fully and accurately complete the application, and they have a continuing duty to correct and update the information on the application while it is pending and during the term of the limited license. Every applicant and supervising lawyer must cooperate in good faith with any investigation by promptly furnishing written or oral explanations, documents, releases, authorizations, or other information reasonably required by the Board of Governors or Bar Association staff, or Bar Counsel. Failure to cooperate fully or to appear as directed or to furnish additional information as required shall be sufficient reason for the Board to recommend denial or termination of the license.

(2) The application must include:

(A) all requested information about the applicant and the Supervising Lawyer;

(B) the required certification from the law school (or confirmation from the Bar Association, for APR 6 Law Clerks) that the applicant has the required educational qualifications; and

(C) certifications in writing under oath by the applicant and the supervising lawyer(s) that they have read, are familiar with, and will abide by this rule and the Rules of Professional Conduct.

(3) Full payment of any required fees must be submitted with the application. The fees shall be set by the Board of Governors subject to review by the Supreme Court.

(4) Bar Association staff shall review all applications to determine whether the applicant and the supervising lawyer have the necessary qualifications, and whether the applicant possesses the requisite good moral character and fitness to engage in the limited practice of law provided for in this rule. Bar Association staff may investigate any information contained in or issues raised by the application that reflect on the factors contained in APR 21-24, and any application that reflects one or more of the factors set forth in APR 24.2(a) shall be referred to Bar Counsel for review.

(5) Bar Counsel may conduct such further investigation as appears necessary, and may refer to the Character and Fitness Board for hearing any applicant about whom there is a substantial question whether the applicant possesses the requisite good moral character and fitness to practice law. Such hearing shall be conducted as provided in APR 20-24. Bar

Counsel may require any disclosures and conditions of the applicant and supervising lawyer that appear reasonably necessary to safeguard against unethical conduct by the applicant during the term of the limited license. No decision regarding the good moral character and fitness to practice of an applicant made in connection with an application for licensing pursuant to this rule is binding on the Bar Association or Character and Fitness Board at the time an applicant applies for admission to practice law and membership in the WSBA, and such issues may be reinvestigated and reconsidered by Bar Association staff, Bar Counsel, and the Character and Fitness Board.

(6) The Supreme Court shall issue or refuse the issuance of a limited license for a Licensed Legal Intern. The Supreme Court's decision shall be forwarded to the Bar Association, which shall inform the applicant of the decision.

(7) Upon Supreme Court approval of an applicant, the Bar Association shall send to the applicant, in care of the supervising lawyer's mailing address on record with the Bar Association, a letter confirming approval by the Supreme Court and a Licensed Legal Intern identification card. An applicant must not perform the duties of a Licensed Legal Intern before receiving the confirming letter and identification card.

(8) Once an application is accepted and approved and a license is issued, a Licensed Legal Intern is subject to the Rules of Professional Conduct and the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct and to all other laws and rules governing lawyers admitted to the Bar of this state, and is personally responsible for all services performed as a Licensed Legal Intern. Any offense that would subject a lawyer admitted to practice law in this state to suspension or disbarment may be punished by termination of the Licensed Legal Intern's license, or suspension or forfeiture of the Licensed Legal Intern's privilege of taking the bar examination and being licensed to practice law in this state.

(9) A Licensed Legal Intern may have up to two supervising attorneys in different offices at one time. A Licensed Legal Intern may submit an application for approval to add a supervising attorney in another office or to change supervising attorneys any time within the term of the limited license. When a Licensed Legal Intern applies to add a supervising attorney in another office, the Intern must notify both the current supervising attorney and the proposed new supervising attorney in writing about the application, and both the current and the new supervising attorney must approve the addition and certify that such concurrent supervision will not create a conflict of interest for the Licensed Legal Intern. The qualifications of the new supervising attorney will be reviewed by Bar Association staff who may approve or deny the supervisor. The Licensed Legal Intern will be notified of approval or denial of the new supervising attorney as described above and must not perform the duties of a licensed legal intern before receiving a new confirming letter containing notification of approval and a new identification card.

**(e) Scope of Practice, Prohibitions and Limitations.** In addition to generally being permitted to perform any duties that do not constitute the practice of law as defined in General Rule 24, a Licensed Legal Intern shall be authorized to

engage in the limited practice of law only as authorized by the provisions of this rule.

(1) A Licensed Legal Intern may engage in the following activities without the presence of the supervising attorney:

(A) Advise or negotiate on behalf of a person referred to the Licensed Legal Intern by the supervising lawyer;

(B) Prepare correspondence containing legal advice to clients or negotiating on behalf of clients, pleadings, motions, briefs or other documents. All such correspondence, pleadings, motions, and briefs must be reviewed and signed by the supervising attorney, as well as any other documents requiring the signature of a lawyer. On any correspondence or legal document signed by the Licensed Legal Intern, the Licensed Legal Intern's signature shall be followed by the title "Licensed Legal Intern" and the Licensed Legal Intern's identification number;

(C) Present to the court ex parte and agreed orders signed by the supervising lawyer, except as otherwise provided in these rules;

(D) After a reasonable period of in-court supervision or supervision while practicing before an administrative agency, which shall include participating with the supervising lawyer in at least one proceeding of the type involved before the same tribunal and being observed by the supervising lawyer while handling one additional proceeding of the same type before the same tribunal:

(i) Represent the State or the respondent in juvenile court in misdemeanor and gross misdemeanor cases;

(ii) Try hearings, non-jury trials, or jury trials, in courts of limited jurisdiction;

(iii) Represent a client in any administrative adjudicative proceeding for which non-lawyer representation is not otherwise permitted.

(2) In any proceeding in which a Licensed Legal Intern appears before the court, the Licensed Legal Intern must advise the court of the Intern's status and the name of the Intern's supervising lawyer.

(3) A Licensed Legal Intern may participate in Superior Court and Court of Appeals proceedings, including depositions, only in the presence of the supervising lawyer or another lawyer from the same office.

(4) A Licensed Legal Intern must not receive payment directly from a client for the Intern's services. A Licensed Legal Intern may be paid for services by the Intern's employer, and the employer may charge for the services provided by the Licensed Legal Intern as may be appropriate.

(5) A Licensed Legal Intern must not try any motion or case or negotiate for or on behalf of any client unless the client is notified in advance of the status as a Licensed Legal Intern and of the identity and contact information of the Licensed Legal Intern's supervising lawyer.

(6) A Licensed Legal Intern must not perform any of the actions permitted by this rule on behalf of or under the supervision of any lawyer other than the supervising lawyer or another lawyer employed in the same office who is qualified for such supervision under this rule.

(7) For purposes of the attorney-client privilege, a Licensed Legal Intern shall be considered a subordinate of the lawyer providing supervision for the Intern.

#### **(f) Additional Obligations of Supervising Lawyer.**

Agreeing to serve as the supervising lawyer for a Licensed Legal Intern imposes certain additional obligations on the supervising lawyer. The failure of a supervising lawyer to comply with the duties set forth in this rule shall be grounds for disciplinary action pursuant to the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct. In addition to the duties stated or implied above, the supervising lawyer:

(1) must provide training to all Licensed Legal Interns supervised by the supervising lawyer, regarding the Rules of Professional Conduct and how they relate to the limited practice of the Licensed Legal Intern. Such training may be waived if the supervising lawyer otherwise determines that the Licensed Legal Intern has previously received such training and the supervising lawyer deems such training sufficient for the limited practice that will be supervised;

(2) must direct, supervise and review all of the work of the Licensed Legal Intern and shall assume personal professional responsibility for any work undertaken by the Licensed Legal Intern while under the lawyer's supervision;

(3) must ensure that all clients to be represented by the Licensed Legal Intern are informed of the intern's status as a Licensed Legal Intern in advance of the representation;

(4) must review and sign all correspondence providing legal advice to clients and all pleadings, motions, briefs, and other documents prepared by the Licensed Legal Intern and ensure that they comply with the requirements of this rule, and must sign the document if it is prepared for presentation to a court;

(5) must take reasonable steps to ensure that the Licensed Legal Intern is adequately prepared and knowledgeable enough to be able to handle any assigned matters performed outside the supervising lawyer's presence, but need not be present in the room while the Licensed Legal Intern is performing such duties unless such presence is specifically required by this rule;

(6) must supervise no more than

(a) one Licensed Legal Intern at any one time if the supervising lawyer is in private practice not otherwise described below;

(b) four Licensed Legal Interns at any one time if the supervising lawyer is employed by a recognized institution of legal aid, legal assistance, public defense or similar programs furnishing legal assistance to indigents, or by the legal departments of a state, county or municipality; or

(c) 10 Licensed Legal Interns at any one time if the supervising lawyer is a full-time clinical supervising lawyer or a member of the faculty of an approved law school for a clinical course offered by the law school where such course has been approved by its dean and is directed by a member of its faculty and is conducted within institutions or legal departments described in the section above or within the law school, provided that a supervising lawyer attends all adversarial proceedings conducted by the legal interns;

(7) must meet with any Licensed Legal Intern he/she is supervising, in person or by telephone, a minimum of one time per week, to review cases being handled and to provide feedback on performance, additional guidance and instruction, and to answer questions or issues raised by the Licensed Legal Intern;

(8) must inform the Bar Association staff promptly if circumstances arise that cause the supervising lawyer to have concern about the good moral character or fitness to practice of a Licensed Legal Intern supervised by that lawyer, and cooperate in any investigation that may follow such a report;

(9) may terminate supervision of a Licensed Legal Intern under this rule at any time, with or without good cause, and must promptly notify the Bar Association staff of the effective date of the termination and the reasons for the termination;

(10) may be terminated as a supervising lawyer at the discretion of the Board of Governors, and when so terminated, must take steps to ensure that any Licensed Legal Intern previously supervised by the supervising lawyer ceases to perform duties or hold him/herself out as though supervised by the supervising lawyer.

(g) Additional Obligations and Limitations. The following additional general obligations and limitations apply:

(1) A judge or administrative hearing officer may exclude a Licensed Legal Intern from active participation in a case in the interest of orderly administration of justice or for the protection of a litigant or witness. In such case, a continuance shall be granted to secure the attendance of the supervising lawyer, who must assume personal responsibility for that matter.

(2) A Licensed Legal Intern or the supervising lawyer must notify the Bar Association staff promptly if the supervising lawyer named on a Licensed Legal Intern's identification card terminates supervision of the Licensed Legal Intern, and such Licensed Legal Intern is prohibited from performing any of the actions described in these rules unless and until a change of supervising lawyer has been approved and a new identification card issued.

(h) Term of Limited License. A limited license issued pursuant to this rule shall be valid, unless it is revoked or supervision is terminated, for a period of not more than 30 consecutive months, and in no case will it be valid if it has been more than 18 months since the Licensed Legal Intern graduated from law school or completed the APR 6 Law Clerk program.

(1) The approval given to a law student by the law school dean or the dean's designee or to a law clerk by the tutor may be withdrawn at any time by mailing notice to that effect to the Bar Association, and must be withdrawn if the student ceases to be duly enrolled as a student prior to graduation, takes a leave of absence from the law school or from the clinical program for which the limited license was issued, or ceases to be in good academic standing, or if the APR 6 law clerk ceases to comply with APR 6. When the approval is withdrawn, the Licensed Legal Intern's license must be terminated promptly.

(2) A limited license is granted at the sufferance of the Supreme Court and may be revoked at any time upon the court's own motion, or upon the motion of the Board of Governors, in either case with or without cause.

(3) A Licensed Legal Intern must immediately cease performing any services under this rule and must cease holding himself or herself out as a Licensed Legal Intern upon:

(A) the termination for any reason of the Intern's limited license under this rule;

(B) the termination of the supervision for any reason or the upon the resignation of the Intern's supervising lawyer;

(C) the suspension or termination by the Board of Governors of the supervising lawyer's status as a supervising lawyer;

(D) the withdrawal of approval of the Intern pursuant to this rule, or

(E) the failure of the supervising lawyer to maintain qualification to be a supervising lawyer under the terms of this rule.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### **RULE 10. [RESERVED]**

**[no change]**

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### **RULE 11. CONTINUING LEGAL EDUCATION**

**[no change]**

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### **RULE 12. LIMITED PRACTICE RULE FOR LIMITED PRACTICE OFFICERS**

**[no change]**

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### **APPENDIX APR 12. REGULATIONS OF THE APR 12 LIMITED PRACTICE BOARD**

##### **REGULATIONS 1 through 13**

**[no change]**

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

##### **REGULATION 14: VOLUNTARY CERTIFICATION CANCELLATION**

Any Limited Practice Officer may request to voluntarily surrender the LPO certification by notifying the Limited Practice Board in writing of the desire to cancel and returning the LPO license with the request. The Limited Practice Board may deny requests for voluntary cancellation from any LPO who is the subject of a pending disciplinary investigation or proceeding. The Limited Practice Board will notify the LPO of the effective date of the cancellation if approved.

~~The former LPO shall then promptly notify by registered or certified mail, return receipt request, all clients being represented in pending matters, of the certification cancellation and the consequent inability to act as a Limited Practice Officer.~~

After entry of the cancellation order, the former LPO shall not accept any new clients or engage in work as an LPO in any matter.

~~Within ten (10) days after the effective date of the cancellation order, the former LPO shall file with the Limited Practice Board an affidavit showing:~~

- ~~1. The former LPO has fully complied with the provision of the order and with these Regulations;~~
- ~~2. The residence or other address of the former LPO for purposes of mailing or for service of process; and~~
- ~~3. Attaching to the affidavit a copy of the form of letter of notification sent to clients being represented in pending matters, together with a list of the names and addresses of all clients to whom the notice was sent.~~

The Board will cause a notice of the cancellation to be published in the same manner as notices of discipline under ELPOC 3.5(b).

#### REGULATIONS 15 through 19

[no change]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### RULE 13. SIGNING OF PLEADINGS AND OTHER PAPERS; ADDRESS OF RECORD; ELECTRONIC MAIL ADDRESS; NOTICE OF CHANGE OF ADDRESS, TELEPHONE NUMBER, OR NAME

(a) **Signing of Pleadings and Other Papers.** All pleadings and other papers signed by an attorney and filed with a court shall include the attorney's Washington State Bar Association membership number in the signature block. The law department of a municipality, county, or state, public defender organization or law firm is authorized to make an application to the Administrative Office of the Courts for an office identification number. An office identification number may be assigned by the Administrative Office of the Courts upon a showing that it will facilitate the process of electronic notification. If an office identification number is granted, it shall appear with the attorney's Washington State Bar Association membership number in the signature block.

(b) **Address of Record; Change of Address.** An attorney must advise the Washington State Bar Association of a current mailing address and telephone number. The mailing address shall be the attorney's address of record. An attorney whose mailing address or telephone number changes shall, within 10 days after the change, notify the ~~Executive Director of the~~ Washington State Bar Association, who shall forward changes weekly to the Office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court for entry into the state computer system. The notice shall be in a form acceptable to the Bar Association and shall include (1) the attorney's full name, (2) the attorney's Washington State Bar Association membership number, (3) the previous address and telephone number, clearly identified as such, (4) the new address and telephone number, clearly identified as such, and (5) the effective date of the change. The courts of this state may rely on the address information contained in the state computer system in issuing notices in pending actions.

(c) **Electronic mail address:** An attorney ~~should~~ shall advise the Washington State Bar Association of a current

~~business~~ electronic mail address ~~if one exists~~. An attorney whose ~~business~~ electronic mail address changes ~~should~~ shall, within 10 days after the change, notify the ~~Executive Director of the~~ Washington State Bar Association, who shall forward changes weekly to the Office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court for entry into the state computer system. Use of electronic mail addresses for court notice, service and filing must comply with GR 30.

(d) **Change of Name.** An attorney whose name changes shall, within 10 days after the change, notify the ~~Executive Director of the~~ Washington State Bar Association, who shall forward changes weekly to the Office of the Clerk of the Supreme Court for entry into the state computer system. The notice shall be in a form acceptable to the Bar Association and shall contain (1) the full previous name, clearly identified as such, (2) the full new name, clearly identified as such, (3) the attorneys Washington State Bar Association membership number, and (4) the effective date of the change.

(e) **Requirements of Local and Other Court Rules Not Affected.** The responsibility of a party or an attorney to keep the court and other parties and attorneys informed of the party's or attorney's correct name and current address, as may be required by local or other court rule, is not affected by this rule.

#### RULE 14. LIMITED PRACTICE RULE FOR FOREIGN LAW CONSULTANTS

[no change]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### RULE 15. LAWYERS' FUND FOR CLIENT PROTECTION

(a) **Purpose.** The purpose of this rule is to create a Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection, to be maintained and administered as a trust by the Washington State Bar Association (WSBA), in order to promote public confidence in the administration of justice and the integrity of the legal profession.

(b) **Establishment.** Funds accruing and appropriated to the Fund may be used for the purpose of relieving or mitigating a pecuniary loss sustained by any person by reason of the dishonesty of, or failure to account for money or property entrusted to, any member of the WSBA as a result of or directly related to the member's practice of law (as defined in GR 24), or while acting as a fiduciary in a matter directly related to the member's practice of law. Such funds may also, through the Fund, be used to relieve or mitigate like losses sustained by persons by reason of similar acts of an individual who was at one time a member of the WSBA but who was at the time of the act complained of under a court ordered suspension. The Fund shall not be used for the purpose of relieving any pecuniary loss resulting from an attorney's negligent performance of services or for acts performed after a member is disbarred. Payments from the Fund shall be considered gifts to the recipients and shall not be considered entitlements.

(c) **Funding.** The Supreme Court may provide for funding by assessment of members of the WSBA in amounts determined by the court upon the recommendation of the Board of Governors of the WSBA.

**(d) Enforcement.** Failure to pay any fee assessed by the court on or before the date specified by the court shall be a cause for suspension from practice until payment has been made.

**(e) Restitution.** A lawyer whose conduct results in payment to an applicant shall be liable to the Fund for restitution.

(1) A lawyer on Active status must pay restitution to the Fund in full within 30 days of final payment by the Fund to an applicant unless the attorney enters into a periodic payment plan with Bar counsel assigned to the Client Protection Board.

(2) Lawyers on disciplinary or administrative suspension, disbarred lawyers, and lawyers on any status other than disability inactive must pay restitution to the Fund in full prior to returning to Active status, unless the attorney enters into a periodic payment plan with Bar counsel assigned to the Client Protection Board.

(3) An attorney who returns from disability inactive status as to whom an award has been made shall be required to pay restitution if and as provided in Procedural Rule 6(I).

(4) Restitution not paid within 30 days of final payment by the Fund to an applicant shall accrue interest at the maximum rate permitted under RCW 19.52.050.

(5) Bar counsel assigned to the Client Protection Board may, in his or her sole discretion, enter into an agreement with an attorney for a reasonable periodic payment plan if the attorney demonstrates in writing the present inability to pay assessed costs and expenses.

(A) Any payment plan entered into under this rule must provide for interest at the maximum rate permitted under RCW 19.52.050.

(B) An attorney may ask the Fund Board to review an adverse determination by Bar counsel regarding specific conditions for a periodic payment plan. The Chair directs the procedure for Fund Board review, and the Fund Board's decision is not subject to further review.

(6) An attorney's failure to comply with an approved periodic payment plan or to otherwise pay restitution due under this Rule may be grounds for denial of status change or for discipline.

**(f) Administration.** The Fund shall be maintained and administered by the Board of Governors acting as trustees for the Fund. The Board shall appoint the Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection Board (Client Protection Board) to administer the Fund pursuant to rules adopted by the Board of Governors and approved by the Supreme Court. The Client Protection Board shall consist of 11 lawyers and 2 nonlawyers, who will be appointed to serve staggered 3-year terms.

**(g) Subpoenas.** A lawyer member of the Client Protection Board, or counsel for the Washington State Bar Association assigned to the Client Protection Board, shall have the power to issue subpoenas to compel the attendance of the lawyer being investigated or of a witness, or the production of books, or documents, or other evidence, at the taking of a deposition. A subpoena issued pursuant to this rule shall indicate on its face that the subpoena is issued in connection with an investigation under this rule. Subpoenas shall be served in the same manner as in civil cases in the superior court.

**(h) Reports.** The Board of Governors, in consultation with the Client Protection Board, shall file with the Supreme Court a full report on the activities and finances of the Fund at least annually and may make other reports to the court as necessary.

**(i) Communications to the Association.** Communications to the Association, Board of Governors (Trustees), Client Protection Board, Association staff, or any other individual acting under the authority of these rules, are absolutely privileged, and no lawsuit predicated thereon may be instituted against any applicant or other person providing information.

#### LAWYERS' FUND FOR CLIENT PROTECTION (APR 15) PROCEDURAL RULES

##### Rules 1 through 5 (of APR 15) [no change]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

##### Rule 6. PROCEDURES (of APR 15)

**A. Ineligibility.** Whenever it appears that an application is not eligible for reimbursement pursuant to Rule 5, the applicant shall be advised of the reasons why the application may not be eligible for reimbursement.

**B. Investigation and Report.** The WSBA staff member assigned to the Board shall conduct an investigation regarding any application. The investigation may be coordinated with any disciplinary investigation regarding the lawyer. The staff member shall report to the Board and make a recommendation to the Board.

**C. Notification of Lawyer.** The lawyer, or his or her representative, regarding whom an application is made shall be notified of the application and provided a copy of it, and shall be requested to respond within 20 days. If the lawyer's address of record on file with the WSBA is not current, then a copy of the application should be sent to the lawyer at any other address on file with the WSBA. A copy of these Rules shall be provided to the lawyer or representative.

**D. Withdrawal of Application/Restitution.** If, during the investigation of an application, the Applicant withdraws the Application or the Applicant receives full restitution of the amount stated in the Application, the Applicant and the lawyer shall be advised that the file will be closed without further action.

**E. Testimony.** The Board may request that testimony be presented to complete the record. Upon request, the lawyer or applicant, or their representatives, may be given an opportunity to be heard at the discretion of the Board.

**F. Finding of Dishonest Conduct.** The Board may make a finding of dishonest conduct for purposes of considering an application. Such a determination is not a finding of dishonest conduct for purposes of professional discipline.

**G. Evidence and Burden of Proof.** Consideration of an application need not be conducted according to technical rules relating to evidence, procedure and witnesses. Any relevant evidence shall be admitted if it is the sort of evidence commonly accepted by reasonably prudent persons in the conduct of their affairs. The applicant shall have the burden

of establishing eligibility for reimbursement by a clear preponderance of the evidence.

**H. Pending Disciplinary Proceedings.** Unless the Board or Trustees otherwise direct, no application shall be acted upon during the pendency of a disciplinary proceeding or investigation involving the same act or conduct that is alleged in the claim.

**I. Deferred Disciplinary Proceedings: Lawyer on Disability Inactive Status.**

(1) If an application relates to a lawyer on disability inactive status, and/or a disciplinary proceeding or investigation is deferred due to a lawyer's transfer to disability inactive status, the Fund Board may act on the application when received or may defer processing the application for up to three years if the lawyer remains on disability inactive status.

(2) A lawyer on disability inactive status seeking to return to Active status may, while pursuing reinstatement pursuant to the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct, request that the lawyer's obligation to make restitution for any applications approved while the lawyer was on disability inactive status be reviewed.

(A) If the request for review is based in whole or in part on the merits of the application(s), the lawyer may request the Fund Board review and reconsider any such applications. The Fund Board's decision on review shall be reported to the Trustees, which shall have sole authority for the final decision. If the Trustees determine that the application(s) should not have been approved, the lawyer will not be responsible for restitution and the applicant(s) shall not be required to repay the Fund. If the Trustees determine that the applications were appropriately granted and the lawyer is responsible for restitution, the rules regarding restitution shall apply.

(B) If the lawyer does not contest the merits of the applications but simply wants to request that restitution be waived, the request shall be submitted to the Bar counsel for the Fund, who shall submit the request to the Trustees together with Fund counsel's recommendation. The decision of the Trustees shall be final and is not subject to appeal.

**JK. Public Participation.** Public participation at Board meetings shall be permitted only by prior permission granted by the Board chairperson.

**JK. Board Action.**

(1) Actions of the Board Which Are Final Decisions: A decision by the Board on an application for payment of \$25,000 or less - whether such decision be to make payment, to deny payment, to defer consideration, or for any action other than payment of more than \$25,000 - shall be final and without right of appeal to the Trustees.

(2) Actions of the Board Which Are Recommendations to the Trustees: A decision by the Board (a) on an application for more than \$25,000, or (b) involving a payment of more than \$25,000 (regardless of the amount stated in the application), is not final and is a recommendation to the Trustees which shall have sole authority for final decisions in such cases.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical errors in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**Rules 7 and 8 (of APR 15)**

[no change]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**Rule 9. LIMITATIONS ON ~~AMOUNT OF~~ REIMBURSEMENT (of APR 15)**

**A.** The Trustees may, at their discretion, set limitations on the amount of reimbursement.

**B.** Applications approved for \$5,000 or less shall be paid in full upon approval by the Board (and the Trustees, if required under these Rules). Applications approved for more than \$5,000 shall be paid \$5,000 upon approval by the Board (and the Trustees, if required under these Rules); payment of the remaining balance approved shall be deferred until fiscal year end and shall be subject to any proration which may be approved by the Trustees.

**C.** At the last meeting of the Trustees for each fiscal year, the Fund Board shall report the total outstanding balance on approved gifts and shall recommend whether the outstanding balance should be paid in full or prorated. When approved gifts are prorated, the prorated payment shall reflect the total amount of the gift, less the initial \$5,000 payment made upon approval by the Board. By way of illustration:

Example 1: The application is for an amount in excess of \$75,000.00. The Fund Board recommends and the Board of Governors, as Trustees, approves a gift in the maximum allowable amount of \$75,000. \$5,000 is paid upon approval by the Trustees. At fiscal year end, the Fund Board recommends and the Board of Governors, as Trustees, approves using a prorating formula that would result in applicants receiving 20% of their unpaid gifts. 20% of \$70,000 is \$14,000, so a second payment of \$14,000 is issued to the applicant.

Example 2: In the same fiscal year another applicant applies for and receives a gift in the amount of \$7,500. \$5,000 is paid upon approval. At fiscal year end, a second payment is issued for \$500.

**Rules 10 through 12 (of APR 15)**

[no change]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**Rule 13. CONFIDENTIALITY (of APR 15)**

**A. Matters Which Are Public.** On approved applications, the facts and circumstances which generated the loss, the Board's ~~findings of fact~~ and recommendations to the Trustees with respect to payment of a claim, the amount of claim, the amount of loss as determined by the Board, the name of the lawyer causing the loss, and the amount of payment authorized and made, shall be public. ~~After payment is authorized, the name of the lawyer causing the loss shall be public.~~

**B. Matters Which Are Not Public.** The Board's file, including the application and response, supporting documentation, and staff investigative report, ~~investigation and delib-~~

erations of any application; the name of the applicant, unless the applicant consents; ~~or~~ and the name of the lawyer unless the lawyer consents or unless the lawyer's name is made public pursuant to these rules, shall not be public.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

## Rules 14 through 16 (of APR 15)

[no change]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

### RULE 16. MEDIATION

[no change]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

### RULE 17. ADMINISTRATIVE SUSPENSION FROM PRACTICE

(a) Basis for Suspension From Practice. The Washington State Bar Association shall request that the Supreme Court suspend a member from the practice of law upon:

(1) notification from the Department of Social and Health Services the execution of written findings from an adjudicative process that:—(1) the member is more than six months delinquent in noncompliance with a valid and enforceable order entered by a court of competent jurisdiction requiring the member to pay child support; or, and (2) the member has had the opportunity for an adjudicative proceeding to contest the issue of compliance with the child support order, and (3) there are currently no good faith negotiations for a repayment agreement or other modification of the order, and (4) there are no pending judicial or administrative proceedings to determine whether child support is delinquent. A member shall be considered in compliance with an order of child support if the member is current with a payment arrangement pursuant to an order which contemplates payments for past due child support. The hearing will be held, on actual notice to the member of no less than sixty days. The hearing shall otherwise be conducted pursuant to and in accordance with the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct but will be for an administrative suspension only so long as the conditions set forth above exist.

(2) failure of a member to comply with licensing requirements under these rules, the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct, or the Bar Association Bylaws. This includes but is not limited to a member's:

(A) failure to pay the annual license fee to the Association;

(B) failure to pay the annual assessment to the Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection;

(C) failure to comply with MCLE requirements;

(D) failure to comply with professional liability insurance requirements;

(E) failure to file annual trust account information;

(F) failure to designate a resident agent; and

(G) failure to timely notify the Association of a change in address, phone number or email address.

**(b) Notice and Order of Suspension.** The Bar Association shall provide at least 60 days written notice of intent to seek suspension to a member at the member's address of record with the Bar Association. The Bar Association shall establish notice procedures consistent with this rule. A member shall have a right to submit proof that the grounds for the suspension do not exist or no longer exist. After 60 days from the execution of the written findings such notice the Court may enter an order suspending the member from practice, unless the member submits satisfactory proof one of the conditions set forth above does not exist.

**(c) Reinstatement Change of Status After Suspension Pursuant to This Rule.** A member who has been administratively suspended under this rule shall have a right to submit proof to the Bar Association that the ~~of a condition~~ grounds for suspension no longer exists. The member must adhere to status change procedures established by the Bar Association. The Court may enter an order of reinstatement changing status upon determination said proof is satisfactory and so long as the member meets all other requirements to practice law.

**(d) Rules of Professional Conduct Not Superseded.** Nothing in this rule supersedes any of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

### RULE 18. ~~ADMISSION OF LAWYERS LICENSED IN OTHER STATES OR TERRITORIES OF THE UNITED STATES OR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA TO PRACTICE LAW IN WASHINGTON~~ [RESERVED]

**(a) Purpose.** ~~This rule prescribes the procedure, conditions, and limitations for admission of lawyers from other states or territories of the United States or the District of Columbia, except as provided in rule 3. Lawyers from other states or territories or the District of Columbia will be admitted in Washington pursuant to this rule under procedures and conditions that, in the judgment of the Washington State Supreme Court, are substantially similar to the procedures and conditions under which the other licensing state or territory or the District of Columbia allows the admission of licensed Washington lawyers to their states.~~

**(b) Qualifications.** ~~Before a lawyer licensed to practice law in another state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia qualifies for admission to the practice of law in the State of Washington, the lawyer must:~~

~~(1) Present satisfactory proof of both admission to the practice of law, together with current good standing, in another state or territory of the United States or the District of Columbia, and active legal experience as a lawyer or counselor at law at the time of the application;~~

~~(2) Possess the good moral character and fitness requisite for a member of the Bar of the State of Washington;~~

~~(3) Execute under oath and file with the Bar Association two copies of an application in such form as may be required by the Board of Governors; and~~

~~(4) File with the application a certificate from the authority in such other state or territory or the District of Columbia having final jurisdiction over professional discipline, certifying as to the applicant's admission to practice, and the date~~

thereof, and as to the good standing of such lawyer or counselor at law or the equivalent; and

~~(5) Provide with the application such other evidence of the applicant's educational and professional qualifications, good moral character and fitness and compliance with the requirements of this rule as the Board of Governors may require; and~~

~~(6) Establish to the satisfaction of the Board of Governors that the state or territory or the District of Columbia that licensed the lawyer applicant allows the admission of licensed Washington lawyers under terms and conditions substantially similar to those set forth in these rules, provided that if the state or territory or the District of Columbia that licensed the lawyer applicant requires Washington lawyers to complete or meet other conditions or requirements, the applicant must meet a substantially similar requirement for admission in Washington; and~~

~~(7) Pay upon the filing of the application the fee established for such admission which shall be at least equal to that required pursuant to rule 3 (d)(2) to be paid by a lawyer applicant to take the bar examination.~~

**~~(c) Procedure.~~**

~~(1) The Board of Governors shall approve or disapprove applications for admission of lawyers admitted to the practice of law in other states or territories of the United States or the District of Columbia. The Board may require additional proof of any facts stated in the application. In the event of the failure or refusal of the applicant to furnish any information or proof, or to answer any inquiry of the Board pertinent to the pending application, the Board may deny the application. Upon approval of the application by the Board of Governors, the Board shall recommend to the Supreme Court the admission of the applicant for the purposes herein stated. The Supreme Court may enter an order admitting to practice those applicants it deems qualified, conditioned upon such applicant:~~

~~(i) Completing a minimum of 4 hours approved preadmission education pursuant to rule 5(b); and~~

~~(ii) Taking and filing with the Clerk of the Supreme Court the Oath of Attorney pursuant to rule 5; and~~

~~(iii) Paying to the Bar Association its membership fee for the current year in the maximum amount required of active members; and~~

~~(iv) Filing with the Bar Association in writing his or her address in the State of Washington, together with a statement that the applicant has read the Rules of Professional Conduct and Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct, is familiar with their contents and agrees to abide by them.~~

~~(2) Upon the entry of an order of admission, the filing of the required materials and payment of the membership fee, the applicant shall be admitted to the practice of law in the State of Washington as specified by this rule.~~

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**RULE 19. LAWYER SERVICES DEPARTMENT**

**[no change]**

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**RULE 20. CHARACTER AND FITNESS BOARD**

**(a) Composition.** The Board shall consist of not less than three nonlawyer members, appointed by the Supreme Court, and not less than one lawyer member from each congressional district, appointed by the Board of Governors. The validity of the Board's actions is not affected if the Board's makeup differs from the stated constitution due to a temporary vacancy in any of the specified positions.

**(b) Qualifications.** Lawyer members must have been active members of the Bar Association for at least 75 years.

**(c) Board Chair.** The Board of Governors shall annually designate one lawyer member of the Board to act as chair and another as vice-chair. The vice-chair shall serve in the absence of or at the request of the Board chair. If both the chair and the vice-chair will be absent from a meeting or hearing, the chair may appoint another member of the Board to serve as chair pro tem at any hearing.

**(d) Vacancies.** Vacancies in lawyer membership on the Board and in the office of the Board chair and the vice-chair shall be filled by the Board of Governors. Vacancies in non-lawyer membership shall be filled by the Supreme Court. A person appointed to fill a vacancy shall complete the unexpired term of the person he or she replaces, and if that unexpired term is less than 24 months he or she may be reappointed to a consecutive term.

**(e) Quorum.** A majority of the Board members shall constitute a quorum. Given a quorum, the concurrence of a majority of those present shall constitute action of the Board. In the event a quorum is not present, Bar Counsel and the Applicant or Petitioner may agree to waive the requirement of a quorum.

**(f) Disqualification.** In the event a grievance is made to the Bar Association alleging an act of misconduct by a lawyer member of the Board the procedures specified in ELC 2.3 (b)(5) shall apply.

**(g) Pro Tempore Members.** When a member of the Board is disqualified or unable to function on a case for good cause, the chair of the Board may, by written order, designate a member pro tempore to sit with the Board to hear and determine the cause. A member pro tempore may be appointed from among those persons who have previously served as members of the Character and Fitness Board (or its predecessor Character and Fitness Committee), or from among lawyers appointed as alternate Board members by the Board of Governors and nonlawyers appointed as alternate Board members by the Supreme Court. A lawyer shall be appointed to substitute for a lawyer member of the Board, and a nonlawyer to substitute for a nonlawyer member of the board.

**(h) Voting.** Each member, whether nonlawyer or lawyer, shall have one vote.

**(i) Terms of Office.** The term of office for a member of the Board shall be 3 years. Newly created Board positions may be filled by appointments of less than 3 years, as desig-



nated by the Supreme Court or the Board of Governors, to permit as equal a number of positions as possible to be filled each year. All terms of office begin October 1 and end September 30 or when a successor has been appointed, whichever occurs later. Members may not serve more than one term except as otherwise provided in these rules. Members shall continue to serve until replaced.

**(j) Application of Rules.** These rules and any subsequent amendments will apply in their entirety, on the effective date as ordered by the Supreme Court, to any pending matter, except as would not be feasible or would work an injustice. The Chair may rule on the appropriate procedure with a view to insuring a fair and orderly proceeding.

#### RULE 20.1 AUTHORITY OF BOARD

The Board shall have the power and authority to:

(a) Accept referrals from the Bar Counsel concerning matters of character and fitness bearing upon the qualification of Applicants for Admission, ~~or~~ Petitioners for Reinstatement, and any other applicants, including Association members changing status or membership class, referred to the Board pursuant to APR 7 or the Bar Association Bylaws.

(b) Review each Application for Admission, other application as described in 20.1(a), or Petition for Reinstatement to practice law in the state of Washington.

(c) Investigate matters relevant to the ~~admission or reinstatement applications or petitions~~ of any Applicant, ~~or~~ Petitioner, or Bar Association member changing status or membership class and conduct hearings concerning such matters.

(d) Perform such other functions and take such other actions as provided in these rules or as may be delegated to it by the Board of Governors or Supreme Court, or as may be necessary and proper to carry out its duties.

No Board member shall offer an opinion to an Applicant, Bar Association member, or Petitioner on whether the Applicant's or Petitioner's record establishes good moral character and fitness to practice law until after the completion of a hearing regarding that Applicant's or Petitioner's application or petition.

#### RULE 20.2 MEETINGS

The Board shall hold meetings at such times and places as it may determine. Where the chair of the Board determines that prompt action is necessary for protection of the public, and that circumstances do not permit a full meeting of the Board, the Board may vote on a matter otherwise ready for review without meeting together, through telephone, electronic or written communication.

#### RULE 20.3 BAR COUNSEL

The Bar Association shall be represented by one or more ~~a~~ lawyers appointed by the Executive Director of the Bar Association, who shall act as counsel to the Board and/or ~~who~~ may make a recommendation in support of or in opposition to the admission or reinstatement of an Applicant or Petitioner.

#### RULE 20.4 CLERK

The Executive Director of the Bar Association may appoint a suitable person or persons to act as Clerk to the

Board, and to assist the Board in carrying out its functions under these rules.

#### RULE 20.5 SERVICE

Service of papers and documents shall be made by first class postage prepaid mail to the Applicant's, Bar Association member's, or Petitioner's, or his or her counsel's, last known address on record with the Bar Association. If properly made, service by mail is deemed accomplished on the date of the mailing. Any notice of change of address shall be submitted in writing to the Bar Association.

#### APR 21 CHARACTER DEFINED

Good moral character is a record of conduct manifesting the qualities of honesty, fairness, candor, trustworthiness, observance of fiduciary responsibilities, adherence to the law, and a respect for the rights of other persons and the judicial process.

#### APR 22 FITNESS DEFINED; INDEPENDENT FITNESS EXAMINATION

**(a) Fitness - defined.** Fitness is the absence of any current mental impairment or current drug or alcohol dependency or abuse which, if extant, would substantially impair the ability of the Applicant, Bar Association member, or Petitioner to practice law.

**(b) Testimony and Evidence:** If it appears that the Applicant, Bar Association member, or Petitioner has engaged in conduct that was or may have been caused in whole or in part by a mental impairment or drug or alcohol dependency or abuse, the Applicant, Bar Association member, or Petitioner may present testimony or evidence from a licensed or certified mental health professional (hereafter "examining professional").

**(c) Independent Fitness Examination:** If after reviewing ~~such~~ the testimony or evidence at a hearing the Board finds that examination or further examination is necessary or would assist the Board in performing its duties, the Board by majority vote may require an examination of the Applicant, Bar Association member, or Petitioner by an examining professional approved by Bar Counsel and the Lawyers' Assistance Program of the Washington State Bar Association.

**(d) Failure to Comply:** The failure of an Applicant, Bar Association member, or a Petitioner to agree or submit to a required independent fitness examination shall result in the Applicant's, Bar Association member's, or Petitioner's application or petition being denied.

**(e) Costs:** The cost of any examination required by the Board shall be borne by the Bar Association.

**(f) Report:** The examining professional shall issue a written report of his or her findings which report shall be provided to the Applicant or Petitioner and his or her counsel, Bar Counsel and the Character and Fitness Board.

**(g) Confidentiality:** Any report and testimony of an examining professional may be admitted into evidence at a hearing on, or review of, the Applicant's, Bar Association member's, or Petitioner's fitness and transmitted with the record on review by the Disciplinary Board or the Supreme Court. Reports and testimony regarding the Applicant's, Bar Association member's, or Petitioner's fitness shall otherwise be kept confidential in all respects and neither the report nor

the testimony of the examining professional shall be discoverable or admissible in any other proceeding or action without the consent of the Applicant, Bar Association member, or Petitioner.

**APR 23 CHARACTER AND FITNESS BOARD - PREHEARING PROCEDURE - APPLICATIONS FOR ADMISSION**

**(a) Admissions Staff Review.** All applications for admission or licensing to practice law in Washington State or to change membership class or status with the Bar Association, and all petitions for readmission to the practice of law in Washington State shall be reviewed by the Bar Association Admissions staff for purposes of determining whether any of the factors set forth in rule 24.2(a) are present.

**(b) Admissions Staff Review - Standard.** All applications and petitions which reflect one or more of the factors set forth in rule 24.2(a) shall be referred to Bar Counsel for review.

**(c) Review By Bar Counsel - Standard.** Upon receiving a referral from the admissions staff, Bar Counsel may conduct such further investigation as he or she deems necessary and thereafter, applying the factors and considerations set forth in rule 24.2, and upon reviewing the material evidence in the light most favorable to the Bar Association's obligation to recommend the licensing or admission to the practice of law only those persons who possess good moral character and fitness, Bar Counsel shall refer to the Character and Fitness Board for hearing any Applicant about whom there is a substantial question whether the Applicant possesses the requisite good moral character and fitness to practice law.

**APR 24 APPLICATIONS FOR ADMISSION  
APR 24.1 DUTY OF APPLICANT**

"Applicant", as used in APR 20-25.6, means every applicant for admission to practice, for limited licensing or admission, or for change of membership class or status under the Bar Association Bylaws. In matters involving investigations or hearings pursuant to the filing of a petition for reinstatement by a disbarred lawyer, "Applicant" shall also include "Petitioner".

(a) It shall be the duty of every Applicant to cooperate in good faith with any investigation by promptly furnishing written or oral explanations, documents, releases, authorizations, or anything else reasonably required by the Board or Bar Counsel. Failure to appear as directed or to furnish additional proof or answers as required or to cooperate fully shall be sufficient reason for the Board to recommend the rejection of an application.

(b) Applicants shall not have direct contact with any member of the Board from the time the Applicant's application is filed with the Bar Association until the matter is finally resolved by the Board or the Supreme Court, except to the extent direct contact is required during the hearing. If the Applicant believes that communication with the Board is necessary outside the hearing, such communication shall take place through Bar Counsel. If the Applicant believes that contact about the Applicant's matter with members of the Board is necessary after the matter is finally resolved by the Board or the Court, such contact should be made only through Bar Counsel.

(c) Applicants shall appear in person at any hearing before the Board, unless the Applicant's presence is waived by the Board for good cause shown. The presumption is that the Applicant's personal attendance at the hearing will be required.

**APR 24.2 FACTORS CONSIDERED WHEN DETERMINING CHARACTER AND FITNESS**

**(a) Factors.** The following factors shall be considered by the Admissions staff and Bar Counsel when determining whether an applicant shall be referred to the Character and Fitness Board for a determination of the applicant's character and/or fitness to practice law:

- (1) unlawful conduct.
- (2) academic misconduct.
- (3) making of false statements or omitting material information in connection with an application for limited licensing to practice law, to sit for a bar examination, or otherwise for licensing or admission to the practice of law.
- (4) misconduct in employment.
- (5) acts involving dishonesty, making false statements, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation.
- (6) abuse of legal process.
- (7) neglect of financial responsibilities.
- (8) disregard of professional obligations.
- (9) violation of a court order.
- (10) evidence of a current substantial mental impairment, including without limitation, drug or alcohol dependency or abuse.
- (11) denial of admission to the bar in another jurisdiction on character and fitness grounds.
- (12) disciplinary action by any professional disciplinary agency of any jurisdiction.
- (13) any other conduct or condition which reflects adversely on moral character or fitness of the Applicant to practice law.

**(b) Factors Considered by the Character and Fitness Board When Determining Good Moral Character.** When determining whether past conduct disqualifies the Applicant from taking the Washington Bar Examination, or for licensing or admission to the Bar, the Character and Fitness Board shall consider those factors specified in rule 24.2(a) and the following factors in mitigation or aggravation:

- (1) Applicant's age at the time of the conduct.
- (2) Recency of the conduct.
- (3) Reliability of the information concerning the conduct.
- (4) Seriousness of the conduct.
- (5) Factors or circumstances underlying the conduct.
- (6) Cumulative nature of the conduct.
- (7) Candor in the admissions process and before the Board.
- (8) Materiality of any omissions or misrepresentations.
- (9) Evidence of rehabilitation, which may include but is not limited to the following:
  - (i) absence of recent misconduct.
  - (ii) compliance with any disciplinary, judicial or administrative order arising out of the misconduct.
  - (iii) sufficiency of punishment.
  - (iv) restitution of funds or property, where applicable.

(v) Applicant's attitude toward the misconduct, including without limitation acceptance of responsibility and remorse.

(vi) personal assurances, supported by corroborating evidence, of a desire and intent to engage in exemplary conduct in the future;

(vii) constructive activities and accomplishments since the conduct in question.

(viii) the Applicant's understanding and acceptance of the factors leading to the misconduct and how similar misconduct may be avoided in the future.

**(c) Factors Considered by the Character and Fitness Board in Fitness Cases Involving Drug or Alcohol Dependence or Abuse.** When determining whether an Applicant is unfit to practice law due to drug or alcohol dependence or abuse, the Character and Fitness Board shall consider the following factors, no single one of which is determinative:

(1) Whether the Applicant is currently using drugs or alcohol.

(2) Whether the Applicant's drug or alcohol dependence or abuse is likely to cause or contribute to any of the conduct specified in rule 24.2(a).

(3) The nature, extent and duration of the Applicant's drug or alcohol dependence or abuse, and the Applicant's candor in the admissions process and before the Board when describing the problem.

(4) Whether the Applicant has been or is now in treatment and, if so:

(i) The nature and duration of the treatment.

(ii) Whether treatment was or is voluntary or involuntary.

(iii) Consistency of participation in or compliance with treatment.

(iv) Whether the treatment was effective.

(5) Whether the Applicant has undergone a drug or alcohol evaluation by a certified chemical dependency counselor or other professional with credentials acceptable to the Board and, if so, whether the substance of such person's opinion the findings have been made available to the Committee.

(6) The length of time the Applicant has been in recovery. In cases where the period of recovery is less than two years, the Applicant must demonstrate through appropriate expert opinion that there has been an adequate period of recovery.

**(d) Factors Considered by the Character and Fitness Board in Fitness Cases Involving a Mental Impairment.** When determining whether an Applicant is unfit to practice law due to a mental impairment, the Character and Fitness Board shall consider the following factors, no single one of which is determinative:

(1) Whether there is a current mental impairment.

(2) Whether the Applicant's mental impairment is likely to cause or contribute to any of the conduct specified in rule 24.2(a).

(3) The nature, extent and duration of the Applicant's mental impairment, and the Applicant's candor in the admissions process and before the Board when describing the impairment.

(4) Whether the Applicant's mental impairment is chronic or situational in nature.

(5) Whether the applicant has received or is receiving professional mental health treatment appropriate for the impairment, and if so:

(i) Whether the Applicant's impairment has been in remission for at least two years as verified by an appropriate mental health professional and, if not, whether the Applicant has demonstrated through appropriate expert opinion that the period of remission has been adequate.

(ii) Whether a mental health professional has identified any conditions, including without limitation further treatment, that must be complied with to continue the Applicant's state of remission and, if so, whether the Applicant is in compliance with those conditions.

**(e) Factors Not Considered by the Character and Fitness Board.** The following factors shall not be considered as evidence of an Applicant's character or fitness:

(1) Racial or ethnic identity.

(2) Sex.

(3) Sexual orientation.

(4) Marital status.

(5) Religious or spiritual beliefs or affiliation.

(6) Political beliefs or affiliation.

(7) Physical disability.

(8) National origin.

(9) Age.

(10) Learning disabilities.

#### APR 24.3 HEARINGS

**(a) Notice.** The Character and Fitness Board may fix a time and place for a hearing on the application, and Bar Counsel shall serve notice thereof not less than 30 days prior to the hearing upon the Applicant and upon such other persons as may be ordered by the Character and Fitness Board. This notice requirement may be waived by the Applicant.

**(b) Right to Counsel.** An Applicant may be represented by counsel.

**(c) Burden of Proof.** An Applicant must establish by clear and convincing evidence that he or she is of good moral character and possesses the requisite fitness to practice law.

**(d) Proceedings Not Civil or Criminal.** Hearings before the Character and Fitness Board are not civil nor criminal but are sui generis hearings to determine whether an Applicant ~~possesses~~ is of good moral character and ~~possesses~~ the requisite fitness to be admitted to practice law.

**(e) Rules of Evidence.**

(1) Evidentiary rulings shall be made by the Board chairperson. A majority of Board members present may by vote overrule a ruling by the chairperson.

(2) Consistent with section (d) of this rule, evidence, including hearsay evidence, is admissible if in the chairperson's judgment it is the kind of evidence on which reasonably prudent persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of their affairs. The chairperson may exclude evidence that is irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly repetitious.

(3) Witnesses shall testify under oath; all testimony shall be transcribed by a certified court reporter.

(4) Expert witnesses shall appear and testify in person or by telephone or video conference before the Board, unless in the discretion of the Board their appearance before the Board is waived.

(5) Generally, all documentary evidence submitted to the Board for consideration must be delivered to Bar Counsel not less than ~~14~~ 30 days prior to the hearing. Bar Counsel will provide copies of all documentary evidence, and any hearing briefs, memoranda, or other documentary material, to the Board members and to the Applicant prior to the hearing date.

(6) The Board may take notice of any judicially cognizable facts, or technical or scientific facts within a Board member's specialized knowledge.

(7) Questioning of the Applicant and the Applicant's witnesses shall be conducted by Bar Counsel or his or her designee and by ~~two~~ members of the Board ~~designated by the chair~~.

**(f) Confidentiality:** All hearings and documents before the Character and Fitness Board on applications for admission or limited admission to the ~~bar~~ Bar Association, admission to the law clerk program, and return to active membership are confidential, but may be provided to the Disciplinary Board or Supreme Court in connection with any appeal, or to other entities with the written consent of the applicant.

#### APR 24.4 DECISION AND RECOMMENDATION.

**(a) Decision.** Within ~~20~~ 30 days after the proceedings are concluded, or if a transcript is ordered, within 30 days after the transcript is received by the Board, unless a greater or shorter period is directed by the Board chair, the Board will file with the Bar Association written findings of fact, conclusions of law, and a recommendation. Any Board member or members may file a written dissent within the same time period.

**(b) Action on Board Recommendation.** The recommendation of the Character and Fitness Board shall be served upon the Applicant pursuant to rule 20.5.

(1) If the Board recommends admission, the record, recommendation and all exhibits shall be transmitted to the Supreme Court for disposition.

(2) If the Board recommends against admission, the record and recommendation shall be retained in the office of the Bar Association unless the Applicant requests that it be submitted to the Supreme Court by filing a Notice of Appeal with the Board within 15 days of service of the recommendation of the Character and Fitness Board. If the Applicant so requests, the Board will transmit the record, including the transcript, exhibits, and recommendation to the Supreme Court for review and disposition. ~~If the Applicant does not so request, the bar examination fee shall be refunded to the Applicant. The Applicant must pay to the Supreme Court any fee required by the Court in connection with the Appeal and review.~~

**(c) Reapplication.** No application for admission may be filed within a period of one year after a decision of the Board recommending against admission that is not appealed to the Supreme Court.

#### APR 24.5 ACTION ON SUPREME COURT'S DETERMINATION

**(a) Application Approved.** If the application is approved by the Supreme Court, admission shall be subject to the Applicant's taking and passing the bar examination and complying with ~~rule 5~~ all other requirements for admission.

**(b) Application Denied.** If the application is denied, the Bar Association shall maintain a record of the application, hearing, and appeal in the Bar Association records ~~the bar examination fee shall be refunded to the Applicant. No new petition for admission shall be filed within a period of one year after the date of the Supreme Court decision denying the application.~~

#### APR 25 PETITIONS FOR REINSTATEMENT AFTER DISBARMENT

##### APR 25.1 RESTRICTIONS ON REINSTATEMENT

**(a) Petitions For Reinstatement.** All Petitions for Reinstatement after Disbarment shall be referred for hearing before the Character and Fitness Board.

**(b) When Petition May Be Filed.** No petition for reinstatement shall be filed within a period of 5 years after disbarment or within a period of 2 years after an adverse decision of the Supreme Court upon a former petition, or within a period of 1 year after an adverse recommendation of the Character and Fitness Board on a former petition when that recommendation is not submitted to the Supreme Court. If prior to disbarment the lawyer was suspended from the practice of law pursuant to the provisions of Title 7 of the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct, or any comparable rule, the period of such suspension shall be credited toward the 5 years referred to above.

**(c) When Reinstatement May Occur.** No disbarred lawyer may be reinstated sooner than 6 years following disbarment. If prior to disbarment the lawyer was suspended from the practice of law pursuant to the provisions of Title 7 of the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct, or any comparable rule, the period of such suspension shall be credited toward the 6 years referred to above.

**(d) Payment of Obligations.** No disbarred lawyer may file a petition for reinstatement until costs and expenses and restitution ordered by the Disciplinary Board or the Supreme Court have been paid and until amounts paid out of the Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection for losses caused by the conduct of the Petitioner have been repaid to the client protection fund, or until periodic payment plans for costs and expenses, restitution and repayment to the client protection fund have been entered into by agreement between the Petitioner and disciplinary counsel. A Petitioner may seek review by the Chair of the Disciplinary Board of an adverse determination by disciplinary counsel regarding the reasonableness of any such proposed periodic payment plan. Such review will proceed as directed by the Chair of the Disciplinary Board and the decision of the Chair of the Disciplinary Board is final unless the Chair of the Disciplinary Board determines that the matter should be reviewed by the Disciplinary Board, in which case the Disciplinary Board review will proceed as directed by the Chair and the decision of the Board will be final.

#### APR 25.2 REVERSAL OF CONVICTION

If a lawyer has been disbarred solely because of his or her conviction of a crime and the conviction is later reversed and the charges dismissed on their merits, the Supreme Court may in its discretion, upon direct application by the lawyer, enter an order reinstating the lawyer upon such conditions as determined by the Supreme Court. At the time such direct

application is filed with the court a copy shall be filed with the Bar Association. The Supreme Court may request a response to the application from the Bar Association.

#### APR 25.3 PETITIONS AND INVESTIGATIONS

**(a) Form of Petition.** A petition for reinstatement after disbarment shall be in writing in such form as the Character and Fitness Board may prescribe. The petition shall be filed with the Character and Fitness Board. The petition shall set forth the age, residence and address of the Petitioner, the date of disbarment, and a concise statement of facts claimed to justify reinstatement. The petition shall be accompanied by the total fees required of a lawyer Applicant under these rules, and by a completed application for admission.

**(b) Investigations.** The petition for reinstatement shall be referred to the Character and Fitness Board for hearing.

**(c) Duty to Cooperate.** It shall be the duty of every Petitioner to cooperate in good faith with any investigation by promptly furnishing written or oral explanations, documents, releases, authorizations, or anything else reasonably required by the Board or Bar Counsel. Failure to appear as directed or to furnish additional proof or answers as required or to cooperate fully shall be sufficient reason for the Committee to recommend the rejection of a petition.

**(d) Proceedings Public.** A petition for reinstatement after disbarment shall be a public proceeding from the time the petition is filed.

**(e) Protective Orders.** To protect a compelling interest, a Petitioner may, on a showing of good cause, move for a protective order prohibiting the disclosure or release of specific information, documents, or pleadings, and directing that the proceedings be conducted so as to implement the order.

#### APR 25.4 HEARING BEFORE CHARACTER AND FITNESS BOARD

**(a) Notice.** The Character and Fitness Board may fix a time and place for a hearing on the petition, and Bar Counsel shall serve notice thereof not less than 30 days prior to the hearing upon the Petitioner and upon such other persons as may be determined by Bar Counsel or as ordered by the Character and Fitness Board. Notice of the hearing shall also be published at least once in the Washington State Bar News and such other newspaper or periodical as the Character and Fitness Board may direct. Such published notice shall contain a statement that a petition for reinstatement has been filed and shall give the date fixed for the hearing.

**(b) Statement in Support or Opposition.** On or prior to the date of hearing, anyone wishing to do so may file with the Character and Fitness Board a written statement for or against the petition, such statements to set forth factual matters showing that the Petitioner does or does not meet the requirements for reinstatement as set forth in these rules.

**(c) Hearings.** Hearings shall be conducted pursuant to rule 24.3.

#### APR 25.5 ACTION BY CHARACTER AND FITNESS BOARD

**(a) Requirements for Favorable Recommendation.** Reinstatement may be recommended by the Character and Fitness Board only upon a showing, supported by clear and convincing ~~proof~~ evidence, that the Petitioner possesses the qualifications and meets the requirements for reinstatement

as set forth in these rules and that the Petitioner has been rehabilitated.

**(b) Factors Considered by the Character and Fitness Board.** In reaching the decision of whether the Petitioner has been rehabilitated, the Board shall consider the factors set forth in Rule 24.2 (b), (c) and (d), where applicable, and the following factors:

(i) The Petitioner's character, standing, and professional reputation in the community in which the Petitioner resided and practiced prior to disbarment.

(ii) The ethical standards which the Petitioner observed in the practice of law.

(iii) The nature and character of the conduct for which the Petitioner was disbarred.

(iv) The sufficiency of the punishment undergone in connection therewith, and the making or failure to make restitution where required.

(v) The Petitioner's attitude, conduct, and reformation subsequent to disbarment.

(vi) The time that has elapsed since disbarment.

(vii) The Petitioner's current proficiency in the law; and

(viii) The sincerity, frankness, and truthfulness of the Petitioner in presenting and discussing the factors relating to the Petitioner's disbarment and reinstatement.

**(c) Factors Not Considered by the Character and Fitness Board.** The following factors shall not be considered as evidence of a Petitioner's character or fitness:

(1) Racial or ethnic identity.

(2) Sex.

(3) Sexual orientation.

(4) Marital status.

(5) Religious or spiritual beliefs or affiliation.

(6) Political beliefs or affiliation.

(7) Physical disability.

(8) National origin.

(9) Learning disabilities.

**(d) Action on Board Recommendation.** The recommendation of the Character and Fitness Board shall be served upon the Petitioner pursuant to rule 20.5. If the Board recommends reinstatement, the record and recommendation shall be transmitted to the Supreme Court for disposition. If the Board recommends against reinstatement, the record and recommendation shall be retained in the office of the Bar Association unless the Petitioner requests that it be submitted to the Disciplinary Board by filing with the Clerk of the Disciplinary Board a request for Disciplinary Board review within 15 days of service of the recommendation of the Character and Fitness Board. If the Petitioner so requests, the record and recommendation shall be transmitted to the Disciplinary Board for disposition and the review will be conducted under the procedure of rules 11.9 and 11.12 of the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct. If the Petitioner does not so request, ~~the bar examination fee shall be refunded to the Petitioner, but~~ the record and recommendation shall be retained in the records of the Bar Association and the Petitioner shall still be responsible for payment of the costs incidental to the reinstatement proceeding as directed by the Character and Fitness Board.

**(e) Action on Disciplinary Board Recommendation.** The recommendation of the Disciplinary Board shall be

served upon the Petitioner. If the Disciplinary Board recommends reinstatement, the record and recommendation shall be transmitted to the Supreme Court for disposition. If the Disciplinary Board recommends against reinstatement, the record and recommendation shall be retained in the office of the Bar Association unless the Petitioner requests that it be submitted to the Supreme Court by filing with the Clerk of the Disciplinary Board a request for Supreme Court review within 30 days of service of the recommendation. If the Petitioner so requests, the record and recommendation shall be transmitted to the Supreme Court for disposition. If the Petitioner does not so request, ~~the bar examination fee shall be refunded to the Petitioner, but~~ the record and the recommendation shall be retained in the records of the Bar Association and the Petitioner shall still be responsible for payment of the costs incidental to the reinstatement proceeding as directed by the Disciplinary Board under the procedure of rule 13.9 of the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct.

#### APR 25.6 ACTION ON SUPREME COURT'S DETERMINATION

**(a) Petition Approved.** If the petition for reinstatement is approved by the Supreme Court, the reinstatement shall be subject to the Petitioner's taking and passing the bar examination, completing all requirements for admission, paying to the Bar Association its membership license fee for the current year, and paying the costs incidental to the reinstatement proceeding as directed by the Supreme Court.

**(b) Petition Denied.** If the petition for reinstatement is denied, ~~the bar examination fee shall be refunded to the Petitioner, but~~ the Petitioner shall still be responsible for payment of the costs incidental to the reinstatement proceeding as directed by the Supreme Court.

#### RULE 26 INSURANCE DISCLOSURE

##### [no change]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### RULE 27 PROVISION OF LEGAL SERVICES FOLLOWING DETERMINATION OF MAJOR DISASTER

##### [no change]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### SUGGESTED AMENDMENTS TO RULE 5.5 OF THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

##### RULE 5.5 UNAUTHORIZED PRACTICE OF LAW; MULTIJURISDICTIONAL PRACTICE OF LAW

**(a)** A lawyer shall not practice law in a jurisdiction in violation of the regulation of the legal profession in that jurisdiction, or assist another in doing so.

**(b)** A lawyer who is not admitted to practice in this jurisdiction shall not:

(1) except as authorized by these Rules or other law, establish an office or other systematic and continuous presence in this jurisdiction for the practice of law; or

(2) hold out to the public or otherwise represent that the lawyer is admitted to practice law in this jurisdiction.

**(c)** A lawyer admitted in another United States jurisdiction, and not disbarred or suspended from practice in any jurisdiction, may provide legal services on a temporary basis in this jurisdiction that:

(1) are undertaken in association with a lawyer who is admitted to practice in this jurisdiction and who actively participates in the matter;

(2) are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential proceeding before a tribunal in this or another jurisdiction, if the lawyer, or a person the lawyer is assisting, is authorized by law or order to appear in such proceeding or reasonably expects to be so authorized;

(3) are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential arbitration, mediation, or other alternative dispute resolution proceeding in this or another jurisdiction, if the services arise out of or are reasonably related to the lawyer's practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted to practice and are not services for which the forum requires pro hac vice admission; or

(4) are not within paragraphs (c)(2) or (c)(3) and arise out of or are reasonably related to the lawyer's practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted to practice.

**(d)** A lawyer admitted in another United States jurisdiction, and not disbarred or suspended from practice in any jurisdiction, may provide legal services in this jurisdiction that:

(1) are provided to the lawyer's employer or its organizational affiliates and are (i) provided on a temporary basis and (ii) not services for which the forum requires pro hac vice admission; or

(2) are services that the lawyer is authorized to provide by federal law or other law of this jurisdiction.

~~(e) A lawyer authorized to provide legal services under paragraph (d)(1) of this Rule may provide legal services in this jurisdiction for no fee through a qualified legal services provider, as that term is defined in APR 8(c)(2). If such services involve representation before a court or tribunal, the lawyer shall seek admission under APR 8(b) and any fees for such admission shall be waived. The prohibition against compensation in this paragraph shall not prevent a qualified legal services provider from reimbursing a lawyer authorized to practice under paragraph (d)(1) for actual expenses incurred while rendering legal services under this pro bono exception. In addition, a qualified legal services provider shall be entitled to receive all court awarded attorney's fees for pro bono representation rendered by the lawyer.~~

##### Comment

[1] through [14].

##### [no change]

[15] [Washington revision] Paragraph (d) identifies ~~two~~ one circumstances in which a lawyer who is admitted to practice in another United States jurisdiction, and is not disbarred or suspended from practice in any jurisdiction, may establish an office or other systematic and continuous presence in this jurisdiction for the practice of law as well as provide legal services on a temporary basis. Except as provided in paragraphs ~~(d)(1) and~~ (d)(2), a lawyer who is admitted to practice law in another jurisdiction and who establishes an office or other systematic or continuous presence in this jurisdiction

must become admitted to practice law generally in this jurisdiction.

[16] Paragraph (d)(1) applies to a lawyer who is employed by a client to provide legal services to the client or its organizational affiliates, i.e., entities that control, are controlled by, or are under common control with the employer. This paragraph does not authorize the provision of personal legal services to the employer's officers or employees. The paragraph applies to in-house corporate lawyers, government lawyers and others who are employed to render legal services to the employer. The lawyer's ability to represent the employer outside the jurisdiction in which the lawyer is licensed generally serves the interests of the employer and does not create an unreasonable risk to the client and others because the employer is well situated to assess the lawyer's qualifications and the quality of the lawyer's work.

[17] ~~[Washington revision] In Washington, paragraph (d)(1) applies to lawyers who are providing the services on a temporary basis only.~~ If an employed lawyer establishes an office or other systematic presence in this jurisdiction for the purpose of rendering legal services to the employer, the lawyer may be subject to registration or other requirements, including assessments for client protection funds and mandatory continuing legal education must seek general admission under APR 3 or house counsel admission under APR 8(f).

[18] through [21]

**[no change]**

~~[22] Model Rule 5.5 does not contain a provision equivalent to paragraph (e) of Washington's Rule. Paragraph (e) provides that in-house lawyers, government lawyers, and others authorized to practice under paragraph (d) of this Rule may provide legal services for no fee through a qualified legal services provider, but it does not authorize any other form of law practice, whether for a fee or not, other than that authorized by Paragraph (d). For purposes of paragraph (e) of this Rule, the term "qualified legal services provider" is defined in Admission to Practice Rule 8(e)(2) as "a not for profit legal services organization whose primary purpose is to provide legal services to low income clients."~~

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### SUGGESTED AMENDMENTS TO RULE 1.12A OF THE LIMITED PRACTICE OFFICER RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

##### LPORPC 1.12A SAFEGUARDING PROPERTY

**(a) through (g)**

**[no change]**

**(h)** An LPO or Closing Firm must comply with the following for all trust accounts:

(1) No funds belonging to the LPO or Closing Firm may be deposited or retained in a trust account except as follows:

(i) funds to pay bank charges, but only in an amount reasonably sufficient for that purpose;

(ii) funds belonging in part to a client or third person and in part presently or potentially to the LPO or Closing Firm must be deposited and retained in a trust account, but any portion belonging to the LPO or Closing Firm must be withdrawn at the earliest reasonable time; or

(iii) funds necessary to restore appropriate balances.

(2) An LPO or Closing Firm must keep complete records as required by Rule 1.12B.

(3) An LPO or Closing Firm may withdraw funds when necessary to pay client costs. The LPO or Closing Firm may withdraw earned fees only after giving reasonable notice to the client of the intent to do so, through a billing statement or other document.

(4) Receipts must be deposited intact.

(5) All withdrawals must be made only to a named payee and not to cash. Withdrawals must be made by check or by bank transfer.

(6) Trust account records must be reconciled as often as bank statements are generated or at least quarterly. The LPO or Closing Firm must reconcile the check register balance to the bank statement balance and reconcile the check register balance to the combined total of all client ledger records required by Rule 1.12B (a)(2).

~~(7) An LPO or Closing Firm must not disburse funds from a trust account until deposits have cleared the banking process and been collected, unless the LPO or Closing Firm and the bank have a written agreement by which the LPO or Closing Firm personally guarantees all disbursements from the account without recourse to the trust account.~~

(8) Disbursements on behalf of a client or third person may not exceed the funds of that person on deposit. The funds of a client or third person must not be used on behalf of anyone else.

**(i) and (j)**

**[no change]**

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### GR 9 COVER SHEET

Suggested Amendments to the  
RULES FOR ENFORCEMENT OF LAWYER CONDUCT (ELC)  
And Related Amendments to Rule 5.8 of the  
RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT (RPC)

Submitted by the Washington State Bar Association

**Purpose:** The suggested amendments arise out of a comprehensive review of the ELC that began in 2008. More than five years after the ELC became effective in October 2002, the WSBA's Board of Governors (BOG) believed it was appropriate to analyze the impact and effectiveness of the rules and determine whether modifications and improvements were warranted. The BOG appointed an ELC Task Force to review the ELC, draft suggested amendments, and present them to the BOG for its approval. After much discussion, drafting, and redrafting, the ELC Task Force began presenting suggested amendments to the BOG at its July 2011 meeting. After further discussion, drafting, and redrafting, these suggested amendments were finally approved by the BOG at its September 2012 meeting.

The suggested amendments do not alter the basic structure of the ELC. Rather, they are intended to improve the effectiveness, fairness, and efficiency of the procedures

within their existing structure. Some notable suggested amendments include:

- Admonitions are abolished as a form of disciplinary action. ELC 13.1, 13.5, and other rules.
- Advisory letters are replaced with a new Warning Letter that may be issued at any stage of a disciplinary proceeding. ELC 5.8.
- New procedures are added for maintaining the confidentiality of client information in a disciplinary investigation. ELC 5.4(b), ELC 5.6.
- Interim suspension for a criminal conviction is limited to felony convictions. ELC 7.1.
- Stipulations are to be approved unless the stipulation would result in a "manifest injustice." ELC 9.1(d).
- Resignation in lieu of disbarment is changed to a resignation in lieu of discipline that is available in a wider range of cases. ELC 9.3.
- Reprimands are simplified. ELC 13.4.
- Automatic review by the Disciplinary Board of all suspension and disbarment recommendations is eliminated in favor of an appeal-driven system. ELC 11.2.
- Both respondents and disciplinary counsel have the same rights of appeal to the Supreme Court. ELC 12.3.
- The authority and duties of the Chief Hearing Officer are delineated and expanded. ELC 2.5(e).
- The procedures for protective orders are revised and expanded. ELC 3.2(e).
- A Disciplinary Selection Panel appointed by the Supreme Court will make recommendations to the Board of Governors regarding appointment of Disciplinary Board members, hearing officers, the Chief Hearing Officer, and conflicts review officers. ELC 2.2(d).
- Disciplinary Board members, hearing officers, and conflicts review officers will be appointed by the Supreme Court, upon recommendation of the Board of Governors in consultation with the Disciplinary Selection Panel. ELC 2.3 (b)(1), 2.5(c), 2.5(e), 2.7 (b)(1).
- A new procedure will allow the Disciplinary Board Chair to restrict the rights of a person found to a vexatious grievant to file additional grievances. ELC 5.1(3).

### Supporting Information

In addition to (1) a complete redline of the suggested amendments to the ELC, (2) a "clean" version of the suggested amendments to the ELC without redlining, (3) a redline of the suggested amendments to RPC 5.8, and (4) a "clean" version of the suggested amendments RPC 5.8, a set of Reporter's Explanatory Comments is submitted as supporting information. Additional supporting information available at the Washington State Bar Association website (<http://www.wsba.org/Legal%20Community/Committees%20Boards%20and%20Other%20Groups/ELC%20Drafting%20Taskforce>) includes the following:

- ELC Task Force Charter and Rosters
- ELC Task Force Meeting Materials (including Subcommittee Reports)
- ELC Task Force Minutes
- ELC Task Force Reports (including Minority Reports)

### RULES FOR ENFORCEMENT OF LAWYER CONDUCT (ELC)

#### TITLE 1 - SCOPE, JURISDICTION, AND DEFINITIONS

##### RULE 1.1 SCOPE OF RULES

These rules govern the procedure by which a lawyer may be subjected to disciplinary sanctions or actions for violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct adopted by the Washington Supreme Court.

##### RULE 1.2 ~~JURISDICTION~~ DISCIPLINARY AUTHORITY

Except as provided in RPC 8.5(c), any lawyer admitted to practice in this jurisdiction is subject to the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction and these Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct, regardless of where the lawyer's conduct occurs, ~~or permitted by rule, to practice law in this state, and any lawyer specially admitted by a court of this state for a particular case, is subject to these Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct.~~ A lawyer not admitted to practice in this jurisdiction is also subject to the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction and these rules if the lawyer provides or offers to provide any legal services in this jurisdiction. ~~Jurisdiction~~ Disciplinary authority exists regardless of the lawyer's residency or authority to practice law in this state. A lawyer may be subject to the disciplinary authority of both this jurisdiction and another jurisdiction for the same conduct.

##### RULE 1.3 DEFINITIONS

Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, terms used in these rules have the following meanings:

- (a) "Association" means the Washington State Bar Association.
- (b) "Association counsel" means counsel for the Association other than disciplinary counsel.
- (bc) "Bar file" means the pleadings, motions, rulings, decisions, and other formal papers filed in a proceeding.
- (ed) "Board" when used alone means the Disciplinary Board.
- (de) "Chair" when used alone means the Chair of the Disciplinary Board.
- (ef) "Clerk" when used alone means the Clerk to the Disciplinary Board.
- (fg) "Disciplinary action" means sanctions under rule 13.1 ~~and admonitions under rule 13.5.~~
- (gh) "Final" means no review has been sought in a timely fashion or all appeals have been concluded.
- (hi) "Grievant" means the person or entity who files a grievance, except for a confidential source under rule 5.2.
- (ij) "Hearing officer" means the person assigned under rule 10.2(a)(1) ~~or, when a hearing panel has been assigned, the hearing panel chair.~~
- (jk) "Mental or physical incapacity" includes, but is not limited to, insanity, mental illness, senility, or debilitating use of alcohol or drugs.
- (k) "Panel" means a hearing panel under rule 10.2(a)(2).



(l) "Party" means disciplinary counsel or respondent, except in rules 2.3(h) and 2.6(ed) "party" also includes a grievant.

(m) "Respondent" means a lawyer against whom a grievance is filed or a lawyer investigated by disciplinary counsel.

(n) "APR" means the Admission to Practice Rules.

(o) "CR" means the Superior Court Civil Rules.

(p) "RAP" means the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

(q) "RPC" means the Rules of Professional Conduct adopted by the Washington Supreme Court.

(r) **Words of authority.**

(1) "May" means "has discretion to," "has a right to," or "is permitted to".

(2) "Must" means "is required to".

(3) "Should" means recommended but not required, except:

(A) in rules 2.3(h) and 2.6, "should" has the meaning ascribed to it in the Code of Judicial Conduct; and

(B) in title 12, "should" has the meaning ascribed to it in the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

#### RULE 1.4 NO STATUTE OF LIMITATION

No statute of limitation or other time limitation restricts filing a grievance or bringing a proceeding under these rules, but the passage of time since an act of misconduct occurred may be considered in determining what if any action or sanction is warranted.

#### RULE 1.5 VIOLATION OF DUTIES IMPOSED BY THESE RULES

A lawyer violates RPC 8.4(l) and may be disciplined under these rules for violating duties imposed by these rules, including but not limited to the following duties:

- respond to inquiries or requests about matters under investigation, rule 5.3 (f) and (g);
- file an answer to a formal complaint or to an amendment to a formal complaint, rule 10.5;
- cooperate with discovery and comply with hearing orders, rules 10.11(gh) and 5.5;
- attend a hearing and bring materials requested by disciplinary counsel, rule 10.13 (b) and (c);
- respond to subpoenas and comply with orders enforcing subpoenas, rule 10.13(e);
- notify clients and others of inability to act, rule 14.1;
- discontinue practice, rule 14.2;
- file an affidavit of compliance, rule 14.3;
- maintain confidentiality, rule 3.2(f);
- report being disciplined or transferred to disability inactive status in another jurisdiction, rule 9.2(a);
- cooperate with an examination of books and records, rule 15.2;
- notify the ~~Association~~ Office of Disciplinary Counsel of a trust account overdraft, rule 15.4(d);
- ~~file a declaration or questionnaire certifying compliance with RPC 1.15A, rule 15.5;~~
- comply with conditions of probation, rule 13.8;
- comply with conditions of a stipulation, rule 9.1;
- pay restitution, rule 13.7; or
- pay costs, rule 5.3(fh) or 13.9.

## TITLE 2 - ORGANIZATION AND STRUCTURE

### RULE 2.1 SUPREME COURT

The Washington Supreme Court has exclusive responsibility in the state to administer the lawyer discipline and disability system and has inherent power to maintain appropriate standards of professional conduct and to dispose of individual cases of lawyer discipline and disability. Persons carrying out the functions set forth in these rules act under the Supreme Court's authority.

### RULE 2.2 BOARD OF GOVERNORS; DISCIPLINARY SELECTION PANEL

(a) **Function.** The Board of Governors of the Association:

(1) ~~supervises the general functioning of~~ through the Executive Director, provides administrative and managerial support to enable the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, the Disciplinary Board, review committees, disciplinary counsel, and other Association staff and appointees to perform the functions specified by these rules, and adjunct investigative counsel;

(2) makes appointments, removes those appointed, and fills vacancies as provided in these rules; and

(3) performs other functions and takes other actions provided in these rules, delegated by the Supreme Court, or necessary and proper to carry out its duties.

(b) **Limitation of Authority.** The Board of Governors, officers of the Association, and the Executive Director of the Association have ~~has~~ no right or responsibility to direct the investigations, prosecutions, appeals or discretionary decisions of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel under these rules, or to review hearing officer, hearing panel, review committee, or Disciplinary Board decisions or recommendations in specific cases.

(c) **Restriction on Advising or Representing Respondents or Grievants.** Former members of the Board of Governors and former Presidents of the Association are subject to the restrictions on representing respondents in rule 2.13(b). Current and former members of the Board of Governors, Executive Directors, and officers of the Association are subject to the restrictions set forth in rule 2.14

(d) **Disciplinary Selection Panel.** The Disciplinary Selection Panel makes recommendations to the Board of Governors for appointment, reappointment, and removal of Disciplinary Board members, hearing officers, chief hearing officer, and Conflicts Review Officers. The Panel is appointed by the Supreme Court, upon the recommendation of the Board of Governors, shall include a Board of Governors member who serves as its chair, and should include, without limitation, one or more former Chairs of the Disciplinary Board, one or more current or former hearing officers, and one or more former nonlawyer members of the Disciplinary Board.

(e) **Diversity.** The Disciplinary Selection Panel and the Board of Governors considers diversity in gender, ethnicity, disability status, sexual orientation, geography, area of practice, and practice experience, when making appointments under Rules 2.2, 2.3, 2.5, 2.7, and 2.9.

## RULE 2.3 DISCIPLINARY BOARD

**(a) Function.** The Board performs the functions provided under these rules, delegated by the ~~Board of Governors of~~ Supreme Court, or necessary and proper to carry out its duties.

**(b) Membership.**

(1) *Composition.* The Board consists of not fewer than ~~three~~ four nonlawyer members, appointed by the Court, and not fewer than ~~one~~ ten lawyer members ~~from each congressional district, appointed by the Court, upon the recommendation of the Board of Governors in consultation with the Disciplinary Selection Panel.~~

(2) *Qualifications.* ~~A~~ Lawyer Board members ~~must have been active members of the Association for at least seven years~~ be an Active member of the Association, have been an Active or Judicial member of the Association for at least five years, and have no record of public discipline.

(3) *Voting.* Each member, including the Chair and the Vice Chair, whether nonlawyer or lawyer, has one vote. Recused members may not attend or participate in the Board's deliberations on a matter. Board staff may attend Board deliberations, to serve as a resource.

(4) *Quorum.* A majority of the Board members constitutes a quorum. If there is a quorum, the concurrence of a majority of those present and voting constitutes action of the Board, so long as at least seven members vote.

(5) *Leave of Absence While Grievance Is Pending.* If a grievance is filed against a lawyer member of the Board, the following procedures apply:

(A) ~~¶~~The member initially decides whether to remain on the Board or take a leave of absence until the matter is resolved;

(B) ~~¶~~If the member chooses to remain on the Board, the Conflicts Review Officer who is conducting the review of the grievance under rule 2.7 must promptly provide a confidential summary of the grievance to the Board of Governors with a different Conflicts Review Officer who is not conducting the review. A copy of the summary is provided to the member at the same time;

(C) ~~¶~~The Board of Governors Conflicts Review Officer who is not conducting the review of the grievance should then, or at any time thereafter ~~it~~ as deemed appropriate, determine if the member is so impaired from serving on the Disciplinary Board that the member should take, or continue to take, a leave of absence to protect the integrity of the discipline system. In making this determination, the ~~Board of Governors~~ Conflicts Review Officer should consider, among other things, the facts, circumstances, and nature of the misconduct alleged, the possible outcome, and the extent of public concern regarding the matter;

(D) ~~¶~~The Board of Governors's deliberations are Confidential Review Officer's determination is confidential. All materials of the Board of Governors used in connection with such a matter determination are confidential unless released under rule 3.4(d) or (e).

**(c) Terms of Office.** The term of office for a Board member is three years. Newly created Board positions may be filled by appointments of less than three years, as designated by the Court ~~or the Board of Governors~~, to permit as equal a number of positions as possible to be filled each year.

Terms of office begin October 1 and end September 30 or when a successor has been appointed, whichever occurs later. Members may not serve more than one term except as otherwise provided in these rules. Members continue to serve until replaced, except a member's term of office ends immediately if a disciplinary sanction is imposed.

**(d) Chair.** The ~~Supreme Court, upon the recommendation of the~~ Board of Governors in consultation with the Disciplinary Selection Panel, annually designates one lawyer member of the Board to act as Chair and another as Vice Chair. The Vice Chair serves in the absence of or at the request of the Chair.

**(e) Unexpired Terms.** The ~~Supreme Court, upon the recommendation of the~~ Board of Governors in consultation with the Disciplinary Selection Panel, fills unexpired terms in lawyer membership on the Board. ~~The Supreme Court fills unexpired terms in nonlawyer membership.~~ A member appointed to fill an unexpired term will complete the unexpired term of the member replaced, and may be reappointed to a consecutive term if the unexpired term is less than 18 months.

**(f) Pro Tempore Members.** If a Board member is disqualified or unable to function, the Chair may, by written order, designate a member pro tempore. A member pro tempore must have ~~either~~ previously served on the Board ~~or be appointed as an alternate Board member by the Board of Governors if a lawyer or by the Supreme Court if a nonlawyer.~~ Only a lawyer may be appointed to substitute for a lawyer member, and only a nonlawyer to substitute for a nonlawyer member.

**(g) Meetings.** The Board meets regularly at times and places it determines. The Chair may convene special Board meetings. In the Chair's discretion, the Board may meet and act through electronic, telephonic, written, or other means of communication.

**(h) Disqualification.**

(1) A Board member should disqualify him or herself from a particular matter in which the member's impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including, but not limited to, instances in which:

(A) the member has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party, or personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the matter;

(B) the member previously served as a lawyer or was a material witness in the matter in controversy, or a lawyer with whom the member practices law serves or has previously served as a lawyer concerning the matter, or such lawyer is or has been a material witness concerning the matter;

(C) the member knows that, individually or as a fiduciary, the member or the member's spouse or relative residing in the member's household, has an economic interest in the subject matter in controversy or in a party to the matter, or is an officer, director, or trustee of a party or has any other interest that could be substantially affected by the outcome of the matter, unless there is a remittal of disqualification under section (i);

(D) the member or the member's spouse or relative residing in the member's household, or the spouse of such a person:

- (i) is a party to the matter, or an officer, director, or trustee of a party;
- (ii) is acting as a lawyer in the matter;
- (iii) is to the member's knowledge likely to be a material witness in the matter;

(E) the member served as a hearing officer ~~or hearing panel member~~ for a hearing on the matter, ~~or served on a review committee that issued an admonition to the lawyer regarding the matter.~~

**(i) Remittal of Disqualification.** A member disqualified under subsection (h)(1)(C) or (h)(1)(D) may, instead of withdrawing from consideration of the matter, disclose on the record the basis of the disqualification. If, based on such disclosure, the parties and lawyers, independently of the member's participation, all agree in writing or on the record that the member's relationship is immaterial or that the member's economic interest is de minimis, the member is no longer disqualified, and may participate in the matter. If a party is not immediately available, the member may proceed on the assurance of the party's counsel that the party's consent will be subsequently given.

**(j) Counsel and Clerk.** The Executive Director of the Association, ~~under the direction of the Board of Governors,~~ may appoint a suitable person or persons to act as counsel and clerk to the Board, to assist the Board and the review committees in carrying out their functions under these rules.

**(k) Restriction on Representing or Advising Respondents or Grievants.** ~~Current and~~ former members of the Disciplinary Board are subject to the restrictions set forth in rule 2.13(b)14.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical errors in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### RULE 2.4 REVIEW COMMITTEES

**(a) Function.** A review committee performs the functions provided under these rules, delegated by the Board or the Chair, or necessary and proper to carry out its duties.

**(b) Membership.** The Chair appoints three or more review committees of three members each from among the Board members. Each review committee consists of two lawyers and one nonlawyer. The Chair may reassign members among the several committees on an interim or permanent basis. The Chair does not serve on a review committee.

**(c) Review Committee Chair.** The Chair of the Disciplinary Board designates one member of each review committee to act as its chair.

**(d) Terms of Office.** A review committee member serves as long as the member is on the Board.

**(e) Distribution of Cases.** The Clerk assigns matters to the several review committees under the Chair's direction, equalizing the committee's caseloads as possible.

**(f) Meetings.** A review committee meets at times and places determined by the review committee chair, under the general direction of the Chair of the Disciplinary Board. In the review committee chair's discretion, the committee may meet and act through electronic, telephonic, written, or other means of communication. A majority of a review committee constitutes a quorum. A review committee can only act upon at least two affirmative votes.

**(g) Adjunct Review Committee Members.** Notwithstanding other provisions of these rules, if deemed necessary to the efficient operation of the discipline system, the Board may authorize the Chair to appoint former Board members as adjunct review committee members for a period deemed necessary by the Chair, but those appointments terminate at the end of the term of the Chair making the appointment. The Chair may remove adjunct review committee members when deemed appropriate. The Chair may appoint adjunct review committee members to existing review committees or may create adjunct review committees. An adjunct member has the same authority as a regular review committee member and must comply with rule 2.3 (b)(5) but is not otherwise a Board member.

#### RULE 2.5 HEARING OFFICERS ~~OR PANEL~~

**(a) Function.** A hearing officer ~~or panel~~ to whom a case has been assigned for hearing conducts the hearing and performs other functions as provided under these rules.

**(b) Qualifications.** A hearing officer must be an active member of the Association, have been an active or judicial member of the Association for at least seven years, have no record of public discipline, and have experience as an adjudicator or as an advocate in contested adjudicative hearings.

~~**(c) Hearing Officer Selection Panel.** The hearing officer selection panel makes recommendations to the Board of Governors for appointment, reappointment, and removal of hearing officers. The panel is appointed by the Board of Governors and includes, but is not limited to, a Board of Governors member who serves as its chair, one or more former Chairs of the Disciplinary Board, and one or more former nonlawyer members of the Disciplinary Board.~~

**(~~c~~) Appointment.** The Supreme Court, upon recommendation of the Board of Governors in consultation with the Disciplinary Selection Panel, appoints hearing officers to the hearing officer list ~~giving consideration to recommendations of the hearing officer selection panel.~~ The list should include as many lawyers as the Board of Governors considers necessary to carry out the provisions of these rules effectively and efficiently. ~~In making appointments, the Board of Governors should consider diversity in gender, ethnicity, geography, and practice experience. The Board of Governors also maintains a list of nonlawyers willing to serve on hearing panels under section (h).~~

**(~~e~~) Terms of Appointment.** Appointment to the hearing officer list, ~~or the list of nonlawyers,~~ is for an initial period of ~~one two~~ years, followed by periods of ~~five four~~ years. Reappointment is in the ~~Board of Governors'~~ discretion of the Supreme Court upon recommendation of the Board of Governors in consultation with the Disciplinary Selection Panel. A hearing officer ~~or panel member~~ may continue to act in any matter assigned before his or her term expires. On the recommendation of the ~~hearing officer~~ Board of Governors in consultation with the Disciplinary Selection Panel, the ~~Board of Governors~~ Supreme Court may remove a person from the list of hearing officers ~~or from the list of nonlawyer panel members.~~

**(~~f~~) Chief Hearing Officer.**

**(1) Appointment.** The Board of Governors Supreme Court, upon recommendation of the Board of Governors in

consultation with the Disciplinary Selection Panel, appoints a chief hearing officer for a renewable term of two years, who, in addition to hearing matters, assigns cases, monitors and evaluates the performance of hearing officers and panel members, establishes requirements for and supervises hearing officer and hearing panel member training, administers hearing officer compensation, hears prehearing motions when no hearing officer has been assigned, and performs other administrative duties necessary for an efficient and effective hearing system. The person appointed as chief hearing officer must meet the qualifications for hearing officers set forth in paragraph (b) above, have significant experience in the adjudication of contested matters, and have substantial administrative and managerial skills. If the chief hearing officer position is vacant or the chief hearing officer has recused or been disqualified from a particular matter, the Chair may, as necessary, perform the administrative duties of chief hearing officer.

(2) Duties and Authority. The chief hearing officer:

(A) hears matters,

(B) assigns cases,

(C) monitors and evaluates hearing officer performance,

(D) hears motions for hearing officer disqualification,

(E) hears prehearing motions when no hearing officer has been assigned,

(F) hears motions for protective orders under rule 3.2(e),

(G) hears motions prior to a matter being ordered to hearing, including while a grievance is being investigated,

(H) hears requests for amendment or formal complaints under rule 10.7(b),

(I) approves stipulations to discipline not involving suspension or disbarment when no hearing officer has been assigned,

(J) responds to hearing officer requests for information or advice related to their duties,

(K) supervises hearing officer training in accordance with established policies, and

(L) performs other duties as the chief hearing officer deems necessary for an efficient and effective hearing system.

**(gf) Case Assignment.** The chief hearing officer assigns hearing officers to cases from the list of hearing officers appointed by the ~~Board of Governors~~ Supreme Court. The chief hearing officer shall be given confidential notice of any grievances filed against any hearing officers, and the ultimate disposition of those grievances, and shall consider this information when making assignments.

**(h) Hearing Panel.** ~~If a hearing panel is assigned to hear a matter, the chief hearing officer appoints the panel. A panel consists of three persons, with at least one from the hearing officer list and at least one nonlawyer from the list maintained by the Board of Governors.~~

**(ig) Training.** ~~Hearing officers and hearing panel members must comply with training requirements established by the chief hearing officer.~~

**(h) Staff.** The Executive Director of the Association may appoint a suitable person or persons to assist the hearing officers and the chief hearing officer in carrying out their functions under these rules.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### RULE 2.6 HEARING OFFICER CONDUCT

~~**(a) "Hearing Officer" Includes Panel Members.** In this rule, the term "hearing officer" includes hearing panel members.~~

**(ba) Integrity of Hearing Officer System.** The integrity and fairness of the disciplinary system requires that hearing officers observe high standards of conduct. ~~To the extent applicable, the Code of Judicial Conduct should guide is useful guidance for hearing officers.~~ The following rules have been adapted from ~~Canon 2 and Canon 3~~ of the Code of Judicial Conduct ~~as particularly applicable to hearing officers,~~ and the words "should" and "shall" have the meanings ascribed to them in those rules.

**(eb) Hearing Officer's Duty to Avoid Impropriety and the Appearance of Impropriety.** Hearing officers should respect and comply with the law and act at all times in a manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the disciplinary system. Hearing officers should not allow family, social, or other relationships to influence their conduct or judgment. Hearing officers should not lend the prestige of the hearing officer position to advance the private interests of the hearing officer or others; nor should hearing officers convey or permit others to convey the impression that they are in a special position to influence them. Hearing officers should not be members of any organization practicing discrimination prohibited by law.

**(ec) Conduct of Those on Hearing Officer List.** A person on the hearing officer list should not:

(1) testify voluntarily as a character witness in a disciplinary proceeding;

(2) serve as an expert witness related to the professional conduct of lawyers in any proceeding; or

(3) serve as special disciplinary counsel, adjunct investigative counsel, or respondent's counsel.

**(ed) Performing Duties Impartially and Diligently.** When acting as a hearing officer, the following standards apply:

(1) *Adjudicative Responsibilities.*

(A) Hearing officers should be faithful to the law and maintain professional competence in it. Hearing officers should be unswayed by partisan interests, public clamor, or fear of criticism.

(B) Hearing officers should maintain order and decorum in proceedings before them.

(C) Hearing officers should be patient, dignified, and courteous to parties, witnesses, lawyers, and others with whom hearing officers deal in their official capacity, and should require similar conduct of lawyers, and of the staff, and others subject to their direction and control.

(D) Hearing officers should accord to every person who is legally interested in a proceeding, or that person's lawyer, full right to be heard according to law, and, except as authorized by law, neither initiate nor consider ex parte or other communications concerning a pending or impending proceeding. Hearing officers, however, may obtain the advice of a disinterested expert on the law applicable to a proceeding

before them, by amicus curiae only, if they afford the parties reasonable opportunity to respond.

(E) Hearing officers shall perform their duties without bias or prejudice.

(F) Hearing officers should dispose promptly of assigned matters.

(G) Hearing officers shall not, while a proceeding is pending or impending, make any public comment that might reasonably be expected to affect its outcome or impair its fairness or make any nonpublic comment that might substantially interfere with a fair hearing. The hearing officer shall require similar abstention on the part of personnel subject to the hearing officer's direction and control. This section does not prohibit hearing officers from making public statements in the course of their official duties or from explaining for public information the procedures of the discipline system.

*(2) Administrative Responsibilities.*

(A) Hearing officers should diligently discharge their administrative responsibilities.

(B) Hearing officers should require their staff and others subject to their direction and control to observe the standards of fidelity and diligence that apply to them.

*(3) Disciplinary Responsibilities.*

(A) Hearing officers having actual knowledge that another hearing officer has committed a violation of these rules should take appropriate action. Hearing officers having actual knowledge that another hearing officer has committed a violation of these rules that raises a substantial question as to the other hearing officer's fitness for office should take or initiate appropriate corrective action, which may include informing the appropriate authority.

(B) Hearing officers having actual knowledge that a lawyer has committed a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct or Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct should take appropriate action. Hearing officers having actual knowledge that a lawyer has committed a violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct or Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct that raises a substantial question as to the lawyer's fitness as a lawyer should take or initiate appropriate corrective action, which may include informing the appropriate authority.

*(4) Disqualification.*

(A) Hearing officers should disqualify themselves in a proceeding in which their impartiality might reasonably be questioned, including but not limited to instances in which:

(i) the hearing officer has a personal bias or prejudice concerning a party, or personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning the proceeding;

(ii) the hearing officer previously served as a lawyer or was a material witness in the matter in controversy, or a lawyer with whom the hearing officer previously practiced law served during such association as a lawyer concerning the matter, or such lawyer has been a material witness concerning it;

(iii) the hearing officer knows that, individually or as a fiduciary, the hearing officer or the hearing officer's spouse or member of the hearing officer's family residing in the hearing officer's household, has an economic interest in the subject matter in controversy or in a party to the proceeding, or is an officer, director or trustee of a party or has any other inter-

est that could be substantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding, unless there is a remittal of disqualification;

(iv) the hearing officer or the hearing officer's spouse or member of the hearing officer's family residing in the hearing officer's household, or the spouse of such a person:

(a) is a party to the proceeding, or an officer, director, or trustee of a party;

(b) is acting as a lawyer in the proceeding;

(c) is to the hearing officer's knowledge likely to be a material witness in the proceeding.

(B) Hearing officers should inform themselves about their personal and fiduciary economic interests, and make a reasonable effort to inform themselves about the personal economic interests of their spouse and minor children residing in their household.

*(5) Remittal of Disqualification.* A hearing officer disqualified by the terms of subsections (e)(4)(A)(iii) or (iv) may, instead of withdrawing from the proceeding, disclose on the record the basis of the disqualification. If, based on such disclosure, the parties and lawyers, independently of the hearing officer's participation, all agree in writing or on the record that the hearing officer's relationship is immaterial or that the hearing officer's economic interest is de minimis, the hearing officer is no longer disqualified and may participate in the proceeding. When a party is not immediately available, the hearing officer may proceed on the assurance of the lawyer that the party's consent will be subsequently given.

**(e) Restriction on Advising or Representing Respondents or Grievants.** Appointees to the hearing officer list are subject to the restrictions set forth in rule 2.14.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

## RULE 2.7 CONFLICTS REVIEW OFFICER

**(a) Function.** Conflicts Review Officers review grievances filed against disciplinary counsel and other lawyers employed by the Association, hearing officers, conflicts review officers and conflicts review officers pro tempore, ~~and~~ members of the Disciplinary Board, officers and members of the Board of Governors, and staff, attorneys, and judicial officers of the Supreme Court. Conflicts Review Officers also review grievances filed against persons who have been assigned cases as adjunct investigative or special disciplinary counsel, or appointed in disability matters pursuant to ELC 8.2 (c)(2), at the time the grievance is filed. A Conflicts Review Officer performs other functions as set forth in these rules.

*(1) Limitation of Authority.* The Conflicts Review Officer's duties are limited to performing the initial review of grievances covered by this Rule. A Conflicts Review Officer may obtain the respondent lawyer's response to the grievance, if he/she feels it necessary to do so, in his/her sole discretion. A Conflicts Review Officer may dismiss the grievance, defer the investigation, or assign the grievance to special disciplinary counsel for investigation.

*(2) Independence.* Conflicts Review Officers act independently of disciplinary counsel and the Association.

**(b) Appointment and Qualifications.**

(1) The Supreme Court, on the recommendation of the Board of Governors in consultation with the Disciplinary Selection Panel, shall appoint three active members of the Association as Conflicts Review Officers. Each Conflicts Review Officer is appointed for a three-year term on a staggered basis, and may be recommended for reappointment at the discretion of the Board of Governors. Applications shall be solicited from those eligible to serve, and submitted to the Board of Governors, in such manner as the Association deems most appropriate under the policies and procedures then in effect for recruitment and appointment of volunteers in the discipline system.

(2) When no Conflicts Review Officer is available to handle a matter due to conflict of interest or other good cause, the Supreme Court, on the recommendation of the Board of Governors, shall appoint a Conflicts Review Officer pro tempore for the matter.

(3) To be eligible for appointment as Conflicts Review Officer or Conflicts Review Officer pro tempore, a lawyer must have prior experience as a Disciplinary Board member, disciplinary counsel, or special disciplinary counsel. Conflicts Review Officers and Conflicts Review Officers pro tempore may have no other active role in the discipline system during the term of appointment.

(4)

**(c) Counsel and Clerk; Assignment of Cases.** The Association shall assign matters to the Conflicts Review Officers in such a manner as to balance their caseloads insofar as it is practicable to do so. The Executive Director of the Association may appoint a suitable person or persons to act as counsel and clerk to the Conflicts Review Officers, to assist them in carrying out their functions under these rules.

**(ed) Access to Disciplinary Information.** Conflicts Review Officers and Conflicts Review Officers pro tempore have access to any otherwise confidential disciplinary information necessary to perform the duties required by these rules. Conflicts Review Officers and Conflicts Review Officers pro tempore shall return original files to the Association promptly upon completion of the duties required by these rules and shall not retain copies.

**(de) Compensation and Expenses.** The Association reimburses Conflicts Review Officers and Conflicts Review Officers pro tempore for all necessary and reasonable expenses, and may provide compensation at a level established by the Board of Governors.

**(f) Restriction on Representing or Advising Respondents or Grievants.** Current Conflicts Review Officers are subject to the restrictions set forth in rule 2.14. Members serving as Conflicts Review Officer pro tempore are subject to the same restriction while serving in that capacity.

**RULE 2.8 DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL; SPECIAL DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL**

**(a) Function.** Disciplinary counsel acts as counsel on ~~the Association's behalf~~ on all matters under these rules, and performs other duties as required by these rules or the Chief Disciplinary Counsel, the Executive Director, or the Board of Governors.

**(b) Appointment.** The Executive Director of the Association, under the direction of the Board of Governors,

employs a suitable member ~~or members~~ of the Association as ~~disciplinary counsel~~ Chief Disciplinary Counsel, and in consultation with the Chief Disciplinary Counsel, selects and employs suitable members of the Association as disciplinary counsel, in a number to be determined by the Executive Director. Special disciplinary counsel may be appointed by the Executive Director whenever necessary to conduct an individual investigation or proceeding.

**RULE 2.9 ADJUNCT INVESTIGATIVE DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL**

**(a) Function.** Adjunct ~~investigative~~ disciplinary counsel performs the functions set forth in these rules as directed by disciplinary counsel.

**(b) Appointment and Term of Office.** The Board of Governors, ~~in consultation with~~ upon the recommendation of the Chief Disciplinary Counsel, appoints adjunct ~~investigative~~ disciplinary counsel from among the active members of the Association, who have been active or judicial Association members for at least seven years, and have no record of disciplinary misconduct, and are in good standing action as defined in these rules. ~~In appointing adjunct investigative counsel, the Board of Governors should consider diversity in gender, ethnicity, geography, and practice experience.~~ Each adjunct ~~investigative~~ disciplinary counsel is appointed for a five year term on a staggered basis and may be reappointed.

**(c) Restriction on Representation.** Adjunct disciplinary counsel are subject to the restrictions of rule 2.14.

**RULE 2.10 REMOVAL OF APPOINTEES**

The power granted by these rules to any person, committee, or board to make any appointment includes the power to remove the person appointed whenever that person appears unwilling or unable to perform his or her duties, or for any other cause, and to fill the resulting vacancy.

**RULE 2.11 COMPENSATION AND EXPENSES**

**(a) Compensation.** The Association compensates the chief hearing officer to the extent authorized by the Board of Governors. The Association may compensate hearing officers and ~~hearing panel members~~ special disciplinary counsel to the extent authorized by the Board of Governors. Board members and adjunct ~~investigative~~ disciplinary counsel receive no compensation for their services.

**(b) Expenses.** The Association pays expenses incurred by hearing officers, ~~hearing panel members~~ special disciplinary counsel, the chief hearing officer, Board members, and adjunct ~~investigative~~ disciplinary counsel in connection with their duties, subject to any limitation established by resolution of the Board of Governors.

**(c) Special Appointments.** The Association pays the fees for counsel appointed under rules 7.7, 8.2 (c)(2), or 8.3 (d)(3) and costs or expenses reasonably incurred by these counsel.

**RULE 2.12 COMMUNICATIONS TO THE ASSOCIATION PRIVILEGED**

Communications to the Association, Board of Governors, Disciplinary Board, review committee, hearing officer ~~or panel~~, disciplinary counsel, adjunct investigative counsel, Association staff, or any other individual acting under authority of these rules, are absolutely privileged, and no lawsuit

predicated thereon may be instituted against any grievant, witness, or other person providing information.

#### RULE 2.13 RESPONDENT LAWYER

**(a) Right to Representation.** A lawyer may be represented by counsel during any stage of an investigation or proceeding under these rules.

~~**(b) Restrictions on Representation of Respondent.** A former Association president, a former Board of Governors member, or a former Disciplinary Board member cannot represent a respondent lawyer in any proceeding under these rules until three years after leaving office. Service as an Adjunct Review Committee Member or as a Member Pro Tempore of the Board does not invoke this rule.~~

**(eb) Restriction on Charging Fee To Respond to Grievance.** A respondent lawyer may not seek to charge a grievant a fee or recover costs from a grievant for responding to a grievance unless otherwise permitted by these rules.

**(ec) Medical and Psychological Records.** A respondent must furnish written releases or authorizations to permit disciplinary counsel access to medical, psychiatric, or psychological records as may be relevant to the investigation or proceeding, subject to a motion to the chief hearing officer, or the hearing officer if one has been appointed, to limit the scope of the requested releases or authorizations for good cause shown.

#### RULE 2.14 RESTRICTIONS ON REPRESENTING OR ADVISING RESPONDENTS OR GRIEVANTS

**(a) Current Officeholders.** Association officers and Executive Director, Board of Governors members, Disciplinary Board members, and hearing officers, while serving in that capacity, cannot knowingly advise or represent individuals regarding pending or likely disciplinary grievances or proceedings, other than advising a person of the availability of grievance procedures.

**(b) Former Officeholders.** After leaving office, Association officers and Executive Director, Board of Governors members, Disciplinary Board members, and hearing officers cannot represent individuals in pending disciplinary grievances or proceedings until three years have expired after departure from office.

**(c) Other Volunteers.** Conflicts Review Officers, Conflicts Review Officers pro tempore, adjunct disciplinary counsel, adjunct review committee members and members pro tempore of the Board are subject to the restrictions on advising and representing individuals set forth in this rule only while serving in that capacity.

**(d) Appointed Disability Counsel.** The prohibition in subsection (b) of this rule on representing individuals after leaving office does not prevent a lawyer from serving as appointed counsel under rule 8.3 (d)(3).

#### TITLE 3 - ACCESS AND NOTICE

##### RULE 3.1 OPEN MEETINGS AND PUBLIC DISCIPLINARY INFORMATION

**(a) Open Meetings.** Disciplinary hearings and meetings of the Board are public. Except as otherwise provided in these rules, Supreme Court proceedings are public to the same extent as other Supreme Court proceedings. Deliberations of a hearing officer ~~or panel~~, board, review committee,

or court, and matters made confidential by a protective order, or by other provisions of these rules, are not public.

**(b) Public Disciplinary Information.** The public has access to the following information subject to these rules:

(1) the record before a review committee and the order of the review committee in any matter that a review committee has ordered to hearing ~~or ordered an admonition be issued;~~

(2) the record upon distribution to a review committee or to the Supreme Court in proceedings based on a conviction of a felony ~~or serious crime~~, as defined in rule 7.1(a);

(3) the record upon distribution to a review committee or to the Supreme Court in proceedings under rule 7.2;

(4) a statement of concern to the extent provided under rule 3.4(f);

(5) the record and order upon approval of a stipulation ~~for discipline~~ imposing a sanction or ~~admonition~~ issuing a warning letter in a matter previously ordered to hearing, and the order approving a stipulation to dismissal of a matter previously made public under these rules;

(6) the record before a hearing officer ~~or panel~~;

(7) the record and order before the Board in any matter reviewed under rule 10.9 or title 11;

(8) the bar file and any exhibits and any Board or review committee order in (i) any matter that the Board or a review committee has ordered to public hearing, or that is deemed ordered to hearing under rule 13.5 (a)(2), or (ii) any matter in which disciplinary action has been taken, (iii) any matter previously ordered to hearing in which a warning letter has been issued, or (iv) any proceeding under rules 7.1-7.6;

(9) in any disciplinary matter referred to the Supreme Court, the file, record, briefs, and argument in the case;

(10) a lawyer's resignation in lieu of ~~disbarment~~ discipline under rule 9.3; ~~and~~

(11) any sanction ~~or admonition~~ imposed on a respondent; ~~and~~

(12) a stipulation to dismissal upon institution of proceedings for failure to comply with the terms of the stipulation.

**(c) Regulations.** Public access to file materials and proceedings permitted by this rule may be subject to reasonable regulation as to time, place, and manner of access. Certified copies of public bar file documents will be made available at the same rate as certified copies of superior court records. Uncertified copies of public bar file documents will be made available at a rate to be set by the Executive Director of the Association.

##### RULE 3.2 CONFIDENTIAL DISCIPLINARY INFORMATION

**(a) Scope of Confidentiality.** All disciplinary ~~materials~~ information that ~~are~~ is not public information as defined in rule 3.1(b) ~~are~~ is confidential, and ~~are~~ is held by the Association under the authority of the Supreme Court, including but not limited to materials submitted to a review committee under rule 8.9 or information protected by rule 3.3(b), rule 5.4(b), rule 5.1 (c)(3), a protective order under rule 3.2(e), rule 3.2(b), court order, or other applicable law (e.g., medical records, police reports, etc.).

**(b) Restriction on Release of Client Information.** Notwithstanding any other provision of this title, no information identified or known to the Association to constitute cli-

ent information that a lawyer would be required to keep confidential under RPC 1.6 may be released under rule 3.4(c) - (i) unless the client consents, including implied consent under rule 5.1(b).

**(c) Investigative Confidentiality.** During the course of an investigation or proceeding, the Chief Disciplinary Counsel may direct that otherwise public information be kept confidential if necessary to further the purposes of the investigation. At the conclusion of the proceeding, those materials become public information unless subject to a protective order.

**(d) Discipline Under Prior Rules.** Discipline imposed under prior rules of this state that was confidential when imposed remains confidential. A record of confidential discipline may be kept confidential during proceedings under these rules, or in connection with a stipulation under rule 9.1, through a protective order under section (e).

**(e) Protective Orders.**

(1) Authorization. To protect a compelling interest of a grievant, witness, third party, respondent lawyer, the Association, or other participant in an investigation any matter under these rules, on motion and for good cause shown, the Board Chair, the chair of a review committee to which a matter is assigned, or a hearing officer to whom a matter is assigned, may issue a protective order may be entered prohibiting the disclosure or release of any participant in the disciplinary process from disclosing or releasing specific information, documents, or pleadings obtained in the course of any matter under these rules, and direct that the proceedings be conducted so as to implement the order.

(2) Pending Relief. Upon filing a motion for a protective order stays the provision of this title as to any matter sought to be kept confidential until five days after a ruling is served on the parties. any participant in the disciplinary matter may move for a temporary protective order prohibiting any participant in the disciplinary matter who has actual notice of the motion for temporary protective order from taking any action which would violate the requested protective order if granted. A motion for temporary protective order may only be granted upon notice and an opportunity to be heard to all affected participants in the matter unless the participant seeking the order demonstrates that immediate and irreparable harm will result to the applicant before the affected participants can be heard in opposition and the participant seeking the order certifies the efforts, if any, which have been made to give notice and the reasons supporting the claim that notice should not be required. Any temporary protective order granted without notice must set forth the irreparable harm warranting issuance of the order without notice. Any temporary protective order expires upon the filing of a decision regarding the requested protective order, or thirty days following issuance of the temporary protective order, whichever is sooner. Upon two day's notice to the party who obtained a temporary protective order, any participant in the matter may move for the dissolution or modification of a temporary protective order, which motion must be heard as expeditiously as the ends of justice require.

(3) Entry. A protective order under this rule may be entered by the following:

(A) A hearing officer when a matter is pending before that hearing officer;

(B) The Chair when a matter is pending before the Board;

(C) The chair of a review committee when the matter is pending before a review committee; or

(D) The chief hearing officer when not otherwise authorized above.

(4) Service. The Clerk serves copies of decisions and protective orders entered under this rule on all affected participants in the disciplinary process.

(5) Review. The Board reviews decisions granting or denying a protective order if either the respondent lawyer or disciplinary counsel requests any party subject to the decision seeks relief from the decision by requesting a review within five days of service of the decision. The Clerk serves a copy of the request for review on all parties to the disciplinary matter. The Board considers the review under such procedure as it determines, but must allow comment from any person or party affected by the decision under review. Any participant in the disciplinary matter who has actual notice of the request for review is prohibited from taking any action which would violate the relief requested by the party seeking review if granted. On review, the Board may affirm, reverse, or modify the protective order. The Board's decision is not subject to further review. A request for review by the Board stays the provisions of this title as to any matter sought to be kept confidential in that request, and the request itself is confidential until a ruling is issued.

(6) Relief from Protective Order. Any person may apply to the authority that issued a protective order for specific relief from the order upon good cause shown, provided that notice and an opportunity to respond to the requested relief must be afforded any person affected by the order.

**(f) Wrongful Disclosure or Release.** Disclosure or release of information made confidential by these rules, except as permitted by rule 3.4(a) or otherwise by these rules, by any person involved with an investigation or proceeding, either as the Association's officer or agent (including, but not limited to, its staff, members of the Board of Governors, the Disciplinary Board, a review committee, hearing panels, hearing officers, disciplinary counsel, adjunct investigative counsel, a lawyer appointed under rule 7.7, or any other individual acting under authority of these rules) of any information about a pending or completed investigation or proceeding, except as permitted by these rules, may subject that a person to an action for contempt of the Supreme Court. If the person is a lawyer, wrongful disclosure or release may also be grounds for discipline.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**RULE 3.3 APPLICATION TO STIPULATIONS, DISABILITY PROCEEDINGS, CUSTODIANSHIPS, AND DIVERSION CONTRACTS**

**(a) Application to Stipulations.** A stipulation under rule 9.1 providing for imposition of a disciplinary sanction or admonition is confidential until approved, except that a grievant may be advised concerning a stipulation and its proposed



or actual content at any time. An approved stipulation is public, unless:

- (1) it is approved before the filing of a formal complaint;
- (2) it provides for dismissal of a grievance without a disciplinary sanction or admonition; and
- (3) proceedings have not been instituted for failure to comply with the terms of the stipulation.

**(b) Application to Disability Proceedings.** Disability proceedings under title 8 or rule 9.2 are confidential. However, the following are public information: the fact that a lawyer has been transferred to disability inactive status, the fact that a lawyer has been reinstated to active status from disability inactive status, and the fact that a disciplinary proceeding is stayed pending supplemental proceedings under title 8. A grievant may be advised that a lawyer against whom the grievant has complained is subject to disability proceedings. The following information is public:

- (1) that a lawyer has been transferred to disability inactive status, or has been reinstated to active status; and
- (2) that a disciplinary proceeding is deferred pending supplemental proceedings under title 8.

**(c) Custodianships.** The fact that a custodian has been appointed under rule 7.7, together with the custodian's name and contact information and orders appointing and discharging such custodians, are public information and the notices required by rule 3.5(d) will be given. Client files and records under the control of such custodians will be held confidential absent authorization to release from the client.

**(ed) Diversion Contracts.** Diversion contracts and supporting affidavits and declarations under rules 6.5 and 6.6 are confidential, despite rule 3.1(b)(1), unless admitted into evidence in a disciplinary proceeding; however, a diversion affidavit made under rule 6.6 is public following a final termination of the diversion contract for material breach. When a matter that has previously become public under rule 3.1(b) is diverted by a diversion contract, that contract and the supporting documents are confidential but the fact that the matter was diverted from discipline is public information and a notice of diversion will be placed in the public file. Upon the conclusion of the diversion, whether by successful completion of diversion and dismissal of the grievance, or by breach of the diversion contract, a notice of that result will be placed in the public file.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### RULE 3.4 RELEASE OR DISCLOSURE OF OTHERWISE CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

**(a) Disclosure of Information.** Except as provided in prohibited by rule 3.2(e), court order, or other law, the grievant, respondent lawyer, or any witness may disclose the existence of proceedings under these rules or any documents or correspondence the person received any information in their possession regarding a disciplinary matter.

**(b) Investigative Disclosure.** The Association may disclose otherwise confidential information as necessary to conduct the investigation, recruit counsel, or to keep a grievant advised of the status of a matter except as prohibited by rule

3.3(b), 5.4(b); or 5.1 (c)(3), a protective order under rule 3.2(e), other court order, or other applicable law.

**(c) Release Based upon Lawyer's Waiver.** Upon a written waiver by a lawyer, except as prohibited by rule 3.2(e), the Association may release the status of otherwise confidential disciplinary or disability proceedings and provide copies of nonpublic otherwise confidential information to:

- (1) the Washington State Bar Association Committee of Law Examiners, the Washington State Bar Association Character and Fitness Committee, the National Conference of Bar Examiners, or the comparable body in other jurisdictions to evaluate the character and fitness of an applicant for admission to the practice of law in that jurisdiction;
- (2) the Washington State Bar Association Judicial Recommendation Committee, or the comparable body in other jurisdictions, to evaluate the character and fitness of a candidate for judicial office;
- (3) the Governor of the State of Washington, or of any other state, or his or her delegate, to evaluate the character and fitness of a potential nominee to judicial office; and
- (4) any other agency that a lawyer authorizes to investigate the lawyer's disciplinary record. Any person or entity authorized by the lawyer to receive the information.

**(d) Response to Inquiry or False or Misleading Statement.**

(1) Subject to Except as prohibited by rule 3.2(e), the President, the Board of Governors, the Executive Director, or Chief Disciplinary Counsel, or a designee of any either of them, may release otherwise confidential information:

- (A) to respond to specific inquiries about matters that are in the public domain; or
- (B) if necessary to correct a false or misleading public statement.

(2) A respondent must be given notice of a decision to release information under this section unless the Executive Director or the Chief Disciplinary Counsel finds that notice would jeopardize serious interests of any person or the public or compromise an ongoing investigation.

(3) A decision regarding release of information is final and is not subject to further review.

**(e) Discretionary Release.** The Executive Director or the Chief Disciplinary Counsel may authorize the general or limited release of any confidential information obtained during an investigation when it appears necessary to protect the interests of clients or other persons, the public, or the integrity of the disciplinary process, except as prohibited by rule 3.2(e). A respondent must be given notice of a decision to release information under this section before its release unless the Executive Director or the Chief Disciplinary Counsel finds that notice would jeopardize serious interests of any person or the public, or that the delay caused by giving the respondent notice would be detrimental to the integrity of the disciplinary process. A decision regarding release of information is final and is not subject to further review.

**(f) Statement of Concern.**

(1) *Authority.* The Chief Disciplinary Counsel has discretion to file a statement of concern with the Clerk when deemed necessary to protect members of the public from a substantial threat, based on information from a pending

investigation into a lawyer's apparent ongoing serious misconduct not otherwise made public by these rules. The statement may not disclose information protected by rule 3.2(e).

(2) *Procedure.*

(A) On or before the date it is filed, a copy of the statement of concern must be served under rule 4.1 on the lawyer about whom the statement of concern has been made. The statement of concern is not public information until 14 days after service.

(B) The lawyer may at any time appeal to the Chair to have the statement of concern withdrawn.

(C) If an appeal to the Chair is filed with the Clerk under rule 4.2(a) within 14 days of service of the statement of concern, the statement of concern is not public information unless the Chair so orders and becomes public information upon issuance of the Chair's order.

(D) The Chair's decision is not subject to further review.

(E) The Chief Disciplinary Counsel may withdraw a statement of concern at any time.

**(g) Release to Judicial Officers.** Any state or federal judicial officer may be advised of the status of a confidential disciplinary grievance about a lawyer appearing before the judicial officer in a representational capacity and, except as prohibited by rule 3.2(e), may be provided with requested confidential information if the grievance is relevant to the lawyer's conduct in a matter before that judicial officer. The judicial officer must maintain the confidentiality of the matter.

**(h) Cooperation with ~~Criminal Law Enforcement~~ and Disciplinary Authorities.** Except as ~~provided in prohibited~~ by rule 3.2(e), information or testimony may be released to authorities in any jurisdiction authorized to investigate alleged criminal or unlawful activity, ~~or~~ judicial or lawyer misconduct, or disability.

**(i) Release to Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection.** Information ~~obtained in an investigation and about~~ relating to applications pending before the Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection Board may, except as prohibited by rule 3.2(e), be released to the ~~Fund~~ LFCP Board. The ~~Fund~~ LFCP Board must treat such information as confidential unless the Executive Director or the Chief Disciplinary Counsel authorizes release.

**(j) ~~Conflicts Review Officer~~ Other Counsel.** Conflicts review officers, special disciplinary counsel, adjunct disciplinary counsel, Association counsel, counsel for a petitioner under rule 8.9(d), counsel appointed under rule 8.10, and any lawyer representing the Association in any matter have access to any otherwise confidential disciplinary information necessary to perform their duties.

**(k) Chief Hearing Officer and Disciplinary Selection Panel.** The chief hearing officer and the Disciplinary Selection Panel shall have access to any otherwise confidential disciplinary information necessary to perform their duties. The chief hearing officer shall be given notice when any grievance is filed against a hearing officer and of the disposition of that grievance. Confidential information provided under the terms of this rule shall not be further disseminated except as may be otherwise allowed under these rules.

**(~~l~~) Release to Board of Governors Access or Officers.** ~~In furtherance of its supervisory function, and not in~~

~~derogation of the foregoing,~~ The Chief Disciplinary Counsel may authorize release of otherwise confidential information to the Board of Governors or officers of the Association as necessary to carry out their duties under these rules, except as prohibited by rule 3.2(e), ~~has access to all confidential disciplinary information but the Board of Governors or officers of the Association must maintain its confidentiality.~~

**(~~fm~~) Release to Practice of Law Board.** Information obtained in an investigation relating to possible unauthorized practice of law may, except as prohibited by rule 3.2(e), be released to the Practice of Law Board. ~~Such information shall remain under the control of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel and~~ The Practice of Law Board must treat it as maintain the confidentiality of the information unless this title or the Executive Director or the Chief Disciplinary Counsel authorizes release.

**RULE 3.5. NOTICE OF DISCIPLINE DISCIPLINARY ACTION, INTERIM SUSPENSION, OR TRANSFER TO DISABILITY INACTIVE STATUS**

**(a) Notice to Supreme Court.** The counsel to the Board must provide the Supreme Court with:

(1) a copy of any decision imposing a disciplinary sanction when that decision becomes final;

(2) ~~a copy of any admonition, together with the order issuing the admonition, when the admonition is accepted or otherwise becomes final~~ a copy of any transfer to disability inactive status; and

(3) a copy of any resignation in lieu of ~~disbarment~~ discipline.

**(b) Other Notices.** The counsel to the Board must also notify the following entities of the imposition of a disciplinary sanction ~~or admonition,~~ a transfer to disability inactive status, a resignation in lieu of ~~disbarment~~ discipline, or the filing of a statement of concern under rule 3.4(f) as follows, in such form as may appear appropriate:

(1) the lawyer discipline authority or highest court in any jurisdiction where the lawyer is believed to be admitted to practice;

(2) the chief judge of each federal district court in Washington State and the chief judge of the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit; and

(3) the National ~~Discipline Data Bank~~ Lawyer Regulatory Data Bank; and

(4) ~~the Washington State Bar News.~~

**(c) ~~Preparation of Bar News~~ Official Publication and Website Notice.**

**(1) Preparation and content.** Notice of the imposition of any disciplinary sanction, resignation in lieu of discipline, interim suspension, or transfer to disability inactive status, or the filing of a statement of concern under rule 3.4(f) must be published in the Washington State Bar News or other official publication of the Washington State Bar Association and on any electronic or other index or site maintained by the Association for public information. The Association counsel to the Board has discretion in drafting notices for publication in the Washington State Bar News or other official publication of the Washington State Bar Association and on the Website, and should include sufficient information to adequately inform the public and the members of the Association about the misconduct found, the rules violated and the disciplinary

action imposed. For a transfer to disability inactive status, reference will be made to the disability inactive status, but no reference will be made to the specific disability. For an interim suspension, the basis of the interim suspension will be stated. All notices under this subsection should include the respondent lawyer's name, bar number, date of admission, the time frame of the misconduct, the rules violated, and the disciplinary action. ~~The Association counsel to the Board~~ must serve a copy of the draft notice under this subsection on respondent and disciplinary counsel under rule 4.1 and review any comments filed with ~~the Association counsel to the Board~~ within five days of service, but ~~Association counsel's to the Board's~~ decision about the content of the notice is not subject to further review.

**(2) Finality.** Except as specified in section (c)(3), discipline notices published in the Bar News or other official publication of the Washington State Bar Association and posted on the WSBA website are final and may not be modified following publication.

**(3) Modification.** A respondent lawyer who is the subject of a discipline notice may file a written request with Association counsel seeking modification of a discipline notice posted on the WSBA website. A notice may be modified only in the following circumstances:

(A) a criminal conviction, court judgment, or order relating directly to the disciplinary action imposed and referenced in the discipline notice has been subsequently expunged, vacated, or otherwise conclusively nullified;

(B) the expungement, vacation, or nullification occurred after the notice was published;

(C) there are no ongoing or pending proceedings relating to the conviction, judgment or order; and

(D) the fact of the expungement, vacation, or nullification is undisputed and can be conclusively established without any investigation.

The respondent seeking modification bears the burden of establishing each of the above factors. If Association counsel determines each factor has been established, a supplemental note may be added regarding the expungement, vacation, or nullification, but the original discipline notice must otherwise remain unchanged. The supplemental note is not published in Bar News or other official publication of the Washington State Bar Association. The decision whether or not to add a supplemental note, and the content of a supplemental note, is solely within the discretion of Association counsel and is not subject to review.

**(d) Notices to News Media of Suspension, Disbarment, Resignation in Lieu of ~~Disbarment Discipline, Interim Suspension, or Disability Inactive Status.~~** The Association must publish a In addition to the notices published under sections (b) and (c) of this rule, notice in such form as may be appropriate of the disbarment, suspension, resignation in lieu of ~~disbarment discipline, interim suspension, or transfer to disability inactive status of a lawyer in the Washington State Bar News and electronic or other index or site maintained by the Association for public information. The Association must provide copies of these notices must be provided~~ to the news media in a manner designed to notify the public in the county or region where the lawyer has maintained a practice. For a transfer to disability inactive status,

reference will be made to the disability inactive status, but no reference may be made to the specific disability. For an interim suspension, the basis of the interim suspension will be stated.

**(e) Notice to Judges.** The Association must promptly notify the presiding judge of the superior court of the county in which the lawyer maintained a practice of the lawyer's disbarment, suspension, resignation in lieu of ~~disbarment discipline, interim suspension,~~ or transfer to disability inactive status, and may similarly notify the presiding judge of any district court located in the county where the lawyer practiced, or the judge of any other court in which the lawyer may have practiced or is known to have practiced.

#### RULE 3.6 MAINTENANCE OF RECORDS

**(a) Permanent Records.** In any matter in which a disciplinary sanction has been imposed or the lawyer has resigned in lieu of discipline under rule 9.3, the bar file and transcripts of the proceeding are permanent records. Related file materials, including investigative files may be maintained in disciplinary counsel's discretion. Exhibits may be returned to the party supplying them, but copies should be retained where possible.

**(b) Destruction of Files.** In any matter in which a grievance or investigation has been dismissed without the imposition of a disciplinary sanction, whether following a hearing or otherwise, file materials relating to the matter may be destroyed three years after the dismissal first occurred, and must be destroyed at that time on the respondent lawyer's request unless the files are being used in an ongoing investigation or unless other good cause exists for retention. However, file materials on a matter ~~concluded with an admonition must be retained at least five years after the admonition was issued~~ dismissed after a diversion must be retained at least ten years after the dismissal. If disciplinary counsel opposes a request by a respondent for destruction of files under this rule, the Board rules on that request.

**(c) Retention of Docket.** If a file on a matter has been destroyed under section (b), the Association may retain a docket record of the matter for statistical purposes only. That docket record must not include the name or other identification of the respondent.

**(d) Deceased Lawyers.** Records and files relating to a deceased lawyer, including permanent records, may be destroyed at any time in disciplinary counsel's discretion.

#### TITLE 4 - GENERAL PROCEDURAL RULES

##### RULE 4.1 SERVICE OF PAPERS

**(a) Service Required.** Every pleading, every paper relating to discovery, every written request or motion other than one which may be heard ex parte, and every similar paper or document issued by disciplinary counsel or the respondent lawyer under these rules must be served on the opposing party. If a hearing is pending and a hearing officer has been assigned, except for discovery, the party also must serve a copy on the hearing officer ~~or panel chair or, if required by these rules, on each member of a hearing panel.~~

**(b) Methods of Service.**

(1) *Service by Mail.*

(A) Unless personal service is required or these rules specifically provide otherwise, service may be accomplished by postage prepaid mail. If properly made, service by mail is deemed accomplished on the date of mailing and is effective regardless of whether the person to whom it is addressed actually receives it.

~~(B) Except as provided below, service by mail must be by first class mail or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. Service may be by first class mail if:~~

~~(i) the parties so agree;~~  
~~(ii) the document is a notice of dismissal by disciplinary counsel or by a review committee under rule 5.6, a notice regarding deferral under rule 5.3(e), or a request for review of any of these notices;~~

~~(iii) one or more properly made certified mailings is returned as unclaimed; or~~

~~(iv) service is on a hearing officer or panel.~~

(C) The address for service by mail is as follows:

(i) for the respondent, or his or her attorney of record, the address in the answer, a notice of appearance, or any subsequent document filed by the respondent or his or her attorney; or, in the absence of an answer, the respondent's address on file with the Association;

(ii) for disciplinary counsel, at the address of the Association or other address that disciplinary counsel requests;

(iii) for a hearing officer assigned to a matter, at the address of the hearing officer set forth on the notice of assignment of the hearing officer, or such other address as the hearing officer directs; and

(iv) for the chief hearing officer, the Chair, the Board, a review committee, Association counsel, or any other person or entity acting under the authority of these rules, addressed to that person or entity in care of the Clerk at the address of the Association.

(2) *Service by Delivery.* If service by mail is permitted, service may instead be accomplished by leaving the document at the address for service by mail.

(3) *Personal Service.* Personal service on a respondent is accomplished as follows:

(A) if the respondent is found in Washington State, by personal service in the manner required for personal service of a summons in a civil action in the superior court;

(B) if the respondent cannot be found in Washington State, service may be made either by:

(i) leaving a copy at the respondent's place of usual abode in Washington State with a person of suitable age and discretion then resident therein; or

(ii) mailing by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, a copy addressed to the respondent at his or her last known place of abode, office address maintained for the practice of law, post office address, or address on file with the Association, or to the respondent's resident agent whose name and address are on file with the Association under APR 5(f).

(C) if the respondent is found outside of Washington State, then by the methods of service described in (A) or (B) above.

**(c) Service Where Question of Mental Competence.** If the Superior Court has appointed a guardian or guardian ad litem has been appointed for a respondent who has been judi-

~~cially declared to be of unsound mind or incapable of conducting his or her own affairs, service under sections (a) and (b) above must also be made on the guardian or guardian ad litem.~~

**(d) Proof of Service.** If personal service is required, proof of service may be made by affidavit of service, sheriff's return of service, or a signed acknowledgment of service. In other cases, proof of service may also be made by certificate of a lawyer similar to that allowed by CR 5 (b)(2)(B), which certificate must state the form of mail used. Proof of service in all cases must be filed but need not be served on the opposing party.

#### RULE 4.2 FILING; ORDERS

**(a) Filing Originals.** Except in matters before the Supreme Court, the original of any pleading, motion, or other paper authorized by these rules, other than discovery, must be filed with the Clerk. Filing may be made by first class mail and is deemed accomplished on the date of mailing. Filing of papers for matters before the Supreme Court is governed by the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

**(b) Filing and Service of Orders.** Any written order, decision, or ruling, except an order of the Supreme Court or an informal ruling issued under rule 10.8(ef), must be filed with the Clerk, and the Clerk serves it on the respondent lawyer and disciplinary counsel.

**(c) Electronic Filing.** Filing of documents with the Clerk under subsections (a) and (b) of this rule may be accomplished by e-mail or by facsimile, provided that a document so filed with the Clerk after 5:00 p.m. or on weekends or legal holidays shall be deemed to have been filed on the next business day. A paper original of documents filed under this subsection (c) should thereafter be filed as well.

#### RULE 4.3 PAPERS

All pleadings or other papers must be typewritten or printed, double spaced, on good quality 8 1/2 by 11-inch paper. The use of letter size copies of exhibits is encouraged if it does not impair legibility.

#### RULE 4.4 COMPUTATION OF TIME

CR 6 (a) and (e) govern the computation of time under these rules.

#### RULE 4.5 STIPULATION TO EXTENSION OR REDUCTION OF TIME

Except for notices of appeal or matters pending before the Supreme Court, the respondent lawyer and disciplinary counsel may stipulate in any proceeding to extension or reduction of the time requirements.

#### RULE 4.6 SUBPOENA UNDER THE LAW OF ANOTHER JURISDICTION

Disciplinary counsel, the chief hearing officer, or the Chair may issue a subpoena for use in lawyer discipline or disability proceedings in another jurisdiction if the issuance of the subpoena has been authorized under the law of that jurisdiction and upon a showing of good cause. The subpoena may compel the attendance of witnesses and production of documents in the county where the witness resides or is employed or elsewhere as agreed by the witness. These

rules apply to service, enforcement, and challenges to subpoenas issued under this rule.

#### **RULE 4.7 ENFORCEMENT OF SUBPOENAS**

**(a) Authority.** To enforce subpoenas issued under these rules, the Supreme Court delegates contempt authority to the Superior Courts as necessary for the Superior Courts to act under this rule.

#### **(b) Procedure.**

(1) If a person fails to obey a subpoena, or obeys the subpoena but refuses to testify or produce documents when requested, disciplinary counsel, the respondent lawyer or the person issuing the subpoena may petition the Superior Court of the county where the hearing is being conducted, where the subpoenaed person resides or is found, or where the subpoenaed documents are located, for enforcement of the subpoena. The petition must:

(A) be accompanied by a copy of the subpoena and proof of service;

(B) state the specific manner of the lack of compliance; and

(C) request an order compelling compliance.

(2) Upon the filing of the petition, the Superior Court enters an order directing the person to appear before it at a specified time and place to show cause why the person has not obeyed the subpoena or has refused to testify or produce documents. A copy of the Superior Court's show cause order must be served on the person.

(3) At the show cause hearing, if it appears to the Superior Court that the subpoena was properly issued, and that the particular questions the person refused to answer or the requests for production of documents were reasonable and relevant, the Superior Court enters an order requiring the person to appear at a specified time and place and testify or produce the required documents. On failing to obey this order, the person is dealt with as for contempt of court.

#### **RULE 4.8 DECLARATIONS IN LIEU OF AFFIDAVITS**

Whenever an affidavit is required by these rules, a declaration in the form authorized by GR 13 may be used.

#### **RULE 4.9 SERVICE AND FILING BY AN INMATE CONFINED IN AN INSTITUTION**

Service and filing of papers under these rules by an inmate confined in an institution will conform to the requirements of GR 3.1.

#### **RULE 4.10 REDACTION OR OMISSION OF CONFIDENTIAL IDENTIFIERS**

In all matters filed with a review committee, a hearing officer or the chief hearing officer, the clerk, the Board, or the Supreme Court, both disciplinary counsel and respondents must redact or omit from all exhibits, documents, and pleadings all personal identifiers as are required to be redacted or omitted by the General Rules applicable to the Superior Court, including GR 15, 22, and 31. When it is not feasible to redact or omit a personal identifier, the filing party must seek a protective order under rule 3.2(e) to have the document filed under seal.

### **TITLE 5 - GRIEVANCE INVESTIGATIONS AND DISPOSITION**

#### **RULE 5.1 GRIEVANTS**

**(a) Filing of Grievance.** Any person or entity may file a grievance against a lawyer ~~admitted to practice law in this state, or against a lawyer specially admitted by a court of this state for a particular case~~ who is subject to the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction.

#### **(b) Consent to Disclosure.**

(1) ~~Subject to paragraph (2), by filing a grievance, the grievant consents to disclosure of the content of the grievance to the respondent lawyer, or to any other person contacted during the investigation of the grievance, or all information submitted. This includes disclosure to the respondent lawyer or to any person under rules 3.1-3.4, unless,~~

(2) Disclosure may be specifically restricted, such as:

(A) when a protective order is issued under rule 3.2(e);

or

(B) when the grievance was filed under rule 5.2; or

(C) when necessary to protect a compelling privacy or safety interest of a grievant or other individual.

(3) By filing a grievance, the grievant also agrees that the respondent or any other lawyer contacted by the grievant may disclose to disciplinary counsel any information relevant to the investigation, unless a protective order is issued under rule 3.2(e).

(4) Consent to disclosure under this rule by submitting information to disciplinary counsel does not constitute a waiver of any privilege or restriction against disclosure in any other forum.

**(c) Grievant Rights.** A grievant has the following rights:

(1) to be advised promptly of the receipt of the grievance, and of the name, address, and office phone number of the person assigned to its investigation if such an assignment is made;

(2) to have a reasonable opportunity to ~~spea~~ communicate with the person assigned to the grievance, by telephone, ~~or~~ in person, or in writing, about the substance of the grievance or its status;

(3) to receive a copy of any response submitted by the respondent, ~~except~~ subject to the following:

(A) Withholding Response. Disciplinary counsel may withhold all or a portion of the response from the grievant when:

(i) if the response refers to a client's confidences or secrets information protected by RPC 1.6 or RPC 1.9 to which the grievant is not privy; or

~~(B) if~~

(ii) the response contains information of a personal and private nature about the respondent or others; or

(iii)(C) if a review committee determines that the interests of justice would be better served by not releasing the response.

(B) Challenge to Disclosure Decision. Either the grievant or the respondent may file a challenge to disciplinary counsel's decision to withhold or not withhold all or a portion of a grievance or response within 20 days of the date of mailing of the decision. The challenge shall be resolved by a review committee, unless the matter has previously been dismissed under rule 5.6.

(4) to submit additional supplemental written information or documentation at any time;

(5) to attend any hearing conducted into the grievance, subject to these rules and any protective order issued under rule 3.2(e), except that if the grievant is also a witness, the hearing officer may order the grievant excluded during the testimony of any other witness whose testimony might affect the grievant's testimony;

(6) to provide relevant testimony at any hearing conducted into the grievance, subject to these rules and any protective order issued under rule 3.2(e);

(7) to be notified of any proposed decision to refer the respondent to diversion and to be given a reasonable opportunity to submit to disciplinary counsel a written comment thereon;

(8) to be advised of the disposition of the grievance; and

(9) to request reconsideration of a dismissal of the grievance as provided in rule 5.67(b).

**(d) Duties.** A grievant ~~must~~ should do the following, ~~or the grievance may be dismissed:~~

(1) give the person assigned to the grievance documents or other evidence in his or her possession, and witnesses' names and addresses;

(2) assist in securing relevant evidence; and

(3) appear and testify at any hearing resulting from the grievance.

**(e) Vexatious grievants.**

(1) The Chair of the Disciplinary Board may enter an order declaring an individual or entity a vexatious grievant and restraining that individual from filing grievances or pursuing other rights under this rule, pursuant to the procedures set out in this subsection. A "vexatious grievant" is a person or entity who has engaged in a frivolous or harassing course of conduct that so departs from a reasonable standard of conduct as to render the grievant's conduct abusive to the disciplinary system or participants in the disciplinary system.

(2) Either disciplinary counsel or a lawyer who has been the subject of a grievance may file a motion to declare the grievant vexatious.

(3) The motion must set forth with particularity (A) the facts establishing that the grievant's conduct is vexatious and (B) the restrictions on the grievant's conduct that are sought.

(4) The moving party must serve a copy of the motion on the grievant. If the motion is filed by a respondent lawyer, the motion must also be served on disciplinary counsel. Service may be made by first class mail.

(5) The grievant, disciplinary counsel, and the respondent lawyer shall have 20 days to file a written response.

(6) If the Chair finds that the person is a vexatious grievant, the Chair shall enter an order setting out with particularity (A) the factual basis for such finding, (B) the restrictions imposed on the grievant's conduct, and (C) the basis for imposing such restrictions. The restrictions must be no broader than necessary to prevent the harassment and abuse found.

(7) The moving party, the grievant, and disciplinary counsel may seek review of the Chair's order by a petition for discretionary review under rule 12.4. No other appeal of the order shall be allowed.

(8) The fact that a person or entity has been determined to be a vexatious grievant and the scope of any restrictions imposed shall be public information. All other proceedings and documents related to a motion under this subsection are confidential.

**RULE 5.2 CONFIDENTIAL SOURCES**

If a person files a grievance or provides information to disciplinary counsel ~~or the Association~~ about a lawyer's possible misconduct or disability, and asks to be treated as a confidential source, an investigation may be conducted in the ~~Association's name~~ of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel. The confidential source has neither the rights nor the duties of a grievant. Unless otherwise ordered, the person's identity may not be disclosed, either during the investigation or in subsequent formal proceedings. If the respondent lawyer requests disclosure of the person's identity, the Chair, the chair of a review committee, or a hearing officer before whom a matter is pending examines disciplinary counsel and any requested documents or file materials in camera without the presence of the respondent or respondent's counsel and may order disciplinary counsel to reveal the identity to the respondent if doing so appears necessary for the respondent to conduct a proper defense in the proceeding.

**RULE 5.3 INVESTIGATION OF GRIEVANCE**

**(a) Review and Investigation.** Disciplinary counsel must review and may investigate any alleged or apparent misconduct by a lawyer and any alleged or apparent incapacity of a lawyer to practice law, whether disciplinary counsel learns of the misconduct by grievance or otherwise. If there is no grievant, ~~the Association~~ disciplinary counsel may open a grievance in the ~~Association's name~~ of the Office of Disciplinary Counsel.

**(b) Preliminary Request for Response.** Following review of a matter under section (a), disciplinary counsel may request a preliminary written response from a respondent lawyer. If a request for information (1) requests only the respondent lawyer's preliminary written response, and (2) neither includes any other request for specific information nor requests that the respondent lawyer furnish or permit inspection of specific records, files, and accounts, the request is not subject to objection under section (i).

**(bc) Adjunct Investigative Disciplinary Counsel.** Disciplinary counsel may assign a case to adjunct ~~investigative~~ disciplinary counsel for investigation. Disciplinary counsel assists in those investigations and monitors the performance of adjunct ~~investigative~~ disciplinary counsel. On receiving a report of an investigation by an adjunct ~~investigative~~ disciplinary counsel, disciplinary counsel may, as appears appropriate, request or conduct additional investigation or take any action under these rules.

**(ed) Deferral by Disciplinary Counsel.**

(1) Disciplinary counsel may defer an investigation into alleged acts of misconduct by a lawyer:

(A) if it appears that the allegations are related to pending civil or criminal litigation;

(B) if it appears that the respondent lawyer is physically or mentally unable to respond to the investigation;

(C) if a hearing has been ordered under Rule 8.2(a) or supplemental proceedings have been ordered under rule 8.3(a); or

(D) for other good cause, if it appears that the deferral will not endanger the public.

(2) Disciplinary counsel must inform the grievant and respondent of a decision to defer or a denial of a request to defer and of the procedure for requesting review. A grievant or respondent may request review of a decision on deferral. If review is requested, disciplinary counsel refers the matter to a review committee for reconsideration of the decision on deferral. To request review, the grievant or respondent must deliver or deposit in the mail a request for review to the Association no later than 45 days after the Association mails the notice regarding deferral.

**(d) Dismissal of Grievance Not Required.** None of the following alone requires dismissal of a grievance: the unwillingness of a grievant to continue the grievance, the withdrawal of the grievance, a compromise between the grievant and the respondent, or restitution by the respondent.

**(e) Duty To Furnish Prompt Response.** Any lawyer must promptly respond to any inquiry or request made under these rules for information relevant to grievances or matters under investigation.

**(g) Investigative Inquiries.** Upon inquiry or request, any lawyer must:

(1) furnish in writing, or orally if requested, a full and complete response to inquiries and questions;

(2) permit inspection and copying of the lawyer's business records, files, and accounts;

(3) furnish copies of requested records, files, and accounts;

(4) furnish written releases or authorizations if needed to obtain documents or information from third parties; and

(5) comply with ~~discovery conducted~~ investigatory subpoenas under rule 5.5.

**(h) Failure To Cooperate.**

(1) *Noncooperation Deposition.* If a lawyer has not complied with any request made under ~~section (e) this rule~~ or rule 2.13(d) for more than 30 days, disciplinary counsel may notify the lawyer that failure to comply within ten days may result in the lawyer's deposition or subject the lawyer to interim suspension under rule 7.2. Ten days after this notice, disciplinary counsel may serve the lawyer with a subpoena for a deposition. Any deposition conducted after the ten-day period and necessitated by the lawyer's continued failure to cooperate may be conducted at any place in Washington State.

(2) *Costs and Expenses.*

(A) Regardless of the underlying grievance's ultimate disposition, a lawyer who has been served with a subpoena under this rule is liable for the actual costs of the deposition, including but not limited to service fees, court reporter fees, travel expenses, and the cost of transcribing the deposition, if ordered by disciplinary counsel. In addition, a lawyer who has been served with a subpoena for a deposition under this rule is liable for a reasonable attorney fee of \$500.

(B) The procedure for assessing costs and expenses is as follows:

(i) Disciplinary counsel applies to a review committee by itemizing the cost and expenses and stating the reasons for the deposition.

(ii) The lawyer has ten days to respond to disciplinary counsel's application.

(iii) The review committee by order assesses appropriate costs and expenses.

(iv) Rule 13.9(f) governs Board review of the review committee order.

(3) *Grounds for Discipline.* A lawyer's failure to cooperate fully and promptly with an investigation as required by ~~section (e) this rule~~ or rule 2.13(d) is also grounds for discipline.

**(i) Objections.** A lawyer who receives an investigative inquiry under section (g) of this rule may object as provided in rule 5.6.

**RULE 5.4 PRIVILEGES**

**(a) Privilege Against Self-Incrimination.** A lawyer's duty to cooperate is subject to the lawyer's privilege against self-incrimination, where applicable.

**(b) Attorney-Client Privilege.**

(1) Assertion In Response to Investigative Inquiries. In response to an investigative inquiry made under rule 5.3(g) or an investigatory subpoena under ELC 5.5, unless a lawyer makes an objection under rule 5.6, a lawyer may not assert the attorney-client privilege or other prohibitions on revealing client confidences or secrets information relating to the representation of a client as a basis for refusing to provide information during the course of an investigation, but information obtained during an investigation involving client confidences or secrets must be kept confidential to the extent possible under these rules unless the client otherwise consents.

(2) Duties of Disciplinary Counsel. Disciplinary counsel receives, reviews and holds attorney-client privileged and other confidential client information under and in furtherance of the Supreme Court's authority to regulate the practice of law. Disclosure of information to disciplinary counsel is not prohibited by RPC 1.6 or RPC 1.9, and such disclosure does not waive any attorney-client privilege. If the lawyer identifies the specific information that is privileged or confidential and requests that it be treated as confidential, the Association must, absent authorization under rule 5.6, maintain the confidentiality of information provided by a lawyer in response to an inquiry or request under these rules.

(3) Non-Disclosure. No information identified as confidential under this rule may be disclosed or released under Title 3 of these rules unless the client or former client consents, which includes consent under rule 5.1(b). Nothing in these rules waives or requires waiver of any lawyer's own privilege or other protection as a client against the disclosure of confidences or secrets.

**RULE 5.5 ~~DISCOVERY BEFORE FORMAL COMPLAINT~~ INVESTIGATORY SUBPOENAS**

**(a) Procedure.** Before filing a formal complaint, disciplinary counsel may depose either a respondent lawyer or a witness, or issue requests for admission to the respondent issue a subpoena for a deposition or to obtain documents without a deposition. To the extent possible, CR 30 or 31

applies to depositions under this rule, however the respondent need not be given notice of a subpoena. CR 36 governs requests for admission.

**(b) Subpoenas for Depositions.** Disciplinary counsel may issue subpoenas to compel the respondent's or a witness's attendance, and/or the production of books, documents, or other evidence, at a deposition or without a deposition. CR 45 governs subpoenas under this rule, but the notice required by CR 45 (b)(2) need not be given. Subpoenas ~~must be served as in civil cases in the superior court and~~ may be enforced under rule 4.7.

**(c) Challenges.** Challenges by non-lawyers to subpoenas under this rule may be made to the chief hearing officer, who may issue a protective order under rule 3.2(e).

**(ed) Cooperation.** Every lawyer must promptly respond to subpoenas ~~discovery and~~ requests and inquiries from disciplinary counsel, subject to the provisions of rule 5.3 and rule 5.4.

**(e) Objections By Lawyers.**

(1) To protect confidential client information, or for other good cause shown, a respondent lawyer may object under rule 5.6 to an investigative subpoena issued pursuant to this rule.

(2) A timely objection suspends any duty to respond as to the subpoena until a ruling has been made.

**RULE 5.6 REVIEW OF OBJECTIONS TO INQUIRIES AND MOTIONS TO DISCLOSE**

**(a) Review Authorized.** The chief hearing officer, or a hearing officer designated by the chief hearing officer, may hear the following matters:

(1) When a lawyer has objected under rule 5.3(i) to an investigative inquiry;

(2) When a lawyer has objected under rule 5.5(e) to an investigatory subpoena; and

(3) When disciplinary counsel seeks authorization under rule 5.4(b) to disclose confidential information.

**(b) Procedure.**

(1) An objection must clearly and specifically set out the challenged inquiry or request and the basis for the objection.

(2) A motion to authorize use in an investigation of confidential information must clearly state the information which has been identified as confidential and the investigatory use for which disciplinary counsel seeks authorization.

(3) When deemed necessary by the chief or other hearing officer considering the matter, that hearing officer may conduct an in camera review of confidential client information.

(4) In considering an objection under this rule, the chief or other hearing officer should consider factors including:

(A) the relevance and necessity of the information to the investigation;

(B) whether the information requested by the inquiry is likely to lead to information relevant to the investigation;

(C) the availability of the information from other sources;

(D) the sensitivity of the information and potential impact on the client, including the client's right to effective assistance of counsel;

(E) the expressed desires of the client;

(F) whether the objection was made before the due date of the request or inquiry; and

(G) whether the burden of producing the requested information outweighs the likely utility of the information to the investigation.

(5) In considering a motion to authorize disciplinary counsel to disclose information identified as confidential client information under this rule, the chief or other hearing officer should consider factors including:

(A) the relevance and necessity of the disclosure of the information to the investigation;

(B) whether the investigative disclosure is likely to lead to information relevant to the investigation;

(C) the sensitivity of the information and potential impact on the client of the investigative disclosure, including the client's right to effective assistance of counsel;

(D) the expressed desires of the client; and

(E) whether the above factors outweigh the likely utility of the information to the investigation.

**(c) Ruling.** In ruling on an objection, the chief or other hearing officer may deny the objection, or sustain the objection in whole or in part, and may establish terms or conditions under which specific information may be withheld, provided, maintained, or used. In ruling on a motion to authorize disclosure, the chief or other hearing officer may grant or deny the motion in whole or in part, and may establish terms or conditions for the investigative use of specific information. When appropriate, a ruling may take the form of, or may accompany a protective order under rule 3.2(e).

**(d) Review.** Any ruling by the chief or other hearing officer under this rule shall be subject to review as an interim ruling under rule 10.9.

**RULE 5.67 DISPOSITION OF GRIEVANCE**

**(a) Dismissal by Disciplinary Counsel.** Disciplinary counsel may dismiss grievances with or without investigation. On dismissal, disciplinary counsel must notify the grievant of the procedure for review in this rule.

**(b) Review of Dismissal.** A grievant may request review of dismissal of the grievance by delivering or depositing in the mail a request for review to ~~the Association disciplinary counsel~~ no later than 45 days after ~~the Association disciplinary counsel~~ mails the notice of dismissal. Mailing requires postage prepaid first class mail. If review is requested, disciplinary counsel may either reopen the matter for investigation or refer it to a review committee. If no timely request for review is made, the dismissal is final and may not be reviewed. Disputes regarding timeliness may be submitted to a review committee. A grievant may withdraw in writing a request for review, but thereafter the request may not be revived.

**(c) Report in Other Cases.** Disciplinary counsel must report to a review committee the results of investigations except those dismissed or diverted. The report may include a recommendation that the committee order a hearing or issue a warning letter.

**(d) Authority on Review.** In reviewing grievances under this rule, a review committee may:

(1) dismiss the grievance;

(2) affirm the dismissal;

(3) dismiss the grievance and issue ~~an advisory letter a~~ warning letter under rule 5.78;



- ~~(3) issue an admonition under rule 13.5;~~
- (4) order a hearing on the alleged misconduct; or
- (5) order further investigation as may appear appropriate.

**(e) Ordering Hearing without Recommendation from Disciplinary Counsel.** When the review committee decides to order a matter to hearing, and such action has not been recommended by disciplinary counsel, the committee shall issue notice of its intended action and state the reasons therefor. The matter shall be set for reconsideration by a review committee. The grievant, the respondent lawyer, and disciplinary counsel may submit additional materials. On reconsideration, the committee may take any action authorized by subsection (d) of this rule.

**(f) Action Final.** Except as provided in subsection (e), a review committee's action under this rule is final and not subject to further review.

#### **RULE 5.78. ADVISORY WARNING LETTER**

**(a) Grounds.** An advisory letter ~~A warning letter~~ may be issued when ~~a hearing does not appear warranted;~~

(1) a respondent lawyer's conduct constitutes a violation, but does not warrant a sanction, but it appears appropriate to caution a respondent lawyer concerning his or her conduct; or

(2) a respondent lawyer's conduct does not constitute a violation but the lawyer should be cautioned.

**(b) Issuance.** An advisory letter ~~A warning letter~~ may be issued by a review committee ~~but may not be issued when a grievance is dismissed following a hearing or at any stage of a disciplinary proceeding.~~

**(c) Effect.** An advisory letter ~~does not constitute a finding of misconduct;~~ ~~A warning letter~~ is not a sanction; ~~and~~ is not disciplinary action; ~~and is not public information.~~

**(d) Public Nature of Information.** A warning letter is public information only if issued after a matter has been ordered to hearing.

**(e) Use in Subsequent Proceedings.** In any subsequent disciplinary proceeding, a warning letter may be used as evidence for the sole purpose of showing that the lawyer was cautioned concerning the conduct described in the letter. If a warning letter is admitted into evidence at a public proceeding, it shall become part of the public record.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

## **TITLE 6 — DIVERSION**

### **RULE 6.1 REFERRAL TO DIVERSION**

In a matter involving less serious misconduct as defined in rule 6.2, ~~before filing a formal complaint within 60 days of service of a formal complaint,~~ disciplinary counsel may refer a respondent lawyer to diversion. Diversion may include

- fee arbitration;
- arbitration;
- mediation;
- law office management assistance;
- lawyer assistance programs;
- psychological and behavioral counseling;
- monitoring;

- restitution;
- continuing legal education programs; or
- any other program or corrective course of action agreed to by disciplinary counsel and respondent to address respondent's misconduct.

Disciplinary counsel may negotiate and execute diversion contracts, monitor and determine compliance with the terms of diversion contracts, and determine fulfillment or any material breach of diversion contracts, subject to review under rule 6.9.

### **RULE 6.2 LESS SERIOUS MISCONDUCT**

Less serious misconduct is conduct not warranting a sanction restricting the respondent lawyer's license to practice law. Conduct is not ordinarily considered less serious misconduct if any of the following considerations apply:

(A) the misconduct involves the misappropriation of funds;

(B) the misconduct results in or is likely to result in substantial prejudice to a client or other person, absent adequate provisions for restitution;

(C) the respondent has been sanctioned in the last three years;

(D) the misconduct is of the same nature as misconduct for which the respondent has been sanctioned or admonished in the last five years;

(E) the misconduct involves dishonesty, deceit, fraud, or misrepresentation;

(F) the misconduct constitutes a "serious crime felony" as defined in rule 7.1(a); or

(G) the misconduct is part of a pattern of similar misconduct.

### **RULE 6.3 FACTORS FOR DIVERSION**

Disciplinary counsel considers the following factors in determining whether to refer a respondent lawyer to diversion:

(A) whether the presumptive sanction under the ABA Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions for the violations raised by the grievance or grievances is likely to be no more severe than reprimand or admonition;

(B) whether participation in diversion is likely to improve the respondent's future professional conduct and accomplish the goals of lawyer discipline;

(C) whether aggravating or mitigating factors exist; and

(D) whether diversion was already tried.

### **RULE 6.4 NOTICE TO GRIEVANT**

As provided in rule 5.1 (c)(7), disciplinary counsel must notify the grievant, if any, of the proposed decision to refer the respondent lawyer to diversion, and must give the grievant a reasonable opportunity to submit written comments. The grievant must be notified when the grievance is diverted and when the grievance is dismissed on completion of diversion. Such decisions to divert or dismiss are not appealable.

### **RULE 6.5 DIVERSION CONTRACT**

**(a) Negotiation.** Disciplinary counsel and the respondent lawyer negotiate a diversion contract, the terms of which are tailored to the individual circumstances.

**(b) Required Terms.** A diversion contract must:

(1) be signed by the respondent and disciplinary counsel;

(2) set forth the terms and conditions of the plan for the respondent and, if appropriate, identify the use of a practice monitor and/or a recovery monitor and the monitor's responsibilities. If a recovery monitor is assigned, the contract must include respondent's limited waiver of confidentiality permitting the recovery monitor to make appropriate disclosures to fulfill the monitor's duties under the contract;

(3) include a statement in substantially the following form: "This diversion contract is a compromise and settlement of one or more disputes. Except as specifically authorized by the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct, it is not admissible in any court, administrative, or other proceedings. It may not be used as a basis for establishing liability to any person who is not a party to this contract.";

(4) provide for oversight of fulfillment of the contract terms. Oversight includes reporting any alleged breach of the contract to disciplinary counsel;

(5) provide that the respondent will pay all costs incurred in connection with the contract. The contract may also provide that the respondent will pay the costs associated with the grievances to be deferred; and

(6) include a specific acknowledgment that a material violation of a term of the contract renders the respondent's participation in diversion voidable by disciplinary counsel.

**(c) Limitations.** A diversion contract does not create any enforceable rights, duties, or liabilities in any person not a party to the diversion contract or create any such rights, duties or liabilities outside of those stated in the diversion contract or provided by Title 6 of these rules.

**(ed) Amendment.** The contract may be amended on agreement of the respondent and disciplinary counsel.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### RULE 6.6 AFFIDAVIT SUPPORTING DIVERSION

A diversion contract must be supported by the respondent lawyer's affidavit or declaration as approved by disciplinary counsel setting forth the respondent's misconduct related to the grievance or grievances to be deferred under this title. If the diversion contract is terminated due to a material breach, the affidavit or declaration is admissible into evidence in any ensuing disciplinary proceeding. Unless so admitted, the affidavit or declaration is confidential and must not be provided to the grievant or any other individual outside the Office of Disciplinary Counsel, but may be provided to a review committee or the Board considering the grievance.

#### RULE 6.7 EFFECT OF NON-PARTICIPATION IN DIVERSION

The respondent lawyer has the right to decline disciplinary counsel's offer to participate in diversion. If the respondent chooses not to participate, the matter proceeds as though no referral to diversion had been made.

#### RULE 6.8 STATUS OF GRIEVANCE

After a diversion contract is executed by the respondent lawyer and disciplinary counsel, the disciplinary grievance is deferred pending successful completion of the contract.

#### RULE 6.9 TERMINATION OF DIVERSION

**(a) Fulfillment of the Contract Termination.** ~~The contract terminates when the respondent lawyer has fulfilled the terms of the contract and gives~~ Respondent may provide disciplinary counsel an affidavit or declaration demonstrating fulfillment of the terms of the contract. Upon receipt of ~~this~~ such an affidavit or declaration, or upon expiration of the diversion period, disciplinary counsel ~~must acknowledge receipt and either may take any of the following actions:~~

(1) Upon disciplinary counsel's determination that the contract has been completed, dismiss any grievances that were deferred pending ~~successful~~ the completion of the diversion contract or notifies the respondent that fulfillment of the contract is disputed. ~~The grievant cannot appeal the dismissal. Successful completion of the contract is a bar to any further disciplinary proceedings based on the same allegations.~~

(2) Amend the diversion contract under rule 6.5(d).

(3) Declare a material breach of the diversion contract under the provisions of subsection (b) of this rule.

**(b) Material Breach.** A material breach of the contract is cause for termination of the diversion. After a material breach, disciplinary counsel must notify the respondent of termination from diversion and disciplinary proceedings may be instituted, resumed, or reinstated.

**(c) Review by the Chair.** The Chair may review disputes about fulfillment or material breach of the terms of the contract on the request of the respondent or disciplinary counsel. The request must be filed with the Board within 15 days of notice to the respondent of the determination for which review is sought. Determinations by the Chair under this section are not subject to further review and are not reviewable in any proceeding.

**(d) Effect of Completion.** The grievant cannot appeal a dismissal under this rule. Completion of the diversion is a bar to any further disciplinary proceedings based on the same allegations.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### TITLE 7 - INTERIM PROCEDURES

##### RULE 7.1 INTERIM SUSPENSION FOR CONVICTION OF A CRIME

###### (a) Definitions.

(1) "Conviction" for the purposes of this rule occurs upon entry of a plea of guilty, unless the defendant affirmatively shows that the plea was not accepted or was withdrawn, or upon entry of a finding or verdict of guilty, unless the defendant affirmatively shows that judgment was arrested or a new trial granted.

(2) "Serious crime" includes any:

(A) felony;

(B) ~~crime a necessary element of which, as determined by its statutory or common law definition, includes any of the following:~~

- ▲ ~~interference with the administration of justice;~~
- ▲ ~~false swearing;~~
- ▲ ~~misrepresentation;~~

- fraud;
- deceit;
- bribery;
- extortion;
- misappropriation; or
- theft; or

(C) attempt, or a conspiracy, or solicitation of another, to commit a "serious crime". "Felony" includes any crime denominated as a felony in the jurisdiction in which it is committed.

**(b) Court Clerk To Advise Association Reporting of Conviction.** When a lawyer is convicted of a crime felony, the clerk of the court must advise the Association of the conviction, and on request provide the Association with certified copies of any order or other document showing the conviction lawyer must report the conviction to disciplinary counsel within 30 days of the conviction as defined by this rule.

**(c) Disciplinary Procedure upon Conviction.**

(1) If a lawyer is convicted of a felony, disciplinary counsel must file a formal complaint regarding the conviction. Disciplinary counsel must also petition the Supreme Court for an order suspending the respondent lawyer during the pendency of disciplinary proceedings. The petition for suspension may be filed before the formal complaint.

(2) If a lawyer is convicted of a crime that is not a felony, disciplinary counsel may refer the matter to a review committee to determine whether the crime is a serious crime. If so, disciplinary counsel proceeds in the same manner as for a felony.

(3) If a lawyer is convicted of a crime that is ~~neither not~~ a felony ~~nor a serious crime~~, the review committee may considers a report of the conviction in the same manner as any other report of possible misconduct by a lawyer.

**(d) Petition.** A petition to the Supreme Court for suspension under this rule must include a copy of any available document establishing the fact of conviction. ~~If the crime is not a felony, the petition must also include a copy of the review committee order finding that the crime is a serious crime.~~ Disciplinary counsel may also include additional facts, statements, arguments, affidavits, and documents in the petition. A copy of the petition must be personally served on the respondent, and proof of service filed with the Court.

**(e) Immediate Interim Suspension.** Upon the filing of a petition for suspension under this rule, ~~the Court determines whether the crime constitutes a serious crime as defined in section (a).~~

(1) ~~If the crime is a felony, the Court must enter an order immediately suspending the respondent from the practice of law.~~

(2) ~~If the crime is not a felony, the Court conducts a show cause proceeding under rule 7.2(b) to determine if the crime is a serious crime. If the Court determines the crime is a serious crime, the Court must enter an order immediately suspending the respondent from the practice of law. If the Court determines that the crime is not a serious crime, upon being so advised, the Association processes the matter as it would any other grievance.~~

(3) ~~If Upon suspension,~~ the respondent must comply with title 14.

(43) Suspension under this rule occurs:

(A) whether the conviction was under a law of this state, any other state, or the United States;

(B) whether the conviction was after a plea of guilty, nolo contendere, not guilty, or otherwise; and

(C) regardless of the pendency of an appeal.

(4) On or before the date established for the entry of the order of interim suspension the respondent may assert to the Court any jurisdictional deficiency that establishes that the suspension may not properly be ordered, such as that the crime did not constitute a felony or that the respondent is not the individual convicted.

**(f) Duration of Suspension.** A suspension under this rule must terminate when the disciplinary proceeding is fully completed, after appeal or otherwise. A copy of the final decision, stipulation or order terminating the disciplinary proceeding will be provided to the Court.

**(g) Termination of Suspension.**

(1) *Petition and Response.* A respondent may at any time petition the ~~Board~~ Court to ~~recommend~~ termination of an interim suspension. Disciplinary counsel may file a response to the petition. ~~The Chair may direct disciplinary counsel to investigate as appears appropriate.~~

(2) *Board Recommendation.* ~~If either party requests, the Board must hear oral argument on the petition at a time and place and under terms as the Chair directs. The Board may recommend termination of a suspension only if the Board makes an affirmative finding of good cause to do so. There is no right of appeal from a Board decision declining to recommend termination of a suspension.~~

(3) *Court Action.* The Court determines the procedure for its consideration of a ~~recommendation~~ petition to terminate a suspension.

**(h) Notice of Dismissal to Supreme Court.** ~~If disciplinary counsel has filed a petition for suspension under this rule, and the disciplinary proceedings based on the criminal conviction are dismissed, the Supreme Court must be provided a copy of the decision granting dismissal whether or not the respondent is suspended at the time of dismissal.~~

**RULE 7.2 INTERIM SUSPENSION IN OTHER CIRCUMSTANCES**

**(a) Types of Interim Suspension.**

(1) ~~Review Committee Finding of Risk to Public.~~ Disciplinary counsel may petition the Supreme Court for an order suspending the respondent lawyer during the pendency of any proceeding under these rules if:

(A) it appears that a respondent's continued practice of law poses a substantial threat of serious harm to the public and a review committee recommends an interim suspension; ~~and~~ or

(B) a review committee ~~recommends an interim suspension.~~ orders a hearing on the capacity of a lawyer to practice law under rule 8.2 (d)(1); or

(C) when a hearing officer or the chief hearing officer orders supplemental proceedings on a respondent lawyer's capacity to defend a disciplinary proceeding under rule 8.3.

(2) *Board Recommendation for Disbarment.* When the Board enters a decision recommending disbarment, disciplinary counsel must file a petition for the respondent's suspension during the remainder of the proceedings. The respon-

dent must be suspended absent an affirmative showing that the respondent's continued practice of law will not be detrimental to the integrity and standing of the bar and the administration of justice, or be contrary to the public interest. If the Board's decision is not appealed and becomes final, the petition need not be filed, or if filed may be withdrawn.

(3) *Failure To Cooperate with Investigation.* When any lawyer fails without good cause to comply with a request under rule 5.3(~~fg~~) for information or documents, or with a subpoena issued under rule 5.3(~~fh~~), or fails to comply with disability proceedings as specified in rule 8.2(d), disciplinary counsel may petition the Court for an order suspending the lawyer pending compliance with the request or subpoena. A petition may not be filed if the request or subpoena is the subject of a timely objection under rule 5.5(e) and the hearing officer has not yet ruled on that objection. If ~~the a~~ lawyer has been suspended for failure to cooperate and thereafter complies with the request or subpoena, the lawyer may petition the Court to terminate the suspension on terms the Court deems appropriate.

**(b) Procedure.**

(1) *Petition.* A petition to the Court under this rule must set forth the acts of the lawyer constituting grounds for suspension, and if filed under subsection (a)(2) must include a copy of the Board's decision. The petition may be supported by documents or affidavits. The Association must serve the petition by mail on the day of filing. In addition, a copy of the petition must be personally served on the lawyer no later than the date of service of the show cause order.

(2) *Show Cause Order.* Upon filing of the petition, the Chief Justice orders the lawyer to appear before the Court on a date set by the Chief Justice, and to show cause why the petition for suspension should not be granted. Disciplinary counsel must have a copy of the order to show cause personally served on the lawyer at least ten days before the scheduled show cause hearing. Subsection (b)(5) notification requirements must be included in the show cause order.

(3) *Answer to Petition.* The lawyer may answer the petition. An answer may be supported by documents or affidavits. Failure to answer does not result in default or waive the right to appear at the show cause hearing.

(4) *Filing of Answer.* A copy of any answer must be filed with both the Court and disciplinary counsel by the date specified in the show cause order, which will be at least five days before the scheduled show cause hearing.

(5) *Notification.* The lawyer must inform the court no less than 7 days prior to the show cause hearing, or the hearing will be stricken and the Court will decide the matter without oral argument.

(6) *Application of Other Rules.* If the Court enters an order suspending the lawyer, the rules relating to suspended lawyers, including title 14, apply.

**RULE 7.3 AUTOMATIC SUSPENSION WHEN RESPONDENT ASSERTING INCAPACITY**

When a respondent lawyer asserts incapacity to conduct a proper defense to disciplinary proceedings, upon receipt of appropriate documentation of the assertion, the respondent must be suspended on an interim basis by the Supreme Court pending the conclusion of the disability proceedings. However, if the hearing officer in the supplemental proceeding

files a decision that the respondent is not incapacitated, on petition of either party, the Court may terminate the interim suspension.

**RULE 7.4 STIPULATION TO INTERIM SUSPENSION**

At any time a respondent lawyer and disciplinary counsel may stipulate that the respondent be suspended during the pendency of any investigation or proceeding because of conviction of a serious crime, a substantial threat of serious harm to the public, or incapacity to practice law. A stipulation must state the factual basis for the stipulation and be submitted directly to the Supreme Court for expedited consideration. When the stipulation is based on the lawyer's mental incapacity to practice law, the lawyer must be represented by counsel, and if counsel does not otherwise appear, the Association will appoint counsel. Stipulations under this rule are public upon filing with the Court, but the Court may order that supporting materials are confidential. Either party may petition the Court to terminate the interim suspension, and on a showing that the cause for the interim suspension no longer exists, the Court may terminate the suspension.

**RULE 7.5 INTERIM SUSPENSIONS EXPEDITED**

**(a) Expedited Review.** Petitions seeking interim suspension under this title receive an expedited hearing, ordinarily no later than 14 days from issuance of an order to show cause.

**(b) Procedure During Court Recess.** When a petition seeking interim suspension under this title is filed during a recess of the Supreme Court, the Chief Justice, the Acting Chief Justice, or the senior Justice under SAR 10, subject to review by the full Court on motion for reconsideration, may rule on the motion for interim suspension.

**RULE 7.6 EFFECTIVE DATE OF INTERIM SUSPENSIONS**

Interim suspensions become effective on the date of the Supreme Court's order unless the order provides otherwise.

**RULE 7.7 APPOINTMENT OF CUSTODIAN TO PROTECT CLIENTS' INTERESTS**

**(a) Custodians Allowed.** The Chair, on motion by disciplinary counsel or any other interested person, may appoint one or more lawyers or Association counsel as a custodian to act as counsel for the limited purpose of protecting clients' interests. A custodian may be appointed whenever a lawyer (1) has been transferred to disability inactive status, suspended, or disbarred, and fails to carry out the obligations of title 14 or fails to protect the clients' interests, or ~~whenever a lawyer~~ (2) disappears or dies, abandons practice, or is otherwise incapable of meeting the lawyer's obligations to clients. A custodian should not be appointed if unless a partner, personal representative, or other responsible person appears to be properly protecting the clients' interests. The Chair may enter orders to carry out the provisions and purposes of this rule.

**(b) Duties.** The custodian takes possession of the necessary files and records and takes action as seems indicated to protect the clients' interests or required by the Chair's orders or these rules. Such action may include but is not limited to assuming control of trust accounts or other financial affairs. Any bank or other person honoring the authority of the custodian is exonerated from any resulting liability. In determin-

ing ownership of funds in the trust account, including by subrogation or indemnification, the custodian should act as a reasonably prudent lawyer maintaining a client trust account. The custodian may rely on a certification of ownership issued by a person who conducts audits for the Association under rule 15.1. If the client trust account does not contain sufficient funds to meet known client balances, the custodian may disburse funds on a pro rata basis.

**(c) Discharge.** On motion by disciplinary counsel or any interested person, the Chair may discharge the custodian from further duties. The Chair may also order destruction of files and records as appropriate.

**(d) Fees and Costs.** Payment of any fees and costs incurred by the Association under this rule may be a condition of reinstatement of a disbarred or suspended lawyer or a lawyer transferred to disability inactive status, ~~or may be~~ ordered as restitution in a disciplinary proceeding for failure to comply with rule 14.1, or claimed against the estate of a deceased or adjudicated incapacitated lawyer.

**(e) Records.** The Bar Association maintains record of the custodianship permanently. The custodian maintains files and papers obtained as custodian until otherwise ordered by the Chair.

#### TITLE 8 - DISABILITY PROCEEDINGS

##### RULE 8.1 ACTION ON ADJUDICATION OF INCOMPETENCY OR INCAPACITY

**(a) Grounds.** The Association must automatically transfer a lawyer from active to disability inactive membership status upon receipt of a certified copy of the judgment, order, or other appropriate document demonstrating that the lawyer:

(1) was found to be incapable of assisting in his or her own defense in a criminal action;

(2) was acquitted of a crime based on insanity;

(3) had a guardian (but not a limited guardian) appointed for his or her person or estate on a judicial finding of incompetency incapacity;

(4) was involuntarily committed to a mental health facility for more than 14 days under Ch. 71.05 RCW; or

(45) was found to be mentally incapable of conducting the practice of law in any other jurisdiction.

**(b) Notice to Lawyer.** The Association must forthwith notify the disabled lawyer and his or her guardian or guardian ad litem, if ~~one has been appointed any~~, of the transfer to disability inactive status. The Association must also notify the Supreme Court of the transfer and provide a copy of the judgment, order, or other appropriate document on which the transfer was based.

##### RULE 8.2 DETERMINATION OF INCAPACITY TO PRACTICE LAW

**(a) Review Committee May Order Hearing.** Disciplinary counsel reports to a review committee on investigations into an active, suspended, or inactive respondent lawyer's mental or physical capacity to practice law. Subject to rule 5.2, the respondent lawyer and his or her guardian or guardian ad litem, if any, shall be provided with a complete copy of disciplinary counsel's report and shall be afforded a reasonable opportunity to respond prior to the review committee taking action on the report. The committee orders a hearing if it appears there is reasonable cause to believe that

the respondent does not have the mental or physical capacity to practice law. In other cases, the committee may direct further investigation as appears appropriate or dismiss the matter.

**(b) Not Disciplinary Proceedings.** Proceedings under this rule are not disciplinary proceedings.

##### **(c) Procedure.**

(1) Applicable Rules and Case Caption. Proceedings under this rule are conducted under the procedural rules for disciplinary proceedings except that the respondent lawyer's initials are to be used in the case caption rather than the lawyer's full name.

(2) Appointment of Counsel. If counsel for the respondent does not appear within the time for filing an answer, the Chair must appoint an active member of the Association as counsel for the respondent under rule 8.10.

(3) Health Records. After a review committee orders a hearing under this rule, disciplinary counsel may require the respondent to furnish written releases and authorizations for medical, psychological, or psychiatric records as may be relevant to the inquiry, subject to a motion to the hearing officer, or if no hearing officer has been appointed, to the chief hearing officer, to limit the scope of the requested releases or authorizations for good cause.

(4) Examination. Upon motion, the hearing officer, or if no hearing officer has been appointed, the chief hearing officer, may order an examination by a physician of the respondent's physical condition or by a mental health professional (as defined by RCW 71.05.020) of the respondent's mental condition to assist in determining the respondent's capacity to practice law. Unless waived by the parties, the examiner must submit a report of the examination, including the results of any tests administered and any diagnosis, to the hearing officer, disciplinary counsel, and the respondent.

(5) Hearing Officer Recommendation. If the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ finds that the respondent does not have the mental or physical capacity to practice law, the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ must recommend that the respondent be transferred to disability inactive status.

(6) Appeal Procedure. Either respondent or disciplinary counsel may appeal from a final determination of the hearing officer as to the respondent's capacity to practice law. The procedures for appeal and review of suspension recommendations apply to ~~recommendations for transfer to disability inactive status~~ such appeals.

(7) Transfer Following Board Review. If, after review of the decision of the hearing officer ~~or panel~~, the Board finds that the respondent does not have the mental or physical capacity to practice law, it must enter an order immediately transferring the respondent to disability inactive status. The transfer is effective upon service of the order under rule 4.1.

##### **(d) Interim Suspension.**

(1) When a review committee orders a hearing on the capacity of a respondent to practice law, disciplinary counsel must petition the Supreme Court for the respondent's interim suspension under rule 7.2(a) unless the respondent is already suspended on an interim basis.

(2) Even if the Court previously denied a petition for interim suspension under subsection (d)(1), disciplinary

counsel may petition the Court for the interim suspension of a respondent under rule 7.2 (a)(3) if the respondent fails:

(A) to appear for an independent examination under this rule;

(B) to waive health care provider-patient privilege as required by this rule; or

(C) to appear at a hearing under this rule.

**(e) Termination of Interim Suspension.** If the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ files a decision recommending that a respondent placed on interim suspension under this rule not be transferred to disability inactive status, upon either party's petition, the Court may terminate the interim suspension.

### **RULE 8.3 DISABILITY PROCEEDINGS DURING COURSE OF DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS**

**(a) Supplemental Proceedings on Capacity To Defend.** A hearing officer ~~or hearing panel~~, or chief hearing officer if no hearing officer has been appointed, must order a supplemental proceeding on the respondent lawyer's capacity to defend the disciplinary proceedings if the respondent asserts, or there is reasonable cause to believe, that the respondent is incapable of properly defending the disciplinary proceeding because of mental or physical incapacity. A different hearing officer shall be appointed for the supplemental proceeding.

**(b) Purpose of Supplemental Proceedings.** In a supplemental proceeding, the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ determines if the respondent:

(1) is incapable of defending himself or herself in the disciplinary proceedings because of mental or physical incapacity;

(2) is incapable, because of mental or physical incapacity, of defending against the disciplinary charges without the assistance of counsel; or

(3) is currently unable to practice law because of mental or physical incapacity.

**(c) Not Disciplinary Proceedings.** Proceedings under this rule are not disciplinary proceedings.

**(d) Procedure for Supplemental Proceedings.**

(1) Applicable Rules and Case Caption. Proceedings under this rule are conducted under the procedural rules for disciplinary proceedings except that the respondent lawyer's initials are to be used in the case caption rather than the lawyer's full name.

(2) Deferral of Effect on Pending Disciplinary Proceedings Matters. ~~The disciplinary proceedings are deferred pending the outcome of the supplemental proceeding.~~ Pending the outcome of the supplemental proceedings, the hearing officer, or the chief hearing officer if no hearing officer has been appointed, must order any disciplinary proceedings pending against the respondent stayed. Disciplinary counsel may defer any pending disciplinary investigation in accordance with the provisions of rule 5.3(d).

(3) Appointment of Counsel. If counsel for the respondent does not appear within 20 days of notice to the respondent of the issues to be considered in a supplemental proceeding under this rule, or within the time for filing an answer, the Chair must appoint an active member of the Association as counsel for the respondent in the supplemental proceedings under rule 8.10.

(4) Health Records. Disciplinary counsel may require the respondent to furnish written releases and authorizations for medical, psychological, or psychiatric records as may be relevant to the determination under section (b), subject to a motion to the hearing officer to limit the scope of the requested releases or authorizations for good cause. If the respondent asserted incapacity, there is a rebuttable presumption that good cause does not exist.

(5) Examination. Upon motion, the hearing officer may order an examination by a physician of the respondent's physical condition or by a mental health professional (as defined by RCW 71.05.020) of the respondent's mental condition to assist in the determinations to be made under section (b). Unless waived by the parties, the examiner must submit a report of the examination, including the results of any tests administered and any diagnosis, to the hearing officer, disciplinary counsel, and the respondent.

(6) Failure To Appear or Cooperate. If the respondent fails to appear for an independent examination, fails to waive health care provider-patient privilege as required in these rules, or fails to appear at the hearing, unless the procedure under rule 8.10(d) is followed the following procedures apply:

(A) If the Association has the burden of proof, the hearing officer must hold a hearing and, if presented with sufficient evidence to determine incapacity, order the respondent transferred to disability inactive status. If there is insufficient evidence to determine incapacity, the hearing officer must enter an order terminating the supplemental proceedings and reinstating the disciplinary proceedings. A respondent who does not appear at the hearing may move to vacate the order of transfer under rule 10.6(c).

(B) If the respondent has the burden of proof, the hearing officer must enter an order terminating the supplemental proceedings and resuming the disciplinary proceedings.

(7) Hearing Officer Decision.

(A) Capacity To Defend and Practice Law. If the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ finds that the respondent is capable of defending himself or herself and has the mental and physical capacity to practice law, the disciplinary proceedings resume.

(B) Capacity To Defend with Counsel. Regardless of the hearing officer's determination as to mental or physical capacity to practice law, ~~If the hearing officer or panel~~ finds that the respondent is not capable of defending himself or herself in the disciplinary proceedings but is capable of adequately assisting counsel in the defense, the supplemental proceedings are dismissed and the disciplinary proceedings resume. If counsel does not appear on behalf of the respondent within 20 days of service of the hearing officer's decision, the Chair must appoint an active member of the Association as counsel for the respondent in the disciplinary proceeding.

(C) Finding of Incapacity. If the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ finds that the respondent either does not have the mental or physical capacity to practice law, or is incapable of assisting counsel in properly defending a disciplinary proceeding because of mental or physical incapacity, the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ must recommend that the respondent be transferred to disability inactive status.

(D) Review and Appeals. Either respondent or disciplinary counsel may appeal from a final determination of the hearing officer as to the respondent's capacity to practice law or respondent's capacity to defend a disciplinary proceeding. The procedures for appeal and review of suspension recommendations ~~shall apply to recommendations for transfer to disability inactive status.~~

(8) *Transfer Following Board Review.*

(A) The Board must enter an order immediately transferring the respondent to disability inactive status if after review of a hearing officer's ~~or panel's~~ recommendation of transfer to disability inactive status, the Board finds that the respondent:

(i) does not have the mental or physical capacity to practice law; or

(ii) is incapable of assisting counsel in properly defending a disciplinary proceeding because of mental or physical incapacity.

(B) The transfer is effective upon service of the order on the respondent under rule 4.1.

**(e) Interim Suspension.** When supplemental proceedings have been ordered, disciplinary counsel must petition the Supreme Court for the respondent's interim suspension under rule 7.2 (a)(1) or seek automatic suspension under rule 7.3 unless the respondent is already suspended on an interim basis.

#### **RULE 8.4 APPEAL OF ~~TRANSFER TO DISABILITY INACTIVE STATUS DETERMINATIONS~~**

The respondent lawyer and disciplinary counsel may appeal ~~an order of transfer to disability inactive status under rule 12.3~~ Board decision under rules 8.2 or 8.3. The procedures of title 12 apply to such appeals. The Board's order ~~as to transfer to disability inactive status~~ remains in effect, regardless of the pendency of an appeal, unless and until reversed by the Supreme Court.

#### **RULE 8.5 STIPULATED TRANSFER TO DISABILITY INACTIVE STATUS**

**(a) Requirements.** At any time a respondent lawyer, respondent's counsel, and disciplinary counsel may stipulate to the transfer of the respondent to disability inactive status under this title. The respondent, respondent's counsel, and disciplinary counsel must all sign the stipulation.

**(b) Form.** The stipulation must:

(1) state with particularity the nature of the respondent's incapacity to practice law and the nature of any pending disciplinary proceedings that will be stayed and any disciplinary investigation that will be deferred as a result of the respondent's transfer to disability inactive status;

(2) state that it is not binding on the Association as a statement of all existing facts relating to the professional conduct of the respondent and that any additional existing facts may be proved in a subsequent disciplinary proceeding; and

(3) fix the amount of costs and expenses to be paid by the respondent.

**(c) Respondent Must be Represented by Counsel.** Respondent must be represented by counsel at the time of entering into the stipulation. If the respondent has not retained counsel, the Chair must appoint an active member of the Association as counsel for the respondent pursuant to rule 8.10. Any counsel appointed for purposes of entering into a

stipulation shall be deemed automatically discharged when the Board approves or rejects the stipulation.

**(ed) Approval.** The stipulation must be presented to the Board. The Board reviews the stipulation based solely on the record agreed to by the respondent, respondent's counsel, and disciplinary counsel. The Board may either approve the stipulation or reject it. Upon approval, the transfer to disability inactive status is not subject to further review.

**(de) Stipulation Not Approved.** If the stipulation is rejected by the Board, the stipulation has no force or effect and neither it nor the fact of its execution is admissible in any pending or subsequent disciplinary proceeding or in any civil or criminal action.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### **RULE 8.6 COSTS IN DISABILITY PROCEEDINGS**

When reviewing a matter under this title, the Board may authorize disciplinary counsel to seek assessment of the costs and expenses against the respondent lawyer. If the Board authorizes, disciplinary counsel may file a statement of costs within 20 days of service of the Board's order. Rule 13.9 governs assessment of these costs and expenses. The respondent is not required to pay the costs and expenses until 90 days after reinstatement to active status.

#### **RULE 8.7 BURDEN AND STANDARD OF PROOF**

In proceedings under rules 8.2 or 8.3, the party asserting or alleging the incapacity has the burden of ~~establishing it by a preponderance of the evidence~~ proof. If the issue of incapacity is raised by a hearing officer ~~or panel~~, the Association has the burden of proof. A respondent lawyer establishes incapacity by a preponderance of the evidence. The Association establishes incapacity by a clear preponderance of the evidence.

#### **RULE 8.8 REINSTATEMENT TO ACTIVE STATUS**

**(a) Right of Petition and Burden.** A respondent lawyer transferred to disability inactive status may resume active status only by Board or Supreme Court order. Any respondent transferred to disability inactive status may petition the Board for transfer to active status. The respondent has the burden of showing that the disability has been removed.

**(b) Petition.** The petition for reinstatement must:

(1) state facts demonstrating that the disability has been removed;

(2) include the name and address of each psychiatrist, psychologist, physician, or other person and each hospital or other institution by whom or in which the respondent has been examined or treated since the transfer to disability inactive status; and

(3) be filed with the Clerk and served on disciplinary counsel.

**(c) Waiver of Privilege.** The filing of a petition for reinstatement to active status by a respondent transferred to disability inactive status waives any privilege as to treatment of any medical, psychological, or psychiatric condition during the period of disability. The respondent must furnish, if requested by the Board or disciplinary counsel, written con-

sent to each treatment provider to divulge information and records relating to the disability.

**(d) Initial Review by Chair.** The Chair reviews the petition and any response by disciplinary counsel and directs appropriate action to determine whether the disability has been removed, including investigation by disciplinary counsel or any other person or an examination by a physician of the respondent's physical condition or by a mental health professional (as defined by RCW 71.05.020) of the respondent's mental condition.

**(e) Board Review.**

(1) The respondent must have a reasonable opportunity to review any reports of investigations or examinations ordered by the Chair and submit additional materials before the matter is submitted to the Board.

(2) On submission, the Board reviews the petition and any reports as expeditiously as possible and takes one or more of the following actions:

(A) grants the petition;

(B) directs additional action as the Board deems necessary to determine whether the disability has been removed;

(C) orders that a hearing be held before a hearing officer ~~or panel~~ under the procedural rules for disciplinary proceedings;

(D) directs the respondent to establish proof of competence and learning in the law, which may include certification by the bar examiners of successful completion of an examination for admission to practice;

(E) denies the petition;

(F) directs the respondent to pay the costs of the reinstatement proceedings; or

(G) approves or rejects a stipulation to reinstatement between the respondent and the Association.

(3) The petition may be denied without the respondent having an opportunity for a hearing before a hearing officer ~~or panel~~ only if the Board determines that a hearing is not necessary because:

(A) the respondent fails to state a prima facie case for reinstatement in the petition; or

(B) the petition does not indicate a material change of circumstance since a previous denial of a petition for reinstatement.

**(f) Petition Granted.** If the petition for reinstatement is granted, the Association ~~immediately~~ restores the respondent to the respondent's prior status and notifies the Supreme Court of the transfer, unless disciplinary counsel files a notice of appeal under subsection (g) of this rule, in which case respondent will not be returned to the respondent's prior status until that appeal is final. If a disciplinary proceeding has been stayed, or a disciplinary investigation has been deferred because of the disability transfer, the proceeding or investigation resumes upon reinstatement.

**(g) Review by Supreme Court.** ~~If the petition for reinstatement is not granted,~~ Either the respondent or disciplinary counsel may appeal the Board's decision to the Supreme Court, by filing a notice of appeal with the Clerk within 45 30 days of service of the Board's decision on the respondent. Title 12 applies to review under this section.

**RULE 8.9 PETITION FOR LIMITED GUARDIANSHIP**

~~**(a) Guardian Powers and Qualifications.** A guardian may be appointed under this rule to take any action deemed advisable related to the respondent lawyer's license to practice law and any disciplinary or disability investigation or proceeding.~~

~~**(a) Request for Authorization to Initiate Guardianship Proceedings.** **(b) Referral to Review Committee.** A hearing officer ~~or panel,~~ the Chair, the Association counsel, the respondent, or respondent's counsel may request that a review committee authorize the filing of a petition for a limited guardianship of a respondent ~~as described in section (a).~~~~

**(b) Notice.** The person requesting authority to file the guardianship petition must give notice to the parties at the time of the request. The party not making the request shall be given a reasonable opportunity, under the facts and circumstances of the case, to respond before the Review Committee renders its decision. The Association and the respondent may submit declarations or affidavits relevant to the Review Committee's decision.

**(c) Review Committee Determination.** The review committee may authorize the ~~Association to~~ filing of a petition for the appointment of a limited guardian ~~as described in section (a)~~ when the review committee reasonably believes that grounds for such an appointment exist under RCW 11.88.010(2). The review committee may require the respondent to submit to any necessary examinations or evaluations and may retain independent counsel to assist in the investigation and the filing of any petition.

**(d) Action for Limited Guardianship.**

(1) Upon authorization of a review committee, the ~~Association~~ petitioning party may file a petition in any Superior Court seeking a limited guardian to act regarding the respondent's license or any disciplinary or disability investigation or proceeding.

(2) Notwithstanding any other ~~provisions regarding the statutory~~ qualifications of a guardian ad litem, any guardian or guardian ad litem appointed pursuant to a petition filed under this rule must be a lawyer qualified to maintain and protect the ~~confidences and secrets~~ information protected by RPC 1.6 or RPC 1.9 of the respondent's clients.

(3) Upon application to the Superior Court, the respondent may have the matter moved to the county where the respondent is domiciled or maintains an office or another county as authorized by law.

(4) The guardianship proceedings must be sealed to the extent necessary to protect ~~confidences and secrets~~ information protected by RPC 1.6 or RPC 1.9 of the respondent's clients or on any other basis found by the Superior Court.

(5) The costs of any guardianship proceeding are paid out of the guardianship estate, except if the guardianship estate is indigent, the Association pays the costs.

**RULE 8.10 APPOINTMENT OF COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT**

**(a) Appointment of Counsel for Respondent.** If counsel for the respondent does not appear within the time for filing an answer, or as may otherwise be required, under Title 8 of these rules, or upon an order of further proceedings or a hearing under rule 9.2 (e)(3), the Chair must appoint an active member of the Association as counsel for the respondent.



**(b) Counsel's Role.** Counsel appointed for respondent shall act as an advocate for their client and shall not substitute counsel's own judgment for that of the client.

**(c) Withdrawal of Appointed Counsel.** Counsel appointed under this rule may withdraw only upon authorization from the Chair, upon a showing of good cause.

**(d) Action Upon Withdrawal of Appointed Counsel.** Upon authorizing appointed counsel to withdraw, the Chair will determine whether to appoint other counsel to represent the respondent, or, upon a finding that there is no reasonable chance that other counsel will be able to represent the respondent and that appointment of counsel would be futile, may recommend to the Board that the respondent be transferred to disability inactive status. The Board will review any order of the Chair recommending transfer to disability inactive status because appointment of counsel would be futile and may either affirm such order or direct that substitute counsel be appointed for the respondent. An unrepresented respondent may not participate in this review by the Board unless specifically authorized by the Chair to participate. The respondent may seek review under rule 12.3 of an order of the Board recommending transfer to disability inactive status under this rule but must be represented by counsel for purposes of such motion unless specifically authorized to proceed without representation by the Chair.

## TITLE 9 - RESOLUTIONS WITHOUT HEARING

### RULE 9.1. STIPULATIONS

**(a) Requirements.** Any disciplinary matter or proceeding may be resolved by a stipulation at any time. The stipulation must be signed by the respondent lawyer and approved by disciplinary counsel. The stipulation may impose terms and conditions of probation and contain any other appropriate provisions.

**(b) Form.** A stipulation must:

(1) provide sufficient detail regarding the particular acts or omissions of the respondent to permit the Board or hearing officer to form an opinion as to the propriety of the proposed resolution, and, if approved, to make the stipulation useful in any subsequent disciplinary proceeding against the respondent;

(2) set forth the respondent's prior disciplinary record or its absence;

(3) state that the stipulation is not binding on the Association disciplinary counsel as a statement of facts about the respondent's conduct, and that additional facts may be proved in a subsequent disciplinary proceeding; and

(4) fix the amount of costs and expenses to be paid by the respondent.

**(c) Stipulation to alleged facts.** A respondent lawyer and disciplinary counsel may agree to stipulate to alleged facts in lieu of admissions to particular acts or omissions. The stipulation must also include an agreement that the facts and misconduct will be deemed proved in any subsequent disciplinary proceeding in any jurisdiction.

**(ed) Approval.**

(1) *Standards.* The chief hearing officer, a hearing officer, or the Board must approve a stipulation unless the stipulation results in a manifest injustice.

(2) *Approval By Chief Hearing Officer.* Subject to subsection (1), the chief hearing officer may approve of a stipulation disposing of any matter that is not then pending before an assigned hearing officer, the Board, or the Supreme Court. Approval may be granted at any point, during an investigation or otherwise, prior to entry of final decision under rule 10.16(d). The chief hearing officer may not approve of a stipulation that requires the respondent's suspension or disbarment.

(3) *Approval By Hearing Officer.* Subject to subsection (1), a hearing officer or panel may approve of a stipulation disposing of a matter pending before the officer or panel, unless the stipulation requires the respondent's suspension or disbarment. This approval constitutes a final decision and is not subject to further review.

(24) *Approval By Board.* All other stipulations must be presented to the Board. The Board reviews a stipulation based solely on the record agreed to by the respondent lawyer and disciplinary counsel. The parties may jointly ask the Chair to permit them to address the Board regarding a stipulation. Such presentations are at the Chair's discretion. Subject to subsection (1), the Board may approve, conditionally approve, or reject a stipulation. Regardless of the provisions of rule 3.3(a), the Board may direct that information or documents considered in reviewing a stipulation be kept confidential.

(5) *Approval by Supreme Court.*

(A) *Suspension and Disbarment.* All stipulations agreeing to suspension or disbarment approved by the Board, together with all materials that were submitted to the Board, must be submitted to the Court. Following review, the Court issues an order regarding the stipulation.

(B) *Matters Pending Before the Supreme Court.* At any time a matter is pending before the Court, the parties may submit to the Court for its consideration a stipulation of the parties to resolve the matter. The Court will resolve the matter under such procedure as the Court deems appropriate.

(de) *Conditional Approval.*

(1) *By Hearing Officer.* Subject to subsection (d)(1), a hearing officer may condition the approval of a stipulation on the agreement by the respondent and disciplinary counsel to a different disciplinary action, probation, restitution, or other terms the hearing officer deems necessary to accomplish the purposes of lawyer discipline, provided the terms do not involve suspension or disbarment. If the hearing officer conditions approval of a stipulation, the stipulation as conditioned is deemed approved if, within 14 days of service of the order, or within additional time granted by the hearing officer, both parties serve on the hearing officer written consent to the conditional terms in the order of the hearing officer or chief hearing officer. For purposes of this subsection, "hearing officer" includes the chief hearing officer.

(2) *By Board.* Subject to subsection (d)(1), the Board may condition its approval of a stipulation on the agreement by the respondent and disciplinary counsel to a different disciplinary action, probation, restitution, or other terms the Board deems necessary to accomplish the purposes of lawyer discipline. If the Board conditions approval of a stipulation, the stipulation as conditioned is deemed approved if, within 14 days of service of the order, or within additional time

granted by the Chair, both parties serve on the Clerk written consent to the conditional terms in the Board's order.

**(ef) Reconsideration.** Within 14 days of service of an order rejecting or conditionally approving a stipulation, the parties may serve on the Clerk a joint motion for reconsideration ~~and may ask to address the Board on the motion.~~ If the conditional approval was made by a hearing officer or chief hearing officer, the motion shall also be served on that officer. The parties may ask to address the Board or officer on the motion.

**(fg) Stipulation Rejected.** ~~The Board's An~~ order rejecting a stipulation must state the reasons for the rejection. A rejected stipulation has no force or effect and neither it nor the fact of its execution is admissible in evidence in any disciplinary, civil, or criminal proceeding.

**(h) Review.** When a hearing officer or chief hearing officer rejects a stipulation, by agreement the parties may present the stipulation to the Board for consideration.

**(i) Costs.** A final order approving a stipulation is deemed a final assessment of the costs and expenses agreed to in the stipulation for the purposes of rule 13.9, and is not subject to further review.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### RULE 9.2 RECIPROCAL DISCIPLINE AND DISABILITY INACTIVE STATUS; DUTY TO SELF-REPORT

**(a) Duty To Self-Report Discipline or Transfer to Disability Inactive Status.** Within 30 days of being publicly disciplined, or being transferred to disability inactive status in another jurisdiction, a lawyer admitted to practice in this state must inform disciplinary counsel of the discipline or transfer.

**(b) Obtaining Order.** Upon notification from any source that a lawyer admitted to practice in this state was publicly disciplined, or was transferred to disability inactive status in another jurisdiction, disciplinary counsel must obtain a certified copy of the order and file it with the Supreme Court, except in circumstances set forth in subsection (g).

**(c) Supreme Court Action.** Except in circumstances set forth in subsection (g), Upon receipt of a certified copy of an order demonstrating that a lawyer admitted to practice in this state has been disciplined or transferred to disability inactive status in another jurisdiction, the Supreme Court orders the respondent lawyer to show cause within ~~30~~ 60 days of service why it should not impose the identical discipline or disability inactive status. ~~The Association~~ Disciplinary counsel must personally serve this order, and a copy of the order from the other jurisdiction, on the respondent under rule 4.1 (b)(3).

**(d) Deferral.** If the other jurisdiction has stayed the discipline or transfer, any reciprocal discipline or transfer in this state is deferred until the stay expires.

**(e) Discipline or Transfer To Be Imposed.**

(1) ~~Thirty Sixty~~ days after service of the order under section (c), the Supreme Court imposes the identical discipline or disability inactive status unless disciplinary counsel or the lawyer demonstrates, or the Court finds, that it clearly appears on the face of the record on which the discipline or disability transfer is based, that:

(A) the procedure so lacked notice or opportunity to be heard that it denied due process;

(B) the proof of misconduct or disability was so infirm that the Court is clearly convinced that it cannot, consistent with its duty, accept the finding of misconduct or disability;

(C) the imposition of the same discipline would result in grave injustice;

(D) the established misconduct warrants substantially different discipline in this state;

(E) the reason for the original transfer to disability inactive status no longer exists; or

(F) appropriate discipline has already been imposed in this jurisdiction for the misconduct.

(2) If the Court determines that any of the factors in subsection (1) exist, it enters an appropriate order. The burden is on the party seeking different discipline in this jurisdiction to demonstrate that imposing the same discipline is not appropriate.

(3) If the Court orders further proceedings or a hearing to determine if respondent should be transferred to disability inactive status, the provisions of rule 8.10 as to appointment of counsel will apply.

**(f) Conclusive Effect.** Except as this rule otherwise provides, a final adjudication in another jurisdiction that a lawyer has been guilty of misconduct or should be transferred to disability inactive status conclusively establishes the misconduct or the disability for purposes of a disciplinary or disability proceeding in this state.

**(g) Prior Matter In Washington.** No action will be taken against a lawyer under this rule when the lawyer has already been the subject of discipline, disability transfer, or other final disposition of a grievance, disciplinary proceeding, or disability proceeding in Washington arising out of the same circumstances that are the basis for discipline, resignation, or disability transfer in another jurisdiction.

#### RULE 9.3 RESIGNATION IN LIEU OF ~~DISBARMENT~~ DISCIPLINE

**(a) Grounds.** A respondent lawyer who desires not to contest or defend against allegations of misconduct may, at any time before the answer in any disciplinary proceeding is due, or thereafter with disciplinary counsel's consent, resign his or her membership in the Association in lieu of further disciplinary proceedings.

**(b) Process.** The respondent first notifies disciplinary counsel that the respondent intends to submit a resignation and asks disciplinary counsel to prepare a statement of alleged misconduct and to provide a declaration of costs and a proposed resignation form. After receiving the statement and the declaration of costs, if any, the respondent may resign by signing and submitting to disciplinary counsel ~~a signed resignation,~~ the resignation form prepared by disciplinary counsel, sworn to or affirmed under oath and notarized, that which must include the following:

(1) ~~includes~~ Disciplinary counsel's statement of the misconduct alleged ~~misconduct in the matters then pending, and either an admission of that misconduct or a statement that while not admitting the misconduct the respondent agrees that the Association could prove by a clear preponderance of the evidence that the respondent committed violations sufficient to result in respondent's disbarment;~~

(2) Respondent's statement that he or she is aware of the alleged misconduct stated in disciplinary counsel's statement and that rather than defend against the allegations, he or she wishes to permanently resign from membership in the Association.

(23) Respondent's affirmative acknowledgement that the resignation is permanent including the statement:

"I understand that my resignation is permanent and that any future application by me for reinstatement as a member of the Washington State Bar Association is currently barred. If the Supreme Court changes this rule or an application is otherwise permitted in the future, it will be treated as an application by one who has been disbarred for ethical misconduct, and that, if I file an application, I will not be entitled to a reconsideration or reexamination of the facts, complaints, allegations, or instances of alleged misconduct on which this resignation was based.";

(34) assures that the respondent will Respondent's agreement:

(A) to notify all other jurisdictions in which the respondent is or has been admitted to practice law of the resignation in lieu of ~~disbarment~~ discipline;

(B) to seek to resign permanently from the practice of law in any other jurisdiction in which the respondent is admitted; ~~and~~

(C) to provide disciplinary counsel with copies of any of these notifications and any responses; ~~and~~

(D) acknowledging that the resignation could be treated as a disbarment by all other jurisdictions.

(45) assures that the respondent will Respondent's agreement to:

(A) notify all other professional licensing agencies in any jurisdiction from which the respondent has a professional license that is predicated on the respondent's admission to practice law of the resignation in lieu of ~~disbarment~~ discipline;

(B) seek to resign permanently from any such license; and

(C) provide disciplinary counsel with copies of any of these notifications and any responses; ~~and~~

(56) states Respondent's agreement that when applying for any employment or license the respondent agrees to disclose the resignation in lieu of ~~disbarment~~ discipline in response to any question regarding disciplinary action or the status of the respondent's license to practice law;

(67) states that the respondent agrees Respondent's agreement to pay any restitution or additional costs and expenses ordered by the a review committee, and attaches payment for costs as described in section (f) below, or states that the respondents will execute a confession of judgment or deed of trust as described in section (f); ~~and~~.

(78) states Respondent's agreement that when the resignation becomes effective, the respondent will be subject to all restrictions that apply to a disbarred lawyer.

**(c) Public Filing.** Upon receipt of a resignation meeting the requirements set forth above, and the costs and expenses and any executed confession of judgment or deed of trust required under section (f), disciplinary counsel will endorse the resignation and promptly causes it to be filed with the Clerk as a public and permanent record of the Association.

**(d) Effect.** A resignation under this rule is effective upon its filing with the Clerk. All disciplinary proceedings against the respondent terminate except disciplinary counsel has the discretion to continue any investigations deemed appropriate under the circumstances to create a record of the respondent's actions. The Association immediately notifies the Supreme Court of a resignation under this rule and the respondent's name is forthwith stricken from the roll of lawyers. Upon filing of the resignation, the resigned respondent must comply with the same duties as a disbarred lawyer under title 14 and comply with all restrictions that apply to a disbarred lawyer. Notice is given of the resignation in lieu of ~~disbarment~~ discipline under rule 3.5.

**(e) Resignation is Permanent.** Resignation under this rule is permanent. A respondent who has resigned under this rule will never be eligible to apply and will not be considered for admission or reinstatement to the practice of law nor will the respondent be eligible for admission for any limited practice of law.

**(f) Costs and Expenses.** ~~(A) If a respondent resigns under this rule, the expenses under rule 13.9(c) are \$1,000 for any proceedings for which an answer was not due when the respondent notified disciplinary counsel of the respondent's intent to resign under section (b). With the resignation, the respondent must pay this \$1,000 expense, plus all actual costs for which disciplinary counsel provides documentation, up to an additional \$1,000 as defined by rule 13.9(b). If the respondent demonstrates inability to pay these costs and expenses, instead of paying this amount, the respondent must execute, in disciplinary counsel's discretion, a confession of judgment or a deed of trust for that amount. Disciplinary counsel may file a claim under section (g) for costs not covered by the payment, confession of judgment, or deed of trust.~~

~~(B) If at the time respondent serves the notice of intent to resign, an additional proceeding is pending against the respondent for which an answer has been filed or is due, disciplinary counsel may also file a claim under section (g) for costs and expenses for that proceeding.~~

**(g) Review of Costs, Expenses, and Restitution.** Any claims for restitution or for costs and expenses not resolved by agreement between disciplinary counsel and the respondent may be submitted at any time, including after the resignation, to a review committee in writing for the determination of appropriate restitution or costs and expenses. The Lawyers' Fund for Client Protection may request review including a determination by the review committee of whether any funds were obtained by the respondent by dishonesty of, or failure to account for money or property entrusted to, the respondent in connection with the respondent's practice of law or while acting as a fiduciary in a matter related to the respondent's practice of law. The review committee's order is not subject to further review and is the final assessment of restitution or costs and expenses for the purposes of rule 13.9 and may be enforced as any other order for restitution or costs and expenses. The record before the review committee and the review committee's order is public information under rule 3.1(b).

[Reporter's note: this amendment also requires a corresponding amendment to RPC 5.8]

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### **RULE 9.4 RECIPROCAL RESIGNATION IN LIEU OF DISCIPLINE**

**(a) Duty To Self-Report Resignation In Lieu of Discipline.** Within 30 days of resigning in lieu of discipline from another jurisdiction, a lawyer admitted to practice in this state must inform disciplinary counsel of the resignation in lieu of discipline.

**(b) Obtaining Order.** Upon notification from any source that a lawyer admitted to practice in this state has resigned in lieu of discipline in another jurisdiction, disciplinary counsel must obtain a copy of the resignation in lieu of discipline and any order approving the resignation and file it with the Supreme Court, except in circumstances set forth in subsection (e).

**(c) Supreme Court Action.** Except in circumstances set forth in subsection (e), Upon receipt of a copy of a resignation in lieu of discipline and any order approving the resignation, the Supreme Court orders the respondent lawyer to show cause within 60 days of service why the lawyer should not be disbarred in this jurisdiction. The Association must personally serve this order, and a copy of the resignation in lieu of discipline and any order from the other jurisdiction approving the resignation, on the respondent under rule 4.1(b)(3).

#### **(d) Discipline To Be Imposed.**

(1) Sixty days after service of the order under section (c), the Supreme Court enters an order disbarring the respondent lawyer unless the lawyer demonstrates that disbarment would result in grave injustice.

(2) The burden is on the respondent to establish that continuing to remain admitted to practice in this jurisdiction will not place the public at risk.

(3) If the Supreme Court determines that disbarment would result in a grave injustice, the Court may enter an appropriate order.

**(e) Prior Matter In Washington.** No action will be taken against a lawyer under this rule when the lawyer has already been the subject of disciplinary action or other final disposition of a grievance or disciplinary proceeding in Washington arising out of the same circumstances that are the basis for discipline or a resignation in another jurisdiction.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

### **TITLE 10 - HEARING PROCEDURES**

#### **RULE 10.1 GENERAL PROCEDURE**

**(a) Applicability of Civil Rules.** The civil rules for the superior courts of the State of Washington serve as guidance in proceedings under this title and, where indicated, apply directly. A party may not move for summary judgment, but either party may move at any time for an order determining the collateral estoppel effect of a judgment in another pro-

ceeding. Motions for judgment on the pleadings and motions to dismiss based upon the pleadings are available only to the extent permitted in rule 10.10.

**(b) Meaning of Terms in Civil Rules.** In applying the civil rules to proceedings under these rules, terms have the following meanings:

(1) "Court" or "judge" means the hearing officer ~~or hearing panel or its chair~~, as appropriate; and

(2) "Parties" means the respondent lawyer and disciplinary counsel.

**(c) Hearing Officer Authority.** In addition to the powers specifically provided in these rules, the hearing officer may make any ruling that appears necessary and appropriate to insure a fair and orderly proceeding.

#### **RULE 10.2 HEARING OFFICER ~~OR PANEL~~ ASSIGNMENT**

##### **(a) Assignment.**

**(1) Hearing Officer.** The chief hearing officer ~~ordinarily~~ assigns a single hearing officer, from those eligible under rule 2.5, to hear a matter ordered to hearing.

**(2) Hearing Panel.** ~~On either party's motion, or when otherwise deemed advisable, the chief hearing officer may assign a hearing panel. In determining whether to assign a hearing panel, the chief hearing officer considers whether public interest in the proceeding makes a panel advisable and whether a nonlawyer on a hearing panel could contribute to the fairness, or the perception of fairness, in the process and the outcome. When a panel is assigned, the chief hearing officer designates one lawyer member as panel chair. The chief hearing officer's ruling on assigning a hearing panel is not subject to interim review. The chief hearing officer makes an assignment to fill any hearing officer or panel member vacancy.~~

##### **(b) Disqualification and Removal.**

(1) *Removal Without Cause.* Either party ~~may~~ is entitled to have an assigned hearing officer ~~or hearing panel member~~ removed, without establishing cause for the removal, by filing a written request with the chief hearing officer Clerk within ten days ~~of~~ after service on the moving party ~~the respondent~~ of that officer's ~~or panel member's~~ assignment. A party may only once request removal without cause in any proceeding.

(2) *Disqualification for Cause.* Either party may ~~seek~~ move to disqualify any assigned hearing officer ~~or hearing panel member~~ for good cause. A motion under this subsection must be filed promptly after the party knows, or in the exercise of due diligence should have known, of the basis for the disqualification.

**(3) Notice to Chief Hearing Officer.** The Clerk must promptly provide copies of requests or motions for removal or for disqualification to the chief hearing officer.

**(4) Removal Decision.** The chief hearing officer decides all requests for removal and disqualification motions, except the Chair decides a request to remove or disqualify the chief hearing officer. The decision of the chief hearing officer or Chair on a request for removal or a motion to disqualify is not subject to interim review. ~~Upon~~ After removal or disqualification of ~~an~~ the assigned hearing officer ~~or hearing panel member~~, the chief hearing officer assigns a replacement.

Reviser's note: The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

RULE 10.3 COMMENCEMENT OF PROCEEDINGS

(a) Formal Complaint.

(1) Filing. After a matter is ordered to hearing, disciplinary counsel files a formal complaint with the Clerk.

(2) Service. After the formal complaint is filed, it must be personally served on the respondent lawyer, with a notice to answer.

(3) Content. The formal complaint must state the respondent's acts or omissions in sufficient detail to inform the respondent of the nature of the allegations of misconduct. Disciplinary counsel must sign the formal complaint, but it need not be verified.

(4) Prior Discipline. Prior disciplinary action against the respondent may be described in a separate count of the formal complaint if the respondent is charged with conduct demonstrating unfitness to practice law.

(b) Filing Commences Proceedings. A disciplinary proceeding commences when the formal complaint is filed.

(c) Consolidation and Joinder. The body A review committee ordering a hearing on alleged misconduct, or the chief hearing officer after consultation with any assigned hearing officer, or panel may in its has discretion to consolidate for hearing two or more charges matters against the same respondent, or may to join charges matters against two or more respondents in one formal complaint. A consolidation or joinder ordered under this provision serves as authorization to combine multiple matters in one formal complaint or to amend the formal complaint to the extent necessary to implement the joinder or consolidation.

(d) Severance. On motion of a party, the hearing officer, in furtherance of convenience or to avoid prejudice, or when severance will promote a fair determination of the issues, may order a severance and separate hearing of any matter joined or consolidated for hearing under section (c) of this rule.

RULE 10.4 NOTICE TO ANSWER

(a) Content. The notice to answer must be substantially in the following form:

BEFORE THE DISCIPLINARY BOARD OF THE WASHINGTON STATE BAR ASSOCIATION
In re )
) NOTICE TO ANSWER;
) NOTICE OF HEARING OFFICER {OR-
) PANEL};
) NOTICE OF DEFAULT PROCEDURE
\_\_\_\_\_, )
)
Lawyer. )
To: The above named lawyer:

A formal complaint has been filed against you, a copy of which is served on you with this notice. You are notified that you must file your answer to the complaint within 20 days of the date of service on you, by filing the original of your answer with the Clerk to the Disciplinary Board of the Washington State Bar Association, [insert address] and by serving one copy {on the hearing officer} {on each member of the hearing panel} if one has been assigned and one copy on disciplinary counsel at the address[es] given below. Failure to file an answer may result in the imposition of a disciplinary sanction against you and the entry of an order of default under rule 10.6 of the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct.

Notice of default procedure: Your default may be entered for failure to file a written answer to this formal complaint within 20 days of service as required by rule 10.6 of the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct. THE ENTRY OF AN ORDER OF DEFAULT may WILL RESULT IN THE ALLEGATIONS AND VIOLATIONS charges of misconduct IN THE FORMAL COMPLAINT BEING ADMITTED AND ESTABLISHED AND discipline being imposed or recommended based on the admitted charges of misconduct. If an order of default is entered, you will lose the opportunity to participate further in these proceedings unless and until the order of default is vacated on motion timely made under rule 10.6(c) of the Rules for Enforcement of Lawyer Conduct. The entry of an order of default means that you will receive no further notices regarding these proceedings except those required by rule 10.6 (b)(2).

The {hearing officer} {hearing panel} assigned to this proceeding is: [insert name, address, and telephone number of hearing officer, or name, address, and telephone number of each hearing panel member with an indication of the chair of the panel].

Dated this \_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 20\_\_.

WASHINGTON STATE BAR ASSOCIATION
By \_\_\_\_\_
Disciplinary Counsel, Bar No.
Address: \_\_\_\_\_
Telephone: \_\_\_\_\_

(b) Notice When Hearing Officer or Panel Not Assigned. If no hearing officer or panel has been assigned when a formal complaint is served, disciplinary counsel serves the formal complaint and a notice to answer as in section (a), but without reference to the hearing officer or panel.

Reviser's note: The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

RULE 10.5 ANSWER

(a) Time to Answer. Within 20 days of service of the formal complaint and notice to answer, the respondent lawyer must file and serve an answer. Failure to file an answer as

required may be grounds for discipline and for an order of default under rule 10.6. The filing of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim stays the time for filing an answer during the pendency of the motion.

**(b) Content.** The answer must contain:

(1) a specific denial or admission of each fact or claim asserted in the formal complaint in accordance with CR 8(b);

(2) a statement of any matter or facts constituting a defense, affirmative defense, or justification, in ordinary and concise language without repetition; and

(3) an address at which all further pleadings, notices, and other documents in the proceeding may be served on the respondent.

**(c) Filing and Service.** The answer must be filed and served under rules 4.1 and 4.2. ~~If a hearing panel has been assigned to hear a matter, the respondent must serve each member with a copy of the answer.~~

#### RULE 10.6 DEFAULT PROCEEDINGS

**(a) Entry of Default.**

(1) *Timing.* If a respondent lawyer, after being served with a notice to answer as provided in rule 10.4, fails to file an answer to a formal complaint or to an amendment to a formal complaint within the time provided by these rules, disciplinary counsel may serve the respondent with a written motion for an order of default.

(2) *Motion.* Disciplinary counsel must serve the respondent with a written motion for an order of default and a copy of this rule at least five days before entry of the order of default. The motion for an order of default must include the following:

(A) the dates of filing and service of the notice to answer, formal complaint, and any amendments to the complaint; and

(B) disciplinary counsel's statement that the respondent has not timely filed an answer as required by rule 10.5 and that disciplinary counsel seeks an order of default under this rule; and

(C) notice that a default will result in the allegations and violations in the formal complaint being admitted and established.

(3) *Entry of Order of Default.* If the respondent fails to file a written answer with the Clerk within five days of service of the motion for entry of an order of default, the hearing officer, or if no hearing officer ~~or panel~~ has been assigned, the chief hearing officer, on proof of proper service of the motion, enters an order finding the respondent in default.

(4) *Effect of Order of Default.* Upon entry of an order of default, the allegations and violations in the formal complaint and any amendments to the complaint are deemed admitted and established for the purpose of imposing discipline and the respondent may not participate further in the proceedings unless the order of default is vacated under this rule.

**(b) Proceedings After Entry of an Order of Default.**

(1) *Service.* The Clerk serves the order of default and a copy of this rule under rule 4.2(b).

(2) *No Further Notices.* Notwithstanding any other provision of these rules, After entry of an order of default, no further notices, motions, documents, papers, or transcripts need ~~must~~ be served on the respondent except for copies of

the decisions of the hearing officer ~~or hearing panel and~~, the Board, and the Court.

(3) *Disciplinary Proceeding.* Within 60 days of the filing of the order of default, the hearing officer must conduct a disciplinary proceeding to recommend disciplinary action based on the allegations and violations established under section (a). At the discretion of the hearing officer ~~or panel~~, these proceedings may be conducted by formal hearing, written submissions, telephone hearing, or other electronic means. Disciplinary counsel may present additional evidence including, but not limited to, requests for admission under rule 10.11(b), and depositions, affidavits, and declarations regardless of the witness's availability.

**(c) Setting Aside Default.**

(1) *Motion To Vacate Order of Default.* A respondent may move to vacate the order of default and any decision of the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ or Board arising from the default on the following grounds:

(A) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect, or irregularity in obtaining the default;

(B) erroneous proceedings against a respondent who was, at the time of the default, incapable of conducting a defense;

(C) newly discovered evidence that by due diligence could not have been previously discovered;

(D) fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party;

(E) the order of default is void;

(F) unavoidable casualty or misfortune preventing the respondent from defending; or

(G) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the default.

(2) *Time.* The motion must be made within a reasonable time and for grounds (A) and (C) within one year after entry of the default. If the respondent's motion is based on allegations of incapability of conducting a defense, the motion must be made within one year after the disability ceases.

(3) *Burden of Proof.* The respondent bears the burden of proving the grounds for setting aside the default. If the respondent proves that the default was entered as a result of a disability which made the respondent incapable of conducting a defense, the default must be set aside.

(4) *Service and Contents of Motion.* The motion must be filed and served under rules 4.1 and 4.2 and be accompanied by a copy of respondent's proposed answer to each formal complaint for which an order of default has been entered. The proposed answer must state with specificity the respondent's asserted defenses and any facts that respondent asserts as mitigation. The motion to vacate the order of default must be supported by an affidavit showing:

(A) the date on which the respondent first learned of the entry of the order of default;

(B) the grounds for setting aside the order of default; and

(C) an offer of proof of the facts that the respondent expects to establish if the order of default is vacated.

(5) *Response to Motion.* Within ten days of filing and service of the motion to vacate, disciplinary counsel may file and serve a written response.

(6) *Decision.* The hearing officer ~~or panel~~ decides a motion to vacate the order of default on the written record

without oral argument. If the proceedings have been concluded, the chief hearing officer assigns a hearing officer ~~or panel~~ to decide the motion. Pending a ruling on the motion, the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ may order a stay of proceedings not to exceed 30 days. In granting a motion to vacate an order of default, the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ has discretion to order appropriate conditions.

(7) *Appeal of Denial of Motion.* A respondent may appeal to the Chair a denial of a motion to vacate an order of default by filing and serving a written notice of appeal stating the arguments against the hearing officer ~~or panel's~~ decision. The respondent must file the notice of appeal within ten days of service on the respondent of the order denying the motion. The appeal is decided on the written record without oral argument. Pending a ruling on the appeal, the Chair may order a stay of proceedings not to exceed 30 days. In granting a motion to vacate an order of default, the Chair has discretion to order appropriate conditions.

(8) *Decision To Vacate Is Not Subject to Interim Review.* An order setting aside an order of default is not subject to interim review.

**(d) Order of Default Not Authorized in Certain Proceedings.** The default procedure in this rule does not apply to a proceeding to inquire into a lawyer's capacity to practice law under title 8 except as provided in that title.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### RULE 10.7 AMENDMENT OF FORMAL COMPLAINT

**(a) ~~Right To Amend~~ Amendments Adding Related Facts or Charges.** Disciplinary counsel may, ~~without review committee authorization,~~ amend a formal complaint at any time to add facts or charges that relate to matters in the formal complaint or to the respondent lawyer's conduct regarding the pending proceedings. The respondent may, within ten days of service of the amendment, object to the amendment by a motion to the hearing officer. The hearing officer will consider the motion under the procedure provided by rule 10.8.

**(b) ~~Other Amendments with Authorization.~~** Disciplinary counsel must obtain seek review committee authorization from the chief hearing officer for amendments other than those under section (a) ~~or rule 10.3(c).~~ Disciplinary counsel must give respondent notice of a request for authorization to amend. A request to amend will be considered under the procedure provided by rule 10.8. The review committee chief hearing officer, after consultation with any assigned hearing officer, may authorize the amendment, ~~or~~ may require that the additional facts or charges be the subject of a separate formal complaint, ~~or may direct disciplinary counsel to report the matter to a review committee under rule 5.7(c).~~ The Chair, with the consent of the respondent, and after consultation with the hearing officer on the previously filed matter, may consolidate the hearing on the separate formal complaint with the hearing on the other pending formal complaint against the respondent.

**(c) Decision.** In ruling on a motion under section (a) or (b), a hearing officer or the chief hearing officer may grant or deny the motion in whole or part. Authorization to amend should be freely given when justice so requires.

**(ed) Service and Answer.** Disciplinary counsel serves an amendment to a formal complaint on the respondent as provided in rule 4.1 but need not serve a Notice to Answer with the amendment. Rule 10.5 governs the answer to an amendment except that any part of a previous answer may be incorporated by reference.

#### RULE 10.8 MOTIONS

**(a) Filing and Service.** Motions to the hearing officer, except motions which may be made ex parte or motions at hearing, must be in writing and filed and served as required by rules 4.1 and 4.2.

**(b) Response.** The opposing party has ~~five~~ ten days from service of a motion to respond, unless the time is ~~shortened~~ altered by the hearing officer for good cause. ~~A request to shorten time for response to a motion may be made ex parte.~~

**(c) Reply.** The moving party has seven days from service of the response to reply unless the time for reply is altered by the hearing officer for good cause.

**(ed) Consideration of Motion.** Upon expiration of the time for ~~response~~ reply, the hearing officer should promptly rule on the motion, with or without argument as may appear appropriate. Argument on a motion may be heard by conference telephone call.

**(de) Ruling.** A ruling on a written motion must be in writing and filed with the Clerk.

**(ef) Minor Matters.** Alternatively, motions on minor matters may be made by letter to the hearing officer, with a copy to the opposing party and to the Clerk. The provisions of sections (b) and (c) apply to these motions. A ruling on such motion may also be by letter to each party with a copy to the Clerk.

**(fg) Chief Hearing Officer Authority.** Before the assignment of a hearing officer ~~or panel~~, the chief hearing officer may rule on any prehearing motion.

#### RULE 10.9 INTERIM REVIEW

Unless these rules provide otherwise, the Board may review any interim ruling on request for review by either party, if the Chair determines that review is necessary and appropriate and will serve the ends of justice.

#### RULE 10.10 PREHEARING DISPOSITIVE MOTIONS

**(a) Respondent Motion.** A respondent lawyer may move for dismissal of all or any portion of one or more counts of a formal complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

**(b) Disciplinary Counsel Motion.** Disciplinary counsel may move for an order finding misconduct based on the pleadings. In ruling on this motion, the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ may find that all or some of the misconduct as alleged in the formal complaint is established, but will determine the sanction after a hearing.

**(c) Time for Motion.** A motion under section (a) of this rule must be filed within ~~30 days of the time for filing of the answer to a formal complaint or amended formal complaint,~~ and may be filed in lieu of filing an answer. A respondent may, within the time provided for filing an answer, instead file a motion under this rule. If the motion does not result in the dismissal of the entire formal complaint or amended for-

mal complaint, the respondent must file and serve an answer to the remaining allegations within ten days of service of the ruling on the motion. A motion under section (b) of this rule must be filed within 30 days of the filing of the answer to a formal complaint or amended formal complaint.

**(d) Procedure.** Rule 10.8 and CR 12 apply to motions under this rule. No factual materials outside the answer and complaint may be presented. If the motion results in dismissal of part but not all of a formal complaint, the Board must hear an interlocutory appeal of the order by either party. The appeal must be filed within 15 days of service of the order.

#### RULE 10.11 DISCOVERY AND PREHEARING PROCEDURES

**(a) General.** The parties should cooperate in mutual informal exchange of relevant nonprivileged information to facilitate expeditious, economical, and fair resolution of the case.

**(b) Requests for Admission.** After a formal complaint is filed, the parties may request admissions under CR 36. Under appropriate circumstances, the hearing officer may apply the sanctions in CR 37(c) for improper denial of requests for admission.

**(c) Other Discovery.** After a formal complaint is filed, the parties have the right to other discovery under the Superior Court Civil Rules, including under CR 27-31 and 33-35, only on motion and under terms and limitations the hearing officer deems just or on the parties' stipulation.

**(d) Limitations on Discovery.** The hearing officer may exercise discretion in imposing terms or limitations on the exercise of discovery to assure an expeditious, economical, and fair proceeding, considering all relevant factors including necessity and unavailability by other means, the nature and complexity of the case, seriousness of charges, the formal and informal discovery that has already occurred, the burdens on the party from whom discovery is sought, and the possibility of unfair surprise.

**(e) Deposition Procedure Subpoenas.** ~~(+) Subpoenas for depositions may be issued under CR 45. Subpoenas may be enforced under rule 4.7.~~

~~(2) For a deposition outside Washington State, a commission need not issue, but a copy of the order of the chief hearing officer or hearing officer, certified by the officer, is sufficient to authorize the deposition.~~

**(f) Commissions.** For a deposition outside Washington State, a commission need not issue, but a copy of the order of the chief hearing officer or hearing officer, certified by the officer, is sufficient to authorize the deposition.

**(fg) CR 16 Orders.** The hearing officer may enter orders under CR 16.

**(gh) Duty to Cooperate.** A respondent lawyer who has been served with a formal complaint must respond to discovery requests and comply with all lawful orders made by the hearing officer. The hearing officer ~~or panel~~ may draw adverse inferences as appear warranted by the failure of either the Association or the respondent to respond to discovery.

#### RULE 10.12 SCHEDULING OF HEARING

**(a) Where Held.** Absent agreement of all parties, All disciplinary hearings must be held in Washington State,

unless the respondent lawyer is not a resident of the state, or cannot be found in the state.

**(b) Scheduling of Hearing Conference.** If possible, the parties should arrange a date, time, and place for the hearing by agreement among themselves and the hearing officer or panel members. Alternatively, at any time after the respondent has filed an answer to the formal complaint, or after the time to file the answer has expired, either party may move for an order setting a date, time, and place for the hearing. Rule 10.8 applies to this motion. The motion must state:

- (1) the requested date or dates for the hearing;
- (2) other dates that are available to the requesting party;
- (3) the expected duration of the hearing;
- (4) discovery and anything else that must be completed before the hearing; and
- (5) the requested time and place for the hearing.

A response to the motion must contain the same information.

Following the filing of respondent's answer, the hearing officer must convene a scheduling conference of the parties, by conference call or in person.

**(c) Scheduling Order.** The hearing officer must enter an order setting the date and place of the hearing. This order may include any prehearing deadlines the hearing officer deems required by the complexity of the case, as well as a determination regarding a settlement conference under section (h). ~~The Scheduling Order, and~~ may be in the following form with the following timelines:

#### SCHEDULING CONFERENCE DETERMINATION:

[ ] The hearing officer finds that this case may benefit from a settlement conference, and a settlement officer should be appointed.

**IT IS ORDERED** that the hearing is set and the parties must comply with prehearing deadlines as follows:

1. **Witnesses.** A preliminary list of intended witnesses, including addresses and phone numbers, and a designation of whether the witness is a fact witness, character witness, or expert witness, must be filed and served by [Hearing Date (H)-8] weeks].

2. **Discovery.** Discovery cut-off is [H-6 weeks].

3. **Motions.** Prehearing motions, other than motions to bifurcate, must be served by [H-4 weeks]. An exhibit not ordered or stipulated admitted may not be attached to a motion or otherwise transmitted to the hearing officer unless the motion concerns the exhibit's admissibility. The hearing officer will advise counsel whether oral argument is necessary, and, if so, the date and time, and whether it will be heard by telephone. (Rule 10.15 provides the deadline for a motion to bifurcate.)

4. **Exhibits.** ~~A~~ Lists of proposed exhibits must be filed and served exchanged by [H-3 weeks].

5. **Service of Exhibits/Summary Final Witness List.** Copies of proposed exhibits and a final witness list, including a summary of the expected testimony of each witness must be served on the opposing counsel exchanged by [H-2 weeks]. A copy of the final witness list, excluding the summary of expected testimony, must be filed and served by [H-2 weeks].



6. **Objections.** Objections to proposed exhibits, including grounds other than relevancy, must be exchanged by [H-1 week].

7. **Briefs.** Any hearing brief must be filed and served and filed by [H-1 week]. Exhibits not ordered or stipulated admitted may not be attached to a hearing brief or otherwise transmitted to the hearing officer before the hearing.

8. **Hearing.** The hearing is set for [H] and each day thereafter until recessed by the hearing officer, at [location].

**(d) Failure to Comply With Scheduling Order.** Upon a party failing to comply with a provision of the scheduling order, the hearing officer may exclude witnesses, testimony, exhibits or other evidence, and take such other action as may be appropriate.

**(de) Motion for Hearing Within 120 Days.** A respondent's motion under section (b) for a hearing within 120 days must be granted, unless disciplinary counsel shows good cause for setting the hearing at a later date.

**(ef) Notice.** Service of a copy of an order or ruling of the hearing officer setting a date, time, and place for the hearing constitutes notice of the hearing. The respondent must be given at least ten days notice of the hearing absent consent.

**(fg) Continuance.** Either party may move for a continuance of the hearing date. The hearing officer has discretion to grant the motion for good cause shown.

**(h) Settlement Conference.**

**(1) Procedure.** The hearing officer determines whether a settlement conference should be ordered whenever:

**(A)** the hearing officer issues a scheduling order under section (c); or

**(B)** a party requests a settlement conference in writing.

**(2) Timing.** Unless agreed to by the parties, a settlement conference may not be scheduled later than 30 days prior to the hearing date specified in the scheduling order.

**(3) Factors Considered.** When making a determination about whether to order a settlement conference, the hearing officer shall consider whether such a conference would be helpful in light of the complexity of the issues, the extent to which the relevant facts or charged violations are disputed, or any other relevant factor.

**(4) Appointment.** The chief hearing officer will determine whether to appoint the assigned hearing officer or another hearing officer to conduct the settlement conference. Following a settlement conference, the hearing officer who conducted the settlement conference may not conduct the disciplinary hearing without the consent of all parties.

**(5) Confidentiality.** Settlement conference proceedings are confidential and not admissible in any discipline proceeding.

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**RULE 10.13 DISCIPLINARY HEARING**

**(a) Representation.** ~~The Association is represented at the hearing by disciplinary counsel.~~ The respondent lawyer may be represented by counsel.

**(b) Respondent Must Attend.** A respondent given notice of a hearing must attend the hearing. Failure to attend

the hearing, without good cause, may be grounds for discipline. If, after proper notice, the respondent fails to attend the hearing, the hearing may proceed, and the hearing officer ~~or panel:~~

(1) may draw an adverse inference from the respondent's failure to attend as to any questions that might have been asked the respondent at the hearing; and

(2) must admit testimony by deposition regardless of the deponent's availability. An affidavit or declaration is also admissible, if:

(A) the facts stated are within the witness's personal knowledge;

(B) the facts are set forth with particularity; and

(C) it shows affirmatively that the witness could testify competently to the stated facts.

**(c) Respondent Must Bring Requested Materials.** Disciplinary counsel may request in writing, served on the respondent at least three days before the hearing, that the respondent bring to the hearing any documents, files, records, or other written materials or things previously requested in accordance with these rules. The respondent must comply with this request and failure to bring requested materials, without good cause, may be grounds for discipline.

**(d) Witnesses.** Except as provided in subsection (b)(2) ~~and rule 10.6~~, witnesses must testify under oath. Testimony may also be submitted by deposition as permitted by CR 32. If ordered by the hearing officer, testimony may be taken by telephone, television, video connection, or other contemporaneous electronic means. Testimony must be recorded by a court reporter or, if allowed by the hearing officer, by tape or electronic recording. The parties have the right to cross-examine witnesses who testify and to submit rebuttal evidence.

**(e) Subpoenas.** The parties may subpoena witnesses, documents, or things under the terms of CR 45. A witness must promptly comply with all subpoenas issued under this rule and with all lawful orders made by the hearing officer under this rule. Subpoenas may be enforced under rule 4.7. The hearing officer ~~or panel~~ may additionally draw adverse inferences as appear warranted by the respondent's failure to respond.

**(f) Prior Disciplinary Record.** The respondent's record of prior disciplinary action, or the fact that the respondent has no prior disciplinary action, must be made a part of the hearing record before the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ files a ~~decision~~ recommendation.

**RULE 10.14 EVIDENCE AND BURDEN OF PROOF**

**(a) Proceedings Not Civil or Criminal.** Hearing officers should be guided in their evidentiary and procedural rulings by the principle that disciplinary proceedings are neither civil nor criminal but are sui generis hearings to determine if a lawyer's conduct should have an impact on his or her license to practice law.

**(b) Burden of Proof.** Disciplinary counsel has the burden of establishing an act of misconduct by a clear preponderance of the evidence.

**(c) Proceeding Based on Criminal Conviction.** If a formal complaint charges a respondent lawyer with an act of misconduct for which the respondent has been convicted in a

criminal proceeding, the court record of the conviction is conclusive evidence at the disciplinary hearing of the respondent's guilt of the crime and violation of the statute on which the conviction was based.

**(d) Rules of Evidence.** Consistent with section (a) of this rule, the following rules of evidence apply during disciplinary hearings:

(1) evidence, including hearsay evidence, is admissible if in the hearing officer's judgment it is the kind of evidence on which reasonably prudent persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of their affairs. The hearing officer may exclude evidence that is irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly repetitious;

(2) if not inconsistent with subsection (1), the hearing officer shall refer to the Washington Rules of Evidence as guidelines for evidentiary rulings;

(3) documents may be admitted in the form of copies or excerpts, or by incorporation by reference;

(4) Official Notice.

(A) official notice may be taken of:

(i) any judicially cognizable facts;

(ii) technical or scientific facts within the hearing officer's ~~or panel's~~ specialized knowledge; and

(iii) codes or standards adopted by an agency of the United States, of this state, or of another state, or by a nationally recognized organization or association.

(B) the parties shall be notified either before or during hearing, or by reference in preliminary reports or otherwise, of the material noticed and the sources thereof, including any staff memoranda and data, and they shall have an opportunity to contest the facts and material noticed. A party proposing that official notice be taken may be required to produce a copy of the material to be noticed.

**(e) APA as Guidance.** The evidence standards in this rule are based on the evidence provisions of the Washington Administrative Procedures Act, which, when not inconsistent with these standards, should be looked to for guidance. "Shall" has the meaning in this rule ascribed to it in the APA.

#### RULE 10.15 BIFURCATED HEARINGS

**(a) When Allowed.** Upon written motion filed no later than 60 days before the scheduled hearing, either party may request that the disciplinary proceeding be bifurcated. The hearing officer ~~or panel~~ must weigh the reasons for bifurcation against any increased cost and delay, inconvenience to participants, duplication of evidence, and any other factors, and may grant the motion only if it appears necessary to insure a fair and orderly hearing because the respondent has a record of prior disciplinary sanction or because either party would suffer significant prejudice or harm.

**(b) Procedure.**

(1) *Violation Hearing.*

(A) A bifurcated proceeding begins with an initial hearing to make factual determinations and legal conclusions as to the violations charged, including the mental state necessary for the violations. During this stage of the proceedings, evidence of a prior disciplinary record is not admissible to prove the respondent's character or to impeach the respondent's credibility. However, evidence of prior acts of misconduct may be admitted for other purposes, such as proof of

motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

(B) At the conclusion of that hearing, the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ files findings and conclusions.

(i) If no violation is found, the proceedings are concluded, the findings and conclusions are the decision of the hearing officer ~~or panel~~, and the sanction hearing is canceled.

(ii) If any violation is found, after the expiration of the time for a motion to amend under rule 10.16(c), or after ruling on that motion, the findings and conclusions as to those violations are not subject to reconsideration by the hearing officer.

(2) *Sanction Hearing.* If any violation is found, a second hearing is held to determine the appropriate sanction recommendation. During the sanction hearing, evidence of the existence or lack of any prior disciplinary record is admissible. No evidence may be admitted to contradict or challenge the findings and conclusions as to the violations. At the conclusion of the sanction hearing, the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ files findings and conclusions as to a sanction recommendation, that, together with the previously filed findings and conclusions, is the decision of the hearing officer ~~or panel~~.

(3) *Timing.* If a motion for bifurcation is granted, the violation hearing is held on the date previously set for hearing. Upon granting a motion to bifurcate, the hearing officer must set a date and place for the sanction hearing. Absent extraordinary circumstances, the sanction hearing should be held no later than 45 days after the anticipated last day of the violation hearing.

#### RULE 10.16 DECISION OF HEARING OFFICER ~~OR PANEL~~

**(a) Decision.** Within ~~20~~ 30 days after the proceedings are concluded or (if applicable) the transcript of proceedings is served, unless extended by agreement, the hearing officer should file with the Clerk a decision in the form of findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendations. This deadline may be extended by agreement.

**(b) Preparation of Findings.** Either party may submit proposed findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendation as part of their argument of the case. The hearing officer ~~or hearing panel~~ either (1) writes ~~their own~~ findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendations without requiring submission of proposed findings, conclusions, or recommendations or (2) announces a tentative decision and then ~~At the requests of the hearing officer, or without a request, either one or both parties may submit~~ to prepare proposed findings, conclusions, and recommendations. After notice and an opportunity to respond, the hearing officer considers the proposals and responses and enters findings, conclusions, and recommendations.

**(c) Amendment.**

(1) *Timing of Motion.* Either party may move to modify, amend, or correct the decision as follows:

(A) In a proceeding not bifurcated, within ~~ten~~ 15 days of service of the decision on the respondent lawyer;

(B) In a bifurcated proceeding, within ~~five~~ 15 days of service of:

(i) the violation findings of fact and conclusions of law; or

(ii) the sanction recommendation, but this motion may not seek to modify, amend, or correct the violation findings or conclusions.

~~(C) If a hearing panel member dissents from a decision of the majority, the five or ten day period does not begin until the written dissent is filed or the time to file a dissent has expired, whichever is sooner.~~

~~(2) Procedure.~~ Rule 10.8 governs this motion, ~~except that all members of a hearing panel must be served with the motion and any response and participate in a decision on the motion. A panel's deliberation may be conducted through telephone conference call. The hearing officer or panel should rule on the motion within 15 days after the filing of a timely response reply or after the period to file a response reply under rule 10.8(b) has expired. The ruling may deny the motion or may amend, modify, or correct the decision.~~

~~(3) Effect of Failure To Move.~~ Failure to move for modification, correction, or amendment does not affect any appeal to the Board or review by the Supreme Court.

~~(d) Dissent of Panel Member.~~ Any member of a hearing panel who dissents from the decision of the majority of the panel should file a dissent, which may consist of alternative findings, conclusions, or recommendation. A dissent should be filed within ten days of the filing of the majority's decision and becomes part of the record of the proceedings.

~~(e) Panel Members Unable To Agree.~~ If no two panel members are able to agree on a decision, each panel member files findings, conclusions, and a recommendation, and the Board reviews the matter whether or not an appeal is filed.

~~(f) When Final.~~ If a hearing officer or panel recommends reprimand or an admonition, or recommends dismissal of the charges, the recommendation becomes the final decision if neither party files an appeal. If a hearing officer recommends disbarment or suspension, the recommendation becomes the final decision only upon entry of an order by the Supreme Court under rule 11.12(g) or final action on an appeal or petition for discretionary review under Title 12 and if the Chair does not refer the matter to the Board for consideration within the time permitted by rule 11.2 (b)(3). If the Chair refers the matter to the Board for consideration of a sua sponte review, the decision is final upon entry of an order dismissing sua sponte review under rule 11.3 or upon other Board decision under rule 11.12(g).

## TITLE 11 - REVIEW BY BOARD

### RULE 11.1 SCOPE OF TITLE

This title provides the procedure for Board review following a hearing officer or panel's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendation, or dismissal of all claims under rule 10.10(a). It does not apply to Board review of interim rulings under rule 10.9.

### RULE 11.2 DECISIONS SUBJECT TO BOARD REVIEW

**(a) Decision.** For purposes of this title, "Decision" means:

(1) the hearing officer or panel's findings of fact, conclusions of law, and recommendation, provided that if either party properly files a motion to amend under rule 10.16(c), the "Decision" includes the ruling on the motion, and

becomes subject to Board review only upon the ruling on the motion; or

(2) the hearing officer or panel's decision under rule 10.10(a) dismissing all claims.

**(b) Review of Decisions.** The Board reviews ~~the following~~ a Decisions if within 30 days of service of the Decision on the respondent:

~~(1) those recommending suspension or disbarment;~~

~~(2) those in which no two members of a hearing panel are able to agree on a Decision; and~~

~~(3) all others if within 15 days of service of the Decision on the respondent:~~

~~(A) either party files a notice of appeal; or~~

~~(B) the Chair files a notice of referral for sua sponte consideration under rule 11.3(b) of the a Decision not recommending suspension or disbarment.~~

**(c) Cross Appeal.** If a party files a timely notice of appeal under subsection (b)(1) of this rule and the other party wants relief from the Decision, the other party must file a notice of appeal with the Clerk within the later of (1) 14 days after service of the notice filed by the other party, or (2) within the time set forth in subsection (b) for filing a notice of appeal.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

### RULE 11.3 SUA SPONTE REVIEW

~~(a) Procedure.~~ Sua sponte review commences when the Chair files a notice of referral under rule 11.2 (b)(3)(B): **Sua Sponte Review of Recommendations for Disbarment and Suspension.** If neither the Respondent nor Disciplinary Counsel files a timely notice of appeal from a Decision recommending suspension or disbarment, the Decision shall be distributed to the Board members for consideration of whether to order sua sponte review and the matter shall be scheduled for consideration by the Board. The Decision shall be distributed to the Board within 30 days after the last day to file a notice of appeal. An order for sua sponte review shall set forth the issues to be reviewed. If the Board declines to order sua sponte review, the Board shall issue an order declining sua sponte review and adopting the Decision of the hearing officer.

**(b) Sua Sponte Review of Other Recommendations.** The Chair may file a notice of referral for sua sponte consideration of a Decision other than one recommending disbarment or suspension under rule 11.2 (b)(2). The notice shall be filed within 30 days after the last day to file a notice of appeal. Upon this filing, the Chair causes a copy to be served on the parties and schedules the matter for consideration by the Board. On consideration, the Board either issues an order for sua sponte review setting forth the issues to be reviewed or dismisses the sua sponte review or an order declining sua sponte review.

**(c) Procedure.** If the Board issues an order for sua sponte review, the procedures of rule 11.9(e) apply unless otherwise modified by the order, the Board's order must designate the appellant for purposes of rules 11.6 and 11.9, except but either party may raise any issue for Board review. Board review is conducted as described in rule 11.12.

**(bd) Standards for Ordering Sua Sponte Review.** ~~The Board uses sua sponte review only in extraordinary circumstances to prevent substantial injustice or to correct a clear error. Sua sponte review uses the same standards of review as other cases. The Board should order sua sponte review only in extraordinary circumstances to prevent substantial injustice or to correct a clear error.~~

#### RULE 11.4 TRANSCRIPT OF HEARING

**(a) Ordering Transcript.** A hearing transcript or partial transcript may be ordered at any time by the hearing officer ~~or panel~~, respondent lawyer, disciplinary counsel, or the Board. ~~Disciplinary counsel must order the entire transcript if the hearing officer or panel recommends suspension or disbarment or if no two panel members can agree on a Decision.~~ If a notice of appeal is filed under rule 11.2 (b)(3)(A), disciplinary counsel must order the entire transcript unless the parties agree that no transcript or only a partial transcript is necessary for review. For sua sponte review, the Chair determines ~~the procedure for ordering the transcript if not already ordered~~ the extent of the transcript necessary for review. If the Chair orders a partial transcript, either party may request additional portions of the transcript.

**(b) Filing and Service.** The original of the transcript is filed with the Clerk. Disciplinary counsel must cause a copy of the transcript to be served on the respondent except if the respondent ordered the transcript.

**(c) Proposed Corrections.** Within ten days of service of a copy of the transcript on the respondent, or within ten days of filing the transcript if the respondent ordered the transcript, each party may file any proposed corrections to the transcript. Each party has five days after service of the opposing party's proposed corrections to file objections to those proposed corrections.

**(d) Settlement of Transcript.** If either party files objections to any proposed correction under section (c), the hearing officer, upon review of the proposed corrections and objections, enters an order settling the transcript. Otherwise, the transcript is deemed settled and any proposed corrections deemed incorporated in the transcript.

#### RULE 11.5 RECORD ON REVIEW

**(a) Generally.** The record on review consists of:

(1) any hearing transcript or partial transcript; and  
(2) bar file documents and exhibits designated by the parties.

**(b) References to the Record.** Briefs filed under rules ~~11.8 and~~ 11.9 must specifically refer to the record if available, using the designations TR for transcript of hearing, EX for exhibits, and BF for bar file documents.

**(c) Avoid Duplication.** Material appearing in one part of the record on review should not be duplicated in another part of the record on review.

**(d) No Additional Evidence.** Evidence not presented to the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ must not be presented to the Board.

#### RULE 11.6 DESIGNATION OF BAR FILE DOCUMENTS AND EXHIBITS

**(a) RAP 9.6 Controls.** The parties designate bar file documents and exhibits for Board consideration under the

procedure of RAP 9.6 with the following adaptations and modifications, except as provided in this rule.

**(ab) Bar File Documents.** The bar file documents are considered the clerk's papers.

**(bc) Disciplinary Board and Clerk.** The Disciplinary Board is considered the appellate court and the Clerk to the Disciplinary Board is considered the trial court clerk.

**(ed) Responsibility and Time for Designation.**

~~(1) Review of Suspension or Disbarment Recommendation.~~ When review is under rule 11.2 (b)(1), the respondent lawyer must file and serve the respondent's designation of bar file documents and exhibits within 30 days of service of the Decision.

~~(2) Review Not Involving Suspension or Disbarment Recommendation.~~ When review is under rule 11.2 (b)(3)(A), the party seeking review ~~When a party appeals to the Board, that party~~ must file and serve that party's designation of bar file documents and exhibits within 15 days of filing the notice of appeal. When review is under rule 11.2 (b)(2) or 11.2 (b)(3)(B), the respondent is considered the party seeking review. In all other reviews, the party identified as appellant by the Board's order is responsible for designating bar file documents and exhibits.

**(de) Hearing Officer Recommendation.** The bar file documents must include the hearing officer ~~or panel's~~ recommendation.

#### RULE 11.7 PREPARATION OF BAR FILE DOCUMENTS AND EXHIBITS

**(a) Preparation.** The Clerk prepares the bar file documents and exhibits in the format required by RAP 9.7 (a) & (b), and distributes them to the Board. The Clerk provides the parties with a copy of the index of the bar file documents and the cover sheet listing the exhibits.

**(b) Costs.** Costs for preparing bar file documents and exhibits may be assessed as costs under rule 13.9 (b)(9).

#### RULE 11.8 BRIEFS FOR REVIEWS INVOLVING SUSPENSION OR DISBARMENT RECOMMENDATION ~~DELETED~~

**(a) Caption of Briefs.** Parties should caption their briefs as follows:

[Name of Party] Brief [in Support of/in Opposition to] Hearing [Officer's] [Panel's] Decision

[Name of Party] Reply Brief

**(b) Briefs in Support or Opposition.** In a matter before the Board under rule 11.2(b)(1), each party may file a brief in support of or in opposition to the Decision, or any part of it.

**(c) Time for Filing Briefs.** Briefs, if any, must be filed as follows:

(1) The respondent lawyer must file a brief within 20 days of service on the respondent of the later of:

(A) a copy of the hearing transcript; or

(B) the Decision.

(2) Disciplinary counsel must file a brief within 15 days of service on disciplinary counsel of the respondent's brief, or, if no brief is filed by the respondent, within 15 days of the expiration of the period for the respondent to file a brief.

(3) The respondent may file a reply to disciplinary counsel's brief within ten days of service of that brief on the respondent.

**RULE 11.9 BRIEFS FOR REVIEWS NOT INVOLVING SUSPENSION OR DISBARMENT RECOMMENDATION**

**(a) Caption of Briefs.** The parties should caption briefs as follows:

[Name of Party] Opening Brief in Opposition to Hearing Officer's/ Panel's Decision

[Name of Party] Response

[Name of Party] Reply

**(b) Opening Brief in Opposition.**

(1) The party seeking review must file an opening brief ~~in opposition to the Decision~~ within 20 ~~45~~ days of the later of:

(A) service on the respondent lawyer of a copy of the transcript, unless the parties have agreed that no transcript is necessary; or

(B) filing of the notice of appeal.

(2) Failure to file an opening brief within the required period constitutes an abandonment of the appeal.

**(c) Response.** The opposing party has ~~15~~ 30 days from service of the ~~statement of the party seeking review~~ opening brief to file a brief responding to the issues raised on appeal.

**(d) Reply.** The party seeking review may file a reply to the response within ~~ten~~ 30 days of service of the response.

**(e) Procedure when Both Parties Seek Review or When No Two Panel Members Can Agree the Board Orders Sua Sponte Review.** When both parties file notices of appeal ~~under rule 11.2 (b)(3)(A) or when no two panel members are able to agree on a Decision, the respondent the party filing first~~ is considered the party seeking review ~~and disciplinary counsel is considered the opposing party. When the Board initiates sua sponte review, the order must designate the party seeking review. In these cases, disciplinary counsel's response~~ the responding party may raise any issue for Board review, and the ~~respondent~~ designated party seeking review has an additional five days to file the reply permitted by section (d).

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**RULE 11.10 SUPPLEMENTING RECORD ON REVIEW**

The record on review may be supplemented under the procedures of RAP 9.6 except that leave to supplement is freely granted. The Board may direct that the record be supplemented with any portion of the record before the hearing officer, including any bar file documents and exhibits.

**RULE 11.11 REQUEST FOR ADDITIONAL PROCEEDINGS**

In any brief permitted in rules ~~11.8 and~~ 11.9, either party may request that an additional hearing be held before the hearing officer or panel to take additional evidence based on newly discovered evidence. A request for an additional hearing must be supported by affidavit describing in detail the additional evidence sought to be admitted and any reasons why it was not presented at the previous hearing. The Board may grant or deny the request in its discretion.

**RULE 11.12 DECISION OF BOARD**

**(a) Basis for Review.** Board review is based on the hearing officer ~~or panel's~~ Decision, ~~any hearing panel member's dissent,~~ the parties' briefs filed under rule ~~11.8 or~~ 11.9, and the record on review.

**(b) Standards of Review.** The Board reviews findings of fact for substantial evidence. The Board reviews conclusions of law and recommendation de novo. Evidence not presented to the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ cannot be considered by the Board.

**(c) Oral Argument.** The Board hears oral argument if requested by either party or the Chair. A party's request must be filed no later than the deadline for that party to file his or her last brief, including a response or reply, under rule ~~11.8 or~~ 11.9. The Chair's notice of oral argument must be filed and served on the parties no later than 14 days before the oral argument. The Chair sets the time, place, and terms for oral argument.

**(d) Action by Board.** On review, the Board may adopt, modify, or reverse the findings, conclusions, or recommendation of the hearing officer ~~or panel~~. The Board may also direct that the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ hold an additional hearing on any issue, on its own motion, or on either party's request.

**(e) Order or Opinion.** The Board must issue a written order or opinion. If the Board amends, modifies, or reverses any finding, conclusion, or recommendation of the hearing officer ~~or panel~~, the Board must state the reasons for its decision in a written order or opinion. A Board member agreeing with the majority's order or opinion may file separate concurring reasons. A Board member dissenting from the majority's order or opinion may set forth in writing the reasons for that dissent. Regardless of whether or not a dissenting member files a written dissent, the Board order or opinion must set forth the result favored by each dissenting member. The decision should be prepared as expeditiously as possible and consists of the majority's opinion or order together with any concurring or dissenting opinions. None of the opinions or orders may be filed until all opinions are filed. A copy of the complete decision is served by the Clerk on the parties.

**(f) Procedure to Amend, Modify, or Reverse if No Appeal.**

(1) If the Board intends to amend, modify, or reverse the hearing officer ~~or panel's~~ recommendation in a matter that has not been appealed to the Board by either party, the Board issues a notice of intended decision.

(2) Either party may, within 15 days of service of this notice, file a request that the Board reconsider the intended decision.

(3) If a request is filed, the Board reconsiders its intended decision and the intended decision has no force or effect. The Chair determines the procedure for the Board's reconsideration, including whether to grant requests for oral argument.

(4) If no timely request for reconsideration is filed, the Board forthwith issues an order adopting the intended decision effective on the date of the order. If a party files a timely request for reconsideration, the Board issues an order or opinion after reconsideration under section (e).

**(g) Decision Final Unless Appealed.** The Board's decision is final if neither party files a notice of appeal ~~nor~~ a petition for review within the time permitted by title 12 or upon the Supreme Court's denial of a petition for discretionary review. When a Board decision recommending suspension or disbarment becomes final because neither party has filed a notice of appeal or petition for discretionary review, the

Clerk transmits to the Supreme Court a copy of the Board's decision together with the findings, conclusions and recommendation of the hearing officer for entry of an appropriate order.

#### **RULE 11.13 CHAIR MAY MODIFY REQUIREMENTS**

Upon written motion filed with the Clerk by either party, for good cause shown, the Chair may modify the time periods in title 11, and make other orders as appear appropriate to assure fair and orderly Board review. However, the time period for filing a notice of appeal in rule 11.2(b)(3)(A) may not be extended or altered.

#### **RULE 11.14 MOTIONS**

**(a) Content of Motion.** A motion must include (1) a statement of the name and designation of the person filing the motion, (2) a statement of the relief sought, (3) reference to or copies of parts of the record relevant to the motion, and (4) a statement of the grounds for the relief sought, with supporting argument.

**(b) Filing and Service.** Motions on matters pending before the Board must be in writing and filed with the Clerk. The motion and any response or reply must be served as required by rule 4.1.

**(c) Response.** The opposing party may submit a written response to the motion. A response must be served and filed within ten days of service of the motion, unless the time is shortened by the Chair for good cause.

**(d) Reply.** The moving party may submit a reply to a response. A reply must be served and filed within seven days of service of the response, unless the time for reply is shortened by the Chair for good cause.

**(e) Length of Motion, Response, and Reply.** A motion and response must not exceed ten pages, not including supporting papers. A reply must not exceed five pages, not including supporting papers. For good cause, the Chair may grant a motion to file an over-length motion, response, or reply.

**(f) Consideration of Motion.** Upon expiration of the time for reply, the Chair must promptly rule on the motion or refer the motion to the full Board for decision. A motion will be decided without oral argument, unless the Chair directs otherwise.

**(g) Ruling.** A motion is decided by written order filed with and served by the Clerk under rule 4.2(b).

**(h) Minor Matters.** Motions on minor matters may be made by letter to the Chair, with a copy served on the opposing party and filed with the Clerk. The provisions of sections (c), (d), and (f) of this rule apply to such motions. A ruling on such a motion is decided by written order filed with and served by the Clerk under rule 4.2(b).

#### **TITLE 12 - REVIEW BY SUPREME COURT**

##### **RULE 12.1 APPLICABILITY OF RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE**

The Rules of Appellate Procedure serve as guidance for review under this title except as to matters specifically dealt with in these rules.

#### **RULE 12.2 METHODS OF SEEKING REVIEW**

**(a) Two Methods for Seeking Review of Board Decisions.** The methods for seeking Supreme Court review of Board decisions entered under rule 11.12(e) are: review as a matter of right, called "appeal", and review with Court permission, called "discretionary review". Both "appeal" and "discretionary review" are called "review".

**(b) Power of Court Not Affected.** This rule does not affect the Court's power to review any Board decision recommending suspension or disbarment and to exercise its inherent and exclusive jurisdiction over the lawyer discipline and disability system. The Court notifies the respondent lawyer and disciplinary counsel of the Court's intent to exercise sua sponte review within 90 days of the Court receiving notice of the decision under rule 3.5(a), ~~rule 7.1(h)~~, or otherwise.

#### **RULE 12.3 APPEAL**

**(a) Respondent's Right to Appeal.** The respondent lawyer or disciplinary counsel has the right to appeal a Board decision recommending suspension or disbarment. There is no other right of appeal.

**(b) Notice of Appeal.** ~~To appeal, the respondent~~ The appealing party must file a notice of appeal with the Clerk within 15 30 days of service of the board's decision on the respondent that party.

**(c) Subsequent Notice By the Other Party.** When a timely notice of appeal has been filed by a party, if the other party wants relief from the Board's decision, that party must file a notice of appeal with the Clerk within 14 days after service of the notice filed by the other party.

**(d) Filing Fee.** The first party to file a notice of appeal must, at the time the notice is filed, either pay the statutory filing fee to the Clerk of the Disciplinary Board by cash or by check made payable to the Clerk of the Supreme Court, or by appropriate motion apply to the Clerk of the Supreme Court for a waiver of the filing fee based upon a showing of indigency.

**(e) Service.** A party filing any notice of appeal must serve the other party.

#### **RULE 12.4 DISCRETIONARY REVIEW**

**(a) Decisions Subject to Discretionary Review.** Respondent or disciplinary counsel may seek discretionary review of Board decisions under rule 11.12(e) not recommending suspension or disbarment subject to appeal under rule 12.3 are subject to Supreme Court review only through discretionary review. The Court accepts discretionary review only if:

- (1) the Board's decision is in conflict with a Supreme Court decision;
- (2) a significant question of law is involved;
- (3) there is no substantial evidence in the record to support a material finding of fact on which the Board's decision is based; or
- (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that the Court should determine.

**(b) Petition for Review.** ~~Either party~~ Respondent or disciplinary counsel may seek discretionary review by filing a petition for review with the Court Clerk within 25 30 days of service of the Board's decision on respondent.

**(c) Content of Petition; Answer; Service; Decision.** A petition for review should be substantially in the form prescribed by RAP 13.4(c) for petitions for Supreme Court review of Court of Appeals decisions. References in that rule to the Court of Appeals are considered references to the Board. The appendix to the petition or an appendix to an answer or reply may additionally contain any part of the record, including portions of the transcript or exhibits, to which the party refers. RAP 13.4 (d) - (h) governs answers and replies to petitions for review and related matters including service and decision by the Court.

**(d) Subsequent Petition By Other Parties.** If a timely petition for discretionary review is filed by the Respondent or disciplinary counsel, and the other party wants relief from the Board's decision, he or she must file a petition for discretionary review with the Clerk within the later of:

(1) 14 days after service of the petition filed by the other party, or

(2) the time for filing a petition under subsection (b) of this rule.

**(e) Filing Fee.** The first party to file a petition for discretionary review must, at the time the petition is filed, either pay the statutory filing fee to the Clerk of the Disciplinary Board by cash or by check made payable to the Clerk of the Supreme Court, or by appropriate motion apply to the Clerk of the Supreme Court for a waiver of the filing fee based upon a showing of indigency.

**(f) Acceptance of Review.** The Court accepts discretionary review of a Board decision by granting a petition for review. Upon acceptance of review, the same procedures apply to matters subject to appeal and matters subject to discretionary review.

#### RULE 12.5 RECORD TO SUPREME COURT

**(a) Transmittal.** The Clerk should transmit the record, including the filing fee, to the Supreme Court within 30 days of the filing of the notice of appeal, service of the order accepting review, or filing of the transcript of oral argument before the Board, if any. Notwithstanding these deadlines, the Clerk should not transmit the record to the Supreme Court prior to payment of the filing fee or receipt of proof that the Supreme Court has waived the filing fee.

**(b) Content.** The record transmitted to the Court consists of:

- (1) the notice of appeal, if any;
- (2) the Board's decision;
- (3) the record before the Board;
- (4) the transcript of any oral argument before the Board;

and

(5) any other portions of the record before the hearing officer, including any bar file documents or exhibits, that the Court deems necessary for full review.

**(c) Notice to Parties.** The Clerk serves each party with a list of the portions of the record transmitted.

**(d) Transmittal of Cost Orders.** Within ten days of entry of an order assessing costs under rule 13.9(e), the Clerk should transmit it to the Court as a separate part of the record, together with the supporting statements of costs and expenses and any exceptions or reply filed under rule 13.9(d).

**(e) Additions to Record.** Either party may request that the Clerk transmit additional portions of the record to the Court prior to or with the filing of the party's last brief. Thereafter, either party may at any time move the Court for an order directing the transmittal of additional portions of the record to the Court.

#### RULE 12.6 BRIEFS

**(a) Brief Required.** The party seeking review must file a brief stating his or her objections to the Board's decision.

**(b) Time for Filing.** The brief of the party seeking review should be filed with the Supreme Court within 30 days of service under rule 12.5(c) of the list of portions of the record transmitted to the Court.

**(c) Answering Brief.** The answering brief of the other party should be filed with the Court within 30 days after service of the brief of the party seeking review.

**(d) Reply Brief.** A reply brief of a party seeking review should be filed with the Court within the sooner of 20 days after service of the answering brief or 14 days before oral argument. A reply brief should be limited to a response to the issues in the brief to which the reply brief is directed.

**(e) Briefs When Both Parties Seek Review.** When both the respondent lawyer and disciplinary counsel seek review of a Board decision, the respondent is deemed the party seeking review for the purposes of this rule. In that case, disciplinary counsel may file a brief in reply to any response the respondent has made to the issues presented by disciplinary counsel, to be filed with the Court the sooner of 20 days after service of the respondent's reply brief or 14 days before oral argument.

**(f) Form of Briefs.** Briefs filed under this rule must conform as nearly as possible to the requirements of RAP 10.3 and 10.4. Bar file documents should be abbreviated BF, the transcript or partial transcript of the hearing should be abbreviated TR, and exhibits should be abbreviated EX.

**(g) Reproduction and Service of Briefs by Clerk.** The Supreme Court clerk reproduces and distributes briefs as provided in RAP 10.5.

#### RULE 12.7 ARGUMENT

**(a) Rules Applicable.** Oral argument before the Supreme Court is conducted under title 11 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, unless the Court directs otherwise.

**(b) Priority.** Disciplinary proceedings have priority and are set upon compliance with the above rules.

#### RULE 12.8 ~~EFFECTIVE DATE OF OPINION~~ MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

~~**(a) Effective when Filed.** An opinion in a disciplinary proceeding takes effect when filed unless the Court specifically provides otherwise.~~

~~**(b) Motion for Reconsideration.** A motion for reconsideration may be filed as provided in RAP 12.4, but the motion does not stay the judgment or delay the effective date of a suspension or disbarment unless the Court enters a stay.~~

#### RULE 12.9 VIOLATION OF RULES

Sanctions for violation of these rules may be imposed on a party under RAP 18.9. Upon dismissal under that rule of a review sought by a respondent lawyer and expiration of the period to file objections under RAP 17.7, or upon dismissal

of review by the Court if timely objections are filed, the Board's decision is final.

#### TITLE 13 - SANCTIONS AND REMEDIES

##### RULE 13.1 SANCTIONS AND REMEDIES

Upon a finding that a lawyer has committed an act of misconduct, one or more of the following may be imposed:

**(a) Sanctions.**

- (1) Disbarment;
- (2) Suspension under rule 13.3; or
- (3) Reprimand.

**(b) Admonition.** An admonition under rule 13.5.

**(c) Remedies.**

- (1) Restitution;
- (2) Probation;
- (3) Limitation on practice;
- (4) Requirement that the lawyer attend continuing legal education courses;
- (5) Assessment of costs; or
- (6) Other requirements consistent with the purposes of lawyer discipline.

##### RULE 13.2 EFFECTIVE DATE OF SUSPENSIONS AND DISBARMENTS

Suspensions and disbarments are effective on the date set by the Supreme Court's order or opinion, which will ordinarily be seven days after the date of the order or opinion. If no date is set, the suspension or disbarment is effective ~~on the seven days after the~~ date of the Court's order or opinion.

##### RULE 13.3 SUSPENSION

**(a) Term of Suspension.** A suspension must be for a fixed period of time not exceeding three years.

**(b) Reinstatement.**

(1) After the period of suspension, the Association administratively returns the suspended respondent lawyer to the respondent's status before the suspension without further order by the Court upon:

(A) the respondent's compliance with all current licensing requirements; and

(B) disciplinary counsel's certification that the respondent has complied with any specific conditions ordered, and has paid any costs or restitution ordered or is current with any costs or restitution payment plan.

(2) A respondent may ask the Chair to review an adverse determination by disciplinary counsel regarding compliance with the conditions for reinstatement, payment of costs or restitution, or compliance with a costs or restitution payment plan. On review, the Chair may modify the terms of the payment plan if warranted. The Chair determines the procedure for this review. The Chair's ruling is not subject to further review. If the Chair determines that the Board should review the matter, the Chair directs the procedure for Board review and the Board's decision is not subject to further review.

##### RULE 13.4 REPRIMAND

**(a) Administration.** The Association administers a reprimand to a respondent lawyer by written statement signed by its President.

**(b) Notice and Review of Contents.** The Association must serve the respondent with a copy of the proposed reprimand.

~~mand. Within five days of service of the proposed reprimand, the respondent may file a request for review of the content of the proposed reprimand. This request stays the administration of the reprimand. When timely requested, the Disciplinary Board reviews the proposed reprimand in light of the decision or stipulation imposing the reprimand and may take any appropriate action. The Board's action is final and not subject to further review. If no request is received, the content of the reprimand is final, and the reprimand is administered.~~

**Notice of Reprimand.** When an order imposing a reprimand is final, Association Counsel prepares a notice of reprimand consisting of the order imposing the reprimand together with the hearing officer's findings, conclusions and recommendation, any opinion or order of the Board or the Court, stipulation to discipline, or other final document that forms the basis for the order imposing a reprimand, together with a cover notation. The notice of reprimand is filed with the Clerk and served on the respondent lawyer as an order under rule 4.2(b).

**(b) Form of Notice.** The notice of reprimand must be in substantially the following form:

Notice of Reprimand

Lawyer \_\_\_\_\_, WSBA No. \_\_\_\_\_, has been  
ordered Reprimanded by the following attached documents:

[Title and date of the attached documents.]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

##### RULE 13.5 ADMONITION

**(a) By a Review Committee.**

~~(1) A review committee may issue an admonition when investigation of a grievance shows misconduct.~~

~~(2) A respondent lawyer may protest either the review committee's or the Board's prehearing issuance of an admonition by filing a notice to that effect with the Clerk within 30 days of service of the admonition. Upon receipt of a timely protest, the admonition is rescinded, and the grievance is deemed ordered to hearing.~~

~~(b) Following a Hearing.~~ A hearing officer or panel may recommend that a respondent receive an admonition following a hearing.

~~(c) By Stipulation.~~ The parties may stipulate to an admonition under rule 9.1.

~~(d) Effect.~~ An admonition is admissible in subsequent disciplinary or disability proceedings involving the respondent. Rule 3.6(b) governs destruction of file materials relating to an investigation or hearing concluded with an admonition, including the admonition.

~~(e) Action on Board Review.~~ Upon review under title 11, the Board may dismiss, issue an admonition, or impose sanctions or other remedies under rule 13.1.

**(f) Signing of Admonition.** The review committee chair signs an admonition issued by a review committee. The Disciplinary Board Chair or the Chair's designee signs all other admonitions.



**RULE 13.6 DISCIPLINE FOR CUMULATIVE ADMONITIONS**

~~(a) Grounds.~~ A lawyer may be subject to sanction or other remedy under rule 13.1 if the lawyer receives three admonitions within a five year period.

~~(b) Procedure.~~ Upon being presented with evidence that a respondent lawyer has received three admonitions within a five year period, a review committee may authorize the filing of a formal complaint based solely on the provisions of this rule. A proceeding under this rule is conducted in the same manner as any disciplinary proceeding. The issues in the proceeding are whether the respondent has received three admonitions within a five year period and, if so, what sanction or other remedy should be recommended.

**RULE 13.7 RESTITUTION**

**(a) Restitution May Be Required.** A respondent lawyer who has been sanctioned under rule 13.1 or admonished under rule 13.5(b) may be ordered to make restitution to persons financially injured by the respondent's conduct or the Lawyer's Fund for Client Protection.

**(b) Payment of Restitution.**

(1) A respondent ordered to make restitution must do so within 30 days of the date on which the decision requiring restitution becomes final, unless the decision provides otherwise or the respondent enters into a periodic payment plan with disciplinary counsel.

(2) A respondent ordered to make restitution to the Lawyer's Fund for Client Protection must do so within 30 days of the date on which the decision requiring restitution becomes final, unless the decision provides otherwise or the respondent enters into a periodic payment plan with the Lawyer's Fund for Client Protection Board

(23) Disciplinary counsel or the Lawyer's Fund for Client Protection Board may enter into an agreement with a respondent for a reasonable periodic payment plan if:

(A) the respondent demonstrates in writing present inability to pay restitution and

(B) disciplinary counsel consults with the persons owed restitution.

(34) A respondent may ask the Chair to review an adverse determination by disciplinary counsel of the reasonableness of a proposed periodic payment plan for restitution. The Chair directs the procedure for this review. The Chair's ruling is not subject to further review. If the Chair determines that the Board should review the matter, the Chair directs the procedure for Board review and the Board's decision is not subject to further review.

**(c) Failure To Comply.** A respondent's failure to make restitution when ordered to do so, or to comply with the terms of a periodic payment plan may be grounds for discipline.

**RULE 13.8 PROBATION**

**(a) Conditions of Probation.** A respondent lawyer who has been sanctioned under rule 13.1 ~~or admonished under rule 13.5 (b) or (e)~~ may be placed on probation for a fixed period of two years or less.

(1) Conditions of probation may include, but are not limited to requiring:

(A) alcohol or drug treatment;

(B) medical care;

(C) psychological or psychiatric care;

(D) professional office practice or management counseling; or

(E) periodic audits or reports.

(2) Upon disciplinary counsel's request, the Chair may appoint a suitable person to supervise the probation. Cooperation with a person so appointed is a condition of the probation.

**(b) Failure To Comply.** Failure to comply with a condition of probation may be grounds for discipline and any sanction imposed must take into account the misconduct leading to the probation.

**RULE 13.9 COSTS AND EXPENSES**

**(a) Assessment.** The Association's costs and expenses may be assessed as provided in this rule against any respondent lawyer who is ordered sanctioned ~~or admonished or against whom reciprocal discipline is imposed after a contested reciprocal discipline proceeding.~~

**(b) Costs Defined.** The term "costs" for the purposes of this rule includes all monetary obligations, except attorney fees, reasonably and necessarily incurred by the Association in the complete performance of its duties under these rules, whether incurred before or after the filing of a formal complaint. Costs include, by way of illustration and not limitation:

(1) court reporter charges for attending and transcribing depositions or hearings;

(2) process server charges;

(3) necessary travel expenses of hearing officers, ~~hearing panel members~~, disciplinary counsel, adjunct investigative counsel, or witnesses;

(4) expert witness charges;

(5) costs of conducting an examination of books and records or an audit under title 15;

(6) costs incurred in supervising probation imposed under rule 13.8;

(7) telephone toll charges;

(8) fees, costs, and expenses of a lawyer appointed under rule 8.2 or rule 8.3;

(9) costs of copying materials for submission to a review committee, a hearing officer ~~or panel~~, or the Board; and

(10) compensation provided to hearing officers ~~or panel members~~ under rule 2.11.

**(c) Expenses Defined.** "Expenses" for the purposes of this rule means a reasonable charge for attorney fees and administrative costs. Expenses assessed under this rule may equal the actual expenses incurred by the Association, but in any case cannot be less than the following amounts:

~~(1) for an admonition that is accepted under rule 13.5(a), \$750;~~

~~(2) for a matter that becomes final without review by the Board, \$1,500;~~

(2) for a matter that becomes final upon a reciprocal discipline order under rule 9.2 or rule 9.3, in a matter requiring briefing at the Supreme Court, \$1,500;

(3) for a matter that becomes final following Board review, without appeal to the Supreme Court, a total of \$2,000;

(4) for a matter appealed to the Supreme Court or in which the Court accepts discretionary review but not requiring briefing, a total of \$2,500; and

(5) for a matter appealed to the Supreme Court or in which the Court accepts discretionary review in which briefing is required, a total of \$3,000.

**(d) Statement of Costs and Expenses, Exceptions, and Reply.**

(1) *Timing.* Disciplinary counsel must file a statement of costs and expenses with the Clerk within 20 days from any of the following events:

(A) ~~an admonition is accepted;~~

~~(B) the decision of a hearing officer or panel or the Board imposing an admonition or a sanction becomes final;~~

~~(C) a notice of appeal from a Board decision is filed and served; or~~

~~(D) the Supreme Court accepts or denies discretionary review of a Board decision; or~~

(D) entry of a final decision imposing reciprocal discipline under rule 9.2 or rule 9.4 in a matter requiring briefing at the Supreme Court.

(2) *Content.* A statement of costs and expenses must state with particularity the nature and amount of the costs claimed and also state the expenses requested. Disciplinary counsel must sign the statement, and this signature constitutes a certification that all reasonable attempts have been made to insure the statement's accuracy.

(3) *Service.* The Clerk serves a copy of the statement on the respondent.

(4) *Exceptions.* The respondent may file exceptions no later than 20 days from service of the statement of costs and expenses.

(5) *Reply.* Disciplinary counsel may file a reply no later than ten days from service of any exceptions.

**(e) Assessment.** The Chair enters an order assessing costs and expenses after the expiration of the time for filing exceptions or replies.

**(f) Review of Chair's Decision.**

(1) *Matters Reviewed by Court.* In matters reviewed by the Supreme Court under title 12, the Chair's decision is subject to review only by the Court.

(2) *All Other Matters.* In all other matters, the following procedures apply:

(A) *Request for Review by Board.* Within 20 days of service on the respondent of the order assessing costs and expenses, either party may file a request for Board review of the order.

(B) *Board Action.* Upon the timely filing of a request, the Board reviews the order assessing costs and expenses, based on the Association's statement of costs and expenses and any exceptions or reply, the decision of the hearing officer ~~or panel~~ or of the Board, and any written statement submitted by either party within the time directed by the Chair. The Board may approve or modify the order assessing costs and expenses. The Board's decision is final when filed and not subject to further review.

**(g) Assessment in Matters Reviewed by the Court.** When a matter is reviewed by the Court as provided in title 12, any order assessing costs and expenses entered by the Chair under section (e) and the statement of costs and

expenses and any exceptions or reply filed in the proceeding are included in the record transmitted to the Court. Upon filing of an opinion by the Court imposing a sanction ~~or admonition~~, costs and expenses may be assessed in favor of the Association under the procedures of RAP Title 14, except that "costs" as used in that title means any costs and expenses allowable under this rule.

**(h) Assessment Discretionary.** Assessment of any or all costs and expenses may be denied if it appears in the interests of justice to do so.

**(i) Payment of Costs and Expenses.**

(1) A respondent ordered to pay costs and expenses must do so within 30 days of the date on which the assessment becomes final, unless the order assessing costs and expenses provides otherwise or the respondent enters into a periodic payment plan with disciplinary counsel.

(2) The respondent must pay interest on any amount not paid within 30 days of the date the assessment is final at the maximum rate permitted under RCW 19.52.020.

(3) Disciplinary counsel may enter into an agreement with a respondent for a reasonable periodic payment plan if the respondent demonstrates in writing present inability to pay assessed costs and expenses.

(A) Any payment plan entered into under this rule must provide for interest at the maximum rate permitted under RCW 19.52.020.

(B) A respondent may ask the Chair to review an adverse determination by disciplinary counsel regarding specific conditions for a periodic payment plan. The Chair directs the procedure for this review. The Chair's ruling is not subject to further review. If the Chair determines that the Board should review the matter, the Chair directs the procedure for Board review, and the Board's decision is not subject to further review.

**(j) Failure To Comply.** A respondent's failure to pay costs and expenses when ordered to do so or to comply with the terms of a periodic payment plan may be grounds for discipline.

**(k) Costs in Other Cases.** Rule 9.1 governs costs and expenses in cases resolved by stipulation. Rule 8.6 governs assessment of costs and expenses in disability proceedings. Rule 5.3(h) governs assessment of costs and expenses pursuant to a respondent's failure to cooperate.

**(l) Money Judgment for Costs and Expenses.** After the assessment of costs and expenses is final, upon application by the Association, the Supreme Court commissioner or clerk may enter a money judgment on the order for costs and expenses if the respondent has failed to pay the costs and expenses as provided by this rule. The Association must serve the application for a money judgment on the respondent under rule 4.1. The respondent may file an objection with the commissioner or clerk within 20 days of service of the application. The sole issue to be determined by the commissioner or clerk is whether the respondent has complied with the duty to pay costs and expenses under this rule. The commissioner or clerk may enter a money judgment in compliance with RCW 4.64.030 and notify the Association and the respondent of the judgment. On application, the commissioner or clerk transmits the judgment to the clerk of the superior court in any county selected by the Association and notifies the

respondent of the transmittal. The clerk of the superior court files the judgment as a judgment in that court without payment of a filing fee.

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**RULE 13.10. EFFECT OF ADMONITION BY OTHER JURISDICTION OR UNDER FORMER RULES**

(a) When another jurisdiction imposes a public admonition on a Washington lawyer, for the purposes of reciprocal discipline under rule 9.2, a reprimand will be considered the identical discipline.

(b) An admonition imposed in this State under prior rules shall be treated in accordance with the rules in effect on the date that the imposition was final.

**RULE 13.11. SANCTIONS ANALYSIS**

In applying the American Bar Association's *Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions*, an admonition under those Standards shall be considered equivalent to a reprimand under ELC 13.4.

**TITLE 14 - DUTIES ON SUSPENSION OR DISBARMENT**

**RULE 14.1 NOTICE TO CLIENTS AND OTHERS; PROVIDING CLIENT PROPERTY**

**(a) Providing Client Property.** A lawyer who has been suspended from the practice of law, disbarred, has resigned in lieu of discipline, or has been transferred to disability inactive status must provide each client or the client's substituted counsel upon request with the client's assets, files, and other documents in the lawyer's possession, regardless of any possible claim of lien under RCW 60.40.

**(b) Notice if Suspended for 60 Days or Less.** A lawyer who has been suspended for 60 days or less under rule 13.3 must within ten days of the effective date of the suspension:

(1) notify every client involved in litigation or administrative proceedings, and counsel for each adverse party (or the adverse party directly if not represented by counsel), of the suspension, ~~the reason therefor~~ that the suspension is a disciplinary suspension, and of the lawyer's consequent inability to act as a lawyer after the effective date of the suspension, and advise each of these clients to seek prompt substitution of another lawyer. If the client does not substitute counsel within ten days of this notice, the lawyer must advise the court or agency of the lawyer's inability to act; and

(2) notify all other clients of the suspension, ~~the reason therefor~~, and consequent inability to act during the suspension. The notice must advise the client to seek legal advice elsewhere if needed during the suspension.

**(c) Notice if Otherwise Suspended, ~~or~~ Disbarred, ~~or~~ Resigned in Lieu of Discipline.** A lawyer who has been disbarred, has resigned in lieu of discipline, or has been suspended for more than 60 days, for nonpayment of dues, or under title 7 or APR 11, APR 17, or APR 26, must within ten days of the effective date of the disbarment, ~~or~~ suspension, ~~or~~ resignation:

(1) notify every client of the lawyer's suspension, disbarment, or resignation in lieu of discipline, whether a suspension is a disciplinary suspension, an interim suspension, or an administrative suspension, and of the lawyer's consequent

inability to act as the client's lawyer ~~and the reason therefor~~, and advise the client to seek legal advice elsewhere;

(2) advise every client involved in litigation or administrative proceedings to seek the prompt substitution of another lawyer. If the client does not substitute counsel within ten days of being notified of the lawyer's inability to act, the lawyer must advise the court or agency of the lawyer's inability to act; and

(3) notify counsel for each adverse party in pending litigation or administrative proceedings, or the adverse party directly if not represented by counsel, of the lawyer's suspension, disbarment, or resignation in lieu of discipline, and the lawyer's inability to act further on the client's behalf.

**(d) Notice if Transferred to Disability Inactive Status.**

A lawyer transferred to disability inactive status, or his or her guardian if one has been appointed, must give all notices required by section (c), except that while the notices need not refer to the specifics of the disability, the notice must advise that the lawyer has been transferred to disability inactive status.

**(e) Address of Client.** All notices to lawyers, adverse parties, courts, or agencies as required by sections (b), (c), or (d) must contain the client's name and last known address, unless doing so would disclose a confidence or secret of the client. If the name and address are omitted, the client must be advised that so long as his or her address remains undisclosed and no new lawyer is substituted, the client may be served by leaving papers with the clerk of the court under CR 5 (b)(1) in pending superior court actions, and that comparable provisions may allow similar service in other court proceedings or administrative actions.

**RULE 14.2 LAWYER TO DISCONTINUE PRACTICE**

**(a) Discontinue Practice.** A disbarred or suspended lawyer, or a lawyer who has resigned in lieu of disbarment or discipline, or a lawyer transferred to disability inactive status, must not practice law after the effective date of the disbarment, resignation in lieu of disbarment or discipline, suspension, or transfer to disability inactive status, and also must take whatever steps necessary to avoid any reasonable likelihood that anyone will rely on him or her as a lawyer authorized to practice law.

**(b) Continuing Duties to Former Clients.** This rule does not preclude a disbarred or suspended lawyer, or a lawyer who has resigned in lieu of disbarment or discipline, or a lawyer transferred to disability inactive status, from disbursing assets held by the lawyer to clients or other persons or from providing information on the facts and the lawyer's theory of a case and its status to a succeeding lawyer, provided that the ~~suspended or disbarred~~ lawyer not be involved in any discussion regarding matters occurring after the date of the suspension, resignation in lieu of disbarment or discipline, transfer to disability inactive, or disbarment. The lawyer must provide this information on request and without charge.

**RULE 14.3 AFFIDAVIT OF COMPLIANCE**

Within 25 days of the effective date of a lawyer's disbarment, suspension, or transfer to disability inactive status, the lawyer must serve on disciplinary counsel an affidavit stating that the lawyer has fully complied with the provisions of this title. The affidavit must also provide a mailing address where

communications to the lawyer may thereafter be directed. The lawyer must attach to the affidavit copies of the form letters of notification sent to the lawyer's clients and opposing counsel or parties and copies of letters to any court, together with a list of names and addresses of all clients and opposing counsel or parties to whom notices were sent. The affidavit is a confidential document except the lawyer's mailing address is treated as a change of mailing address under APR 13(b).

#### RULE 14.4 LAWYER TO KEEP RECORDS OF COMPLIANCE

A lawyer who has been disbarred, suspended, or transferred to disability inactive status must maintain written records of the various steps taken by him or her under this title, so that proof of compliance will be available in any subsequent proceeding.

### TITLE 15 - IOLTA, AUDITS, AND TRUST ACCOUNT OVERDRAFT NOTIFICATION

#### RULE 15.1 AUDIT AND INVESTIGATION OF BOOKS AND RECORDS

The ~~Board and its Chair~~ Association has the following authority to examine, investigate, and audit the books and records of any lawyer to ascertain and obtain reports on whether the lawyer has been and is complying with RPC 1.15A:

**(a) Random Examination.** The Board may authorize examinations of the books and records of any lawyer or law firm selected at random. Only the lawyer or law firm's books and records may be examined in an examination under this section.

~~**(b) Particular Examination.** Upon receipt of information that a particular lawyer or law firm may not be in compliance with RPC 1.15A, the Chair may authorize an examination limited to the lawyer or law firm's books and records. Information may be presented to the Chair without notice to the lawyer or law firm. Disclosure of this information is subject to rules 3.1-3.4.~~

**(eb) Audit.** After an examination under section (a) or (b), ~~if the Chair determines that further examination is warranted, the Chair may order as part of an investigation under rule 5.3, the Association may conduct~~ an appropriate audit of the lawyer's or firm's books and records, including verification of the information in those records from available sources.

#### RULE 15.2 COOPERATION OF LAWYER

Any lawyer or firm who is subject to examination, investigation, or audit under rule 5.3 or rule 15.1 must cooperate with the person conducting the examination, investigation, or audit, subject only to the proper exercise of any privilege against self-incrimination, by:

**(a)** producing forthwith all evidence, books, records, and papers requested for the examination, investigation, or audit;

**(b)** furnishing forthwith any explanations required for the examination, investigation, or audit;

**(c)** producing written authorization, directed to any bank or depository, for the person to examine, investigate, or audit trust and general accounts, safe deposit boxes, and other forms of maintaining trust property by the lawyer in the bank or depository.

#### RULE 15.3 DISCLOSURE

The examination ~~and~~ or audit report ~~are~~ is only available to the Board, disciplinary counsel, and the lawyer or firm examined, investigated, or audited, ~~and to the Board of Governors on its request~~, unless a disciplinary proceeding is commenced in which case the disclosure provisions of title 3 apply.

#### RULE 15.4 TRUST ACCOUNT OVERDRAFT NOTIFICATION

**(a) Overdraft Notification Agreement Required.** To be authorized as a depository for lawyer trust accounts referred to in RPC 1.15A(i) or LPO trust accounts referred to in LPO RPC 1.12A(i), a financial institution, bank, credit union, savings bank, or savings and loan association must file with the Legal Foundation of Washington an agreement, in a form provided by the Washington State Bar Association, to report to the Washington State Bar Association if any properly payable instrument is presented against a lawyer, LPO or closing firm trust account containing insufficient funds, whether or not the instrument is honored. The agreement must apply to all branches of the financial institution and cannot be canceled except on 30 days' notice in writing to the Legal Foundation of Washington. The Legal Foundation of Washington must provide copies of signed agreements and notices of cancellation to the Washington State Bar Association.

#### **(b) Overdraft Reports.**

(1) The overdraft notification agreement must provide that all reports made by the financial institution must contain the following information:

(A) the identity of the financial institution;

(B) the identity of the (1) the lawyer or law firm, or (2) the limited practice officer or closing firm;

(C) the account number; and

(D) either:

(i) the amount of overdraft and date created; or

(ii) the amount of the returned instrument(s) and the date returned.

(2) The financial institution must provide the information required by the notification agreement within five banking days of the date the item(s) was paid or returned unpaid.

**(c) Costs.** Nothing in these rules precludes a financial institution from charging a particular lawyer or law firm for the reasonable cost of producing the reports and records required by this rule, but those charges may not be a transaction cost charged against funds payable to the Legal Foundation of Washington under RPC 1.15A (i)(1) and ELC 15.7(e).

**(d) Notification by Lawyer.** Every lawyer who receives notification that any instrument presented against his or her trust account was presented against insufficient funds, whether or not the instrument was honored, must promptly notify the Office of Disciplinary Counsel of the Association of the information required by section (b). The lawyer must include a full explanation of the cause of the overdraft.

#### RULE 15.5 DECLARATION OR QUESTIONNAIRE

**(a) Questionnaire Declaration.** ~~The Association~~ Annually sends each active lawyer ~~must provide the Association~~ a ~~with such~~ written declaration or questionnaire designed to ~~other information as the Association determines whether is needed to assure that~~ the lawyer is complying with RPC

1.15A. Each active lawyer must complete, execute, and deliver this to the Association ~~this declaration or questionnaire~~ by the date specified ~~in the declaration or questionnaire~~ by the Association.

~~(b) Noncompliance. Failure to file the declaration or questionnaire by the date specified in section (a) is grounds for discipline. This failure also subjects the lawyer who has failed to comply with this rule to a full audit of his or her books and records as provided in rule 15.1(c), upon request of disciplinary counsel to a review committee. A copy of any request made under this section must be served on the lawyer. The request must be granted on a showing that the lawyer has failed to comply with section (a) of this rule. If the lawyer should later comply, disciplinary counsel has discretion to determine whether an audit should be conducted, and if so the scope of that audit. A lawyer audited under this section is liable for all actual costs of conducting such audit, and also a charge of \$100 per day spent by the auditor in conducting the audit and preparing an audit report. Costs and charges are assessed in the same manner as costs under rule 5.3(f) Any lawyer admitted to the active practice of law who fails to comply with this rule by the date specified in section (a) may be ordered suspended from the practice of law by the Supreme Court until such time as the lawyer complies.~~

#### RULE 15.6 REGULATIONS

The Disciplinary Board may adopt regulations regarding the powers in this title subject to the approval of the Board of Governors and the Supreme Court.

#### RULE 15.7 TRUST ACCOUNTS AND THE LEGAL FOUNDATION OF WASHINGTON

**(a) Legal Foundation of Washington.** The Legal Foundation of Washington (Legal Foundation) was established by Order of the Supreme Court of Washington to administer distribution of Interest on Lawyer's Trust Account (IOLTA) funds to civil legal aid programs.

(1) Administrative Responsibilities. The Legal Foundation is responsible for assessing the products and services offered by financial institutions operating in the state of Washington and determining whether such institutions meet the requirements of this rule, ELC 15.4, and ELPOC 15.4. The Legal Foundation must maintain a list of financial institutions authorized to establish client trust accounts and publish the list on a website maintained by the Legal Foundation for public information. The Legal Foundation must provide a copy of the list to any person upon request.

(2) Annual Report. The Legal Foundation must prepare an annual report to the Supreme Court of Washington that summarizes the Foundation's income, grants and operating expenses, implementation of its corporate purposes, and any problems arising in the administration of the IOLTA program.

**(b) Definitions.** The following definitions apply to this rule:

(1) United States Government Securities. United States Government Securities are defined as direct obligations of the United States Government, or obligations issued or guaranteed as to principal and interest by the United States or any agency or instrumentality thereof, including United States Government-Sponsored Enterprises.

(2) Daily Financial Institution Repurchase Agreement. A daily financial institution repurchase agreement must be fully collateralized by United States Government Securities and may be established only with an authorized financial institution that is deemed to be "well capitalized" under applicable regulations of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and the National Credit Union Association.

(3) Money Market Funds. A money market fund is an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, that is regulated as a money market funder under Rules and Regulations adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to said Act, and at the time of the investment, has total assets of at least five hundred million dollars (\$500,000,000). A money market fund must be comprised solely of United States Government Securities or investments fully collateralized by United States Government Securities.

**(c) Authorized Financial Institutions.** Any bank, savings bank, credit union, savings and loan association, or other financial institution that meets the following criteria is eligible to become an authorized financial institution under this rule:

- (1) is insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or the National Credit Union Administration;
- (2) is authorized by law to do business in Washington;
- (3) complies with all requirements set forth in section (d) of this rule and in ELC 15.4; and
- (4) if offering IOLTA accounts, complies with all requirements set forth in section (e) of this rule.

The Legal Foundation determines whether a financial institution is an authorized financial institution under this section. Upon a determination of compliance with all requirements of this rule and ELC 15.4, the Legal Foundation must list a financial institution as an authorized financial institution under section (a)(1). At any time, the Legal Foundation may request that a listed financial institution establish or certify compliance with the requirements of this rule or ELC 15.4. The Legal Foundation may remove a financial institution from the list of authorized financial institutions upon a determination that the financial institution is not in compliance.

**(d) Requirements of All Trust Accounts.** All trust accounts established pursuant to RPC 1.15A(i) or LPORPC 1.12A(h) must be insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the National Credit Union Administration up to the limit established by law for those types of accounts or be backed by United States Government Securities. Trust account funds must not be placed in stocks, bonds, mutual funds that invest in stock or bonds, or similar uninsured investments.

**(e) IOLTA Accounts.** To qualify for Legal Foundation approval as an authorized financial institution offering IOLTA accounts, in addition to meeting all other requirements set forth in this Rule, a financial institution must comply with the requirements set forth in this section.

(1) Interest Comparability. For accounts established pursuant to RPC 1.15A, authorized financial institutions must pay the highest interest rate generally available from the institutions to its non-IOLTA account customers when IOLTA accounts meet or exceed the same minimum balance

or other account eligibility qualifications, if any. In determining the highest interest rate generally available to its non-IOLTA customers, authorized financial institutions may consider factors, in addition to the IOLTA account balance, customarily considered by the institution when setting interest rates for its customers, provided that such factors do not discriminate between IOLTA accounts and accounts of non-IOLTA customers and that these factors do not include that the account is an IOLTA account. An authorized financial institution may satisfy these comparability requirements by selecting one of the following options:

(i) Establish the IOLTA account as the comparable interest-paying product; or

(ii) Pay the comparable interest rate on the IOLTA checking account in lieu of actually establishing the comparable interest-paying product; or

(iii) Pay a rate on IOLTA equal to 75% of the Federal Funds Targeted Rate as of the first business day of the month or IOLTA remitting period, or .75%, whichever is higher, and which rate is deemed to be already net of allowable reasonable service charges or fees.

(2) Remit Interest to Legal Foundation of Washington. Authorized financial institutions must remit the interest accruing on all IOLTA accounts, net of reasonable account fees, to the Legal Foundation monthly, on a report form prescribed by the Legal Foundation. At a minimum, the report must show details about the account, including but not limited to the name of the lawyer, law firm, LPO, or Closing Firm for whom the remittance is sent, the rate of interest applied, the amount of service charges deducted, if any, and the balance used to compute the interest. Interest must be calculated on the average monthly balance in the account, or as otherwise computed in accordance with applicable state and federal regulations and the institution's standard accounting practice for non-IOLTA customers. The financial institution must notify each lawyer, law firm, LPO, or Closing Firm of the amount of interest remitted to the Legal Foundation on a monthly basis on the account statement or other written report.

(3) Reasonable account fees. Reasonable account fees may only include per deposit charges, per check charges, a fee in lieu of minimum balances, sweep fees, FDIC insurance fees, and a reasonable IOLTA account administration fee. No service charges or fees other than the allowable, reasonable fees may be assessed against the interest or dividends on an IOLTA account. Any service charges or fees other than allowable reasonable fees must be the sole responsibility of, and may be charged to, the lawyer, law firm, LPO, or Closing Firm maintaining the IOLTA account. Fees or charges in excess of the interest or dividends earned on the account must not be deducted from interest or dividends earned on any other account or from the principal.

(4) Comparable Accounts. Subject to the requirements set forth in sections (d) and (e), an IOLTA account may be established as:

(i) A business checking account with an automated investment feature, such as a daily bank repurchase agreement or a money market fund; or

(ii) A checking account paying preferred interest rates, such as a money market or indexed rates; or

(iii) A government interest-bearing checking account such as an account used for municipal deposits; or

(iv) An interest-bearing checking account such as a negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) account, business checking account with interest; or

(v) Any other suitable interest-bearing product offered by the authorized financial institution to its non-IOLTA customers.

(5) Nothing in this rule precludes an authorized financial institution from paying an interest rate higher than described above or electing to waive any service charges or fees on IOLTA accounts.

#### TITLE 16 - EFFECT OF THESE RULES ON PENDING PROCEEDINGS

##### RULE 16.1 EFFECT ON PENDING PROCEEDINGS

These rules and any subsequent amendments will apply in their entirety, on the effective date as ordered by the Supreme Court, to any pending matter or investigation that has not yet been ordered to hearing. They will apply to other pending matters except as would not be feasible or would work an injustice. The hearing officer or panel chair assigned to hear a matter, or the Chair in a matter pending before the Board, may rule on the appropriate procedure with a view to insuring a fair and orderly proceeding.

#### RPC 5.8 MISCONDUCT INVOLVING DISBARRED, SUSPENDED, RESIGNED, AND INACTIVE LAWYERS

(a) A lawyer shall not engage in the practice of law while on inactive status, or while suspended from the practice of law for any cause.

(b) A lawyer shall not engage in any of the following with an individual who is a disbarred or suspended lawyer, or who has resigned in lieu of disbarment or discipline:

(1) practice law with or in cooperation with such an individual;

(2) maintain an office for the practice of law in a room or office occupied or used in whole or in part by such an individual;

(3) permit such an individual to use the lawyer's name for the practice of law;

(4) practice law for or on behalf of such an individual; or

(5) practice law under any arrangement or understanding for division of fees or compensation of any kind with such an individual.

#### GR 9 COVER SHEET

##### Suggested Amendment

##### RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION (GR)

#### Rule 12.1 - Washington State Bar Association: Purposes

(clarifying Supreme Court Rule with respect to fees set by the Washington State Bar Association)

#### Submitted by the Board of Governors of the Washington State Bar Association

##### Purpose:

GR 12.1 describes the purposes and authorized activities of the Washington State Bar Association (WSBA). GR

12.1(b) enumerates the specific activities that are authorized for the WSBA, and GR 12.1 (b)(22) relates to the collection of funds by the WSBA for the effective and efficient discharge of its mission, purposes and activities. Because the purposes and activities of the WSBA are authorized by the Court, and the WSBA sets licensing and other fees in order to carry out those authorized purposes and activities, the Court has the inherent authority to determine whether license fees set by the WSBA are reasonable to accomplish its functions.

The suggested amendment to GR 12.1 (b)(22) would clearly state the authority that the WSBA and the Court have with respect to the setting, collecting, and handling of license fees.

**SUGGESTED AMENDMENT  
RULES OF GENERAL APPLICATION (GR)  
RULE 12.1 - WASHINGTON STATE BAR ASSOCIATION: PURPOSES**

**(a) Purposes: In General. [no change]**

**(b) Specific Activities Authorized.** In pursuit of these purposes, the Washington State Bar Association may:

(1) - (21) [no change]

(22) Establish the amount of all license, application, investigation, and other related fees, as well as charges for services provided by the Washington State Bar Association, and collect, allocate, invest, and disburse funds so that its mission, purposes, and activities may be effectively and efficiently discharged. The amount of any license fee is subject to review by the Supreme Court for reasonableness and may be modified by order of the Court if the Court determines that it is not reasonable.

**(c) Activities Not Authorized. [no change]**

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**WSR 13-02-041**

**AGENDA**

**DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH  
STATE BOARD OF HEALTH**

[Filed December 21, 2012, 2:47 p.m.]

**January 2013**

**Rules Agenda**

This report details current and anticipated rule-making activities for the department of health (DOH) and the state board of health (SBOH). If you have any questions regarding this report or DOH rule-making activities, please contact Tami Thompson at (360) 236-4044. If you have any questions regarding SBOH rule-making activities please contact Michelle Davis at (360) 236-4106.

This agenda is for information purposes, and the noted dates of anticipated rule-making actions are estimates. Governor Gregoire signed an Executive Order (EO) 11-03 on December 3, 2011, directing agencies under her jurisdiction to suspend until 2013 noncritical rule development and adoption activities. For those rules that were suspended the department is reviewing them to determine when the rules should be reactivated.

Any errors in this agenda do not affect the rules and rule-making notices filed with the office of the code reviser and published in the Washington State Register. There may be additional DOH rule-making activities that cannot be forecasted as the department initiates rule making to implement new state laws, meet federal requirements, or meet unforeseen circumstances. See the "Key" at the end of the tables for explanations of terms and acronyms.

**State Board of Health  
Rule Making**

RCW or Session Law	Authority	WAC and Rule Title	CR-101 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-102 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-105 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-103 Filing WSR # and Date	Program Staff Contact
RCW 7.70.060 70.24.380	SBOH	WAC 246-100-207 (1)(a) Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) clarifying informed consent.	12-15-080 7/18/2012	12-20-083 10/3/2012 Rule making was requested by regulated entity.		Anticipate filing 1/2013	Maraia Couragen (360) 236-3458
RCW 43.20.050 70.119A.080	SBOH	WAC 246-203-103 Keeping of animals.	09-17-132 8/19/2009	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03.			Ned Therien (360) 236-4103
RCW 43.20.050 and 43.20.145	SBOH	Chapter 246-215 WAC, Food service.	10-04-068 1/29/2010	12-17-160 8/22/2012 Rule continuation requested by regulated community. Necessary to protect public health.		Anticipate filing 1/2013	Joe Graham (360) 236-3305

RCW or Session Law	Authority	WAC and Rule Title	CR-101 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-102 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-105 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-103 Filing WSR # and Date	Program Staff Contact
RCW 43.20.050	SBOH	Chapter 246-272A WAC, On-site sewage systems. This rule making will explore creation of a process for the approval and state registration of drain field remediation technologies. SBOH does not currently regulate remediation technologies.	06-12-108 6/7/2006	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03.			Stuart Glasoe (360) 236-3246
RCW 69.30.030	SBOH	WAC 246-282-006 Vibrio parahaemolyticus (VP) control plan.	12-24-036 11/29/2012	Anticipate filing 1/2014. Rule necessary to protect public health.			Rick Porso (360) 236-3302
RCW 43.20.050(2)	SBOH	WAC 246-290-460 Fluoridation of Drinking water, revises the fluoride concentration in Group A public water systems that choose to fluoridate under RCW 57.08.012.	11-11-046 5/13/2011	Filing date pending federal action.  Rule requested by regulated community to protect public health.			Ned Therien (360) 236-4103
RCW 43.20.050	SBOH	Chapter 246-390 WAC, Drinking water laboratory certification, establishing reporting requirements to the DOH; removing duplication of requirements with department of ecology.	06-23-077 11/13/2006	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03.			Theresa Phillips (360) 236-3147

**Department of Health**

RCW or Session Law	Authority	WAC and Rule Title	CR-101 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-102 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-105 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-103 Filing WSR # and Date	Program Staff Contact
RCW 18.35.161	Board of hearing and speech	WAC 246-828-XXX Prohibiting the use of the title "audio-prosthologist."	09-11-116 5/20/2009	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03.  <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Janette Benham (360) 236-4857
HB 1181 (chapter 41, Laws of 2011) and SSB 5152 (chapter 40, Laws of 2011)	Board of naturopathy	WAC 246-836-080 Naturopathy continuing competency program requirements.	Anticipate filing in 2013				Sue Gragg (360) 236-4941
RCW 18.52.071	Board of nursing home administrators	WAC 246-843-010, 246-843-070, 246-843-071, 246-843-073, 246-843-090, 246-843-093, 246-843-095, 246-843-230 and 246-843-231, application for initial license and endorsement.	06-12-109 6/7/2006	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03.  <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Kendra Pitzler (360) 236-4723



RCW or Session Law	Authority	WAC and Rule Title	CR-101 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-102 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-105 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-103 Filing WSR # and Date	Program Staff Contact
RCW 18.54.070	Board of optometry	WAC 246-851-235 Credits for cultural competency in clinical care.	10-05-060 2/11/2010	10-21-104 10/20/2010 (expired) Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03. <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Judy Haenke (360) 236-4947
RCW 18.25.0171	Chiropractic quality assurance commission	WAC 246-808-180 Expired licenses.	12-01-129 12/21/2011 Rule is necessary to protect public health, safety, and welfare.	12-21-121 10/23/2012 Hearing 12/13/2012		Anticipate adoption 2013	Leann Yount (360) 236-4856
RCW 18.25.0171	Chiropractic quality assurance commission	WAC 246-808-150 Continuing education.	09-09-031 4/7/2009	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03. <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Leann Yount (360) 236-4856
RCW 18.25.0171 18.130.050 (1) and (12)	Chiropractic quality assurance commission	WAC 246-808-550 Future care contracts prohibited, revising the current rule to clarify the requirements for future care contracts.	11-03-017 2/22/2010	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03 <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Leann Yount (360) 236-4856
RCW 18.32.0365	Dental quality assurance commission	WAC 246-817-510, 246-817-520, 246-817-525, 246-817-540, 246-817-545, expanded function dental auxiliaries (EFDA) acts that may not be performed by registered dental assistants or noncredentialed persons.	10-23-081 11/15/2010	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03. <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Jennifer Santiago (360) 236-4893
E2SSB 5620 (chapter 23, Laws of 2012); RCW 18.32.0365	Dental quality assurance commission	Chapter 246-817 WAC, Dental anesthesia assistant certification, establishing a new profession.	12-14-068 7/2/2012	Anticipated filing spring 2013.			Jennifer Santiago (360) 236-4893
RCW 18.32.040 18.130.064	Dental quality assurance commission	WAC 246-817-310 and 246-817-XXX, maintenance and retention of dental records and dental treatment records.	09-13-097 6/17/2009	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03. <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Jennifer Santiago (360) 236-4893

RCW or Session Law	Authority	WAC and Rule Title	CR-101 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-102 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-105 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-103 Filing WSR # and Date	Program Staff Contact
HB 2056 (chapter 10, Laws of 2012)	DOH	Multiple sections of Title 246 WAC, replacing the term "boarding home" with "assisted living facility" in department rules.			Anticipate filing 2013		John Hilger (360) 236-2929
RCW 43.70.040	DOH	WAC 246-12-050 How to obtain a temporary practice permit national background check.			12-23-045 11/16/2012 Expedited rule under RCW 34.05.353	Anticipate adoption spring 2013	Andy Fernando (360) 236-4692
SB 6290 (chapter 45, Laws of 2012)	DOH	Chapter 246-12 WAC, Administrative procedures and requirements for credentialed health care providers, establishing military status and military spouse inactive license status.	12-14-033 6/22/2012 Rule making required by state law.	Anticipate filing 2013			Billie Jo Dale (360) 236-47852 [(360) 236-4841]
RCW 43.70.250	DOH	WAC 246-282-990 Sanitary control of shellfish—Fees— Commercial geoduck paralytic shellfish poisoning (PSP) testing.  Annual adjustment of PSP testing fees based on the number of tests done in 2012.		Anticipate filing 3/2013			Brandy Brush (360) 236-3342
RCW 70.98.050	DOH	Chapter 246-247 WAC, Radiation protection—Air emission.	05-12-140 6/1/2005	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03			Michelle Austin (360) 236-3250
RCW 70.98.085 (chapter 19, Laws of 2012)	DOH	Chapter 246-249 WAC, Radioactive waste—Use of the commercial disposal site.  Chapter 246-254 WAC, Low-level radioactive waste site use permit fees for generator or broker.  Transfer of the site use permit program from department of ecology to DOH.		Anticipate filing 2/2013			Michelle Austin (360) 236-3250

RCW or Session Law	Authority	WAC and Rule Title	CR-101 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-102 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-105 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-103 Filing WSR # and Date	Program Staff Contact
RCW 70.98.050	DOH	Chapter 246-232 WAC, Radioactive material—Licensing applicability. Chapter 246-233 WAC, Radioactive material—General licenses. Chapter 246-235 WAC, Radioactive material—Specific licenses. Adopt Nuclear Regulatory Commission rule changes for compatibility.		Anticipate filing 2/2013			Michelle Austin (360) 236-3250
RCW 70.98.050	DOH	Chapter 246-220 WAC, Radiation protection—General provisions. Chapter 246-221 WAC, Radiation protection standards. Chapter 246-222 WAC, Radiation protection—Worker rights. Adopt Nuclear Regulatory Commission rules for compatibility.		Anticipate filing 3/2013			Michelle Austin (360) 236-3250
RCW 70.119.050	DOH	Chapter 246-292 WAC, Waterworks operator certification.	09-21-043 10/13/2009	Anticipate filing 6/2013 <i>Rule necessary to implement legislation, and is a benefit to regulated community.</i>			Theresa Phillips (360) 236-3147
RCW 70.230.010 70.230.020	DOH	WAC 246-330-010 Definitions for ambulatory surgical facilities.			12-23-046 11/16/2012 Expedited rule making under RCW 34.05.353	Anticipate filing spring 2013	Maura Craig (360) 236-4997
Chapter 43.70 RCW	DOH	Chapter 246-809 WAC, Counselors, marriage and family therapists, and social workers; chapter 246-811 WAC, Chemical dependency professionals; chapter 246-810 WAC, Certified counselors and advisors—Suicide continuing education training.	12-16-058 7/30/2012 Rule making required by state law.	Anticipate filing spring 2013			Betty Moe (360) 236-4912

RCW or Session Law	Authority	WAC and Rule Title	CR-101 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-102 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-105 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-103 Filing WSR # and Date	Program Staff Contact
RCW 18.135.030 (chapter 153, Laws of 2012)	DOH	Chapter 246-826 WAC, Health care assistants amending the rules to align with new rules for medical assistants.	12-23-044 11/16/2012 Rule making necessary to comply with state law.	Anticipate filing spring 2013			Brett Cain (360) 236-4766
Chapter 153, Laws of 2012	DOH	New chapter 246-827 WAC, Establishing the medical assistant profession.	12-14-098 7/3/2012 Rule making required by state law.	Anticipate filing spring 2013			Brett Cain (360) 236-4766
RCW 18.130.050 (chapter 137, Laws of 2012)	DOH	New chapter 246-831 WAC, Reflexology. Establishing a new profession; includes the certification requirements and fees.	12-14-069 7/2/2012	Anticipate filing 2013			Kris Waidely (360) 236-4847
RCW 18.89.050 18.89.140	DOH	WAC 246-928-442 Respiratory therapist acceptable continuing education.	10-17-098 8/17/2010	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03. <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Susan Gragg (360) 236-4941
RCW 18.89.040	DOH	WAC 246-928-XXX Respiratory therapist scope of practice regarding administration of medications.	10-17-099 8/17/2010	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03. <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Susan Gragg (360) 236-4941
RCW 70.225.020 70.225.025 (chapter 192, Laws of 2012)	DOH	Chapter 246-470 WAC, Prescription monitoring program. Alternative reporting for veterinarians.	12-14-034 6/26/2012 Rule making required by state law	Anticipate filing 2013			Lisa Hodgson (360) 236-2927
RCW 18.84.040	DOH	WAC 246-926-180, amending the parenteral procedures for radiologic technologists.	10-15-101 7/20/2010	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03. <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Susan Gragg (360) 236-4941
RCW 18.36A.060	DOH	WAC 246-836-080 Continuing competency program requirements for naturopathic physicians.	10-16-106 8/2/2010 Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03	<i>CR-101 will be withdrawn.</i> <i>Rule authority is now under the board of naturopathy.</i>			Susan Gragg (360) 236-4941
RCW 18.36A.060 and 18.36A.100	DOH	Chapter 246-836 WAC, amending accreditation requirements for naturopathic medical educational institutions.	10-15-097 7/20/2010 Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03	<i>CR-101 will be withdrawn.</i> <i>Rule authority is now under the board of naturopathy.</i>			Susan Gragg (360) 236-4941

RCW or Session Law	Authority	WAC and Rule Title	CR-101 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-102 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-105 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-103 Filing WSR # and Date	Program Staff Contact
RCW 18.36A.060	DOH	WAC 246-836-010 and 246-836-210, nonsurgical cosmetic procedures by naturopathic physicians.	10-15-098 7/20/2010 Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03.	<i>CR-101 will be withdrawn. Rule authority is now under the board of naturopathy.</i>			Susan Gragg (360) 236-4941
RCW 43.70.040 70.38.135	DOH	WAC 246-310-XXX Hospital acute care bed methodology.	09-16-118 8/4/2009	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03.  <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			John Hilger (360) 236-2929
RCW 43.70.040 70.38.135	DOH	WAC 246-310-XXX, revising and updating the certificate of need adjudicative proceeding rules.	Anticipate filing 2013				John Hilger (360) 236-2929
RCW 71.12.670	DOH	Chapter 246-337 WAC, Residential treatment facilities, revise to align with current law and practices.	12-22-029 10/31/2012  Rule making necessary to protect public health.				Barbara Runyon (360) 236-2937
Chapter 70.185 RCW	DOH	Chapter 246-562 WAC, Physician visa waivers, revising rules consistent with current law.	Anticipate filing 2013				Renee Fullerton (360) 236-2814
ESHB 2314 (chapter 164, Laws of 2012), chapters 18.88B and 18.130 RCW	DOH	Chapter 246-980 WAC, Home care aid, addressing recent changes in law and application process.	13-01-094 12/19/2012  Rule making necessary to comply with state law.	Anticipate filing 2013			Kendra Pitzler (360) 236-4723
RCW 70.119.050	DOH	Chapter 246-292 WAC, Waterworks operator certification, incorporating changes in state law.	09-21-043 10/13/2009  Rule necessary to implement legislation, and is a benefit to regulated community.				Theresa Phillips (360) 236-3147
RCW 70.290.060	DOH	New chapter in Title 246 WAC, Health benefit plans and third party administrators—Civil penalties.	Anticipate filing 1/31/2013				Jeff Wise (360) 236-3483
ESHB 2366 (chapter 181, Laws of 2012)	Examining board of psychology	Chapter 246-924 WAC, Psychology—Suicide continuing education and training.	12-17-137 8/21/2012  Rule making necessary to implement state law.	Anticipate filing 2013			Betty Moe (360) 236-4912

RCW or Session Law	Authority	WAC and Rule Title	CR-101 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-102 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-105 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-103 Filing WSR # and Date	Program Staff Contact
RCW 18.71.017 18.130.050 and 18.71.430	Medical quality assurance commission	WAC 246-919-430 (physicians) and 246-918-XXX (physician assistants), requiring additional practice information at renewal.	09-14-114 6/30/2009	10-21-098 6/30/2009 (expired) Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03. <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Julie Kitten (360) 236-2757
Chapter 7, Laws of 2012 2nd sp. sess., RCW 18.130.250 18.79.110	Nursing care quality assurance commission	Chapter 246-840 WAC, establishing a retired active license status for nurses.	12-20-020 9/24/2012 Rule making requested by regulated entities.	Anticipate filing 2013			Paula Meyer (360) 236-2714
ESSB 6237 (chapter 153, Laws of 2012) RCW 18.79.110	Nursing care quality assurance commission	WAC 246-840-010 Definitions, 246-840-840 Nursing technician—Adding clinics to the facilities where a nursing technician may work.		Anticipate filing 2013			Mary Dale (360) 236-2477
RCW 18.79.110	Nursing care quality assurance commission	WAC 246-840-045, 246-840-130, reducing licensing barriers for registered nurses and practical nurses who graduate from an International Schools of Nursing.	12-17-079 8/14/2012 Rule making requested by regulated entities.				Paula Meyer (360) 236-2714
ESHB 2314 (chapter 164, Laws of 2012) RCW 18.79.110	Nursing care quality assurance commission	WAC 246-840-910 through 246-840-970, nurse delegation; adding home care aides to the list of providers eligible for delegation.		Anticipate filing 2013			Mary Dale (360) 236-2477
RCW 18.79.110 18.130.050	Nursing care quality assurance commission	WAC 246-840-740 Sexual misconduct prohibited, updating the 1999 rules.	12-17-017 8/2/2012 Rule making necessary to protect public health.				Paula Meyer (360) 236-2714
ESHB 2473 (chapter 208, Laws of 2012)	Nursing care quality assurance commission	Chapter 246-841 WAC, Nursing assistant-certified medication assistant endorsement, new credential.	12-20-019 9/24/2012 Rule making necessary to implement state law.	Anticipate filing 2013			Paula Meyer (360) 236-2714

RCW or Session Law	Authority	WAC and Rule Title	CR-101 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-102 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-105 Filing WSR # and Date	CR-103 Filing WSR # and Date	Program Staff Contact
RCW 18.59.090 18.130.050	Occupational therapy practice board	WAC 246-847-030 Occupational therapists acting in a consulting capacity, 246-847-055 Initial application for individuals who have not practiced within the past four years, 246-847-068 Expired license, 246-847-070 Inactive credential, 246-847-125 Applicants currently licensed in other states or territories, and 246-847-XXX Renewal for those that have not practiced in four years.	08-15-088 7/17/2008	Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03. <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Janette Benham (360) 236-4857
ESHB 2366 (Chapter 181, Laws of 2012)	Occupational therapy practice board	WAC 246-847-___ Suicide continuing education training.	Anticipate filing in 2013				Janette Benham (360) 236-4857
RCW 18.92.030 and 18.130.050	Veterinary board of governors	WAC 246-933-XXX Expired license, requirements for reinstating an expired license.	12-14-048 6/28/2012  Beneficial to regulated entities.				Judy Haenke (360) 236-4947
RCW 18.92.030	Veterinary board of governors	WAC 246-933-460 Continuing education courses, approved by the veterinary board.	10-13-095 6/15/2010	10-21-081 10/19/2010 (expired).  Rule making was suspended until 2013 due to EO 11-03. <i>Rule is being reviewed for possible reactivation.</i>			Judy Haenke (360) 236-4947

**KEY**

**CR** means "code reviser" on the notice forms created by the office of the code reviser for use by all state agencies.

**CR-101** is a preproposal statement of inquiry filed under RCW 34.05.310.

**CR-102** is a proposed rule making notice filed under RCW 34.05.320 or 34.05.340.

**Proposal is exempt under RCW 34.05.310(4)** means a rule that does not require the filing of a CR-101 notice under RCW 34.05.310(4).

**CR-105** is an expedited rule making notice filed under RCW 34.05.353. This is an accelerated rule adoption process with no public hearing required.

**CR-103** is rule-making order permanently adopting a rule, and filed under RCW 34.05.360 and 34.05.380.

**EMERGENCY** rules are temporary rules filed under RCW 34.05.350 and 34.05.380 by using a CR-103 Rule-making order. Emergency rules may be used to meet certain urgent circumstances. These rules are effective for one hundred twenty days after the filing date, and may be extended in certain circumstances.

**EO** is the Executive Order 11-03 of 2010.

**Blank cells in tables** mean the anticipated filing date is not known at the time this rules agenda is filed.

**TBD - To be determined** is when a date is still being discussed.

**RCW** is the Revised Code of Washington.

**WAC** is the Washington Administrative Code.

**WSR** number is the Washington State Register official filing reference number given by the office of the code reviser when a notice is filed.

**WSR 13-03-001**  
**AGENDA**  
**DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE**  
 [Filed January 2, 2013, 12:09 p.m.]

Following is the department of commerce's semi-annual rules development agenda for publication in the Washington State Register, pursuant to RCW 34.05.314. There may be additional rule-making activity not on the agenda as conditions warrant.

Please contact Nick Demerice if you have questions, nick.demerice@commerce.wa.gov or (360) 725-4010.

**Semi-Annual Rule-Making Agenda**  
**January through June 2013**

<b>WAC Citation</b>	<b>Subject Matter/ Purpose of Rule</b>	<b>Current Activity/ Approximate Filing Date</b>
Chapter 130-02 WAC	Per RCW 43.365.020, commerce intends to update rules pertaining to the motion picture competitiveness program in order to align rules with changes made to the underlying statutes during the 2012 legislative session.	Anticipated completion in spring 2013
New section	Establish the state greenhouse gas emission performance standard for utility baseload electric generation as nine hundred and seventy pounds per megawatt-hour, the average greenhouse gas emission rate as directed by RCW 80.80.050.	Anticipated completion in spring 2013

Nick Demerice  
 Rules Coordinator

**WSR 13-03-005**  
**AGENDA**  
**NOXIOUS WEED**  
**CONTROL BOARD**  
 [Filed January 2, 2013, 2:00 p.m.]

Following is the state noxious weed control board's semi-annual rules development agenda for the period of January 1 through June 30, 2013. This document is being sent in compliance with RCW 34.05.314.

The board may undertake additional rule-making activity as conditions warrant. If you have any questions, please contact Alison Halpern at (360) 902-2053 or e-mail ahalpern@agr.wa.gov.

**Semi-Annual Rules Agenda**  
**January 1 - June 30, 2013**  
**P.O. Box 42560**  
**Olympia, WA 98504-2560**

<b>WAC Number</b>	<b>Rule Title</b>	<b>Agency Contact</b>	<b>CR-101</b>	<b>Tentative Timeline CR-102</b>	<b>CR-103</b>	<b>Subject of Rule Making</b>
16-750	State noxious weed list and schedule of monetary penalties	Alison Halpern Executive Secretary Phone (360) 902-2053	June	September	November	Possible changes to noxious weed list and state weed board by-laws

Alison Halpern  
 Executive Secretary

**WSR 13-03-006**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION**  
 [Filed January 2, 2013, 5:36 p.m.]

Following is the schedule of meetings of the state board of education for 2013.

Additional meetings may be scheduled as circumstances warrant.

<b>Date</b>	<b>Time</b>	<b>Location</b>
January 9-10, 2013	8:00-5:00	ESD 113 Tumwater

<b>Date</b>	<b>Time</b>	<b>Location</b>
February 26, 2013	1:00-5:00	OSPI Building Olympia
March 13-14, 2013	8:00-5:00	ESD 113 Tumwater
March 29, 2013	12:00-4:00	OSPI Building Olympia
May 8-9, 2013	8:00-5:00	Federal Way School District



Date	Time	Location
July 10-11, 2013	8:00-5:00	ESD 101 Spokane
August 6, 2013	1:00-4:00	OSPI Building Olympia
September 10-12, 2013	8:00-5:00	ESD 105 Yakima
November 14-15, 2013	8:00-5:00	ESD 112 Vancouver

If you need further information please contact, 600 Washington Street S.E., Olympia, WA, (360) 725-6027, www.sbe.wa.gov.

**WSR 13-03-010**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
BELLINGHAM TECHNICAL COLLEGE**

[Filed January 3, 2013, 2:56 p.m.]

The regularly scheduled meeting of the board of trustees of Bellingham Technical College is scheduled for Thursday, January 17, 2013, from 9:00 - 11:00 a.m., in the College Services Board Room on the Bellingham Technical College campus. *The board of trustees will have a study session from 8:00 - 9:00 a.m. to discuss instructional technology; the regular meeting will begin at approximately 9:00 a.m. Call 752-8334 for information.*

**WSR 13-03-011**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
BELLINGHAM TECHNICAL COLLEGE**

[Filed January 3, 2013, 3:01 p.m.]

**Board of Trustees  
Regular Board Meeting Schedule  
2013**

Pursuant to RCW 42.30.075, the Bellingham Technical College board of trustees' regular meetings during 2013 will be held on the third Thursday of each month except July. **EXCEPTION:** Meetings in February and March 2013 will be held on the third Wednesday of the month. All meetings will begin at 9 a.m. in the College Services Building Board Room, Bellingham Technical College, 3028 Lindbergh Avenue, Bellingham, WA 98225.

- January 17, 2013
- February 20, 2013                      Wednesday
- March 20, 2013                         Wednesday
- April 18, 2013
- May 16, 2013
- June 20, 2013
- August 15, 2013
- September 19, 2013

- October 17, 2013
- November 21, 2013
- December 19, 2013

If you have questions, please contact Ronda Laughlin at (360) 752-8334 or e-mail rlaughlin@btc.ctc.edu.

**WSR 13-03-015**

**AGENDA**

**EASTERN WASHINGTON UNIVERSITY**

[Filed January 4, 2013, 8:56 a.m.]

**Semi-Annual Agenda for Rules under Development  
January 2013**

Pursuant to RCW 34.05.314, the following is Eastern Washington University's semi-annual agenda for Washington Administrative Code (WAC) rules under development for July [January] through December [July] 2012 [2013]. Additional rule-making activity, not on the agenda, may occur as conditions warrant.

1. Rule making for a revision to chapter 172-09 WAC, Administration of duties and obligations required by Initiative 276—Academic transcripts of Eastern Washington State College students, is anticipated during the first half of 2013.
2. Rule making concerning a revision to chapter 172-144 WAC, Special charges—Financial responsibility, is anticipated during the first half of 2013.
3. Rule making concerning a revision to chapter 172-124 WAC, Disposition of obligations owed to university by students, is anticipated during the first half of 2013.

For more information concerning the above rules under review or development, please contact Trent Lutey, University Policy Administrator, Eastern Washington University, 214 Showalter Hall, Cheney, WA 99004, phone (509) 359-6322, fax (509) 359-7036, or e-mail tlutey@ewu.edu.

**WSR 13-03-016**

**DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE**

[Filed January 4, 2013, 9:12 a.m.]

**2012 Petitions for Rule Making**

The following information is being sent in order to implement RCW 1.08.112 [(1)](g) and WAC 1-21-180.

The Washington state department of agriculture received no petitions for rule making during the fourth quarter of 2012. A summary of the petitions received in 2012 is below.

Date	Requestor	Subject
First Quarter		
March 22, 2012	The Scotts Company	Liquid formulations of phenoxy herbicides.

Date	Requestor	Subject
Second Quarter		
May 31, 2012	Washington State Dairy Federation	Somatic cell counts in raw milk.
June 14, 2012	Darigold	Somatic cell counts in raw milk.
June 22, 2012	Matt Sircely	Cottage food operations.
Third Quarter		
August 25, 2012	Todd Crosby, Mercer Canyons	Onion white rot quarantine.
Fourth Quarter		

**WSR 13-03-017**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
LIQUOR CONTROL BOARD**

[Filed January 4, 2013, 10:20 a.m.]

Following is the schedule of regular meetings for the liquor control board for 2013:  
For more information, please call (360) 664-1717.

Meeting	Date	Time	Location
HOLIDAY	Tuesday January 1, 2013		
Executive Management Team	Wednesday January 2, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday January 3, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday January 8, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday January 9, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday January 9, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday January 10, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday January 15, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday January 16, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Conference Room 201
Executive Management Team	Wednesday January 16, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday January 17, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday January 22, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices

Meeting	Date	Time	Location
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday January 23, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday January 23, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday January 24, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday January 29, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday January 30, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday January 30, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday January 31, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday February 5, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday February 6, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday February 6, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday February 7, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday February 12, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday February 13, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday February 13, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday February 14, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday February 19, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday February 20, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday February 20, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday February 21, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday February 26, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday February 27, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday February 27, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom

<b>Meeting</b>	<b>Date</b>	<b>Time</b>	<b>Location</b>
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday February 28, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday March 5, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday March 6, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday March 6, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday March 7, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday March 12, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday March 13, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday March 13, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday March 14, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday March 19, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday March 20, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday March 20, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday March 21, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday March 26, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday March 27, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday March 27, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday March 28, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday April 2, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday April 3, 2013	9:30-12:00	Conference Room 201
Executive Management Team	Wednesday April 3, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday April 4, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday April 9, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201

Meeting	Date	Time	Location
Board Meeting	Wednesday April 10, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday April 10, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday April 11, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday April 16, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday April 17, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday April 17, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday April 18, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday April 23, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday April 24, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday April 24, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday April 25, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday April 30, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday May 1, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday May 1, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday May 2, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday May 7, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday May 8, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday May 8, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday May 9, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday May 14, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday May 15, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday May 15, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom

<b>Meeting</b>	<b>Date</b>	<b>Time</b>	<b>Location</b>
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday May 16, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday May 21, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday May 22, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday May 22, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday May 23, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday May 28, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday May 29, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday May 29, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday May 30, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday June 4, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday June 5, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday June 5, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday June 6, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday June 11, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday June 12, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday June 12, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday June 13, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday June 18, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday June 19, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday June 19, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday June 20, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday June 25, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201

<b>Meeting</b>	<b>Date</b>	<b>Time</b>	<b>Location</b>
Board Meeting	Wednesday June 26, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday June 26, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday June 27, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday July 2, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday July 3, 2013	3:00-4:00 9:30-12:00	Conference Room 201 Conference Room 201
Executive Management Team	Wednesday July 3, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
HOLIDAY	Thursday July 4, 2013		
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday July 9, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday July 10, 2013	3:00-4:00 9:30-12:00	Conference Room 201 Conference Room 201
Executive Management Team	Wednesday July 10, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday July 11, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday July 16, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday July 17, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday July 17, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday July 18, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday July 23, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday July 24, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday July 24, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday July 25, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday July 30, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday July 31, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday July 31, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom

<b>Meeting</b>	<b>Date</b>	<b>Time</b>	<b>Location</b>
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday August 1, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday August 6, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday August 7, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday August 7, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday August 8, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday August 13, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday August 14, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday August 14, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday August 15, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday August 20, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday August 21, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday August 21, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday August 22, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday August 27, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday August 28, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday August 28, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday August 29, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday September 3, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday September 4, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday September 4, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday September 5, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday September 10, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201



<b>Meeting</b>	<b>Date</b>	<b>Time</b>	<b>Location</b>
Board Meeting	Wednesday September 11, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday September 11, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday September 12, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday September 17, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday September 18, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday September 18, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday September 19, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday September 24, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday September 25, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday September 25, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday September 26, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday October 1, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday October 2, 2013	9:30-12:00	Conference Room 201
Executive Management Team	Wednesday October 2, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday October 3, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday October 8, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday October 9, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday October 9, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday October 10, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday October 15, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday October 16, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday October 16, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom

<b>Meeting</b>	<b>Date</b>	<b>Time</b>	<b>Location</b>
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday October 17, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday October 22, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday October 23, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday October 23, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday October 24, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday October 29, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday October 30, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday October 30, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday October 31, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday November 5, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday November 6, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday November 6, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday November 7, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday November 12, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday November 13, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday November 13, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday November 14, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday November 19, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Board Meeting	Wednesday November 20, 2013	3:00-4:00 10:00-12:00	Conference Room 201 Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday November 20, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday November 21, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday November 26, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201

<b>Meeting</b>	<b>Date</b>	<b>Time</b>	<b>Location</b>
Board Meeting	Wednesday November 27, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday November 27, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
HOLIDAY	Thursday November 28, 2013		
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday December 3, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday December 4, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday December 4, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday December 5, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday December 10, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday December 11, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday December 11, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday December 12, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday December 17, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Board Meeting	Wednesday December 18, 2013	10:00-12:00	Boardroom
Executive Management Team	Wednesday December 18, 2013	1:30-5:00	Boardroom
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday December 19, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday December 24, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
HOLIDAY	Wednesday December 25, 2013		
Thursday Board Caucus	Thursday December 26, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices
		3:00-4:00	Conference Room 201
Tuesday Board Caucus	Tuesday December 31, 2013	10:00-12:00	Board Offices

**WSR 13-03-019**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**BIG BEND**  
**COMMUNITY COLLEGE**  
 [Filed January 7, 2013, 10:48 a.m.]

This notice is in accordance with RCW 42.30.075 that the board of trustees for Big Bend Community College, District No. 18, have made changes to the board meeting schedule.

The January 10, 2013, meeting is moved to January 25, 2013.

**WSR 13-03-022**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**CLARK COLLEGE**  
 [Filed January 7, 2013, 12:27 p.m.]

Pursuant to RCW 42.30.075, following is the board of trustees meeting schedule for Clark College for 2013.

The board of trustees of Clark College will hold its general meetings on the fourth Wednesday of the month at 5:00 p.m. except during the months of March, June, and November 2013. All meetings are held at Clark College in the Ellis Dunn Community Room GH1 213 in Gaiser Hall.

- January 23
- February 27
- March 13
- April 24
- May 22
- June 12
- July No regular meeting is scheduled; a special meeting may be held on July 24.
- August 28
- September 25
- October 23
- November 20
- December No regular meeting is scheduled.

**WSR 13-03-023**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**GUARANTEED EDUCATION**  
**TUITION PROGRAM**  
 [Filed January 7, 2013, 2:50 p.m.]

In accordance with RCW 28B.95.020 and WAC 14-276-030, the advanced college tuition program, known as the guaranteed education tuition program, has made a revision to the committee meeting schedule:

Cancellation: Tuesday, January 15, 2013, 2:00 p.m. - 4:00 p.m., Office of the Insurance Commissioner, Tumwater, Washington 98501.

Please contact Katie Gross, if you need additional information.

**WSR 13-03-024**  
**AGENDA**  
**WASHINGTON STATE PATROL**  
 [Filed January 7, 2013, 3:23 p.m.]

**Semi-Annual Rule-Making Agenda**  
**January through June 2013**

The following is the Washington state patrol's (WSP) semi-annual rule-making agenda for publication in the Washington State Register pursuant to RCW 34.05.314.

This agenda is for information purposes, and the noted dates of anticipated rule-making actions are estimates. There may be additional rule-making activity not on the agenda as conditions warrant. Any errors in this agenda do not affect the rules and rule-making notices filed with the office of the code reviser and published in the Washington State Register.

In addition, Governor Gregoire signed Executive Order 11-03 on December 3, 2011, directing agencies under her jurisdiction to suspend noncritical rule development and adoption activities until 2013. For those rules that were suspended the agency is reviewing them to determine when the rules should be reactivated.

If you have any questions about this rule-making agenda, please contact Melissa Van Gorkom, Rules Coordinator, P.O. Box 42600, Olympia, WA 98504-2600, phone (360) 596-4017, fax (360) 596-4015, e-mail WSPrules@wsp.wa.gov.

WAC Citation	Subject Matter	Current Activity		
		Preproposal (CR-101)	Proposed (CR-102) or Expedited (CR-105)	Permanent (CR-103)
Chapter 204-91A WAC	Towing businesses. The agency anticipates a need to update this language due to the passage of HB 2274 in 2012.	April 2013	2013	2013
WAC 446-65-010 and 446-65-030	Transportation requirements. Updates are necessary to this section to bring the rules into conformance with the federal requirements for commercial vehicles.	April 2013	2013	2013

Melissa Van Gorkom  
 Rules Coordinator

**WSR 13-03-025**  
**INTERPRETIVE STATEMENT**  
**DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE**

[Filed January 7, 2013, 4:23 p.m.]

**INTERPRETIVE STATEMENT ISSUED**

The department of revenue has issued the following excise tax advisory (ETA):

**ETA 3173 *Distributor Discounts/Allowances to Grocery Stores***

WAC 458-20-108 explains that a bona fide discount may be deducted from gross proceeds of sales for determining tax liability. The department has issued ETA 3173 to clarify for taxpayers whether a discount is a bona fide discount. The department's long standing position has been that a discount is bona fide if it is not in exchange for a service or benefit. The department has also issued ETA 3173 to provide examples of the types of documentation and activities that would qualify as bona fide discounts.

A copy of this document is available via the internet at Recent Rule and Interpretive Statements, Adoptions, and Repeals.

Alan R. Lynn  
 Rules Coordinator

**WSR 13-03-028**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING**

(Real Estate Appraiser Commission)

[Filed January 8, 2013, 7:14 a.m.]

The real estate appraiser commission meetings will meet on a regular basis per WAC 308-125-225. Regular meetings are scheduled in February, May, August and November on the third Friday. Following is the schedule for 2013:

- |                   |  |
|-------------------|--|
| February 15, 2013 | Department of Licensing<br>Business and Professions Division<br>405 Black Lake Boulevard<br>Building #2, Conference Room #209<br>Olympia, WA 98504 |
| May 17, 2013      | Argonne Library<br>Public Meeting Room<br>4322 North Argonne Road<br>Spokane, WA 99212   |
| August 16, 2013   | Cle Elum City Hall<br>Consult Chambers<br>119 West First Street<br>Cle Elum, WA 98922  |
| November 15, 2013 | Renton, Washington<br>Location to be determined  |

**WSR 13-03-030**  
**AGENDA**  
**DEPARTMENT OF**  
**LABOR AND INDUSTRIES**

[Filed January 8, 2013, 11:12 a.m.]

Pursuant to RCW 34.05.314, following is the department of labor and industries' semi-annual rules development agenda for January 1 through June 30, 2013.

There may be additional rule-making activities not on the agenda as conditions warrant.

Please contact Tamara Jones at (360) 902-6805 or Tamara.Jones@lni.wa.gov if you have any questions.

**Semi-Annual Rules Development Agenda**  
**January 1 - June 30, 2013**

WAC CHAPTER(S)	RULE SUBJECT	AGENCY CONTACT	PROPOSED TIMELINE			BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES
			CR-101	CR-102	CR-103	
<b>DIVISION: ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES</b>						
296-06	Public records.	Angie Wharton Public Records (360) 902-5542	TBD	TBD	TBD	This rule making will update the public record WACs with the current agency organizational information, statutory references, web links, and records request information.
<b>DIVISION: DIVISION OF OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH (DOSH)</b>						
All DOSH WACs	DOSH rules overhaul.	Devin Proctor DOSH (360) 902-5541	TBD	TBD	TBD	This rule making will consist of reorganization, renumbering, and plain language changes. The WISHA advisory committee is urging DOSH to proceed with this work.

WAC CHAPTER(S)	RULE SUBJECT	AGENCY CONTACT	PROPOSED TIMELINE			BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES
			CR-101	CR-102	CR-103	
296-32	Telecommunications.	Beverly Clark DOSH (360) 902-5516	TBD	TBD	TBD	In 2009, DOSH began working with a telecommunications stakeholder group to develop draft language to update our current telecommunications standard and bring it up to date with industry standards.
296-36 296-155, Part Q	Compressed atmospheres.	Cindy Ireland DOSH (360) 902-5522	9/18/12 WSR 12-19-075	TBD	TBD	In 2011, DOSH met with a compressed atmospheres stakeholder group to discuss possibly updating the current rules relating to compressed air work. This standard is extremely outdated and requires multiple variances in order for work to be done safely with current technology. At the meeting the group voted unanimously that the current standard should be updated based on industry developments and technology.
296-52	Safety standards for possession, handling, and use of explosives.	Devin Proctor DOSH (360) 902-5541	TBD	TBD	TBD	The department received a petition for rule making for the explosives standard. The department has accepted the petition and will start formal rule making.
296-54	Safety standards for logging.	Devin Proctor DOSH (360) 902-5541	11/16/10 WSR 10-23-096	TBD	TBD	The department received several petitions for rule making for the logging standard. The department has accepted the petitions and has begun formal rule making.
296-155	Fall protection.	Cindy Ireland DOSH (360) 902-5522	4/4/06 WSR 06-08-085	8/21/12 WSR 12-17-118	1/22/13	DOSH has been working with a fall protection ad hoc committee to consolidate the fall protection requirements of the construction safety rules into one coherent set of requirements. In addition, DOSH asked the committee to help identify any technical changes needed due to industry developments and to ensure that any gap in current fall protection would be addressed and rectified by the rule update.

WAC CHAPTER(S)	RULE SUBJECT	AGENCY CONTACT	PROPOSED TIMELINE			BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES
			CR-101	CR-102	CR-103	
296-305	Firefighting.	Devin Proctor DOSH (360) 902-5541	11/4/08 WSR 08-22-082	8/21/12 WSR 12-17-119	1/22/13	The occupational safety and health administration (OSHA) advised the department of a couple areas in the firefighter standards where we are not-as-effective-as the federal rules. Stakeholders asked us to look at our firefighter standards and bring them up to date with current consensus standards and practices.
296-307	Safety standards in agriculture—REDON Fit Testing.	Devin Proctor DOSH (360) 902-5541	TBD	TBD	TBD	The department will put respirator requirements for the controlled negative pressure REDON fit testing protocol into the agriculture rule.
296-901	Hazard communication (global harmonization).	Beverly Clark DOSH (360) 902-5516	N/A	12/18/12 (CR-105) WSR 13-01-070	3/15/13	OSHA adopted the final rules updating its hazard communication standard into alignment with the globally harmonized system of classification and labeling of chemicals (GHS). The deadline for implementation of OSHA's rule is phased in; the effective dates start on December 1, 2013, with full compliance not required of employers until June 1, 2016. OSHA's rule also modified other existing OSHA standards that contain hazard classification and communication provisions so that they will be internally consistent and aligned with the GHS modifications to the hazard communication standard. The department is required to update our rules to be at-least-as-effective-as OSHA. It is anticipated that the department's rule making to modify other existing standards to align with the GHS changes as required by OSHA's rule will be done in subsequent rule makings.
<b>DIVISION: INSURANCE SERVICES</b>						
296-14	Confidentiality of workers' compensation claim files.	Mark Rosen Integrated Claims Services— Policies and Rules (360) 902- 6570	11/16/04 WSR 04-23-080	TBD	TBD	This rule making will define the responsibility of employers, workers, and other parties who have access to workers' compensation claim files for confidentiality and release of claim information.

WAC CHAPTER(S)	RULE SUBJECT	AGENCY CONTACT	PROPOSED TIMELINE			BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES
			CR-101	CR-102	CR-103	
296-14	Definition of temporary partial disability (loss of earning power).	Mark Rosen Integrated Claims Services— Policies and Rules (360) 902- 6570	1/2/13 WSR 13-02-092	February 2013	May 2013	This rule making will amend the definition of temporary partial disability (loss of earning power) in the medical aid rules and add a corresponding definition in the industrial insurance rules.
296-14	Pension discount rates and mortality assumptions.	Mark Rosen Integrated Claims Services— Policies and Rules (360) 902- 6570	6/20/01 WSR 01-13-096	TBD	TBD	This rule making will update the mortality assumptions used to determine pension reserves and actuarial benefit reductions.
296-14	Wages.	Mark Rosen Integrated Claims Services— Policies and Rules (360) 902- 6570	4/22/08 WSR 08-09-115	TBD	TBD	This rule making will amend existing rules for consistency with RCW 51.08.178 (2007 SHB 1244). In addition, a new rule will be added to clarify when the value of health care benefits is included in determining the worker's monthly wage.
296-14 296-15	Suppressing workers' compensation claims.	Mark Rosen Integrated Claims Services— Policies and Rules (360) 902- 6570	6/5/07 WSR 07-12-079	TBD	TBD	Pursuant to RCW 51.28.010 and 51.28.025 (2007 SSB 5443), rules are needed to define "bona fide workplace safety," "accident prevention program," and "first aid," and establish the penalty structure for employers when there is a finding of claim suppression. Consideration will be given to when and how employers may be required to notify workers of a finding of claim suppression. In addition, the rule making may address additional issues identified in the rule development process.
296-15	Reporting option 2 vocational costs to L&I.	Ginny Klapstein Self-Insurance (360) 902-6748	TBD	TBD	TBD	The purpose of this rule making is to clarify the process by which a self-insured employer reports retraining costs for any claims upon which option 2 benefits have been granted.
296-15	Self-insurance electronic data reporting system (SIEDRS) requirements and penalties.	Ginny Klapstein Self-Insurance (360) 902-6748	TBD	TBD	TBD	The purpose of this rule making is to clarify language regarding reporting requirements and penalties as they relate to SIEDRS.
296-15	Self-insurance—House-keeping changes.	Ginny Klapstein Self-Insurance (360) 902-6748	8/20/08 WSR 08-17-117	TBD	TBD	The purpose of this rule making is to review chapter 296-15 WAC for any corrections and to ensure consistency with statute. Affected rules will also be rewritten using "plain talk."



WAC CHAPTER(S)	RULE SUBJECT	AGENCY CONTACT	PROPOSED TIMELINE			BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES
			CR-101	CR-102	CR-103	
296-15	Certified claims administrators and continuing education requirements.	Ginny Klapstein Self-Insurance (360) 902-6748	TBD	TBD	TBD	This rule making will define the term "certified claims administrator" and reclassify some continuing education credits to a "general education" category.
296-15	SSB 5801 Requirements for self-insured employers.	Leah Hole-Curry Office of the Medical Director (360) 902-4996	11/20/12 WSR 12-23-074	1/22/13	4/9/13	SSB 5801 (chapter 5, Laws of 2011) directs L&I to establish a medical provider network. This rule making makes self-insurance's rules consistent with and includes direct reference to the state-wide health care provider network. This will allow workers for SI's to receive information necessary to access care within the provider network.
296-15 296-20	Medication rules.	Jaymie Mai Office of the Medical Director (360) 902-6792	1/22/13 WSR 13-02-093	3/19/13	5/28/13	This rule making may include but is not limited to the following medication related issues: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>•Amending current opioid rules to ensure consistency with department of health rules and support key concepts in the new L&amp;I guideline,</li> <li>•Clarifying payment for medication to those approved by the Federal Drug Administration (FDA) or other similar regulatory agencies outside the United States to address medical marijuana and treatment of workers who live in other countries, and</li> <li>•Allowing pensioners with ongoing medical treatment the convenience of receiving a ninety-day supply of medication via mail order to improve customer service and implement SAO Prescription Drug Audit recommendation.</li> </ul>
296-17	Change of ownership—Experience modification factor.	Julia Sweeney Employer Services 902-4799	TBD	TBD	TBD	Simplify change of ownership - experience modification factor rule, based on employer services strategic initiative.
296-17	Taxi reporting.	Jo Anne Attwood Employer Services 902-4777	TBD	TBD	TBD	Allow taxi firms to report in more than one taxi classification to allow for full-time and part-time drivers/vehicles.
296-17 296-17A	Classifications for land surveyors.	Karen Chamberlain Employer Services 902-4772	3/6/12 WSR 12-06-068	1/22/13	TBD	Create rules resulting from evaluating the fairness and equality of rates in the land survey industry.

WAC CHAPTER(S)	RULE SUBJECT	AGENCY CONTACT	PROPOSED TIMELINE			BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES
			CR-101	CR-102	CR-103	
296-17 296-17A	Employer services— Housekeeping changes.	Jo Anne Attwood Employer Services 902-4777	1/22/13	3/19/13	5/21/13	Correct various rules for typographic errors, organizational flow, and clarity of language for improved application of rules.
296-17 296-17A	Classification for product demonstrators.	Dick Bredeson Employer Services 902-4985	9/4/12 WSR 12-18-072	11/6/12 WSR 12-22-055	4/1/13	Create a new subclassification to better describe and more fairly classify the exposures of product demonstrators.
296-17A	Classifications for tree services.	Dick Bredeson Employer Services 902-4985	TBD	TBD	TBD	Possibly create separate classifications for tree trimmers.
296-17A	Classifications for schools and churches.	Dick Bredeson Employer Services 902-4985	TBD	TBD	TBD	Possibly create separate classifications for schools and churches. Presently they are subclassifications of the same basic classification.
296-17A	Classifications for stores.	Dick Bredeson Employer Services 902-4985	TBD	TBD	TBD	Reorganize multiple classifications to better address like business exposures.
296-17A	Classifications for nursing and boarding homes.	Dick Bredeson Employer Services 902-4985	TBD	TBD	TBD	Reorganize multiple classifications to better address like business exposures.
296-17A	Classifications for optical stores.	Dick Bredeson Employer Services 902-4985	TBD	TBD	TBD	Reorganize multiple classifications to better address like business exposures.
296-17A	Classifications for durable medical equipment.	Julia Sweeney Employer Services 902-4799	TBD	TBD	TBD	Reorganize multiple classifications to better address like business exposures and eliminate existing contradictions in classification language.
296-17 296-17B	2014 workers' compensation premium rates.	Jo Anne Attwood Employer Services 902-4777	6/19/13	9/18/13	11/30/13	Set rates for 2014 workers' compensation insurance.
296-20 296-23	Medical aid conversion factors, physical therapy rules, and occupational therapy rules.	Erik Landaas Health Services Analysis (360) 902-4244 Tom Davis Health Services Analysis (360) 902-6687	12/18/12 WSR 13-01-069	February 2013	April 2013	This rule making is to update conversion factors used to determine payments to medical providers, and to update the maximum daily fees payable to physical and occupational therapists.
296-23	Independent medical exams (IMEs).	Kristen Baldwin-Boe Health Services Analysis (360) 902-6815	3/20/12 WSR 12-07-069	10/23/12 WSR 12-21-102	1/22/13	Rules need to be updated so that minimum approval standards for IME examiners are equal to or above the new medical provider network minimum credentialing requirements.
<b>DIVISION: SPECIALTY COMPLIANCE SERVICES (SCS)</b>						
296-05	Apprenticeship rules.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	8/21/12 WSR 12-17-122	10/23/12 WSR 12-21-104	1/22/13	SB 5584 (chapter 308, Laws of 2011) adds a new level of review for federal purposes, director's review, to Washington state apprenticeship and training council action prior to any court appeal. The apprenticeship program needs to adopt an appeal

WAC CHAPTER(S)	RULE SUBJECT	AGENCY CONTACT	PROPOSED TIMELINE			BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES
			CR-101	CR-102	CR-103	
						process by rule in order to implement the law.
296-46B	Electrical rules.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	7/31/12 WSR 12-16-067	10/23/12 WSR 12-21-103	1/22/13	The electrical program reviews the electrical rules for additions and revisions on an annual basis to ensure the rules are consistent with the national consensus standards and industry practice. The program needs to proceed with rule making in order to make sure the rules reflect industry practice.
296-96	Elevator rules.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	11/20/12 WSR 12-23-075	1/22/13	4/16/13	The elevator program reviews their rules for additions and revisions on a regular basis to ensure the rules are consistent with the national consensus standards and industry practice. The program needs to proceed with rule making to: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>•Adopt the current national conveyance safety standards for elevators and escalators, platform lifts and chair lifts, belt man lifts, and personnel hoists.</li> <li>•Amend language for consistency and to clarify statutory requirements.</li> <li>•Adopt proposals requested and supported by stakeholders.</li> <li>•Amend the rules for clarification and safety.</li> <li>•Amend language for general housekeeping, grammatical and reference corrections to bring the rules up to date.</li> </ul>
296-104	Board of boiler rules.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	12/4/12 WSR 12-24-068	1/22/13	4/23/13	The purpose of this rule making is to make clarification and technical changes to the Board of boiler rules—Substantive (chapter 296-104 WAC) based on actions and requests of the board of boiler rules. The program needs to proceed with rule making to: <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>•Review the current edition of the national safety standards for boiler and pressure vessels. It is critical the program adopt the current national consensus standards, as these standards are required to be used by boiler and pressure vessel manufacturers and repair</li> </ul>

WAC CHAPTER(S)	RULE SUBJECT	AGENCY CONTACT	PROPOSED TIMELINE			BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES
			CR-101	CR-102	CR-103	
						<p>organizations throughout the state. Also, these standards ensure that Washington state is consistent with other states and the same safety standards are met by boiler and pressure vessel inspectors working in other states.</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>•Review current language to ensure there is consistency with statutory requirements.</li> <li>•Create new definitions for terms used in the industry to eliminate confusion and misinterpretation.</li> <li>•Clarify the rules to improve safety and to reflect current processes.</li> <li>•General housekeeping, grammatical and reference corrections to bring the rules up to date.</li> </ul>
296-125	Employment standards—Child labor rules.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	2/19/08 WSR 08-05-107	TBD	TBD	The rule making reviews the child labor rules in order to incorporate current administrative policies and federal law. The rules are also being reviewed and amended for clarity and ease of use. A number of changes are necessary to update the state regulations to be compatible with federal law and to remove the jeopardy of noncompliance with federal law for Washington employers.
296-127	Prevailing wage.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	6/16/09 WSR 09-13-077	5/18/10 WSR 10-11-116 <i>(Withdrawn on 12/1/10)</i>	TBD	<p>The rule making reviews prevailing wage rules, which have not gone through a comprehensive review since the early 90s. Amendments will be made to reflect:</p> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>• Reflect court decisions;</li> <li>• Integrate administrative policies;</li> <li>• Streamline current processes;</li> <li>• Create consistency with the statute; and</li> <li>• Make housekeeping changes.</li> </ul>
296-127	Prevailing wage—Scope of work descriptions for dredge workers, truck drivers, and ready mix truck drivers.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	7/20/10 WSR 10-15-107	11/2/10 WSR 10-22-104 <i>(Withdrawn on 12/2/10)</i>	TBD	L&I has wage rates for dredge workers, truck drivers, and ready mix drivers, but no corresponding scope of work descriptions. The rule making will adopt

WAC CHAPTER(S)	RULE SUBJECT	AGENCY CONTACT	PROPOSED TIMELINE			BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF CHANGES
			CR-101	CR-102	CR-103	
						scope of work descriptions for those worker classifications.
296-127	Prevailing wage— Scope of work description for fabricated precast concrete products.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	TBD	TBD	TBD	L&I is currently working with the prevailing wage advisory committee on the scope of work definition for fabricated precast concrete products.
296-127	Prevailing wage— Scope of work descriptions for utilities construction and laborers in utilities construction.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	8/16/10 WSR 10-17-087	TBD	TBD	The department received rule-making petitions to repeal the scope of work definitions for utilities construction and laborers in utilities construction. The petitions state the repeal of these scopes of work would eliminate confusion for wage survey respondents, would allow the department to calculate a more accurate wage rate, and would be consistent with references from the federal Davis Bacon Act.
296-200A	Contractor certificate of registration.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	7/6/10 WSR 10-14-103	TBD	TBD	The rule making reviews the contractor registration rules to ensure consistency with industry practice and clarity of language. The rule making will make housekeeping changes and update language for clarity and consistency with industry practices.
296-400A	Plumber certification.	Sally Elliott Specialty Compliance Services (360) 902-6411	TBD	TBD	TBD	This rule making is a result of SSB 5067 (chapter 301, Laws of 2011). The bill allows the program to use alternative methods for mailing certified and registered mail.

Tamara Jones  
Assistant Director for Legislative  
and Government Affairs  
Rules Coordinator

**WSR 13-03-031**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH**  
(Dental Hygiene Examining Committee)  
[Filed January 8, 2013, 11:23 a.m.]

In accordance with the Open Public Meeting[s] Act (chapter 42.30 RCW) and the Administrative Procedure Act (chapter 34.05 RCW), the following is the schedule of regular meetings for the department of health, dental hygiene examining committee, for the year 2013. The dental hygiene examining committee meetings are open to the public and access for persons with disabilities may be arranged with advance notice; please contact the staff person below for more information.

Agendas for the meetings listed below are made available in advance via listserv and the department of health web site (see below). Every attempt is made to ensure that the agenda is up-to-date. However, the dental hygiene examining committee reserves the right to change or amend agendas at the meeting.

Date	Time	Location
February 22, 2013	9:00 a.m.	Town Center 2 Room 145 111 Israel Road Tumwater
June 28, 2013	9:00 a.m.	Conference call

Date	Time	Location
October 18, 2013	9:00 a.m.	Town Center 2 Room 158 111 Israel Road Tumwater

If you need further information, please contact Vicki Brown, Program Manager, Dental Hygiene Examining Committee, Washington Department of Health, P.O. Box 47852, Olympia, WA 98504-7852, phone (360) 236-4865, fax (360) 236-2901, vicki.brown@doh.wa.gov, www.doh.wa.gov.

Please be advised the dental hygiene examining committee is required to comply with the Public Disclosure Act, chapter 42.56 RCW. This act establishes a strong state mandate in favor of disclosure of public records. As such, the information you submit to the board, including personal information, may ultimately be subject to disclosure as a public record.

**WSR 13-03-032**  
**INTERPRETIVE OR POLICY STATEMENT**  
**DEPARTMENT OF**  
**SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES**

[Filed January 8, 2013, 1:37 p.m.]

**Notice of Interpretive or Policy Statement**

In accordance with RCW 34.05.230(12), following is a list of policy and interpretive statements issued by the department of social and health services.

**Economic Services Administration**  
**Division of Child Support (DCS)**

Document Title: Policy Clarification Memo 13-001: Preparing a bankruptcy proof of claim.

Subject: Preparing a bankruptcy proof of claim.

Effective Date: January 4, 2013.

Document Description: This policy clarification memo explains the DCS process for filing proofs of claim electronically in the bankruptcy courts for the western and eastern district of Washington.

To receive a copy of the interpretive or policy statements, contact Jeff Kildahl, DCS, P.O. Box 11520, Tacoma, WA 98411-5520, phone (360) 664-5278, TDD/TTY (360) 753-9122, fax (360) 586-3274, e-mail Kildaja@dshs.wa.gov, web site <http://www.dshs.wa.gov/dcs/>.

**WSR 13-03-033**  
**POLICY STATEMENT**  
**UTILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION**  
**COMMISSION**

[Filed January 8, 2013, 1:55 p.m.]

**NOTICE OF POLICY STATEMENT**

Document Title: Docket UG-120715.

Subject: In the matter of the policy of the Washington utilities and transportation (commission) related to replacing pipeline facilities with an elevated risk of failure.

Effective Date: December 31, 2012.

Document Description: The commission addresses the commission's policies relating to the replacement of pipeline facilities that are demonstrated to have an elevated risk of failure and provides conditions for the interim recovery between rate cases associated with replacing those facilities. The commission concludes at this time that the policy statement should apply only to the investor-owned gas utility companies: Puget Sound Energy, Inc., Avista Corp, Northwest Natural Gas Company and Cascade Natural Gas Company. The commission issued a policy statement on December 31, 2012.

To receive a copy of the policy statement, contact the commission by phone (360) 664-1160, fax (360) 586-1150, or e-mail [records@utc.wa.gov](mailto:records@utc.wa.gov), or go to the commission's web site at <http://utc.wa.gov/120715>.

Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission  
David W. Danner  
Executive Director  
and Secretary

**WSR 13-03-034**  
**POLICY STATEMENT**  
**UTILITIES AND TRANSPORTATION**  
**COMMISSION**

[Filed January 8, 2013, 1:56 p.m.]

**NOTICE OF POLICY STATEMENT**

Document Title: Docket A-120061.

Subject: In the matter of the enforcement policy of the Washington utilities and transportation commission (commission).

Effective Date: January 7, 2013.

Document Description: The commission addresses the commission's policies relating to its enforcement authority. The report explains the commission's process used during the inquiry, the commission's statutory authority governing enforcement of commission statutes, the company's responsibility to comply with all statutory and regulatory requirements, and the commission's enforcement policy and objectives. The commission issued a policy statement on January 7, 2013.

To receive a copy of the policy statement, contact the commission by phone (360) 664-1160, fax (360) 586-1150, or e-mail [records@utc.wa.gov](mailto:records@utc.wa.gov), or go to the commission's web site at <http://utc.wa.gov>.

Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission  
David W. Danner  
Executive Director  
and Secretary

## WSR 13-03-035

## AGENDA

## DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

[Filed January 8, 2013, 2:03 p.m.]

Following is the department of agriculture's semi-annual rules development agenda for the period of January 1 through June 30, 2013. This document is being sent to you in compliance with RCW 34.05.314.

The department may undertake additional rule-making activity as conditions warrant. If you have any questions, please call Teresa Norman at (360) 902-2043 or e-mail [tnorman@agr.wa.gov](mailto:tnorman@agr.wa.gov).

**Semi-Annual Rules Agenda  
January 1 - June 30, 2013  
P.O. Box 42560  
Olympia, WA 98504-2560**

WAC Number	Rule Title	Agency Contact	Tentative Timeline			Subject of Rule Making
			CR-101 CR-105	CR-102	CR-103	
<b>Agriculture Development and Assistance</b>						
Chapter 16-06 WAC	Public records.	Elizabeth McNagny Administrative Regulations Phone (360) 902-1809	May 2013	July 2013	September 2013	Updating department information and procedures to provide full access to public records and to implement the Public Records Act.
Chapter 16-08 WAC	Practice and procedure.	Elizabeth McNagny Administrative Regulations Phone (360) 902-1809	May 2013	July 2013	September 2013	Updating rules of procedure that are applicable to adjudicative proceedings.
<b>Commodity Inspection</b>						
Chapter 16-463 WAC	Prohibiting the sale and/or movement of infested cherries.	Ken Shank Fruit and Vegetable Inspection Program Phone (509) 665-4318	CR-105 May 2013		July 2013	Recognize RCW 15.08.070 as providing a statutory exception for the transporting and use of cherry fruit fly infested cherries to be manufactured into by-products or to be shipped to a by-products plant. Provide clarification as to the Latin name for the specific cherry fruit fly larvae.
Chapter 16-455 WAC	Washington standards for Italian prunes.	Ken Shank Fruit and Vegetable Inspection Program Phone (509) 665-4318	CR-105 May 2013		July 2013	Revise section headings to a "plain talk" format.
<b>Pesticide Management</b>						
Chapters 16-230, 16-231 and 16-232 WAC	Rules related to restricted use herbicides.	Cliff Weed Compliance Services Program Phone (360) 902-2036	May 2009	June 2013	August 2013	Updating department information and procedures to provide full access to public records and to implement the Public Records Act.
WAC 16-228-1231	General pesticide rules.	Cliff Weed Compliance Services Program Phone (360) 902-2036	March 2013	June 2013	August 2013	Amend rule to allow the sale of all formulations of phenoxy-hormone type herbicides in ready to use formulations in containers greater than one gallon in volume.

Teresa Norman  
Rules Coordinator

**WSR 13-03-039**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
APPLE COMMISSION**

[Filed January 9, 2013, 10:36 a.m.]

Following are the regular meetings of the Washington apple commission:

March 28, 2013	Washington Apple Com- mission Building Wenatchee	9:00 a.m.
July 16, 2012 [2013]	Hansen Building Yakima	9:00 a.m.
December 4, 2013	Washington Apple Com- mission Building Wenatchee	9:00 a.m.

**WSR 13-03-044**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH**

(Board of Physical Therapy)

[Filed January 9, 2013, 1:09 p.m.]

In accordance with the Open Public Meeting[s] Act (chapter 42.30 RCW) and the Administrative Procedure Act (chapter 34.05 RCW), the following is the schedule of regular meetings for the department of health, board of physical therapy, for the year 2013. The board of physical therapy meetings are open to the public, and access for persons with disabilities may be arranged with advance notice; please contact the staff person below for more information.

Agendas for the meetings listed below are made available in advance via listserv and the department of health web site (see below). Every attempt is made to ensure that the agenda is up-to-date. However, the board of physical therapy reserves the right to change or amend agendas at the meeting.

Date	Time	Location
February 25, 2013	10:00 a.m.	Kent
April 8, 2013	10:00 a.m.	Kent
June 17, 2013	10:00 a.m.	Spokane
August 12, 2013	10:00 a.m.	Conference Call
October 21, 2013	10:00 a.m.	Kent
December 2, 2013	10:00 a.m.	Kent

If you need further information, please contact Kris Waidely, Program Manager, Board of Physical Therapy, Washington Department of Health, P.O. Box 47852, Olympia, WA 98504-7852, (360) 236-4847, (360) 236-2901, kris.waidely@doh.wa.gov, www.doh.wa.gov.

Please be advised the board of physical therapy is required to comply with the Public Disclosure Act, chapter 42.56 RCW. This act establishes a strong state mandate in favor of disclosure of public records. As such, the information you submit to the board, including personal information, may ultimately be subject to disclosure as a public record.

**WSR 13-03-045**

**DEPARTMENT OF  
LABOR AND INDUSTRIES**

[Filed January 9, 2013, 3:08 p.m.]

**Prevailing Rate of Wage**

Pursuant to RCW 39.12.015, 39.12.020 and WAC 296-127-011, on February 1, 2013, the industrial statistician will determine and publish on the internet the statewide prevailing rates of wage. Pursuant to WAC 296-127-011, these rates become effective March 3, 2013, thirty days after publication.

For more information on prevailing wage or a copy of the rates please visit our web site at [www.lni.wa.gov/TradesLicensing/PrevailingWage/](http://www.lni.wa.gov/TradesLicensing/PrevailingWage/) or call (360) 902-5335.

L. Ann Selover  
Prevailing Wage Manager  
Industrial Statistician

**WSR 13-03-048**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS' AND  
FIREFIGHTERS' PLAN 2 RETIREMENT BOARD**

[Filed January 10, 2013, 10:57 a.m.]

The law enforcement officers' and firefighters' plan 2 retirement board meeting has been canceled for Wednesday, January 23, 2013.

The next regularly scheduled meeting is **Wednesday, February 27, 2013**, at 9:30 a.m. The meeting will be located in the Washington state investment board's large conference room.

Please feel free to contact (360) 586-2320 or jessica.burkhart@leoff.wa.gov with questions.

**WSR 13-03-049**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
HIGHLINE COMMUNITY COLLEGE**

[Filed January 10, 2013, 11:55 a.m.]

This is to inform you of the meeting schedule for 2013 for the board of trustees of Highline Community College, District 9. All meetings will be held in Building 25 on the Highline campus in Des Moines, Washington and begin with a study session at 8:00 a.m., followed by the regular meeting at 10:00 a.m., with the exception of March 11, 2013. The time and location of the March meeting will be forwarded upon confirmation. These meeting dates were approved by the board of trustees at the December 13, 2012, meeting.

DATE	STUDY SESSION	MEETING
January 17, 2013	8:00 a.m.	10:00 a.m.
February 21, 2013	8:00 a.m.	10:00 a.m.
March 11, 2013	Unconfirmed	Unconfirmed
April 11, 2013	8:00 a.m.	10:00 a.m.



DATE	STUDY SESSION	MEETING
May 9, 2013	8:00 a.m.	10:00 a.m.
June 13, 2013	8:00 a.m.	10:00 a.m.
July 11, 2013	8:00 a.m.	10:00 a.m.
<i>No August 2013 meeting</i>		
September 19, 2013	8:00 a.m.	10:00 a.m.
<i>No October 2013 meeting</i>		
November 14, 2013	8:00 a.m.	10:00 a.m.
December 12, 2013	8:00 a.m.	10:00 a.m.

**WSR 13-03-050****AGENDA****DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING**

[Filed January 10, 2013, 3:34 p.m.]

Following is the rule-making agenda for the department of licensing. This agenda is sent as a requirement of RCW 34.05.314.

For any additional information regarding rule making at the department of licensing please don't hesitate to contact Damon Monroe via e-mail [dmonroe@dol.wa.gov](mailto:dmonroe@dol.wa.gov), or phone (360) 902-3843.

**RULE-MAKING AGENDA FOR RULES UNDER DEVELOPMENT  
JANUARY 2013**

CR-101	CR-102	PROGRAM	SUBJECT
06-22-105	10-23-023	Motorcycle	New rule: Establish basic requirements governing the operation and scope of motorcycle education courses offered by commercial businesses.
08-07-004		Engineers	Chapter 196-26A WAC, Engineer and land surveyor fees, to enact the requirement to end the fee suspension.
08-14-032		Real estate	Implement section 10, chapter 110, Laws of 2008.
08-18-066	12-24-082	Driver records	WAC 308-104-160 Moving and nonmoving traffic violations defined, update WAC 308-104-160 to provide a definition for moving and non-moving violations.
08-18-068		Driver examining	WAC 308-104-018 Changing the address of record.
09-08-075		Engineering	Chapter 196-20 WAC part of an effort to better organize existing and future rules under the existing chapter that pertains to engineers-in-training.
09-08-077		Land surveyor	Chapter 196-21 WAC part of an effort to better organize existing and future rules under the existing chapter that pertains to land surveyors-in-training.
10-01-035		Tattoo	New rules: Body art, body piercing, and tattooing.
10-01-136		Engineers	Chapter 196-25 WAC, Business practices, the board is currently looking at the definitions that are currently contained in rule.
10-08-095		Title and registration	WAC 308-56A-206 Certificates of title—Motor vehicles, etc., to clarify the process when a customer presents a Washington title and there is not an existing Washington record on file in the data base with the department.
10-12-073		Cosmetology	Chapter 308-20 WAC to determine if there are any rules that are no longer needed or need further written clarification.
10-14-037		Real estate	Director authority on conducting audits and investigations.
10-19-061		PSD/training/ technical services	WAC 308-104-014 Application for driver license or ID, updating application requirements.

CR-101	CR-102	PROGRAM	SUBJECT
10-23-085		PSD/driver records	Mailing original driver's licenses and identicards out-of-state.
10-23-086		PSD/driver records	Chapter 308-102 WAC, Administration of the Financial Responsibility Act—Procedures.
10-23-088		PSD/hearings	Chapter 308-103 WAC, Rules of procedure for hearings conducted under RCW 46.20.308.
10-23-097		Real estate	Examination of managing brokers.
11-15-059	11-24-106	PSD/training/ technical services	WAC 308-104-075, administrative sanctions re: ID application.
09-14-135		Engineers	Chapter 196-12 WAC amending to reflect current board practices. Language will be amended and/or repealed to better reflect the board's current practices.
12-03-062		BPD/real estate	Director's authority for investigations, inspections and audits, time, place, manner.
12-11-060	13-02-049	PSD/vehicles	Vehicle licenses and vehicle brands.
12-11-013		PSD/contracts and programs	New rule. ADR monitoring services, to allow insurance carriers, employers, or their agents to enter into contracts with the department of licensing to participate in the abstract driving records (ADR) monitoring service.
12-10-086	13-01-065	PSD/vehicle and vessel licensing	Chapter 308-96A WAC, Vehicle licensees, WAC 308-96A-530 Veteran remembrance license plate emblems.
12-14-072		PSD/contracts and programs (CDL)	WAC 308-100- 033 Minimum training requirements.
12-20-055		BPD/collection agencies	Board's authority on conducting audits and investigations of business and profession licensees.
12-21-085		BPD/engineers and land surveyors	Chapter 196-26A WAC, Registered professional engineers and land surveyor fees. Amendment need[s] to make a reduction in fees charged to licensees.
12-20-026		BPD/engineers and land surveyors	Chapter 196-09 WAC, Board practices and procedures, clarify the board procedures on investigations.

Damon Monroe  
Rules Coordinator

**WSR 13-03-051**

**AGENDA**

**OFFICE OF**

**FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT**

[Filed January 11, 2013, 8:37 a.m.]

In accordance with RCW 34.05.314, the office of financial management (OFM) submits this semi-annual agenda for rules under development. During the next six-month period, OFM will be engaged in the rule-making activities set forth below:

- WAC 82-50-021 will be updated to reflect the establishment of the semi-monthly pay dates for the 2014 calendar year. The CR-105 form will be filed in January and the CR-103P will be filed in April.
- WAC 357-16-110 will be reviewed and may be modified to clarify how veteran's preference applies to reemployment.
- As part of our ongoing review of Title 357 WAC, OFM may propose changes to the following:

WAC

Number

WAC Subject

- |            |  |
|------------|--|
| 357-19-115 | Trial service reversion rights.        |
| 357-58-375 |  |
| 357-01-345 | Trial service period.                  |
| 357-19-025 |  |
| 357-01-190 | Job seeker.                            |
| 357-16-040 | College recruitment program.           |
| 357-16-045 |  |
| 357-16-050 |  |
| 357-16-060 | Washington state application form.     |
| 357-31-120 | Sick leave and vacation leave accrual. |
| 357-31-175 |  |

<u>WAC</u> <u>Number</u>	<u>WAC Subject</u>
357-01-120	Reassignment.
357-01-235	
357-01-275	
357-01-301	
357-19-075	
357-19-165	
357-19-170	
357-19-171	
357-19-173	
357-19-177	
357-58-065	
357-58-205	
357-58-207	
357-46-010	Layoff.
357-46-020	
357-46-030	
357-46-035	
357-28-055	Periodic increment date.
357-19-225	Review period.
357-01-303	Seniority date.
357-01-304	
357-58-125	Downward reallocation.
357-58-132	Washington management service.
357-58-450	
357-31-130	Sick leave.
357-19-442	Temporary appointment.
357-31-010	Holiday pay.
357-31-020	

- OFM may undertake additional rule making to modify Title 357 WAC as necessary during and following the 2013 legislative session.

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact Sandi Stewart at (360) 902-0315.

Sandi Stewart  
Rules Coordinator

**WSR 13-03-052**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**CENTRALIA COLLEGE**  
[Filed January 11, 2013, 9:39 a.m.]

The Centralia College board of trustees has changed the following regular meeting:

From: February 14, 2013.  
To: February 20, 2013.

If you need further information contact Janet Reaume, 600 Centralia College Boulevard, Centralia, WA 98531, (360) 736-9391 ext. 231, fax (360) 736-7573, jreaume@centralia.edu, <http://www.centralia.edu/>.

**WSR 13-03-055**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**CONVENTION CENTER**  
[Filed January 11, 2013, 11:21 a.m.]

A regular meeting of the Washington state convention center public facilities district board of directors will be held on Tuesday, January 22, 2013, at 2:00 p.m. The meeting will take place in Room 303 of the Convention Center, 800 Pike Street, Seattle.

If you have any questions regarding the board meeting, please call (206) 694-5000.

**WSR 13-03-066**  
**RULES COORDINATOR**  
**DEPARTMENT OF**  
**NATURAL RESOURCES**  
[Filed January 11, 2013, 4:58 p.m.]

Pursuant to RCW 34.05.312, the rules coordinator for the Washington department of natural resources is Rochelle Knust, 1111 Washington Street S.E., P.O. Box 47015, Olympia, WA 98504-7015, phone (360) 902-2117, fax (360) 902-1789, e-mail Rochelle.knust@dnr.wa.gov.

Pamela Krueger  
Environmental and Legal  
Affairs Section Manager

**WSR 13-03-067**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**CENTER FOR CHILDHOOD**  
**DEAFNESS AND HEARING LOSS**  
[Filed January 14, 2013, 8:29 a.m.]

The Washington State Center for Childhood Deafness and Hearing Loss (formerly Washington School for the Deaf) board of trustees made changes to their upcoming board meeting dates as noted below:

January 22, 2013 (Fife School District office)	this is an addition
February 1, 2013 (Olympia area)	changed to February 8, 2013 (still in Olympia)
March 1, 2013	remains the same
April 19, 2013	remains the same
June 7, 2013	remains the same

**WSR 13-03-069**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION**  
[Filed January 14, 2013, 9:51 a.m.]

The following dates, times, and locations are for the February and March 2013 commission meetings:

February 28, 2013	10 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.	Seattle Office for Civil Rights Central Building Smith Conference Room 810 Third Avenue Suite 750 Seattle, WA 98104	Madsen, C.J.
			C. Johnson, J.
			Stephens, J.
March 28, 2013	9:30 a.m.	Broadway Building Orcas Room 950 Broadway Street Tacoma, WA 98402	Owens, J.
			Wiggins, J.
			Fairhurst, J.
			Gonzales, J.
			J.M. Johnson, J.
			Sheryl Gordon McCloud, J.

**WSR 13-03-071**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**RED RASPBERRY COMMISSION**  
 [Filed January 14, 2013, 12:24 p.m.]

The Washington red raspberry commission has adopted the following meeting schedule for 2013:

2013 Meeting Schedule

January 23	Lynden	
April 10	Puyallup	
September 11	Mt. Vernon	
October 23	Lynden	
December 5	Lynden	Annual Meeting

**WSR 13-03-072**  
**RULES OF COURT**  
**STATE SUPREME COURT**  
 [January 10, 2013]

IN THE MATTER OF THE ADOPTION ) ORDER  
 OF THE AMENDMENT TO APR 11 - ) NO. 25700-A-1014  
 CONTINUING LEGAL EDUCATION )  
 REGULATION 107 (b)(1) - EXEMP- )  
 TIONS, WAIVERS, MODIFICATIONS - )  
 JUDICIAL EXEMPTION. )

The Washington State Bar Association having recommended the adoption of the proposed amendment APR 11 - Continuing Legal Education Regulation - 107 (b)(1) - Exemptions, Waivers, Modifications - Judicial Exemption, and the Court having determined that the proposed amendment will aid in the prompt and orderly administration of justice and further determined the need for expedited adoption;

Now, therefore, it is hereby

ORDERED:

(a) That the amendment as shown below hereto is adopted.

(b) That the amendment will be published expeditiously and become effective upon publication.

DATED at Olympia, Washington this 10th day of January 2013.

**REGULATIONS OF THE**  
**WASHINGTON STATE MANDATORY**  
**CONTINUING LEGAL EDUCATION BOARD**  
**Approved as Amended by**  
**the Board of Governors**  
**and Supreme Court**

**Regulation 107. Exemptions, Waivers, Modifications**

**(b) Judicial exemption.**

**(1) Qualified WSBA Judicial members, except for administrative law judges, are exempt from the continuing legal education requirement established by APR 11.**

~~**(1) Full-time.** Full-time judges, magistrates, court commissioners, administrative law judges, and the Washington State Supreme Court clerk or assistant clerk, who are prohibited by statute, code, regulation, or court rule from practicing law, are exempt from the continuing legal education requirement established by APR 11. The exemption ends when the full-time judicial position ends, if the member is on active status with the WSBA.~~

~~**(2) Part-time.** Part-time or pro tem judges, magistrates, court commissioners, administrative law judges, and court clerks who are active members of the WSBA, are fully subject to the requirements of APR 11.~~

**Reviser's note:** The typographical error in the above material occurred in the copy filed by the state supreme court and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**WSR 13-03-073**  
**RULES OF COURT**  
**STATE SUPREME COURT**  
 [January 10, 2013]

IN THE MATTER OF THE ADOPTION ) ORDER  
 OF THE AMENDMENTS TO CrR 2.3- ) NO. 25700-A-1015  
 SEARCH AND SEIZURE; AND CrR 3.2.1 )  
 PROCEDURE FOLLOWING WARRANT- )  
 LESS ARREST-PRELIMINARY )  
 APPEARANCE; AND COMMENT 5, CJC )  
 2.9-EX PARTE COMMUNICATIONS. )

The Superior Court Judges' Association having recommended the adoption of the proposed amendments to CrR 2.3-Search and Seizure and CrR 3.2.1 Procedure Following Warrantless Arrest-Preliminary Appearance; and Comment 5, CJC 2.9-Ex Parte Communications, and the Court having approved the proposed amendments for publication;

Now, therefore, it is hereby

ORDERED:

(a) That pursuant to the provisions of GR 9(g), the proposed amendments as shown below hereto are to be published for comment in the Washington Reports, Washington Register, and on the Washington State Bar Association and Office of the Administrator for the Courts' websites expeditiously.

(b) The purpose statement as required by GR 9(e), is published solely for the information of the Bench, Bar and other interested parties.

(c) Comments are to be submitted to the Clerk of the Supreme Court by either U.S. Mail or Internet E-Mail by no later than April 30, 2013. Comments may be sent to the following addresses: P.O. Box 40929, Olympia, Washington 98504-0929, or Denise.Foster@courts.wa.gov. Comments submitted by e-mail message must be limited to 1500 words.

DATED at Olympia, Washington this 10th day of January, 2013.

For the Court  
Madsen, C.J.  
\_\_\_\_\_  
CHIEF JUSTICE

#### GR 9 COVER SHEET

#### Suggested Amendment SUPERIOR COURT CRIMINAL RULES (CrR)

#### Rule 2.3: Search and Seizure

#### Submitted by the Superior Court Judges Association

**Purpose:** Search warrants are often requested outside the court's regular business hours. Technology has now advanced to the point that sworn testimony establishing the grounds for issuing a search warrant may be readily and reliably transmitted by facsimile machine or electronic mail. Authorizing transmissions by fax or e-mail removes the necessity for law enforcement personnel to travel to the home of a judge, which is especially significant where adverse conditions and distance are factors. Implementing the proposed changes could also allow courts to more efficiently handle increased requests for search warrants in automobile cases that may arise following recent court decisions.

It is submitted that CrR 2.3 should be amended to allow transmission of documents establishing the grounds for issuing search warrants to the court by fax or e-mail. The rule should also provide that the court's authorization for search warrants may be sent by e-mail and should clarify that a record must be made of submitted evidence upon which the court relies.

At this time, there is no request to amend the comparable rule for courts of limited jurisdiction.

#### SUPERIOR COURT CRIMINAL RULE 2.3 SEARCH AND SEIZURE

[(a) and (b) are unchanged]

**(c) Issuance and Contents.** A search warrant may be issued only if the court determines there is probable cause for the issuance of a warrant. There must be an affidavit, a document as provided in RCW 9A.72.085 or any law amendatory thereto, or sworn testimony establishing the grounds for issuing the warrant. The sworn testimony may be an electronically recorded telephone statement, facsimile machine document, or electronically mailed document. The recording or a duplication of the recording, facsimile, or electronic mail shall be a part of the court record and shall be transcribed if requested by a party if there is a challenge to the validity of the warrant or if ordered by the court. The evidence in support of the finding of probable cause shall be preserved and shall be subject to constitutional limitations for such determinations and may be hearsay in whole or in part. If the court finds that probable cause for the issuance of a warrant exists, it shall issue a warrant or direct an individual whom it authorizes for such purpose to affix the court's signature to a warrant identifying the property or person and naming or describing the person, place or thing to be searched. The court's authorization may be done by electronic mail. ~~The court shall record a summary~~ A record shall be made of any additional submitted evidence on which the court relies. The warrant shall be directed to any peace officer. It shall command the officer to search, within a specified period of time not to exceed 10 days, the person, place, or thing named for the property or person specified. It shall designate to whom it shall be returned. The warrant may be served at any time.

[(d) - (f) are unchanged]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**Reviser's note:** The spelling error in the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appears in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

#### GR 9 COVER SHEET

#### Suggested Amendment SUPERIOR COURT CRIMINAL RULES (CrR)

#### Rule 3.2.1: Procedure Following Warrantless Arrest—Preliminary Appearance

#### Submitted by the Superior Court Judges Association

**Purpose:** Depending on the jurisdiction, it may be highly inconvenient for a judicial officer to travel to a jail or courthouse for the purpose of making a 48-hour probable cause determination. Computer technology has progressed to the point that conducting such determinations by e-mail or fax is a readily available and reliable option.

It is submitted that CrR 3.2.1 should be amended to allow transmission of evidence and documentation concerning probable cause to the court by fax or e-mail. The

rule should also provide that the court's authorization may be sent by e-mail.

At this time, there is no request to amend the comparable rule for courts of limited jurisdiction.

SUPERIOR COURT CRIMINAL  
RULE 3.2.1 PROCEDURE FOLLOWING WARRANTLESS  
ARREST-  
PRELIMINARY APPEARANCE

[(a) is unchanged]

**(b) How Determined.** The court shall determine probable cause on evidence presented by a peace officer or prosecuting authority in the same manner as provided for a warrant of arrest in rule 2.2(a). The evidence shall be preserved and may consist of an electronically recorded telephonic statement, facsimile machine document, or by electronic mail. If the court finds that release without bail should be denied or that conditions should attach to the release on personal recognition, other than the promise to appear for trial, the court shall proceed to determine whether probable cause exists to believe that the accused committed the offense charged, unless this determination has previously been made by a court. Before making the determination, the court may consider an affidavit, a document as provided in RCW 9A.72.-085 or any law amendatory thereto, or sworn testimony, and further may examine under oath the affiant and any witnesses the affiant may produce. Said documentation may be provided to the court by facsimile machine document or electronic mail. Sworn testimony shall be electronically or stenographically recorded. The evidence shall be preserved and shall be subject to constitutional limitations for probable cause determinations, and may be hearsay in whole or in part. Court authorization may be done by electronic mail.

[(c) - (f) are unchanged]

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

GR 9 COVER SHEET

**Suggested Amendment  
Code for Judicial Conduct (CJC)**

**CJC 2.9 Comment 5  
Submitted by the Superior  
Court Judges' Association**

A. Purpose:

The SCJA operates a Mentor Judge Program for superior court judges elected or appointed to the bench. The program maintains a list of current sitting judges who volunteer to serve as mentors to newly elected/appointed superior court judges. When the committee is notified of a new judge election or appointment, the chairs of the committee review the list of volunteers and assign a mentor judge from another jurisdiction to the new judge. This is intended to serve as a resource to new judges who may contact the mentor judge about any questions they may have related to their profession.

Between October 2011 and January 2013, 24 judges have left the bench. With each retirement we experience loss of quality experience and guidance. Many former judges,

who have not returned to the practice of law (as defined in CJC 3.10), could still be excellent mentor judges. The SCJA would like to revise the Mentor Program to utilize the talents of recently retired judges who are willing to serve as mentor judges. In order to accomplish this, we request a comment be added to CJC 2.9 on Ex Parte Communications to clarify exchanges allowable between a sitting judge and a retired mentor judge.

CJC 2.9 provides in part:

*A judge may consult with court staff and court officials whose functions are to aid the judge in carrying out the judge's adjudicative responsibilities, or with other judges, provided the judge makes reasonable efforts to avoid receiving factual information that is not part of the record, and does not abrogate the responsibility personally to decide the matter.*

**CJC 2.9  
Ex Parte Communications**

(A) A judge shall not initiate, permit, or consider ex parte communications, or consider other communications made to the judge outside the presence of the parties or their lawyers, concerning a pending\* or impending matter,\* before that judge's court except as follows:

(1) When circumstances require it, ex parte communication for scheduling, administrative, or emergency purposes, which does not address substantive matters, or ex parte communication pursuant to a written policy or rule for a mental health court, drug court, or other therapeutic court, is permitted, provided:

(a) the judge reasonably believes that no party will gain a procedural, substantive, or tactical advantage as a result of the ex parte communication; and

(b) the judge makes provision promptly to notify all other parties of the substance of the ex parte communication, and gives the parties an opportunity to respond.

(2) A judge may obtain the written advice of a disinterested expert on the law applicable to a proceeding before the judge, if the judge affords the parties a reasonable opportunity to object and respond to the advice received.

(3) A judge may consult with court staff and court officials whose functions are to aid the judge in carrying out the judge's adjudicative responsibilities, or with other judges, provided the judge makes reasonable efforts to avoid receiving factual information that is not part of the record, and does not abrogate the responsibility personally to decide the matter.

(4) A judge may, with the consent of the parties, confer separately with the parties and their lawyers in an effort to settle matters pending before the judge.

(5) A judge may initiate, permit, or consider any ex parte communication when expressly authorized by law\* to do so.

(B) If a judge inadvertently receives an unauthorized ex parte communication bearing upon the substance of a matter, the judge shall make provision promptly to notify the parties of the substance of the communication and provide the parties with an opportunity to respond.

(C) A judge shall not investigate facts in a matter pending or impending before that judge, and shall consider only

the evidence presented and any facts that may properly be judicially noticed, unless expressly authorized by law.

(D) A judge shall make reasonable efforts, including providing appropriate supervision, to ensure that this Rule is not violated by court staff, court officials, and others subject to the judge's direction and control.

**COMMENT**

[1] To the extent reasonably possible, all parties or their lawyers shall be included in communications with a judge.

[2] Whenever the presence of a party or notice to a party is required by this Rule, it is the party's lawyer, or if the party is unrepresented, the party, who is to be present or to whom notice is to be given.

[3] The proscription against communications concerning a proceeding includes communications with lawyers, law teachers, and other persons who are not participants in the proceeding, except to the limited extent permitted by this Rule.

[4] A judge may initiate, permit, or consider ex parte communications expressly authorized by law, such as when

servicing on therapeutic or problem-solving courts, mental health courts, or drug courts. In this capacity, judges may assume a more interactive role with parties, treatment providers, probation officers, social workers, and others.

[5] A judge may consult with other judges on pending matters, but must avoid ex parte discussions of a case with judges who have previously been disqualified from hearing the matter, and with judges who have appellate jurisdiction over the matter. A judge may consult with retired judges who no longer practice law and are enrolled in the SCJA Mentor Judge Program.

[6] The prohibition against a judge investigating the facts in a matter extends to information available in all mediums, including electronic.

[7] A judge may consult ethics advisory committees, outside counsel, or legal experts concerning the judge's compliance with this Code. Such consultations are not subject to the restrictions of paragraph (A)(2).

**Reviser's note:** The brackets and enclosed material in the text of the above section occurred in the copy filed by the agency and appear in the Register pursuant to the requirements of RCW 34.08.040.

**WSR 13-03-074**

**AGENDA**

**HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY**

[Filed January 14, 2013, 12:40 p.m.]

**Semi-Annual Rule-Making Agenda  
January through June 2013**

The following is the Washington health care authority's (HCA) semi-annual rule-making agenda for publication in the Washington State Register pursuant to RCW 34.05.314.

There may be additional rule-making activity not on the agenda as conditions warrant. If you have questions about this rule-making agenda, please contact Kevin M. Sullivan, Rules Coordinator, P.O. Box 45504, Olympia, WA 98504-5504, phone (360) 725-1344, e-mail Kevin.Sullivan@hca.wa.gov.

WAC Citation	Subject Matter	Current Activity		
		CR-101 Preproposal	CR-102 or CR-105	CR-103
Chapters 182-08, 182-12, and 182-16 WAC	Public employee's benefits board (PEBB)—Annual review of eligibility, enrollment, and appeal rules.	April 2013		
Chapters 182-503, 182-504, 182-505, 182-506, 182-507, 182-508, 182-509, 182-510, 182-511, 182-512, 182-514, 182-518, 182-519, 182-520, 182-523 WAC	Medicaid expansion, implementation of Affordable Care Act provisions by January 2014.	WSR 12-19-092 filed September 19, 2012		
WAC 182-501-0050, 182-501-0060, 182-501-0065, 182-501-0070, 182-502-0160	Updating healthcare services categories to reflect what is currently available to HCA medicaid clients.	WSR 10-22-121 filed November 3, 2010		
WAC 182-502-0115	Adding requirements and prohibition of payment for provider preventable conditions (PPC).	WSR 11-19-008 filed September 7, 2011		
Chapter 182-537 WAC	School-based healthcare services. To avoid elimination of the program, HCA is revising rules to allow school districts to provide the state funds to match the federal participation.	WSR 10-20-160 filed October 6, 2010	WSR 13-02-073 filed December 31, 2012	
WAC 182-501-0135	Patient review and coordination. HCA will pay only for medically necessary emergency services performed in the emergency room.	WSR 12-06-036 filed March 2, 2012	WSR 12-21-113 filed October 23, 2012	

WAC Citation	Subject Matter	Current Activity		
		CR-101 Preproposal	CR-102 or CR-105	CR-103
WAC 182-502-0010, 182-502-0012, 182-502-0014, 182-502-0016, and 182-502-0020	Provider screening and enrollment. Implementing new requirements per federal Affordable Care Act.	WSR 12-17-060 filed August 10, 2012	WSR 12-24-088 filed December 5, 2012	
WAC 182-530-1000 and 182-531-0100	Outpatient drug program and physicians. Implementing new federal requirement that ordering, prescribing, or referring providers must be enrolled as participating providers.	WSR 12-09-080 filed April 17, 2012	WSR 12-21-110 filed October 23, 2012	
WAC 182-531-1410	Applied behavioral analysis (ABA) therapy for children with autism spectrum disorders.	WSR 12-14-100 filed July 3, 2012		
WAC 182-531-1500, 182-550-1800, and 182-550-6350	Sleep studies. Allowing nonhospital-owned and operated facilities to be included on the agency-approved sleep study list.	WSR 12-11-103 filed May 21, 2012		
Chapter 182-532 WAC	TAKE CHARGE program. Amending rules to comply with new federal waiver and discontinuing payment for application assistance.	WSR 12-16-100 filed August 1, 2012		
WAC 182-540-001 through 182-540-065	Kidney disease program. Restructuring program to include changes to client eligibility and the application process, client and contractor accountability, and adding a standardized administrative hearing process.	WSR 12-05-021 filed February 7, 2012		
Chapter 182-550 WAC	Hospital services. Implementing safety net assessments.			
Chapter 182-551 WAC	Home health services. Implementing ACA requirement that a health care provider must have a face-to-face encounter with a client before ordering or recertifying services.			
Chapter 182-557 WAC	Chronic care management. Implementing ACA requirement regarding utilizing health homes in managing chronic care.	WSR 12-22-074 filed November 7, 2012		

Kevin M. Sullivan  
Rule Coordinator

**WSR 13-03-075**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING**  
(Real Estate Commission)  
[Filed January 14, 2013, 1:37 p.m.]

The March 20, 2013, meeting will be held 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. (or until completion of business[]) at the Department of Labor and Industries, 7273 Linderson Way S.W., Tumwater, WA.

The June 12, 2013, meeting will be held in the Vancouver area (specific location TBD).

The September 17, 2013, meeting will be held in the Seattle area (specific location TBD).

The December 5, 2013, meeting will be held 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. (or until completion of business[]) at the Department of Licensing, Black Lake 2, 2nd Floor Conference Room 209, 405 Black Lake Boulevard S.W., Olympia, WA 98502.

**WSR 13-03-076**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**BOARD OF TAX APPEALS**  
[Filed January 14, 2013, 1:57 p.m.]

The regular monthly public meeting of the board of tax appeals (board), scheduled for 9:30 a.m., Friday, February 8, 2013, has been cancelled.

**WSR 13-03-081**  
**AGENDA**  
**PUBLIC DISCLOSURE COMMISSION**  
[Filed January 15, 2013, 9:51 a.m.]

**Agenda for Rules Under Development**  
**January - June 2013**

Agency Contact: Lori Anderson, Communications and Training Officer, P.O. Box 40908, Olympia, WA 98504-0908, phone (360) 664-2737, toll free 1-877-601-2828, fax (360) 753-1112, e-mail landerson@pdc.wa.gov.



In accordance with RCW 34.05.314, the public disclosure commission (the commission) submits this semi-annual agenda for rules under development.

**1. Topic:** Contribution limits.

**Status:** WAC 390-05-400 was amended November 7, 2012, on an emergency basis to insert and adjust contribution limits for school board candidates (enacted by chapter 202, Laws of 2012, effective June 7, 2012) in accordance with adjustments made to other candidate contribution limits made earlier in 2012. A January 24, 2013, public hearing is scheduled where the commission will consider adopting the amendment on a permanent basis.

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** Chapter 202, Laws of 2012, RCW 42.17A.125 and 42.17A.405.

**WAC Cite:** WAC 390-05-400 Changes in dollar amounts.

**2. Topic:** Enforcement procedures.

**Status:** The commission may review and revise procedures for submitting information prior to enforcement hearings. Additionally, proposed WAC 390-37-182, which describes factors the commission may consider when assessing a penalty, has been filed with the code reviser with notice of a January 24, 2013, public hearing.

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** RCW 42.17A.755.

**WAC Cite:** WAC 390-37-030 Enforcement procedures—Citizen complaints filed with the commission and 390-37-136 Production of documents and use at hearing and other hearing procedures (adjudicative proceedings); and (proposed) new WAC 390-37-182.

**3. Topic:** Informal settlement procedures.

**Status:** Informal settlement procedures may be reviewed and revised.

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** RCW 34.05.060.

**WAC Cite:** WAC 390-37-090.

**4. Topic:** Definition of "officer" for purposes of RCW 42.17A.710 (1)(g).

**Status:** The commission may convert PDC Interpretation 91-01 to a rule. Preproposal filed and draft language approved. On hold pending determination of whether changes to the personal financial affairs statement are necessary - language could be incorporated into the form rather than adopted as a separate rule. See #5 below for possible alternative plan.

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** RCW 42.17A.710.

**WAC Cite:** (Proposed) new WAC 390-24-150.

**5. Topic:** Personal financial affairs statement (Forms F-1 and/or F-1 supplement forms).

**Status:** Feedback from filers/users may result in changes being made to the F-1 and F-1 supplement.

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** RCW 42.17A.710.

**WAC Cite:** WAC 390-24-010.

**6. Topic:** Electronic filing - Reporting threshold.

**Status:** The commission may review and revise factors that determine when a campaign must begin electronically filing disclosure reports upon reaching the triggering threshold.

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** RCW 42.17A.245.

**WAC Cite:** WAC 390-19-030.

**7. Topic:** Political advertising.

**Status:** The commission may review and revise rules related to political advertising, including but not limited to sponsor identification requirements and defining "mass communication" as it relates to the statutory definition of political advertising.

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** RCW 42.17A.005 and 42.17A.320.

**WAC Cite:** Chapter 390-18 WAC.

**8. Topic:** Volunteer services.

**Status:** The commission may consider amending its rule defining volunteer services (what is not a contribution).

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** RCW 42.17A.005.

**WAC Cite:** WAC 390-17-405.

**9. Topic:** Executive director's duties.

**Status:** The executive director's duties may be updated.

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** RCW 42.17A.110.

**WAC Cite:** WAC 390-12-200.

**10. Topic:** Public disclosure commission—Organization and structure—Officers and terms.

**Status:** The commission may consider updating its rule setting out officers to reflect the current structure.

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** RCW 42.17A.100.

**WAC Cite:** WAC 390-12-170.

**11. Topic:** Definition—Professional staff member.

**Status:** The commission may consider changing dates for commission approval of house, senate, and governor's office submission of professional staff members subject to personal financial disclosure.

**Statutory Authority:** RCW 42.17A.110(1).

**Statute Being Implemented:** RCW 42.17A.700 and 42.17A.705.

**WAC Cite:** WAC 390-24-160.

A complete listing of rule-making activity from 1999 to present can be found on the public disclosure commission web site at [www.pdc.wa.gov](http://www.pdc.wa.gov) under rule-making activity.

**WSR 13-03-086**  
**INTERPRETIVE OR POLICY STATEMENT**  
**HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY**  
 [Filed January 15, 2013, 10:59 a.m.]

**Notice of Interpretive or Policy Statement**

In accordance with RCW 34.05.230(12), following is a list of policy and interpretive statements issued by the health care authority (HCA).

**HCA**  
**Legal and Administrative Services**

Document Title: Provider Notice #13-01.

Subject: Medicaid program of the HCA will make changes in prescription coverage for medicare Part D dual-eligible clients.

Effective for dates of service on and after January 14, 2013, the medicaid program of the HCA will change prescription coverage for medicare Part D dual-eligible clients. The Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) have [has] revised the definition of a Part D drug to include barbiturates when prescribed for the treatment of epilepsy, cancer, or a chronic mental health disorder, and benzodiazepines.

For additional information, contact Amber Lougheed, HCA, P.O. Box 45504, phone (360) 725-1349, TDD/TTY 1-800-848-5429, fax (360) 586-9727, e-mail [amber.lougheed@hca.wa.gov](mailto:amber.lougheed@hca.wa.gov), web site <http://www.hca.wa.gov/>.

**WSR 13-03-087**  
**INTERPRETIVE OR POLICY STATEMENT**  
**HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY**  
 [Filed January 14, 2013, 11:02 a.m.]

**Notice of Interpretive or Policy Statement**

In accordance with RCW 34.05.230(12), following is a list of policy and interpretive statements issued by the health care authority (HCA).

**HCA**  
**Legal and Administrative Services**

Document Title: Provider Notice #13-04.

Subject: Prescription drug: Maximum allowable cost (MAC) update.

Effective for dates of service on and after February 1, 2013, the HCA will implement the following changes to the prescription drug program:

1. New additions to the MAC list.
2. MAC adjustments.

For additional information, contact Amber Lougheed, HCA, P.O. Box 45504, phone (360) 725-1349, TDD/TTY 1-800-848-5429, fax (360) 586-9727, e-mail [amber.lougheed@hca.wa.gov](mailto:amber.lougheed@hca.wa.gov), web site <http://www.hca.wa.gov/>.

**WSR 13-03-088**  
**AGENDA**  
**OFFICE OF THE CODE REVISER**  
 [Filed January 15, 2013, 11:02 a.m.]

**Semi-Annual Rule-Making Agenda**  
**January through June 2013**

Following is the office of the code reviser's semi-annual rule-making agenda for publication in the Washington State Register pursuant to RCW 34.05.314.

There may be additional rule-making activity not on the agenda as conditions warrant.

If you have questions about this rule-making agenda, please contact Kerry S. Radcliff, Rules Coordinator, P.O. Box 40551, Olympia, WA 98504-0551, phone (360) 786-6697, fax (360) 786-1529, e-mail [Radcliff.Kerry@leg.wa.gov](mailto:Radcliff.Kerry@leg.wa.gov).

WAC Citation	Subject Matter	Current Activity		
		Preproposal (CR-101)	Proposed (CR-102) or Expedited (CR-105)	Permanent (CR-103)
Chapter 1-21 WAC	The changes may include, but not be limited to, filing deadlines; creating explanatory language that will set out in rule a process for accepting electronic filings; and clarifying specific procedures for filing WSR documents.	WSR 06-01-003 filed December 7, 2005  On hold per executive order.		

Kerry S. Radcliff  
 Rules Coordinator

**WSR 13-03-090**

**AGENDA**

**UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON**

[Filed January 15, 2013, 11:36 a.m.]

**Semi-Annual Agenda for Rules under Development  
(Per RCW 34.05.314)  
January 2013**

Rule-making activity not now anticipated may also be added as conditions warrant between semi-annual agendas.

1. Rule making for chapter 478-156 WAC, Rules for the University of Washington, Seattle campus residence halls, single student and family housing apartments, will be completed during the first half of 2013: A CR-101 was filed (WSR 11-20-075), a CR-102 was filed (WSR 11-23-139), a withdrawal of the CR-102 was filed (WSR 12-05-020), a second CR-102 was filed (WSR 12-21-076), and a CR-103P was filed (WSR 13-03-085).

2. Rule making for chapter 478-276 WAC, Governing access to public records, continues during the first half of 2013: A CR-101 was filed (WSR 10-04-104), a CR-102 was filed (WSR 12-21-047), and a continuance of the CR-102 was filed (WSR 13-01-035).

3. Rule making for chapter 478-140 WAC, Rules and regulations for the University of Washington governing student education records, is anticipated to continue during the first half of 2013: A CR-101 was filed (WSR 09-17-078).

For more information concerning the above rules, please contact Rebecca Goodwin Deardorff, Director of Rules Coordination, University of Washington, Box 351210, Seattle, WA 98195-1210, phone (206) 543-9219, fax (206) 685-3825, e-mail rules@uw.edu, web www.washington.edu/admin/rules/.

**WSR 13-03-091**

**POLICY STATEMENT**

**UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON**

[Filed January 15, 2013, 11:46 a.m.]

The University of Washington has recently created or revised the following policy statements or orders:

- "Tuition Exemption Program," revised effective July 10, 2012 (Administrative Policy Statement 22.1).
- "Summary of the State Employee Whistleblower Act," revised effective July 10, 2012 (Administrative Policy Statement 47.1).
- "Advisory Committees, Commissions, and Boards," revised effective July 12, 2012 (*Board of Regents Governance*, Standing Orders, Chapter 4).
- "Non-discrimination and Affirmative Action," revised effective August 17, 2012 (Executive Order No. 31).
- "Environmental Stewardship and Sustainability," new effective August 30, 2012 (Executive Order No. 13).
- "Civil Disorders," revised effective October 4, 2012 (Administrative Order No. 2).

- "Grant and Contract Awards and Amendments for Research, Development, Service, and Training," revised effective October 4, 2012 (Administrative Order No. 4).
- "Equipment Inventory Management," revised effective October 19, 2012 (Administrative Policy Statement 61.1).
- "Construction Capitalization Policy," revised effective October 19, 2012 (Administrative Policy Statement 61.8).
- "Legal Actions," revised effective October 23, 2012 (Administrative Order No. 3).
- "Delegated Authority for Gifts to the University," revised effective October 23, 2012 (Administrative Order No. 5).
- "Independent Contractor Policy," revised effective November 9, 2012 (Administrative Policy Statement 32.3).
- "University Wide Leadership List," revised effective December 5, 2012 (Administrative Policy Statement 1.1).

To view any item noted above, see the UW policy directory <http://www.washington.edu/admin/rules/policies/>. For more information on these materials contact Rebecca Goodwin Deardorff, Director of Rules Coordination, University of Washington, Box 351210, Seattle, WA 98195-1210, e-mail rules@uw.edu, or fax (206) 685-3825.

**WSR 13-03-096**

**HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY**

[Filed January 15, 2013, 4:35 p.m.]

I am requesting that the code reviser recodify the following section of the Washington Administrative Code (WAC) from WAC 182-513-1500 to WAC 182-515-1500 effective immediately:

<u>Old WAC Number</u>	<u>New WAC Number</u>
182-513-1500	182-515-1500

January 15, 2013  
MaryAnne Lindeblad  
Director

**WSR 13-03-100**

**INTERPRETIVE OR POLICY STATEMENT**

**DEPARTMENT OF**

**SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES**

[Filed January 16, 2013, 12:14 p.m.]

**Notice of Interpretive or Policy Statement**

In accordance with RCW 34.05.230(12), following is a list of policy and interpretive statements issued by the department of social and health services.

**Economic Services Administration  
Division of Child Support (DCS)**

Document Title: Policy Clarification Memo 13-002:  
2013 Washington Minimum Wage Increase.

Subject: 2013 Washington minimum wage increase.

Effective Date: January 10, 2013.

Document Description: This policy clarification memo announces that the Washington minimum wage increased to \$9.19 per hour on January 1, 2013.

To receive a copy of the interpretive or policy statements, contact Jeff Kildahl, DCS, P.O. Box 11520, Tacoma, WA 98411-5520, phone (360) 664-5278, TDD/TTY (360) 753-9122, fax (360) 586-3274, e-mail [Kildaja@dshs.wa.gov](mailto:Kildaja@dshs.wa.gov), web site <http://www.dshs.wa.gov/dcs/>.

**WSR 13-03-101  
NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
COMMISSION ON  
JUDICIAL CONDUCT**

[Filed January 16, 2013, 12:47 p.m.]

**REVISED NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**

The commission on judicial conduct (CJC) will hold its 2013 business meetings at 11:00 a.m. on the following dates at the Radisson Gateway Hotel, 18118 International Boulevard, SeaTac, WA 98188. Additional information can be obtained by calling (360) 753-4585 or visiting the CJC's web site at [www.cjc.state.wa.us](http://www.cjc.state.wa.us).

Friday, February 22, 2013

Friday, May 10, 2013

Friday, July 26, 2013

Friday, October 4, 2013

Friday, December 6, 2013

**WSR 13-03-103**

**AGENDA**

**EMPLOYMENT SECURITY DEPARTMENT**

[Filed January 16, 2013, 4:21 p.m.]

**Semi-Annual Rule-Making Agenda  
(January 31 - July 31, 2013)**

The following is employment security department's semi-annual rule-making agenda for publication in the Washington State Register pursuant to RCW 34.05.314. There may be additional rule-making activity not on the agenda as the department is responsible for initiating rule making to implement new state laws, meet federal requirements, or meet unforeseen circumstances. Additional rule-making information is available on the agency web site [www.ESD.wa.gov](http://www.ESD.wa.gov). Click on Rule-making at the bottom of the page.

If you have any questions, please contact Pamela Ames, employment security department rules coordinator at (360) 902-9387, or e-mail [pames@esd.wa.gov](mailto:pames@esd.wa.gov).

WAC CHAPTER	SUBJECT	AGENCY CONTACT	TIMING	SCOPE OF RULE CHANGES
Title 192 WAC	Various subjects.	Juanita Myers (360) 902-9665	CR-105 January 2013 CR-103 March 2013	Technical amendments correcting statutory references; repeal of one rule no longer used.

**WSR 13-03-104**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
BENTON CLEAN AIR AGENCY**

[Filed January 16, 2013, 4:42 p.m.]

**Board of Directors  
Meeting Schedule for Calendar Year 2013**

*(Meetings are held the 4th Thursday of the month at the agency office)*

January 24

February 28

March 28

April 25

May 24

June 28

July 25

August 22 [22]

September 26

October 25

November 28

THANKSGIVING HOLIDAY

December 26

**WSR 13-03-105**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
GRAYS HARBOR COLLEGE**  
[Filed January 17, 2013, 11:09 a.m.]

The following is the 2013 meeting schedule for the Grays Harbor College board of trustees:

Tuesday, January 22	1:00 p.m.
Tuesday, February 19	1:00 p.m.
Monday, March 18	1:00 p.m.
Monday, April 15	1:00 p.m.
Monday, May 20	1:00 p.m.
Monday, June 17	1:00 p.m.
Monday, July 15	1:00 p.m.
Monday, September 16	1:00 p.m.
Monday, October 21	1:00 p.m.
Monday, November 18	1:00 p.m.

All meetings will take place in the Manspeaker Instructional Building on the Grays Harbor College campus.

**WSR 13-03-106**

**OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR**  
[Filed January 17, 2013, 11:11 a.m.]

**NOTICE**

Notice is hereby given that the Director of the National Park Service has filed notice with the Governor of the state of Washington that the United States accepts concurrent legislative jurisdiction over the land and water administered by the National Park Service at Lake Roosevelt National Recreation Area pursuant to 40 U.S.C. § 3112.

Concurrent legislative jurisdiction was ceded to the United States by the state of Washington in RCW 37.04.020, which cession of jurisdiction is effective upon acceptance by the appropriate federal agency head. The October 2, 2012, letter from National Park Service Director Jonathan B. Jarvis to Governor Gregoire, acknowledged by the Governor on October 11, 2012, states that concurrent jurisdiction is effective upon the National Park Service receipt of the Governor's acknowledgment.

On December 10, 2012, Jonathan B. Jarvis, Director of the National Park Service, received the acknowledgment and accepted concurrent legislative jurisdiction over lands and waters administered by the National Park Service within the boundaries of Lake Roosevelt National Recreation Area.

DATE: January 15, 2013

Narda Pierce  
General Counsel  
to the Governor

**WSR 13-03-107**

**CLEMENCY AND PARDONS BOARD**  
[Filed January 17, 2013, 1:45 p.m.]

**Notice of Continuance of Quarterly Hearing**

The Washington state clemency and pardons board hereby gives notice that its quarterly hearing scheduled for March 15, 2013, is hereby continued to April 26, 2013<sup>1</sup>, at 10:00 a.m., Senate Hearing Room 3, John A. Cherberg Building, Olympia, Washington. The following petitions will be considered by the board<sup>2</sup>:

<b>Petitioner:</b>	<b>Relief Requested:</b>
Kroll, Susan	Commutation
Aguilar, Marta	Pardon
Colby, Shannon	Pardon
Madison, Michael	Pardon
Picon-Perez, Maria	Pardon
Rodriguez, Luis	Pardon
Warren, Daniel	Pardon

<sup>1</sup> The date and location of these meetings are subject to change depending on the availability of the legislative building during the 2013 legislative session.

<sup>2</sup> At the board's discretion, the order of the petitions to be called for hearing is subject to change.

**WSR 13-03-111**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
RECREATION AND CONSERVATION  
OFFICE**

(Invasive Species Council)  
[Filed January 18, 2013, 10:25 a.m.]

The 2013 public meetings of the Washington invasive species council will be:

- March 14, 2013, from 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.
- June 20, 2013, from 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.
- September 19, 2013, from 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.
- December 5, 2013, from 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m.

All meetings will be located in Room 172, in the Natural Resources Building, 1111 Washington Street, Olympia, WA 98501.

For further information, please contact Wendy Brown, Washington invasive species council (WISC), at (360) 902-3088.

WISC schedules all public meetings at barrier free sites. Persons who need special assistance, such as large type materials, may contact Wendy Brown at the number listed above or by e-mail at Wendy.Brown@InvasiveSpecies.wa.gov.

WISC information can be found at [www.InvasiveSpecies.wa.gov](http://www.InvasiveSpecies.wa.gov).

**WSR 13-03-112**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
RENTON TECHNICAL COLLEGE**

[Filed January 18, 2013, 10:27 a.m.]

The Renton Technical College board of trustees will hold a board retreat on Tuesday, February 19, 2013, following the conclusion of its regular board meeting.

The board retreat, scheduled to begin at 10:00 a.m. will be held at 3626 Lake Washington Boulevard, Renton, WA 98056, to discuss future strategies and planning for the college.

Please contact Di Beers at (425) 235-2426 if you have any questions.

**WSR 13-03-113**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
RENTON TECHNICAL COLLEGE**

[Filed January 18, 2013, 10:28 a.m.]

Pursuant to RCW 42.30.075, please be advised that the Renton Technical College board of trustees' regular meetings during 2013 will be held as follows: The third Tuesday of each month, except for the months of July and August. Meetings will be held at 7:30 a.m., at the Roberts Campus Center Board Room, Room I-202, Renton Technical College, 3000 Northeast 4th Street, Renton, WA 98056-4195.

- January 15, 2013
- February 19, 2013
- March 19, 2013
- April 16, 2013
- May 21, 2013
- June 18, 2013
- July/August -  
No regularly scheduled meetings
- September 17, 2013
- October 15, 2013
- November 19, 2013
- December 17, 2013

If you need further information, please contact Di Beers at (425) 235-2426.

**WSR 13-03-114**

**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS  
INNOVATE WASHINGTON**

[Filed January 18, 2013, 11:19 a.m.]

**BOARD OF DIRECTORS  
2013 REGULAR MEETING SCHEDULE**  
Subject to modification by the board

1:00 p.m. - 4:00 p.m.  
The Conference Center at Sea-Tac

- Thursday, March 28, 2013
- Thursday, June 27, 2013
- Thursday, September 26, 2013
- Thursday, November 21, 2013

Please RSVP attendance for meetings to GERALYN GARBERG, (509) 358-2021 or [geralyn@innovatewashington.org](mailto:geralyn@innovatewashington.org).

**WSR 13-03-117**  
**AGENDA**  
**PARKS AND RECREATION**  
**COMMISSION**

[Filed January 18, 2013, 3:39 p.m.]

In accordance with RCW 34.05.314, the state parks and recreation commission submits this semi-annual agenda for rules under development for publishing in the Washington State Register.

State parks is conducting a thorough review and may have additional rules as conditions arise.

Any questions related to the specific rules identified in the agenda can be directed to the manager or Valeria Evans, Rules Coordinator, 1111 Israel Road, Olympia, WA 98504-2560, (360) 902-8597 or valeria.evans@parks.wa.gov.

**Rule-Making Agenda**  
**January 31**

<b>Wac Citation</b>	<b>Reason and/or Expected Outcome</b>	<b>Contact</b>	<b>Status of Rule Making</b>	<b>Anticipated Date of Adoption</b>	<b>Comments</b>
Chapter 352-32 WAC, Public use	Number of parks [who] use the word "dusk" that is not define[d] in WAC. Adding the definition of "dusk" allows staff to clearly administer WAC 352-32-215.	Susan Kavanaugh Administrator Cross Country P.O. Box 42650 Olympia, WA 98504-4265 (360) 902-8847 Susan.Kavanaugh@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-32-010(7) Public use	Revision includes making parks facility reservations available electronically and nine months in advance.	Susan Kavanaugh Susan.Kavanaugh@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-32-030 Camping	Staff recommend revising WAC to better support state parks as a preliminary fee-for-service agency.	Steve Hahn Lands Program Manager Washington State Parks P.O. Box 42650 Olympia, WA 98504-4265 (360) 902-8683 Steve.hahn@parks.wa.gov	Under develop-ment - staff will file CR-101 after January 24 commission meeting		
WAC 352-32-030(8) Camping	Staff sometimes have difficulty explaining and enforcing the rules concerning extra vehicles. The proposed change clarifies this rule and allows some flexibility in application, provided park resources and infrastructure are protected; and clarify saving campsites.	Susan Kavanaugh Susan.Kavanaugh@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-32-050 Park periods	Recommend adding a new subsection (2) that provides guidance for closing park areas to public access and clarify duration of emergency closure.	Susan Kavanaugh Susan.Kavanaugh@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-32-080 Swimming	The proposed change clarifies what types of floating devices are permitted in designated swimming areas. The rule would allow small children floatation devices (other than United States Coast Guard approved life jackets).	Susan Kavanaugh Susan.Kavanaugh@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-32-085 Technical rock climbing	Staff recommends changing part of subsection (3) to be consistent with closure provisions recommended in WAC 352-32-050 Park periods.	Susan Kavanaugh Susan.Kavanaugh@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		

Wac Citation	Reason and/or Expected Outcome	Contact	Status of Rule Making	Anticipated Date of Adoption	Comments
WAC 352-32-210 Consumption of alcohol in state park areas	Staff recommends modifying subsection (3) regarding closures to be consistent with WAC 352-32-050 and 352-32-085.	Susan Kavanaugh Susan.Kavanaugh@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-32-240 Nondiscrimination certification	In response to advice of legal counsel, staff recommends removing the listing of protected classes, as this protection is inherent in the statement that the commission is an equal opportunity employer.	Susan Kavanaugh Susan.Kavanaugh[h]@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-32-250 Standard fees	Consistent with state parks current services, revisions throughout WAC sections reflects service no longer offered and consistent with agency revenue generation strategy.	Steve Hahn Steve.Hahn@parks.wa.gov	Under development - staff will file CR-101 after January 24 commission meeting		
WAC 352-32-251 Limited income senior citizen, disability and disabled veteran passes	Staff recommends referencing status (1) (a) through (3) and minimal revisions in subsection (3) consistent with commission fees policy.	Steve Hahn Steve.Hahn@parks.wa.gov	Under development - staff will file CR-101 after January 24 commission meeting		
WAC 352-32-252 Off season senior citizen pass—Fee	Consistent with WAC 352-32-251, staff recommends that the eligibility requirements for establishing residency in Washington be changed from twelve months to three months in subsection (1).	Susan Kavanaugh Susan.Kavanaugh@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-32-260 Sno park permit and 352-32-265 Sno park permit—Display	Staff recommends that these two sections of WAC be combined, and add more detailed instructions for the proper display of parks permits.	Susan Kavanaugh Susan.Kavanaugh@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-32-270 Sno-park permit fees	Staff recommends that the valid dates of the seasonal sno-park permit be changed from October 1 to May to December 1 through April 30.	Pam McConkey Winter Recreation Manager Washington State Parks P.O. Box 42650 Olympia, WA 98504-4265 (360) 902-8595 Pamela.McConkey@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-37-105	On the ocean beaches the agency does not provide designated campfire pits, rings or other campfire enclosures. A portion of this WAC section is superfluous, and staff recommends that it be eliminated.	Robert Ingram Chief Visitor Protection and Law Enforcement Washington State Parks P.O. Box 42650 Olympia, WA 98504-4265 (360) 902-8615 Robert.Ingram@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-37-200	Staff recommends that agency address in subsection (4) be changed.	Robert Ingram Robert.Ingram@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
WAC 352-37-325 Seashore conservation area—Closures, new section	Staff recommends that closure rules be added to chapter 352-37 WAC that are consistent with the closure language changes made I [to] chapter 352-32 WAC.	Robert Ingram Robert.Ingram@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		



Wac Citation	Reason and/or Expected Outcome	Contact	Status of Rule Making	Anticipated Date of Adoption	Comments
WAC 352-37-330	Consistent with recommendations for chapter 352-32 WAC, staff recommends the penalties for violation of this chapter of WAC be made consistent with the bail schedules applied by the justice system.	Robert Ingram Robert.Ingram@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		
Chapter 352-32 WAC	Staff recommends adding sections and revisions to include the Discover Pass rules.	Susan Kavanaugh Susan.Kavanaugh@parks.wa.gov	Under staff review		

Valeria Evans  
Management Analyst

**WSR 13-03-119**  
**RULES COORDINATOR**  
**GAMBLING COMMISSION**

[Filed January 18, 2013, 4:01 p.m.]

The rules coordinator for the Washington state gambling commission has legally changed her name, as follows: Susan Arland is now legally known as Susan Newer. Please update any pertinent records accordingly, Susan Newer, Rules Coordinator, e-mail Susan.Newer@wsgc.wa.gov, phone (360) 486-3466.

Susan Newer

**WSR 13-03-130**  
**CLEMENCY AND PARDONS BOARD**

[Filed January 22, 2013, 11:47 a.m.]

**Notice of Continuance of Special Hearing**

The Washington state clemency and pardons board hereby gives notice that the hearing scheduled for March 14, 2013, is hereby continued to April 25, 2013<sup>1</sup>, at 10:00 a.m., in Senate Hearing Room 3, John A. Cherberg Building, Olympia, Washington. The following petitions will be considered by the board<sup>2</sup>:

<b>Petitioner:</b>	<b>Relief Requested:</b>
Guloy, Pompeyo	Commutation
Harkey, Nicholas	Commutation
Rideout, James	Pardon
Rider, Kirk	Pardon
Sanghera, Navtej	Pardon
Teshome, Mebrat	Pardon
Xczar, Antony	Pardon
Abdur Raheem, Mubarak	Pardon

<sup>1</sup> The date and location of these meetings are subject to change depending on the availability of the legislative building during the 2013 legislative session.

<sup>2</sup> At the board's discretion, the order of the petitions to be called for hearing is subject to change.

**WSR 13-03-131**  
**NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETINGS**  
**EDMONDS COMMUNITY COLLEGE**

[Filed January 22, 2013, 12:34 p.m.]

Please be advised of the following revision to the 2013 regular meeting schedule of the Edmonds Community College board of trustees.

**The special meeting scheduled for January 24, 2013, has been cancelled.**

If you have any questions, please feel free to contact Patty Michajla at (425) 640-1516.

## WSR 13-03-134

## AGENDA

DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION  
TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

[Filed January 23, 2013, 7:29 a.m.]

Following is the department of transportation's and transportation commission's January through June 2013 semi-annual development agenda for publication in the Washington State Register pursuant to RCW 34.05.314.

There may be additional rule-making activity not on this agenda as conditions warrant.

**Department of Transportation  
Semi-Annual Rules Agenda  
RCW 34.05.314  
January - June 2013**

WAC Chapter	Chapter Title	Sections	Purpose of Rule	Agency Contact	Approximate Filing Date
NEW	Airport aid grant assurances	NEW	To prescribe conditions airport sponsors must comply with prior to, during and after receiving an airport aid grant.	WSDOT Aviation (360) 651-6300	CR-101 in February
468-95	Manual on uniform traffic control devices	Multiple	Editorial corrections.	Rick Mowlds (360) 705-7988	May 2013
468-70	Motorist information signs	050	Update section to be consistent with fueling industry practices.	Rick Mowlds (360) 705-7988	May 2013
468-38	Vehicle size and weight Highway restrictions Equipment	073	Per federal provision in MAP-21 increase the weight exemption to auxiliary power unit to 550 lbs.	Jim Wright (360) 704-6345	March 2013
468-38	Vehicle size and weight highway restrictions equipment	071	Per federal provision in MAP-21 authorize overweight permitting of divisible loads in emergencies.	Jim Wright (360) 704-6345	CR-102 in March

**Transportation Commission  
Semi-Annual Rules Agenda  
RCW 34.05.314  
January - June 2013**

WAC Chapter	Chapter Title	Sections	Purpose of Rule	Agency Contact	Approximate Filing Date
468-270	Setting toll amounts for toll facilities in Washington state	070	Set the toll rates for the Tacoma Narrows Bridge.	Reema Griffith (360) 705-7073	CR-102 filing in March
468-270	Setting toll amounts for toll facilities in Washington state	071	Set the toll rates for the SR 520 Bridge.	Reema Griffith (360) 705-7073	CR-102 filing in March
468-300	State ferries and toll bridges	010, 020, 040, 220	Set the rates for the Washington State Ferries.	Reema Griffith (360) 705-7073	CR-101 filing in April

Cathy Downs  
Rules Coordinator

**WSR 13-03-143  
CLEMENCY AND PARDONS BOARD**

[Filed January 23, 2013, 10:29 a.m.]

**Amended Notice of Continuance of Special Hearing**

The Washington state clemency and pardons board hereby gives notice that the hearing scheduled for March 14, 2013, is hereby continued to April 25, 2013<sup>1</sup>, at 10:00 a.m., in Senate Hearing Room 3, of the John A. Cherberg Building, Olympia, Washington. The following petitions will be considered by the board<sup>2</sup>:

**Petitioner:**

Guloy, Pompeyo  
Harkey, Nicholas  
Rideout, James  
Rider, Kirk  
Sanghera, Navtej  
Teshome, Mebrat  
Xczar, Antony  
Abdur Raheem, Mubarak

**Relief Requested:**

Commutation  
Commutation  
Pardon  
Pardon  
Pardon  
Pardon  
Pardon  
Pardon

<sup>1</sup> The date and location of these meetings are subject to change depending on the availability of the legislative building during the 2013 legislative session.

<sup>2</sup> At the board's discretion, the order of the petitions to be called for hearing is subject to change.

berg Building, Olympia, Washington. The following petitions will be considered by the board<sup>2</sup>:

<b>Petitioner:</b>	<b>Relief Requested:</b>
Kroll, Susan	Commutation
Aguilar, Marta	Pardon
Colby, Shannon	Pardon
Madison, Michael	Pardon
Picon-Perez, Maria	Pardon
Rodriguez, Luis	Pardon
Warren, Daniel	Pardon

**WSR 13-03-144**

**CLEMENCY AND PARDONS BOARD**

[Filed January 23, 2013, 10:31 a.m.]

**Amended Notice of Continuance of Quarterly Hearing**

The Washington state clemency and pardons board hereby gives notice that its quarterly hearing scheduled for March 15, 2013, is hereby continued to April 26, 2013<sup>1</sup>, at 10:00 a.m., in Senate Hearing Room 3, of the John A. Cher-

<sup>1</sup> The date and location of these meetings are subject to change depending on the availability of the legislative building during the 2013 legislative session.

<sup>2</sup> At the board's discretion, the order of the petitions to be called for hearing is subject to change.

**WSR 13-03-145**

**AGENDA**

**DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE**

[Filed January 23, 2013, 10:50 a.m.]

**Semi-Annual Rule-Making Agenda  
January through June 2013**

Following is the Washington department of fish and wildlife's semi-annual rule-making agenda for publication in the Washington State Register pursuant to RCW 34.05.314.

There may be additional rule-making activity not on the agenda as conditions warrant.

If you have questions about this rule-making agenda, please contact Lori Preuss, WDFW Rules Coordinator, 600 Capitol Way North, Olympia, WA 98501-1091, phone (360) 902-2930, fax (360) 902-2155, or e-mail [Lori.preuss@dfw.wa.gov](mailto:Lori.preuss@dfw.wa.gov).

WAC Citation	Subject Matter	Current Activity		
		Preproposal (CR-101)	Proposed (CR-102) or Expedited (CR-105)	Permanent (CR-103P)
220-20-010	Structural improvements and updates to this WAC section, including requirements for reporting lost or abandoned commercial fishing nets.	WSR 11-16-076 filed on 8/1/11; and WSR 12-17-025 filed on 8/6/12	WSR 12-21-115 filed on 10/23/12	CR-103P expected on or after 1/23/13
220-55-220 220-56-105 220-56-115 220-56-124 220-56-195 220-56-500 232-28-619 232-28-620 232-28-621	North of Falcon recreational salmon rules.	WSR 13-01-084 filed on 12/18/12	CR-102 expected on or after 2/6/13	CR-103P expected on or after 3/12/13
220-110-085	Integration of hydraulic-project fish-protection standards into the forest practices rules.	WSR 12-07-031 filed on 8/7/12	WSR 13-03-120 filed on 1/18/13	CR-103P expected on or after 3/1/13
232-12-011	Delisting Stellar sea lions.	WSR 12-10-084 filed on 5/2/12	CR-102 expected on or after 2/1/13	CR-103P expected on or after 5/17/13

WAC Citation	Subject Matter	Current Activity		
		Preproposal (CR-101)	Proposed (CR-102) or Expedited (CR-105)	Permanent (CR-103P)
220-55-220 220-56-235 220-56-240 220-56-250 220-56-265 220-56-282 220-56-310 232-28-619	2013 recreational sportfishing rules.	WSR 12-18-008 filed on 8/23/12	WSR 13-02-094 filed on 1/2/13	CR-103P expected on or after 3/1/13
Chapter 220-60 Chapter 220-69	Round 5 of WAC amendments to update and make structural improvements to commercial fishing rules and reporting requirements.	WSR 12-09-090 filed on 9/19/12	CR-102 expected on or after 2/20/13	CR-103P expected on or after 6/7/13
220-47-311 220-47-401 220-47-411 220-47-428	North of Falcon commercial salmon fishing rules for Puget Sound.	WSR 13-01-064 filed on 12/17/12	CR-102 expected on or after 2/20/13	CR-103P expected on or after 4/12/13
220-40-027 220-36-023	North of Falcon commercial salmon fishing rules for Willapa Bay and Grays Harbor.	WSR 13-01-064 filed on 12/17/12	CR-102 expected on or after 2/20/13	CR-103P expected on or after 4/12/13
Chapter 220-85 Chapter 232-74 Chapter 220-47 Chapter 232-12 Chapter 232-36	Round 6 of WAC amendments to make updates, technical changes, and structural improvements.	WSR 12-20-073 filed on 10/3/12	CR-102 expected on or after 3/6/13	CR-103P expected on or after 6/7/13
220-56-350 220-56-380	Recreational clam and oyster rules.	WSR 12-18-066 filed on 9/4/12	WSR 12-24-069 filed on 12/4/12	CR-103P expected on or after 3/1/13
232-12-054	Lighted knocks [nocks] for archery equipment.	WSR 12-23-013 filed on 11/9/12	CR-102 expected on or after 1/23/13	CR-103P expected on or after 3/1/13
220-20-130	Incorporating federal regulations into state rules for Pacific halibut.		CR-105 filed as WSR 13-01-082 on 12/18/12	CR-103P expected on or after 2/21/13
220-56-115	Allowing the use of multiple fishing lines for tuna species outside state waters.		CR-105 filed as WSR 13-01-083 on 12/18/12	CR-103P expected on or after 2/21/13
232-12-021	Importation of dead wildlife.	WSR 12-20-084 filed on 10/3/12	CR-102 expected on or after 1/23/13	CR-103P expected on or after 4/20/13
232-12-275	Wildlife rehabilitation rules.	WSR 12-17-083 filed on 8/14/12	CR-102 expected on or after 3/6/13	CR-103P expected on or after 6/7/13
232-28-619	Splitting, reorganizing and updating this rule pertaining to recreational sportfishing.	WSR 12-11-078 filed on 5/17/12	CR-102 expected in the summer of 2013	CR-103P expected in the fall of 2013
Chapter 220-110	Updates to hydraulic project rules.	WSR 11-16-050 filed on 7/28/11	CR-102 expected in May 2013	CR-103P expected in June 2013

WAC Citation	Subject Matter	Current Activity		
		Preproposal (CR-101)	Proposed (CR-102) or Expedited (CR-105)	Permanent (CR-103P)
232-12-021 232-12-054 232-28-248 232-28-273 232-28-286 232-28-296 232-28-334 232-28-336 232-28-337 232-28-342 232-28-357 through 232-28-360 232-28-622 through 232-28-624	3013 [2013] Big-game hunting seasons.	WSR 12-19-007 filed on 9/6/12	CR-102 expected on or after 1/23/13	CR-103P expected on or after 4/20/13
232-36-030 232-36-051 232-36-100 232-36-200 232-36-250 232-36-260 232-36-400	Wildlife conflict rules.	WSR 12-05-122 filed on 2/22/12	WSR 12-20-069 filed on 10/3/12	CR-103P expected on or after 1/25/13
232-28-286	Spring black bear rule.	WSR 12-05-122 filed on 2/22/12	CR-102 expected on or after 1/23/13	CR-103P expected on or after 4/20/13

Lori Preuss  
Rules Coordinator